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Cameco's vision for growth is powered by financial strength and uranium expertise.

are the world's largest, low-cost

uranium producer accounting f-or 20% of existng

production and more than 65% of identified future capacity Despite wcak markets, our
operations have generated more than $1 billion In cash flow over the past five years and that
Ishoud
improve as the value of our ivestment in Bruce Power IS realized..

W7 e will also benefit fromn rising uraniumn prices as markets
beg¢in to reflect a shortage of supply due to declininlg
inventories and limited production. In 2003, the spot market
price for uranium increased by more than 40%.
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Our experience in uranium production, fuel processing and clectricity generation gives us insight to
identifr and take full advantage of emerginSg opportunities thiroughout the nuclear fuel cvcle.
Nuclear is a clearn, reliable and cost-competitive source of electricity and its advantages are
increasingly attractive in a world concerned about climate change and energy security. With
disciplined growth and operational excellence, we will achieve our vision and deliver higher
returns for our shareholders,

Kfi

{

A powerfu" idea

a

r gowth I

Cameco will be a dominant nuclear energy company
producing uranium fuel and generating clean electricity.

EN SURING QUALITY
LEADERS HIP
Chair of the board Vicror

aleschluk savs 2003 \vas a year

"We have implemented plans that enable
us to maintain and enhance our
recognized management capability."

of

sUccCSSfill

transition.

2003 was an eventful year for your
company. Dramatically improved
uranium prices and signs of renewed
interest in nuclear power have validated
our vision to be a dominant nuclear
company producing uranium fuel and
generating clean electricity. 2003 was also
a year of transition as Bernard Michel,
Cameco's chair and CEO for the last
10 years, retired.

MONTHLY SHARE PRICE
(TSK $/shae)

On behalf of the board of directors,
employees and shareholders, I would like
to thank Mr. Michel for his leadership
and outstanding contribution since
Cameco's inception. His direction and
vision were responsible for building the
foundation of the successful company
we have today.
Jerry Grandey was appointed CEO in
January of 2003 after working closely
with our former CEO in shaping the
company. Mr. Grandey has been with
Cameco for 11 years and has more than
30 years of experience in the mining
and uranium business. He was formerly
our executive vice-president and has been
a director since 2000.
One of the principal duties of a board
of directors is to ensure that your
company has capable management and
that the performance of management
is monitored. A key part of carrying out
this responsibility is to develop an orderly
succession plan for key management
positions. Over the past few years, we

Carneco's share price nearly doubled
in 2003.
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member of our board, Joe Colvin, was
one of three recipients of the American
Nuclear Society's future vision award
for demonstrating dedication to the
nuclear industry.
Your board of directors is diligent in
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have implemented plans that enable us
to maintain and enhance our recognized
management capability. The seamless
transition during 2003 demonstrates
the effectiveness of those plans.
We were pleased to welcome a new
director to the board, Oyvind Hushovd
(see bottom of page 87 for more
information), who offers impressive
international experience in the mining
industry. In February 2004 we were
also pleased to learn that another

its actions to ensure we carry out all our
business activities in an ethical, honest
and lawful manner. We continually
review and enhance our long-standing
corporate governance practices, while
carefully monitoring the evolution of
best practices and the ramifications of
recent rules issued by securities regulators
in Canada and the United States.
After an outstanding year of financial
performance in 2003, we are in an even
better position to move confidently
toward achieving our vision.
Victor Zaleschuk
Chair
March 10, 2004

PURSUING OUR VISION
CEIO
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reflects on Caineco's 2003 Performaincet and future plans.

Has the water inflow situation at the
McArthur River mine been resolved?
What does it mean for thefuture of
the mine?

"We are positioning Cameco
as the investment of choice to
participate in the resurgence

The high-grade ore we are mining lies
at the contact between dry basement
rock and 600 merres of overlying water-

of nuclear energy."

bearing sandstone. It is a challenge few
mines face and our success over the last
several years led to a series of faulty
assumptions about a new development
tunnel. The inrush of water overwhelmed
the mine's pumping capacity and
curtailed production for three months
while additional pumps were installed
and inundated equipment repaired.

How wouldyou describeyourfirst
year as CEO?
In one word - gratifying. Early in the
year I embarked on a tour of Cameco's
North American sites. The goal - to meet
each employee, explain our vision and
receive feedback. These sessions, 40 in
all, were enlightening and, from my
perspective, very energizing. There was
strong support for the vision, welcomed
suggestions on workplace improvement
and a commitment to excellence. At the
conclusion of the Canadian portion of
the tour, the McArthur River water
inflow incident occurred and, even
though the situation was grave, I had full
confidence in the ingenuity of our team.
Throughout Cameco the response to the
McArthur River threat was seamless. Our
recovery to full production took just

three months and even though our stock
price fell by 20% during the first week
of the event, it recovered strongly - a
vote of confidence in the Cameco team.
The event also seemed to be a catalyst
for uranium price recovery. By year end,
uranium spot prices had appreciated
by more than 40% compared to the
beginning of the year.
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{ People }

I

With six of its eight reactors operating, Bruce Power can generate
enough electricity to meet the residential and industrial needs
a city the size of Toronto.
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Today, the inflow has been considerably
reduced through deliberate sequential
sealing of the collapsed area. Patience has
been the watchword to make sure water
does not emerge elsewhere in the mine
as the water pressure in the sandstone
returns to normal. Since production
resumed, the mine has been at full
capacity even though the best mining

-- - - -- - - -
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area was temporarily unavailable while
the sealing was completed.

protection. Our commitment to a safe
workplace is paramount.

A thorough review of the incident has
concluded that no reserves have been
lost. Additional capital spending may
be required to improve safety margins
as we develop new areas, but this is not
expected to be material nor are operating
costs expected to increase significantly.

Over the course of 2003, Carneco
increased its ownership in Bruce Power,
advanced the Cigar Lake and Inkai
uranium mining projects and made
significant progress on realizing the value
of our gold assets. But, the greatest
contribution to longer-term shareholder
value comes from the appreciating
uranium price, which we believe is finally
responding to the inevitable exhaustion
of finite inventories.

In a market with strong fundamentals,
the future profitability of the McArthur
River operation looks even more
promising.
What are your top three priorities?
Shareholder Value - At the top of the
list is the creation of shareholder value.
It goes without saying, however, that the
pursuit of this priority can never come
at the expense of safety or environmental

Sustainable Development - Another
priority is our pursuit of sustainable
development. Cameco will only succeed
if the communities in which we operate
are supportive of our vision. This means
transparency, open communieation and
willingness to share benefits through
employment and the local procurement

Financial

2003

2002

Change

827

748

11%

205

44

366%

3.65
246

0.78
251

368%
(2%/6)

4.38

4.50

(3%)

11.54

9.86

17%

363

310

17%

334

300

11%

56.1
7%

55.8
8%/

1%
(13%/)

Uranium concentrates (million lbs U3 08)

18.5

15.9

16%

Uranium conversion (UF6 and UO2 ) (million kgU)

($ mittions except per share amounits)

Revenue
Net earnings attributable to common shares
Earnings per share
Cash provided by operations
Cash flow per'share

of services and supplies. We must strive
for even fuller symbiotic relationships
with our local communities.
Culture - Molding Cameco's culture
to meet the challenges and opportunities
of the next decade is another priority.
In addition to Cameco's core values
of excellence, people, integrity and
the environment, we must develop
and nurture employees prepared to
assume responsibility, unafraid to teach
and delegate to others and willing to
search continually for better ways of
doing things.

What were the key factors driving
Cameco's performance in 2003?
Increased ownership and excellent
performance from our Bruce Power
partnership contributed significantly
to Cameco's earnings. Bruce Power's
contribution to cash flow, however,
was disappointing as the investment
required to restart the two Bruce A units
exceeded original expectations by more
than $300 million. Notwithstanding

Average spot uranium price for
the year ($US/lb U 08)
Average spot market 3gold
price for
the year ($US/ounce)

Cameco's average realized gold price for
the year ($US/ounce)

Weighted average number of paid
common shares (millions)
Net debt to capitalization

I

Production (Cameco's share)
13.3

12.4

7%

Electricity generation (terawatt hours)

7.7

3.1

148%

Gold (thousand oz)

226

176

28%

Currency is expressed

il

Canadian dollars

rnless rlhervvise nared.

(

Records broken in

2003 3

was a record-breaking
year for Cameco. In addition
to a record high share price,
we reached new highs for:
* Consolidated revenue
* Net earnings
* Uranium revenue
* Uranium sales volume
^ Conversion revenue
* Conversion sales volume
2003

Now that the two Bruce A reactors
are online, what is the next initiative
at Bruce Power?

"With spot and long-term uranium prices
increasing more than 40% during 2003,
the market has finally started to reflect
the reality of supply and demand."

this overrun, the investment in this
new Ontario electricity generation
remains favourable.
Performance in 2003 was negatively
affected by the water inflow incident
at McArthur River, which reduced
earnings by $15 million. As is always
the case with such episodes, this blow
to one of our premier assets disclosed
areas needing improvement. We have
responded quickly to incorporate the
lessons learned not only at McArthur
River, but throughout the company:

Bringing the two Bruce A reactors

the strategy. By December we had
reached agreement with Kyrgyzaltyn,
our partner and owner of two-thirds of
the Kumrtor gold mine. This agreement
was ratified by the Kyrgyz government at
year end. Assuming final agreements can
be reached with all critical parties and
markets remain favourable, we intend
to list the new company, Centerra Gold
Inc., in the second quarter of 2004.

Spot and long-term uranium prices
increased more than 40% during 2003
due to a number of supplier-related
events. The recovery of gold prices was
equally satisfying and our Kumrtor gold
mine contributed significantly to our
performance. Price recovery is only part
of the story as Cameco sold record
quantities of uranium and conversion
services, while gold sales were the second
highest level ever.
How is Cameco's gold strategy
proceeding?
Cameco has been a gold producer since
its inception, and, over the years, has
assembled a number of gold properties,
including the Kumtor mine in the
Kyrgyz Republic and the Boroo mine
in Mongolia. Cameco has recently
embarked on a strategy to unlock the
value of these gold assets by packaging
them into a single vehicle for public
listing. Our partner in the Kunitor gold
mine elected to participate by
contributing their interest, but the rising
gold price in 2003 delayed implementing

6

on-line was a significant milestone,
making Bruce Power the largest nuclear
generating station in North America
with 4,660 megawatts (MW). Bruce
Power now accounts for 20% of
Ontario's electricity supply and has the
potential to do far more for a province
that is short of electricity and requires
significant new investment in reliable,
clean electricity generation.
Early in 2004, Camneco announced
that Bruce Power will conduct a study
to examine the feasibility of restarting
two mothballed Bruce A units and to
determine what improvements are

4

needed to extend the life of the four
Bruce B reactors, beyond the next 15
years. In addition, given the existing
infrastructure and supportive communities, Bruce Power will examine the
feasibility of building one or more
reactors. The study will determine
if we can achieve an adequate return
on our shareholders' investment but
other factors will need to be considered
such as a stable investment climate and
a functioning electricity market.
In an environment where nuclear
generation is competitive, examining
the potential of expanding generation
capacity, or building a new reactor in
the longer term, are signs of a brighter
future for our industry.

The Ontario government promises to
phase out all coal-fired generators or
roughly 7,500 MW by 2007 in order to
eliminate a significant health hazard.
Expanded nuclear generation capacity
will be necessary to achieve that goal.

{ In cash flow

)

Carneco operations have
generated more than $i billion
in cash flow over the past
five years.

What is the the outlook for the
Ontariopower market?

2007 would be equivalent to the energy
provided by an additional 1,000-MW
generation station. Against this backdrop,
low-cost, reliable nuclear energy provides
the best alternative to meet the province's
current and future baseload requirement.

In the near term, the Ontario electricity
market is supplied by nuclear (40%),
coal (23%), hydro (22%), gas, wind,
solar and other sources (8%) and, during
the winter and summer peaks, imports
(7%). Gas-fired power is expensive and
most of Ontario's imports are priced on
this basis requiring a large transfer of
money to out-of-province generators. If
Ontario's electricity demand continues to
grow at 1.4% annually, as it has over the
past decade, the increase in demand by

When you consider how to protect the
environment, the prospects for nuclear in
Ontario are even brighter. The province
faces the same problem as many other
jurisdictions around the world - how to
maintain a reliable, affordable electricity
supply to meet growing demand while
reducing emissions of greenhouse gases.
Nuclear must be part of the solution. It
produces no air pollution and provides
the price stability and security of supply
needed to support economic growth.

7

Uranium prices are criticalto
Cameco'sperformance. Where are
they headed?
It is with humility that I address this
question since, for years, we have
been forecasting an end to inventory
liquidation and the re-emergence of
the importance of primary production.
While there are still inventories, they
are considerably reduced following 19
years of drawdown. Recently, uranium
production interruptions, as well as
Russian and other supply announcements
have caused customers to reexamine
their low inventory policies. The net
result is that uranium prices accelerated
quickly during the last four months
of 2003. While I am loathe to forecast
prices, it appears that the psychology
of the market has shifted and that sellers,
today, are on an increasingly stronger
footing with buyers. As inventories
continue to decline, the market should
shift even more toward the supplier,
particularly those able to deliver reliable
primary production from multiple
sources, such as Cameco.
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Whly is Cameco limited in its ability
to realize the full impact of rising
uranium prices in 2004?
Cameco's uranium marketing strategy
has always been consistent. We sign
long-term contracts that limit the impact
when uranium prices are low - which
helped Cameco remain profitable when
uranium prices were in single digits a
few years ago - while retaining as much
upside potential as possible.
In 2004, Cameco will be delivering
uranium to customers under contracts
that were signed many years ago when
prices were lower. Consequently, the

{ Times richer 'V
The ore grade at Cameco's
McArthur River operation is 1oo

times higher than the worlk
average for uranium, mines.

contracts have pricing terms that
limit the benefit of further spot price
increases in 2004. This will continue
in a diminishing fashion in 2005, with
much less impact in 2006.

While we have upside limits to the
benefits of a rising spot price in the near
term, we will receive the full benefit of
the much higher-priced uranium
contracts we are signing today. We have
anticipated and planned for the current
uranium market with its improving
supply/demand fundamentals for some
time. As the world's largest uranium
supplier, with diversified, low-cost
sources, significant uranium projects
in development and limited contract
commitments, we are in a position
to maximize the full benefit for our
shareholders over the longer term.

How does a rising Canadian dollar
affect Cameco's results?
AVERAGE URANIUM SPOT PRICE
I
I (Suslib U508)
White uranium prices have increased
I The tong-term outtook for improved uranium prices remains positive.
i considerably over the past half year,
L
.,
much of the increase has been offset
by the devaluation of the US dollar
18
versus the Canadian dollar. A majority
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"Cameco will seize opportunities
that move us closer to achieving
our vision of becoming a dominant
nuclear energy company."

for production at our Inkai property
in Kazakhstan continue to be positive
as that country's currency has remained
at almost par with the US dollar. Other
producers, in countries such as Australia
and Namibia, have been more severely
impacted due to the strong performance
of their local currencies against the

purchases, which provides a natural
hedge. While natural hedges provide
cash flow protection against exchange
rate fluctuations, the impacts on earnings
may be dispersed over several fiscal
periods and are more difficult to identify.

Our currency hedging program is not
designed to speculate, but rather to
smooth volatility as it impacts nuclear
revenue. Thus Cameco is protected
against declines in the US dollar only
in the shorter term.

For 2003, $177 million (US) of
Cameco's uranium and conversion
revenue was hedged using currency
contracts at an average rate of $0.62.
As of December 31, 2003, about
50% of 2004 uranium and conversion
revenue was hedged using currency
contracts at an effective rare of $0.68.

In addition, Cameco has a portion of its
annual cash outlays denominated in US
dollars, including uranium and services

To the extent the company borrows in
US dollars, this provides a hedge against
its US revenue generating assets.

US dollar.

9

Longer-term, how does Cameco see
itself continuing to grow?
Cameco's vision "to become a dominant
nuclear energy company producing
uranium fuel and generating clean
electricity" provides the mandate for
growth. If we are to achieve this vision
for the benefit of our shareholders we
must, each day, look for opportunities
within the nuclear energy arena. It is a
rather small industry and opportunities
come infrequently, but Cameco has
successfully seized these and will continue
to do so - be they opportunities in
uranium production, nuclear fuel services
or nuclear electricity generation. The
most important criteria is that they
provide an adequate return on the risk
being taken. In the pursuit of our vision,
we will not lose sight of the fact that we
are fundamentally a uranium mining and
processing company producing a tangible
product largely immune from external
short-term economic cycles. The benefits
of nuclear technology are being
rediscovered and it is our intent to
position Cameco to be the investment
of choice in a field long ignored. ei
March 10, 2004
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OUR VISION IS TO BE A DOMINANT NUCLEAR ENERGY COMPANY
PRODUCING URANIUM FUEL AND GENERATING CLEAN ELECTRICITY.
We will deliver growing shareholder value with a strong commitment
to people and the environment.
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Complete the feasibility study and
the environmental assessment for
the Inlkai project in Kazalhstan.
Position Carneco to meet Bruce
Power's new fuel requirements.
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The feasibility study and enviroun[IMntal asscssinent
were completed by year end and will be subtitted
Ir Jjoint venture approval.

* Carneco continues to work with Bruce Power
to finalize the requirements for slighitly e nriched
uraniiuri (SEU) fuel bundles. The CNSC mu11st
approve Canieco's produnctiori plans ib'l0owillig
an environmental assessment that is tiudernva.

2004

TARGETS

increase Camrmeeo's share of urarni4tun
producLtior to 20.7. ioil lion pounds
U3Os in 2004 hIy restoring tihe
MCArt1nr River/Key Lakc
operailril lotoull prodlacti]on.
Obrain joillt ventiure approval
of chelnkai feasibilitv sttudv and
prcpare fotr consrrtrcrion in 20(0
and production in 2006.
Make a flormnal decision io dcevlop
the Cigar Lake project subjec
to CNSC approval of a
construction licencc and

appropriate niarke conditionls.
Expand Cxplorationl
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>> 2004

Prue nucla eergygowh
oppor
Itlies.

reserves.

0i In:Ferua4ry 204 Canc r~eacd n agreeent t
to caqylure a 2b.2% mr res in the two South lexas

TARGETS

Pursue nuclear enerpy growth
opportunrities.

Project nucle.r teators The igre ent is sutbject
to tire right of firsr reffiasl by three existing owsners.

Consolidate gold assets into

Catneco negotiated an agreement with the Kyrgyz

List Centerra Gold Inc. on the

a single entity.

government to create a new Canadian publicly

T SX by inid vear.

traded comipaivny called Centerra Gold Irnc. Closing
is targeted for the second quarter of 2004).
Complete construction of the
Boroo gold mine in Mongolia.

* Boroo construction was completed anid the first
gtold bar poured in L)ecemiber.
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Cameco purchased 5$6(0 million of scrvices from
northern Saskatchewaia businesscs reprcsenting
75% of the total purcases for thIccompanvys
-Saskatceva mines

contracted services at Cameco's
,,.Saslkatchewvan mines.

not sinifianI envir;runenil

Camcco obtacind provincial approval in'
iFruaiy2003. TeCCNSC determined that
'aformal environiental assessmcnt was rcquircd
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jo 2004;
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'ithei

5TARGETS

,2004

c
ta0
0ce
... compa-dto20.24i 002; While' no cdbiiitating
i s cOMMitted to
iinjurics occ rd,
this per ormaticc.pin

r^Incur no sigmficant environmental

iuicid~nad
ts.'l~i '.,- i ','.

S

^i

'

Purchase from northern

Saskatchewaniisinses at
least 60%to in valuc (if the
cotitracted services at Caineco's
SasLiatchewan mines.

Develop a conmprehensive
* Gamcco decided to extenld the implementation
performance-based compensation^
h -:of perforniance-based pay into 2004 due to
strateg and program that provides.
compcting priorities. Programu developniciit
was well undenvay at the end of 2003.
competitive financial rewards
to attract and retain highly
qualified employees.

{Years of performance and growth }

f

producer
the world's
largest uranium
Cameco has grown
copny to' befred
in188gespt
weak-pri
ces,

[

VL since the company wa~s Xfrned, in 1988.~'Despite weak pricies,

we doubled our market share in uranium to 20%, expanded
our reserves and diversified into electricity generation.
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GROWING RESPONSIBLY
To Cameco, social responsibility means achieving sustainable growth through socially,
environmentally and economically responsible conduct.

At Cameco, sustainable development
encompasses the value we place on safety,
environmental integrity, social responsibility and economic development, and
demonstrates our commitment to growing
the company with integrity.
Ultimately, our success in achieving
sustainable business growth will be
determined through four key measures:
a safe, healthy and rewarding workplace,
a clean environment, supportive
communities and solid financial
performance. In 2003, we began an
internal revie v of how we measure,
track and report performance in these
areas. Preliminary sustainable development
indicators and supporting metrics were
developed and will be refined and
implemented in 2004. An-external report
is expected by 2005.
Communicating the corporate vision
and our broad measures of success to
employees was a priority in 2003. Early
in the year, newly appointed CEO Jerry
Grandey toured all North American
uranium sites, meeting with 1,180
employees in 40 separate meetings. Some
of the year's highlights are presented here.
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{ Skilled, committed people }

We value the contribution of each of the. 4,339,people who workat our
operations in six countries. We encourage creativity, innovation and continual
improvement in our employees and contractors.
,Safe, Healthy and Rewarding

Workplace
Industrial safety, radiation protection
and environmental stevardship are
fundamental to our corporate culture.
In 2003, 166 employees representing
about 5% of Cameco's operational
workforce were dedicated to monitor
and assess our performance and ensure
we continually improve.
The safety and well-being of Cameco's
employees and nearby communities is
inseparable from our goal of sustainable
business growth. In 2003, this

commitment to worker safety was tested
when we experienced large water inflow

^:_Cameco strives to protect
the health and safety of its
employees and members
of the public who may
be affected by its operations
.- - -

. -

. - - - - -- -

.

. -

. - - -

. -

. -- -

conditions at McArthur River. Careful
monitoring, practical procedures, prudent

actions and a well-trained workforce
ensured that worker health and safety were
not compromised. Despite these efforts
however, radiation exposure levels for
some employees were elevated during the

. - - - - -- -

. . . -

-- . - -

incident. For the first time, the McArthur
River operation recorded 12 individual
dose levels above 10 millisieverts (mSv).
All these individual results are within the
Canadian long-term annual dose limit of
20 mSv and because of the rigorous
standards for radiation safety, do not
present a health risk.
The average employee radiation dose at
McArthur River in 2003 was in keeping
with previous years at 1.6 mSv. This is
comparable to levels at our other nuclear
sites, which recorded averages of 0.8 mSv
at Key LIke, 2.1 mSv at Rabbit Lake,
0.6 mSv in Port Hope, 1.6 mSv at Blind
River, 3.8 at Crow Butte and 1.75 at
Smith Ranch-Highland. The average
individual living in North America
receives a natural background radiation
dose of one to three mSv annually.
The same attention to detail Cameco
gives to radiation protection is extended to

. . - -- - - -- - - -- - - - -- - - -- - - - -- - - -- - - - -- - - -- - - - -- - - -- - - - -- - - -- - - -
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conventional health and safety. In 2003,
Cameco's total lost-time injury frequency
rose over the previous year to 0.61 from
0.24 per 200,000 hours worked. Despite
this increase, Cameco's safety performance
still compares favourably to the average
accident frequency in the Ontario and
Saskatchewan mining industries at 1.1 and
1.3 respectively. This is due to impressive
safety performance at several sites in 2003,
including Rabbit Lake, Cigar Lake and
Inkai where employees worked 12 months
without a lost-time injury. Cameco is also
evaluating methods to reinforce the
importance of safety at work and at home
and encourage continual improvement.
Cameco's program of continual
improvement is supported by an extensive
employee training and development
program. In 2003, the company delivered
177 corporate workshops on supervisor,
management and executive development,
business process enhancement, quality
management and succession planning to
about 1,800 employees. In addition, site
programs ensure all operational employees
are trained and skilled in their roles. For

.- .-- - - - - ..

..-- - - - - --

.

--
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Tonnes of material
{ recycled at Port Hope }

Environmental protection is a priority
-in all-aspects of our operations.
:-Our Port Hope refinery recycled
3,575 tonnes of material in 2003
L- 714 tonnes of scrap metal,
23 tonnes of waste paper and

containers, 2.8 tonnes of electronic
parts and 2,835 tonnes of process

chemicals for use as fertilizer.
example, Key Lake employees recorded
over 14,375 training hours in 2003
through 1,800 site workshops and
field contacts.

Clean Entvironment
Minimizing our ecological footprint and
controlling risks to the ecosystem that
result from our operations arc priorities for
Cameco employees. This was particularly
clear during the McArthur River water
inflow incident in April and the site
remediation efforts that followed. The
most revealing marker of performance
during this effort was effective water
management. Experiencing several times
more water inflow underground than
normal, the operation was able to contain
and treat all water before releasing it to
the environment. Test results have
determined that the overall environmental
effect from the increased water discharge
was relatively minor.
Upset conditions at McArthur River did
contribute to disappointing results in
Cameco's environmental performance.
The company recorded a total of 29
reportable incidents from its 11 operating
sites in 2003, up from 14 in 2002. While
none of these incidents created any
significant environmental impact, the
higher frequency of events is a concern for

- - - - - -- - - - - - - -- - -.-- - - - - -- - - - - - -- - - - - - - -- - - - - - - -- - - - - - - -- - - - - - - -- - - - - - - -- - - - - - -

13

Cameco. Over the coming months,
Cameco will continue to work toward
improving its environmental performance.
Improvements were made last year
in several Cameco environmental
programs. For example, Port Hope
increased its volumes of recycled waste
from 2,877 tonnes of material in 2002
to 3,575 tonnes in 2003. This included
714 tonnes of scrap metal, 23 tonnes of
paper, cans and bottles and 2.8 tonnes
of computer and electronic parts. In
addition, 2,835 tonnes of ammonium
nitrate solution (a byproduct from
U0 2 conversion) was recovered for use
as fertilizer.
Another Cameco site that is advancing its
environmental efforts is Key Lake in
northern Saskatchewan. While the mill
and tailings facilities are still fully utilized
to process ore from McArthur River, areas
previously used for mining activities are
being restored. In 2003, seven hectares
were seeded with grasses and 6,000 trees
planted to help restore disturbed areas
to natural conditions. Since Key Lake's
reclamation effort began in 1978, there
have been over 340 hectares reseeded and
520,000 trees planted. In time, the site
will apply to Saskatchewan Environment
to have portions of this reclaimed land
returned to the province.
These achievements reflect our commitment to environmental responsibility at
our production sites and help reinforce the
nuclear industry's reputation as one of the
cleanest available energy options. Cameco's
31.6% ownership in the Bruce Power
partnership in Ontario, Canada also helps
strengthen this reputation as well as

(as of December 31,

2003)

Cameco and Long-term
subsidiaries contractors
1,515
147

Canada

United States
Kyrgyzstan

.

352

6

14

4
.- 1596

-

77

Kazakhstan

Cameco @ Long-termrn0
subsidiaries contractors

-

Australia

.

-

-

-

141
-

11

Mongolia

Total

1,750

366

contributing solid shareholder value.
Bruce Power generated 24.5 terrawatt
hours of clean energy in 2003, helping
avoid the emission of about 25 million
tonnes of carbon dioxide.
As the exclusive fuel supplier to Bruce
Power, Cameco is participating in the
production of a new fuel for Bruce Power
to help increase both electricity output
and safety performance of its reactors.
Cameco's technology development (CTD)
department has been instrumental in
perfecting two new processes to produce
the fuel and the site is currently seeking
licence approval to begin commercial
production. No additional environmental
impacts are anticipated from the new
production processes.
In 2003, the 20 researchers and scientists
in CTD worked on more than 20 projects
and innovations to improve safety and
environmental performance and
productivity in Cameco's North American

520,000
{ Trees planted }
Cameco is committed to leaving the environment as we found it at our sites.
'At Key Lake we have planted more than 520,000 trees to restore lands affected
by our operations.

0

360- 1,966

1,873

165
1,737

77
11

116

257

476:-

4,339

uranium operations. For example, new
technology was introduced at Port Hope's
uranium hexafluoride plant to measure
hydrogen fluoride concentrations in the
gas scrubbing and production circuits.
The technology provides greater control
in the production operations that will
lead to reduced emissions.

Supportive Comnmunities
Public support of uranium mining
remained strong (68%) in Saskatchewan
in 2003: As a subset of the annual poll,
Cameco also evaluates trust levels among
respondents who are familiar with our
operations. The 12-question index tests
public satisfaction with the company's
environmental and safety performance,
management and leadership, corporate
citizenship and innovation. Overall,
Cameco earned a score of 6.4 out of 10,
with the mean average of responses in
the "good" to "excellent" range for all
12 questions.
Cameco is committed to building
relationships witd the communities where
we operate to ensure we continue to earn
their support for our operations. Through
groups like the northern Saskatchewan
Environmental Quality Committees
(EQCs), Cameco encourages constructive
dialogue, consultation and understanding
of stakeholder interest in our operations.
The EQCs have representation from 29
northern impact communities.
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of aboriginal descent. Comparable training
and recruitment practices have been
introduced at Cameco's other operations
and in 2003, 94% of Kumtor employees
were Kyrgyz nationals and 92% of the
employees at the Boroo gold project were
Mongolian nationals.

SEA)
Cameco Employees and Long-Term Contractors Cameco's accident frequency
compares favourably to the i.i and s.3 frequencies recorded bythe Ontario
- and Saskatchewan mining industries respectively.;
B) Cameco Employees Only Since Cameco was formed, the company
"has' continually strived to improve its safety recordi.-<
L -..
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Seven aboriginal communities in the
Athabasca region of Saskatchewan are
also regularly consulted as part of the
company's impact management agreement
that was signed in 1999. As part of this
agreement, Cameco has committed to
helping build trust in northern
Saskatchewan through community-based
environmental monitoring. This program
trains locally appointed residents to collect
water, sediment, wildlife and fish samples
in the vicinity of their communities and
funds the evaluation and reporting of
results. Since the program began four
years ago, no environmental impacts
have been detected downstream from
our uranium mining operations.

44.8

89

91

93 95 97 99

0r

03

This program assists Cameco in achieving
its ambitious hiring targets in northern
Saskatchewan. Through dedicated
training and recruitment, at the cnd
of 2003, 660 employees, or 57% of
our permanent operations workforce
were residents of Saskatchewan's north.
Of these individuals, 600 or 52% were

-I.

Cameco also continued its participation
in a co-operative, training-to-employment
initiative with the province of
Saskatchewan, the federal government,
First Nations and Metis authorities, and
the northern mining industry. A renewed
five-year plan was signed in September
of 2003 to continue the group's goal of
maximizing the employment and
economic opportunities from uranium
industry activities for people in northern
Saskatchewan. In the past 10 years,
Cameco has contributed more than
$6.5 million in financial and in-kind
support to the program.
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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Cameco also supports the training and
education of its future workforce through
our annual scholarship program. In 2003,
the company awarded 53 scholarships in
North America totalling almost $200,000
and more than $260,000 in the Republic
of Kyrgyzstan.
In 2003, Cameco and its subsidiaries
awarded over $1.2 million in donations
and sponsorships to build relationships
with its impact communities. The town
of Port Hope recognized Cameco for its
financial contributions, employee
involvement and leadership with its
"excellence in community service"
award. The company was also inducted
into the Saskatchewan Chamber of
Commerce Business Hall of Fame for
our contribution to the economic wellbeing of Saskatchewan people.

.{Tonnesof air pollutants avoided
Clean electricity generated from the uranium Cameco sells annually, avoids emissions of more than ioo million tonnes
of carbon, more than 1.5 million tonnes of sulphur dioxide, and more than 0.5 million tonnes of nitrogen oxide.
Camcco is committed to increase business
capacity by ensuring opportunities are
extended first to suppliers in our regions
of operation. Last year, $60 million in
services were supplied by northern
Saskatchewan businesses, representing
75% of the total purchases for the
company's Saskatchewan mines.
Furthermore, Kumtor procured about
$23 million in goods and services from
Kyrgyz national suppliers representing
22% of the total.

Summary
Despite the challenges of 2003, Cameco
maintained its commitment to maintain
a safe, healthy and rewarding workplace,
protect the environment and build

community relationships. This
commitment was recognized by the
Canadian organization "Corporate
Knights" who identified Cameco as one
of Canada's top 50 corporate citizens.
This organization's annual ranking
identifies the top companies in the
TSX-1 00 based on social, environmental
and financial performance.
In the third quarter, Cameco was
identified as one of the leading companies
in the mining industry group under
the Dow Jones Sustainability Group
Index, but was unable to break into
the top 10% in this sector. Cameco
is striving to reclaim a position on the
index, competing against much larger
mining companies.
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Corporate governance of Cameco's
business activities was strengthened in
2003 with the appointment of a nonexecutive chair of the board. The board
maintained its five standing committees
and the strategic planning committee
created a subcommittee on uranium and
gold reserve oversight. Cameco has also
reviewed the 18 best practices proposed
by the Canadian Securities Administrators
and has concluded that the company's
existing governance practices substantially
comply with these new standards.
All Carneco employees, management and
directors are committed to the sustainable
growth and prosperity of the company.
We will continue to track and report our
performance, improve transparency and
maintain the trust of our stakeholders. in
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Visioni
Cameco will be a dominant nuclear
energy company producing uranium fuel
and generating clean electricity.

Mission
Our core business is uranium fuel supply.
Through our nuclear investments we
participate in the generation of clean
energy. Sustainable growth is realized
by building upon our core business
strengths through socially, environmentally and economically responsible
conduct. In doing so, we will enhance
our status as an investment, supplier and
employer of choice, and continue to earn
the support of the communities where
we interact.
The key measures of our success will
be a safe, healthy and rewarding
workplace, clean environment, and
supportive communities wherever we
operate, together with solid financial
performance, all reflected in a growing
return to shareholders.
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Camneco is involved in four business
segments:
* uranium
* conversion services
* nuclear electricity generation
* gold
The only significant commercial use
for uranium is to fuel nuclear power
plants for the generation of electricity.
In recent years, nuclear plants generated
approximately 16% of the world's
electricity.
The major stages in the production
of nuclear fuel are uranium exploration,
mining and milling, refining and
conversion, enrichment and fuel
fabrication. Once a commercial uranium
deposit is discovered and reserves

delineated, the regulatory approval
to mine is secured and the mine is
developed, uranium ore is mined and
upgraded at a mill to produce uranium
concentrates. Uranium mining
companies sell uranium concentrates
to nuclear electrical generating
companies around the world on the
basis of the U308 contained in the
uranium concentrates. These utilities
then contract with converters, enrichers
and fuel fabricators to produce the
required reactor fuel.
Cameco is the world's largest uranium
producer with 550 million pounds of
proven and probable reserves of uranium
including controlling ownership of
the world's largest high-grade reserves
and low-cost operations in northern

Saskatchewan. The company has
four operating mines in Canada and
the US, as well as two new mines
ready to be developed in Canada
and Central Asia, subject to regulatory
and partner approval.
The company is an integrated uranium
producer with refining and conversion
facilities at Blind River and Port Hope
located in Ontario, Canada. The
products from these sites are used to
produce fuel for nuclear power reactors.
The Port Hope plant can produce
20% of the world's annual requirements
for uranium hexafluoride (UF 6) to make
fiuel for light-water reactors. In addition,
the Port Hope plant is the world's only
commercial producer of natural uranium
dioxide (UO2 ) the fiuel used by all
Canadian-built Candu reactors.
Through its 31.6% ownership of the

Cameco is also a gold producer. In early
January 2004, Carneco announced that
it had reached an agreement with the
Kyrgyz Republic to create a jointly
owned Canadian gold company called
Centerra Gold Inc. Cameco will own
67% and the Kyrgyz government
(through its agency Kyrgyzaltyn) will
own the remaining 33%. Centerra
intends to undertake an initial public
offering (IPO) in Canada and sell shares
to the public. Caineco expects to
continue to hold a majority interest in
Centerra immediately following the IPO,
which is planned for the second quarter
of 2004.
Growti Str;ategy
Cameco's vision is to be a dominant
nuclear energy company, producing
uranium fuel and generating clean
electricity. The main strategies of
Cameco are:
* to maintain and leverage the
company's competitive advantages
in the uranium and conversion
businesses,
* to continue vertical integration
within the nuclear filel supply, and
* to expand nuclear generation
capacity.
The specific strategies in the uranium
and conversion businesses, which provide
the foundation of the company, will be
CUSTOMER COUNTRIES
Cameco sells uranium and conversion
services to companies located in 15
countries around the globe.

Bruce Power nuclear generating station

located in southern Ontario, Cameco
generates clean electricity. Cameco is
the sole fuel supplier to the Bruce Power
Limited Partnership that leases six
operating nuclear power reactors, plus
two reactors that are laid up. Bruce
Power's operating plants have a
combined generation capacity of 4,660
megawatts (MW), which is equivalent
to the residential and industrial needs
of a city the size of Toronto, Ontario.
18

Americas
Argentina

Europe
Belgium

Brazil

Czech Republic

Canada
United States
Asia

Finland
France
Germany
Spain

Japan

Sweden

South Korea

United Kingdom

Taiwan

discussed in the sections dealing with
those businesses.

a right of first refusal in favour of these
owners. The agreement is subject to
regulatory approval and other closing
conditions, and the final purchase price
is subject to closing adjustments. The
transaction is expected to close in the
second half of 2004.

In pursuing its plans for further
integration in nuclear fiuel supply and
expansion in nuclear power generation,
the company has a number of goals:
* to earn a sufficient rate of return
and provide a basis for long-term
profitability.

In addition, Carneco seeks to increase
nuclear power's contribution to global
energy supply through two major
strategies:

* to provide nuclear fuel supply where
possible and link to core assets and
competencies,

* to strengthen Cameco's foundation
for further expansion in the nuclear
fuel cycle,

"

0

'll

L

"

* participate in related technologies
that support nuclear energy
development, and

r,
'21
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* promote industry initiatives to
position nuclear power as an
important factor in addressing
climate change by providing
leadership and resources to key
industry associations, developing
government relationships and further
enhancing Camneco's environmental
and safety reputation.

* to

achieve a reward commensurate
with the risks taken, and

* to not unduly risk Cameco's overall
viability.

{ Tonnes of greenhouse gases I

The key strategies are:
* to pursue the most appropriate
investments by considering
investment opportunities in all
aspects of the nuclear fuel cycle,
* to guide and support Bruce Power's
growth strategy,
* to pursue partnering opportunities
in new reactor construction and
completions by leveraging fuel supply
relationships, developing expertise
in new fuel requirements, and
enhancing relationships with industry
leaders in reactor technology, and
* to seek active ownership to allow,
where possible, participation in
management and operational
involvement of generation facilities.
In March 2004, Carneco announced that
one of its wholly owned US subsidiaries
signed an agreement to purchase a
25.2% interest in assets comprising the
South Texas Project (STP) from a wholly
owned subsidiary of American Electric
Power (AEP) for $333 million (US).
Included in this purchase price is
$54 million (US) for fuel and nonfuel inventory.

The world's nuclear reactors
prevent emissions of up to
2.5 billion tonnes of carbon
dioxide annually.

Tredsi

in the Nzicler

Power Industry

3t .-Ce:World Nuclear Association

A number of evolving trends in
the nuclear power industry have
the potential to affect Cameco's
business environment for uranium
and conversion.

generating capacity from the 25.2%
interest in STP is 630 MW. Each owner
takes in kind and markets its pro-rata
share of electricity generated by STP.

Nuclear Utilities Consolidate
Electric utilities in the US and Europe
continued to restructure in 2003, albeit
at a slower pace than in the previous five
years. Consolidation of nuclear
generating plant ownership can be

The balance of STP is held by Texas
Genco (30.8%), San Antonio City
Public Service Board (28%) and Austin
Energy (16%). The interest being

purchased by Cameco is subject to

WORLD ELECTRICITY GENERATION
Nuclear's i6%share of world electricity generation is the third largest behind
coal and hydro.
Nuclear

Coat

STP consists of two 1,250-MW nuclear
units located in Texas. The net
19
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expected to continue in response to
market deregulation and result in
increased cost efficiency and more
concentrated customer buying power.
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Construction
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Electricity (%)
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In 2003, the world gross average capacity
factor of nuclear generation decreased for
the first time in five years to 76%. This
2% decrease can largely be attributed
to lower averages in Japan and the US.
In Japan, long regulatory outages
impacted the average. The US decrease
of about 2% is primarily a result of
extended plant shutdowns for capital
improvements and inspections. These
small year-to-year variances, both up
and down, are not unexpected.
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Capacity Factors

Nuclear plants continue to increase
generating capacity through uprates
(the increase in the nominal level of
output due to the installation of more
efficient equipment and/or improved
instrtmentation). These uprates can
increase a power plant's capacity between
2% and 20%. In most cases, an increase
in capacity translates into increased
demand for uranium concentrates and
conversion services.
In 2003, US regulators authorized
uprates at eight of the nation's 103
reactors, resulting in an increase in
capacity of about 130 MW In total,
over the last 10 years, US uprates
have resulted in the addition of about
3,500 MW capacity, and over the next
five years, another 28 units are expected
to increase capacity by about 1,900 MW
Nuclear reactors in other countries,
including France, Germany, Spain,
Sweden and Belgium, have increased
or plan to increase capacity through
uprates, a trend that Cameco expects
to continue.
Nuclear Plant Licence Extensions
In 2003, 13 US nuclear units received
20-year licence extensions, bringing the
total to 23 units since 2000. Operators

SUPPORT FOR NUCLEAR ENERGY
1 A majority of people in the US, the wortd's largest elecricity market, favour
nuclear energy.
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of an additional 40 units have applied
or are expected to apply for extensions
in the next few years. In total, these
units represent more than 50% of the
US nuclear generating capacity.

US Nuclear Regulatory Agency. These
utilities have not committed to building
new reactors, but the ESPs will simplify
the process if they decide to proceed with
a new build.

In Russia, three reactors have been
granted life extensions, and more
are planned, for a total of 12 out
of 30 reactors. Other countries
contemplating life extension of their
reactors include France, the United
Kingdom, and Ukraine.

In the next two years, Argentina and
Bulgaria are expected to restart
construction of two units that were
halted in the 1990s. In 2003, Slovenia
and the Czech Republic also indicated
they were considering new nuclear units.

New Nuclear Construction
Three new reactors began commercial
operation around the world in 2003, two
in China and one in the Czech Republic.
In addition, construction began on a
further two units, one in each of
Romania and Japan, bringing the total
under construction to 33 units.
In Canada, two of the six units
mothballed in the latter part of the
1990s returned to service in 2003,
a third in January 2004. This includes
Bruce A units 4 and 3, which restarted
in 2003 and 2004 respectively.
In Finland, the operator has applied
for a construction licence and began site
preparation for the country's fifth nuclear
unit. The 1,600-MW reactor is expected
to commence commercial operations
in 2009.
In the US, three utilities have applied
for Early Site Permits (ESPs) with the

Proposed US Senate energy legislation
provides for the construction of an
advanced reactor to demonstrate both
electricity and hydrogen production
at the Idalho National Engineering and
Environmental Laboratory. This research
project is proposed to move the US
toward advanced nuclear energy and
clean carbon-free hydrogen production.
Nuclear Power and Politics
In Europe, some reactors are scheduled
to close in the short term as a result
of political decisions. However, these
countries still have to deal with the
economic and environmental realities
of replacing the electricity production
of these plants, as well as the need to
expand electricity supply to meet
growing demand.
Germany experienced the first
permanent closure of a reactor under the
phase-out regime in late 2003. The next
permanent closure is expected in 2005.
21

In Sweden, the government is expected
to decide on a phaseout plan in 2004
and the timetable for the closure of one
reactor, which has been delayed for
several years. The Swedish public, in
a November 2003 poll, indicated that
84% favour the continued use of
nuclear, at least until existing reactor
units are closed for either safety or
economic reasons.

In 2002, the latest year for which data
is available, the direct costs of US nuclear
electricity production, for the fourth
consecutive year, continued to be lower
than the cost of electricity from coal
plants. Other than hydro, nuclear energy
is the cheapest source of electricity in the
US. This is largely attributable to the
improved performance of US nuclear
power plants.
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Worldwvide Uranium Supply
and Demand
The supply and demand fundamentals
in the uranium market are in a period
of significant change and uncertainty,
and point to a need for more primary
mine production, which will require new
investment. Higher sustained prices are
needed to encourage the required new
investment in primary production.
Cameco is positioned to benefit from
this need for new supply through its
control of more than 65% of currently
planned new uranium production.
Uranitnn Dernatnd

The nuclear power trends mentioned
earlier are generally positive for nuclear
energy. However, it is difficult to know
whether these trends and the national
debates on the long-term future of
nuclear power will eventually result in
more or less favourable conditions for
the nuclear industry. Of note, however,
is that the two most populous countries,
China and India, representing over onehalf of the world's population, are

difficulties at Cameco's McArthur River
mine, but is expected to increase to
about 75 million pounds in 2004.

WORLD URANIUM PRODUCTION
Despite losing three months of production at the McArthur River mine, Cameco
increased uranium production by ±6% during 2003 to tar. million pounds or more than
20% of world output The company plans to produce 20,7 million pounds during 2004.

In 2003, the world's major uranium
producers were affected by the
weakening US dollar. While most
uranium is sold in US dollars, most
of the world's production comes from
outside the US. Uranium prices
increased over 40% in 2003, but this
increase was largely offset by the growing
strength of other currencies against the
US dollar. For example. in the same
period, the uranium price only increased
by 18% in Canadian dollars, 6% in
Australian dollars, and 5% in South
African rand. The countries affected by
these currency changes produced about
59% of world production in 2003.
As a consequence, additional price
increases will be required to stimulate
exploration and development of new
production in these countries.
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CIS/China

committed to increasing their share
of nuclear generated electricity.

In 2003, five reactors started commercial
operations, while five smaller reactors
closed, maintaining the total number
of reactors at 437 at the end of the year.
The net gain in installed capacity was
3,200 MW in 2003.

New construction, improved reactor
operations, uprates and the extension
of reactor lives make it highly likely that,
at a minimum, the current demand for
uranium will continue for a number of
years. In the shorter term, perceptions
that there are ample uranium supplies are
beginning to change as excess inventories
decline. This change has already begun
to affect uranium prices as average spot
prices rose during 2003 to $14.45 per
pound from $10.20 a year earlier. As
secondary supplies continue to decrease
it is expected that uranium prices will
more closely reflect the cost of primary
supply, including a reasonable return
on new investment.

Uranium Supply

Secondary Sources

The world uranium supply comes from
primary mine production and a number
of secondary sources.

Secondary sources of supply consist
of surplus military materials, excess
inventory and recycled products. With
the exception of recycled material,
secondary supplies are finite. Recycled
products are currently a high-cost fiuel
alternative and are used by utilities in
a limited number of countries.

Mine Production
World production in 2003 was about
92 million pounds U3 Os, about the
same as 2002. Western world production
decreased 4% to about 68 million
pounds, largely as a result of operating
,,,

Western world uranium consumption
totalled about 155 million pounds in
2003. Cameco estimates that annual
uranium consumption in the western
world will reach 172 million pounds in
2013, reflecting an annual growth rate
of 1% per year over the period. Demand
in the former Soviet Union, Eastern
Europe and China was about 25 million
pounds in 2003 and is expected to
increase to about 33 million pounds in
2013. In total, world uranium demand
was 180 million pounds in 2003 and is
expected to increase to 205 million
pounds in 2013. In 2004, uranium
demand is expected to remain about the
same as 2003.
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Uranium prices began to reflect the
long-standing gap between production
and consumption during 2003.
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One of the largest sources of secondary
supply is the uranium derived from
Russian highly enriched uranium
(HEU). As a result of the 1994 HEU
agreement between the US and Russia to
reduce the number of nuclear weapons,
additional supplies of uranium have been
available to the market. Under the 20year agreement, weapons grade HEU is
blended down in Russia to low enriched
uranium (LEU) capable of being used in
western world nuclear power plants.
Cameco, together with two other
companies, will purchase an increasing
quantity of the uranium feed component
of the Russian LEU over the next few
years. Uranium not purchased is
returned to Russia and held in a special
stockpile for use in blending additional
HEU or, to the extent the stockpile

WESTERN WORLD CONTRACT
VOLUMES
|(million WbsQi0E3

More than 75% of world uranium
contracting occurred in the tong-term
market over the past three years.

Spot Market (U.Q
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exceeds 58 million pounds U30 8 ,
for sale under certain conditions.
Cameco and its partners also have
options to purchase uranium from this
stockpile. At the end of 2003, there were
44million pounds U3 08 equivalent in
the stockpile.
On February 12, 2004 Cameco, its
partners and Tenex agreed in principle
to allow Tenex:
* to return additional quantities of
uranium to Russia, and
* the priority right to remove uranium
from the stockpile to facilitate
blending of HEU.
This would reduce the remaining
quantity of uranium available for
Cameco and its partners to purchase over
the remaining life of the HEU agreement
which will be completed in 2013.
In 2003, all scheduled LEU deliveries
(24 million pounds U 3 0 8 equivalent)
were received in the US from Russia.
For 2003, the aggregate US sales quota
of uranium derived from Russian HEU
was 12 million pounds and Cameco
purchased almost 4 million pounds,
which represents its prescribed share
of the quota and some additional
quantities. The US sales quota in 2004
is 14 million pounds.

The other large source of secondary
supply is excess inventories. Prior to
1985, uranium mine production
exceeded reactor requirements due,
in large part, to government incentive
programs that anticipated rapid growth
of nuclear generated electricity. The
result was a buildup of large inventories,
both in the commercial and government
sectors. Over the past 19 years, uranium
mine production has been less than
annual requirements and the company
believes that most of these inventories
have been consumed.
Cameco estimates the drawdown in
2003 of excess inventory held by western
world utilities, producers, governments
and other industry participants was in
the order of 35 to 40 million pounds
U3O8. Inventory drawdown in 2004 is
expected to be somewhat lower than in
2003, reflecting the declining inventory
availability, as noted above.

Uranium Markets
Utilities secure about 85 to 90% of their
uranium requirements by entering into
medium- and long-term contracts with
uranium suppliers. These contracts
usually provide for deliveries to begin
one to three years after execution and
continue for several years thereafter.
In awarding contracts, utilities consider
the commercial terms offered, including
price, and the producer's record of
performance and uranium reserves.
Prices are established by a number of
methods including base prices adjusted
by inflation indices, reference prices
(generally spot price indicators but also
long-term reference prices) and annual

price negotiations. Many contracts also
contain floor prices, ceiling prices and
other negotiated provisions that affect
the price ultimately paid.
Utilities acquire the remaining 10 to
15% of their uranium requirements
through spot and near-term purchases
from producers and traders. Spot market
purchases are those that call for delivery
within one year. Traders generally source
their uranium from organizations
holding excess inventory, including
utilities, producers and governments.
Uranium Spot Market
Spot market demand was steady
throughout 2003 and totalled 22 million
pounds for the year, up from 20 million
pounds in 2002. Over 2003, the average
spot price increased by more than
40% to close the year at $14.45 (US)
per pound U 3 0 8 . The spot market
represented about 14% of the western
world's uranium consumption in 2003,
a modest increase over the past
several years.
Long-'Termi Uranium Market
The long-term contract price indicator
published by TradeTech closed the
year at $15.50 (US), a 44% increase
during 2003.
Long-term contracting in 2003 by
western world utilities is estimated to
have been more than 75 million pounds.
This, combined with spot market sales
of about 22 million pounds, represented
only about 62% of western world
consumption during the year.

Year-End Prices
($US/lb U3 08 )

Market

2003

Spot uranium'
Long-terrm uranium 2

14.45
_5.50

5

1 posprices are industry averages.
4TradcTech
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2002
10.20
10.75

% change
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44
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AVERAGE URANIUM SPOT
PRICE
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The spot price for uranium increased by
more than 40% during 2003. Spot
demand increased to 22 muition pounds
or about 14%0 of the western world's
consumption,

10

.......

5

,.2001

2002

2003

Uraniumi Business - Key

became significant as the spot price
moved into the $14.00 (US) range.
In addition, many of Cameco's
fixed/base-price contracts were also
entered into when the uranium spot
price was considerably lower and some
of the older, more favourably priced
contracts are expiring. As a result, in
2004, the average realized price from
these fixed-price contracts is expected
to be lower than in 2003.
However, the impact of the current
higher spot prices will benefit Carneco
over the longer term as the company
delivers uranium in the future under
new contracts signed in the current
environment.
Volume - Sales, Production,
Purchases

Peiformance Drivers

Sales Volume

The major factors that drive Carneco's
uranium business results are:

Cameco sold more than 35 million
pounds of uranium in 2003, up 11 %
from 2002. In 2004, Cameco's uranium
sales volumes are expected to total about
32 million pounds. For the period 2004
forward, Cameco has more than 100
million pounds of uranium committed
over the following five years. About 75%
of the sales commitments in that fiveyear period will be delivered during 2004
to 2006. Cameco's committed sales
decline rapidly over this period and they
will be replaced in the normal course
with contracts reflecting prevailing
market conditions.

* prices - spot market and contract,
* volume - sales, production,
purchases,
* costs - production and purchases,
* relationship between the US and
Canadian dollars.
Prices

-

Spot/Long-'Term

While Cameco generally does not sell
uranium in the spot market, about
60% of the company's uranium under
its long-term contracts is sold at prices
that reference the spot market price near
the time of delivery. The remaining 40%
is sold at fixed prices or base prices
escalated by an inflation index.
Most of the company's spot marketrelated contracts were entered into a
number of years ago when the spot price
was much lower than the year-end
average price of $14.45 (US) per pound.
These contracts generally contain ceiling
prices. Due to the rapid increase in the
uranium spot price in the latter part of
2003, a number of spot market-related
contracts reached ceiling prices in the
near term. The impact of ceiling prices

Cameco sells more uranium than it
produces from its mines. Cameco's sales
commitments are filled by a combination

of sources consisting of mine production,
long-term purchase arrangements, spot
purchases and inventory.
Production Volume
For 2003, Cameco's original uranium
production target was 20.9 million
pounds. Due to the water inflow
incident at McArthur River, the
2003 production target was revised to
16.7 million pounds. Actual production
in 2003 was 18.5 million pounds, above
the company's revised target, and up
almost 17% from 2002. The Inkai
test mine in Kazakhstan also produced
169,000 pounds of uranium (Cameco's
share) in 2003.
McArthur River production was down
in 2003 compared to 2002 due to the
water inflow incident, which resulted
in the mine being closed for about three
months to deal with the additional water.
Rabbit Lake was in the process of
restarting in 2002 and produced for
the full year in 2003.
In 2004, Cameco's share of total mine
production is expected to rise to 20.7
million pounds U3 08, tip 2.2 million
pounds or 12% from 2003 due primarily
to the McArthur River mine returning to
normal operations. The planned
production of 12.9 million pounds at
McArthur River/Key Lake represents
Cameco's share of the maximum
production level allowed for these
operations under their current licences.
At Rabbit Lake, the Eagle Point
underground mine is expected to
produce 5.8 million pounds in 2004,

from its remaining reserves of about

(Cameco's share 000 lbs U3 0 8)
2004
Plan
McArthur River/Key Lake
Rabbit Lake
Smith Ranch/Highland
.........___.....
.......Crow Butte
Total
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12,900
5,800
._......................
.....

1,200
800
20,700

2003
Actual

2002
Actual

10,579
13,095
__-..._
___.!_____
._.__..'.............
.. ... ...... .. _.
5,928
1,143
1,201 ......... . .........................
887
_.
t.........
..........
_.
823
768
15,893
18,531

12.5 million pounds U308. Prospects
for additional reserves have been
identified and surface drilling for targets
near current workings as well as
underground drilling to further explore
a deeper target will begin in the first
quarter of 2004.

W

Foreign Exchange
Cameco meets 20% of the world's
uranium and UF6 conversion needs.

The majority of Cameco's purchase
commitments are under long-term,
fixed-price arrangements, reflecting prices
much lower than the current spot price.
These purchase commitments total
about $1.1 billion (US) as at December
31, 2003. See note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the Inkai test mine is expected
to produce 0.4 million pounds of uranium
in 2004 (Cameco's share is 60%).
It is anticipated that Inkai will produce
2.6 million pounds after it reaches full
production. This annual production level
will be examined to determine if it can
be increased.

Costs
Cameco's cost of supply is influenced
by its mix of produced mine material
and uranium purchases.

Purchases
Cameco also has purchase commitments
for uranium products and services from
various sources. At the end of 2003,
these purchase commitments totalled
88 million pounds uranium equivalent
(most is in the form of UF 6 ) over the
period 2004 to 2013. Of this, 64 million
pounds is from exercising options under
the HEU commercial agreement. In
early 2004, Cameco exercised options
for an additional 4 million pounds under
the HEU commercial agreement.

Uranium mine production costs are
driven primarily by the grade and size
of the reserves. McArthur River is the
world's largest, high-grade uranium
mine. Its ore grade averages 25% U3 08
which means it can produce more than
18 million pounds per year by extracting
only 100 to 120 tonnes of ore per day.
While Rabbit Lake's average ore grade of
1% U3 08 is much lower than McArthur
River, it compares favourably to other
operating mines in the world that are
generally below 0.5%.

I1
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Purchased product also impacts Cameco's
cost of supply. The majority of Cameco's
purchase commitments are under longterm, fixed-price arrangements reflecting
prices lower than the year-end average
spot price of $14.45 (US) per pound.

{ Of the world market I

In the US, the in situ leach (ISL)
operations at the Smith Ranch-Highland
mine have planned production of
1.2 million pounds while Crow Butte
is expected to produce 0.8 million
pounds in 2004. Studies are underway
to examine alternatives to increase
production at these operations.

U3 OS REVENUE BY REGION
The Americas is our largest customer
region accounting for 7o% of Cameco's
total U30 8 revenue.

I11

"

I

ISL extraction methods can make even
lower grade orebodies commercially
attractive. Worldwide, ISL mines
typically recover uranium from orebodies
with an average grade in the 0.1 % U308
range. Cameco's cost of supply is
influenced modestly by the two US ISL
operations, as the production from the
ISL operations accounts for a small
percentage of its total primary output.
For example, US ISL production is
expected to account for about 10%
of the company's planned primary
output in 2004.

-------------------------------------1
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In 2003, the strengthening of the
Canadian dollar against the US dollar
affected Cameco's results. Cameco
sells most of its uranium in US dollars,
but the majority of its production comes
from Canada. As such, the company's
uranium sales are denominated mostly
in US dollars, while its production
costs are denominated primarily in
Canadian dollars.
The strengthening Canadian dollar
has emphasized the importance of the
company's currency hedging policies
and its drive toward geographic diversity
of production. For instance, Cameco's
US operations are not affected by the
stronger Canadian dollar as their revenues
and costs are both denominated in US
dollars. In addition, prospects for
production at Cameco's Inkai property in
Kazakhstan remain good, as the Kazakh
government has managed its currency
exchange rate so that it does not fluctuate
too widely against the US dollar.
The company attempts to provide some
protection against exchange rate
fluctuations by planned hedging activity
designed to smooth volatility. Thus
Canieco is protected against declines
in the US dollar in the shorter term.
In addition, Cameco has a portion of its
annual cash outlays denominated in US
dollars, including uranium and services
purchases, which provides a natural
hedge. While natural hedges provide cash
flow protection against exchange rate
fluctuations, the impacts on earnings
may be dispersed over several fiscal
periods and are more difficult to identify.
For 2003, $177 million (US) of
Cameco's uranium and conversion
revenue was hedged using currency

Kazakhstan. The company owns
f Of the future 3

Cameco holds a controlling
interest in more than 65% of
the world's identified future
production capacity in uranium.

contracts at an average rate of $0.62. As

Protect and grow its market position:

of December 31, 2003, about 50% of
2004 uranium and conversion revenue
was hedged using currency contracts at

* leverage industry relationships
to participate in new production,

an effective rate of $0.68.
To the extent the company borrows in
US dollars, this provides a hedge against
its US revenue generating assets.

Uranium Strategies
Cameco's overall objective is to maintain
and leverage its competitive advantage in
uranium. In doing so, it strives to meet
four major goals:
* to maintain its low-cost status,

* to protect and grow its market
position,
* to improve supply flexibility, and

* ensure sustainable production
by identifying and exploring for
profitable uranium resources, and
* develop customer relationships
and expand the range of services
currently available while enhancing
the company's reputation as a secure
supplier.
Improve supply flexibility
* accelerate Inkai production in
Kazakhstan,
* bring Cigar Lake into production
when appropriate,
* continue to pursue an international
exploration program, and
* manage secondary supplies.

* to optimize its contract portfolio.

Optimize contract portfolio:
There are a number of key strategies the
company uses to achieve its goals:
Maintain its low-cost status:
* add low-cost reserves:

* position for market recovery by
managing the company's portfolio
*of contracts to maximize profits for
Cameco in light of future
expectations of prices.

- through exploration and
acquisition, and

Capabilityto Deliver Results

- by validating the potential for
competitive ISL production from
existing properties.

Cameco has three major resources from
which to draw on in order to deliver
results:

* improve margins by:

* quality uranium assets,

-

optimizing JSL and conventional
production,

* management of secondary supplies,
and

-

gaining cost efficiencies through
quality and business process
improvements, and

* strong market position.
Quality Uranium Assets

pursuing fundamental productivity
gains through technological
development.

Cameco has geographically diverse
primary supply, with uranium mines
and projects in Canada, the US and

-

26

550 million pounds of proven and
probable uranium reserves, which
include more than 400 million pounds
of the world's richest uranium reserves
at McArthur River and Cigar Lake.
Cameco's share of reserves at McArthur
River and Cigar Lake can produce as
much electricity as would be generated
by 2 billion tonnes of coal or 9 billion
barrels of oil.
Another quality asset is the uranium
exploration expertise that Cameco has
retained even during the low uranium
price cycles. The company's large and
high-grade uranium deposits were all
discovered through successful exploration
over the past 20 years. Cameco has
pursued a focused and effective
exploration program to identify profitable
uranium resources for the future to
maintain the company's position as the
world's largest uranium producer.
The company's uranium exploration
efforts focus predominantly, but not
exclusively, on prospects in the Athabasca
Basin of northern Saskatchewan. Canada,
and the Arnhem Land region in
Northern Territory, Australia. In addition,
Cameco and an exploration company
called Pioneer Metals combined some
assets in 2001 to form a junior uranium
company called UEX Corporation. At
December 31, 2003, Cameco's ownership
interest in UEX was 29%.
In 2003, uranium exploration
expenditures were about $13 million.
up $1 million from 2002. In 2004,
the planned uranium exploration
expenditures are $15 million.
Manage Secondary Supplies
Cameco manages a significant portion
of secondary supplies through a number
of long-term agreements that allow the
company to purchase uranium from
dismantled Russian weapons and other
secondary sources. These agreements give
Cameco greater diversity of supply and
ensure that this material enters the
market in an orderly fashion.

Gross profit

Cameco generated a profit through
its management of secondary supplies
in 2003.

In 2003, gross profit from the uranium
business amounted to $84 million
compared to $93 million in 2002. a
decrease of $9 million or 10%. This
decline was attributable to rehabilitation
costs at McArthur River, partially offset
by the 11% increase in deliveries of
uranium concentrates. Earnings before
taxes from the uranium business
decreased by $13 million in 2003
and the profit margin declined to
15% from 18% in 2002. Excluding the
rehabilitation costs at McArthur River,
earnings before taxes were $97 million
and the gross profit margin was 17%.

E.1^; ° i . .A. C

Strong market position

Cameco supplies about 20% of the
world's uranium demand. The company's
market position allows it to purchase
uranium in the spot market when prices
are low, adding to its profits and
providing support for weak markets.

Uranium Business Results
Cameco's uranium business consists
of the McArthur River, Key Lake
and Rabbit Lake mine/mill operations
in Saskatchewan, two ISL mines in
the US, the Inkai ISL test mine in
Kazakhstan, the Cigar Lake development
project in Saskatchewan and uranium
exploration projects located primarily
in Canada and Australia.
Revenue
In 2003, revenue from the uranium
business rose by 9% to $570 million from
$524 million in 2002 due to an 11 %
increase in sales volume. For the second
consecutive year, Cameco delivered a
record quantity of uranium concentrates.
The average realized selling price was 2%
lower than 2002 as the influence of higher
spot prices in the second half of the year
was offset by a less favourable foreign
exchange rate and lower realized prices
on fixed-price contracts.
Cost of products and services sold
In 2003, the cost of products and
services sold was $395 million compared

Revenue ($ millions)
profit ($ millions).........I....... . ...... ........Gross
......... ............ ...... ...................................._...........I.....
Gross profit %
Earnings before taxes ($ millions)
...........
o....... .....
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.(.....
.. ......
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Uranium price increase )

The average spot price
for uranium increased more than
40% to $14.45 (US) per pound
during 2003.

fw Uranium
2004 Outlook;
In 2004, Cameco's uranium revenue
is projected to decline by about 5%
compared to 2003 as the result of a
10% decline in sales volume. This
decline in sales volume reflects Cameco's
plan to decrease the amount of uranium
purchased on the spot market for resale.
A modest improvement in realized price
is expected to partially offset the impact
of the decline in volume. Cameco
expects its average realized price in
Canadian dollars will increase by about
5% in 2004 even after an expected
negative impact of an anticipated 5%
decline in the US/Canadian dollar
exchange rate.

to $345 million in 2002, an increase of
14% due to the higher volume sold and
rehabilitation costs of $26 million at
McArthur River related to the water
inflow incident. Excluding these costs
for McArthur River in 2003 and Rabbit
Lake's care and maintenance costs of
$8 million in 2002, the unit cost of sales
decreased by 2% compared to 2002,
primarily as a result of a $7 million
royalty recovery recorded in 2003.

Depreciations depletion and
reclamation
In 2003, depreciation, depletion and
reclamation (DD&R) charges were
$92 million compared to $86 million
in 2002, an increase of $6 million due
to the higher volume sold. On a per unit
basis, costs rose by about 3% due to
increased deliveries of Rabbit Lake
material, which carries a relatively high
DD&R charge.

2003

2002
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Conversion Demand

% Change

35.4

18.5

15.9

The demand for uranium hexafluoride
(UF 6) conversion services is directly
linked to the level of electricity generated
by light water nuclear power plants. The
demand for uranium dioxide (UO2 )
conversion services is linked to the level

9
(10)
... ......... ..............
...............
..........

(17)
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84
31.9

Uranium margins are expected to be
stronger than in 2003 due to the higher
average price and lower costs. In 2003,
the gross profit was burdened by the
costs associated with the remediation
of the McArthur River mine following
a water inflow problem.

.
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of electricity generated by Candu heavy
water nuclear power plants.

AVERAGE CONVERSION SPOT

PRICE

Western world demand for UF6 and
natural U0 2 conversion services was
estimated to be approximately 58,200
tonnes of uranium in 2003. It is estimated
that this demand will increase to approximately 65,700 tonnes of uranium by
2013. In 2003, demand in the former
Soviet Union, Eastern Europe and
China was about 9,400 tonnes of
uranium and is expected to increase to
about 12,400 tonnes of uranium by 2013.
In 2004, conversion demand is expected
to remain about the same as in 2003.

(SUSfKg U as UFt in North America)

Spot prices for UF6 conversion in the
US increased by 17% during 2003 due
to tightening of supply.
6..
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Due to tightening of supply, spot and
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long-term prices for UF6 rose in 2003.

2001

conversion capacity constitutes

approximately 28% of western world
capacity.

In 2001, British Nuclear Fuels Limited
(BNFL), with annual conversion
capacity of about 6,000 tonnes,
announced that it would halt production
of UF6 in 2006. With the
announcement, BNFL ceased the
marketing of UF6 conversion services
and sold its uncommitted UF6
production to Cameco.

----

--- ---- -----

--

2002

--- .

Spot prices for UF6 conversion services
in the US market increased by 17%
during 2003 and in the European
market the spot price rose by 10%.

2003

western inventories, Russian inventory
sales in the form of low enriched
uranium, Russian re-enriched depleted
tails in the form of UF6 and Russian and
US uranium derived from dismantling
nuclear weapons.

The published long-term contract
price indicators closed the year at
$6.00 (US) KgU as UF 6 for North
American delivery and $6.75 (US)
for European delivery, a 15% and
14% increase respectively.

Russia supplies most of the requirements of the former Soviet Union and
Eastern Europe in the form of low
enriched uranium.

Conversion prices are expected to remain
firm in 2004, as the tight supply
situation is likely to continue in 2004.

Cameco is the only commercial supplier
of conversion for natural U0 2 customers
in the world.

In addition, supplies are available from
secondary sources including excess

Spot/Long-Term Conversion
Market

6 --

Conversion Supply
The western world UF6 conversion
industry consists of Cameco and three
other commercial producers with an
annual capacity of about 45,000 tonnes
of uranium. Cameco's annual UF6

purchasing the remainder on the spot
market. Cameco is the only commercial
supplier of ceramic grade UO2 for
Candu reactors operated in Canada.
Cameco also exports U0 2 to South
Korea for its Candu reactors and to the
US and Japan for use as blanket fuel in
boiling water reactors.

Conveersion Business - Key
Peifor-mance Drivers
The major factors that drive Carneco's
conversion business results are:

Conversion Markets

* prices - spot and long-term,

Utilities contract more than 90% of their
UF6 conversion services through
medium- and long-term contracts,

* volume - sales, production and
purchases,
* costs - production and purchases,
and

* relationship between the US and
Canadian dollars.
Year-End Prices

Prices - Spot/Long-Term

($US/lb U308)
2003

Markets
Spot UF 6 conversion'
North America
Europe

% Change

5.03
6.13

17
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5.88
6.75

Long-term UF6 conversion 2
6.00...............
North
America
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Cameco sells its conversion services
directly to utilities located in many parts
of the world primarily through mediumand long-term contracts. Going forward,
about 90% of contract commitments,
in excess of 50,000 tonnes, have pricing
terms that are fixed- or base-price
escalated. The remaining 10% reference
the spot price near the time of delivery.

Volumes - Sales, Production,
Purchases

dollar in 2003 negatively affected
Cameco's results.

Sales Volume

A discussion about Cameco's hedging
program can be found in the uranium
business section under the heading
"Foreign Exchange".

Cameco sold 16,747 tonncs of uranium
conversion services in 2003, up 10%
from 2002. In 2004, Camecos
conversion volume is expected to total
about 16,000 tonnes uranium, 4% less
than in 2003.
Production Volume
At Cameco's Port Hope facilities,
conversion production totalled
13,273 tonnes uranium in 2003, up
7% from 2002. In 2004, production
is expected to be about 12,400 tonnes,
6% less than in 2003.
Purchase Volume
Cameco also has purchase commitments,
which primarily reflect the HEU
conversion component, re-enriched tails
product and the company's agreement to
purchase BNFLIs excess production until
shutdown of BNFL's plant. As noted in
the uranium business section, Cameco's
purchase commitments over the period
2004 to 2013 total about 88 million
pounds uranium equivalent (or more
than 34,000 tonnes U equivalent), most
of which is in the form of UF6.
Costs

Cameco's cost of supply is influenced by
its mix of production and purchases.
Conversion operating costs are primarily
fixed with the largest component being
labour. The largest variable operating
cost is for anhydrous hydrogen fluoride.
The majority of Cameco's purchase
commitments are under long-term,
fixed-price arrangements reflecting prices
lower than the current spot prices.
Foreign Exchange
The majority of the company's
conversion products are sold in the US
and sales are denominated in US dollars,
while production costs are incurred in
Canada and denominated in Canadian
dollars. As a result, the strengthening of
the Canadian dollar against the US

Conversion Strategies
Cameco's objective is to maintain and
leverage its competitive advantage in
conversion services. In doing so, it strives
to meet four major goals:
* to maintain its low-cost position,
* to protect and grow its market
position,
* to improve supply flexibility, and
* to optimize contract position.
The following are the key strategies the
company uses to achieve its goals:
* to improve margins by gaining cost
efficiencies through quality and
business process improvements and
pursuing productivity gains through
technological development,
* to grow market share through
product diversification to meet
changing nuclear fuel requirements,
* to optimize capacity utilization in
preparation for BNFIs exit from the
conversion market,
* to position for market recovery by
managing the company's portfolio
of contracts to maximize profits for
Cameco in light of future
expectations of prices, and
* to manage secondary supplies.

Capabilixy to Deliver Results
A key competitive advantage for Cameco
lies in its ability to provide both uranium
and conversion services, allowing it to
benefit from synergies of offering
combined purchasing for the first two
fuel components of nuclear fliel supply.
The Port Hope conversion facility
currently supplies natural U0 2 powder
for the manufacture of fuels for Candu
reactors operating in Canada and other
29

countries. The market for U02 is
changing, at least partially, due to the
planned introduction of slightly enriched
uranium (SEU) in place of the natural
uranium dioxide. SEU is a uranium
dioxide powder that has an enrichment
level up to 2.5% U-235, and is the
primary uranium component of a new
type of fuel that is proposed for use in
some Candu reactors. Cameco's
technology development group developed
the process to produce SEU, providing
the company with an opportunity to
capitalize on a changing market.
Initially the SEU will be produced for
use in Bruce Power's B reactors as part
of a power uprate project that is expected
to add about 400 megawatts of power
(an increase of 9% over Bruce Power's
current capacity) to Ontario's electricity
grid. It is expected that SEU fuel will be
used in the next generation of Candu
reactors called the advanced Candu
reactor (ACR) designed by Atomic
Energy of Canada Ltd.
In 2003, Cameco has advanced the
SEU project through thc first stage
of the regulatory process by filing a
project proposal and receiving the
approved environmental assessment
(EA) guidelines from the Canadian
Nuclear Safety Commission (CNSC).
In 2004, important project milestones
include completing and submitting the
EA, completing the engineering design
and preparing the Port Hope site for
the construction of the SEU blending
facility. Demonstration fuel bundles are
to be placed in the Bruce B reactors in
late 2004 or early 2005. The SEU
powder for these bundles will be
produced at the Port Hope facility.
Approval for preparation of limited
quantities of these bundles has already
been obtained.
The total annual quantity of SEU
produced will depend on future market
development. The SEU product would
replace a limited volume of the current
natural product sales.
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Conversion Business Results
Cameco's conversion business consists of
the uranium refining and conversion
facilities located in Ontario.

declined as record production of
13,273 tonnes was achieved.
Depreciation, depletion and
reclamation

Revenue

In 2003, revenue from the conversion
business rose by 4% to $142 million
from $137 million in 2002 due to a
10% increase in sales volumes. The
realized selling price declined by 4% due
largely to changes in foreign exchange
rates. Record annual conversion sales
of 16,747 tonnes were achieved.
Cost of products and services sold
In 2003, the cost of products and
services sold was $92 million compared
to $83 million in 2002, an increase of
11 % due to the higher sales volume. The
unit cost of product sold rose by 1% due
to an increase in the cost of purchased
conversion services, which more than
offset a reduction in the unit cost of
produced conversion. In 2003, Cameco's
unit cost of produced conversion
CONVERSION REVENUE

BY RE6ION
The Americas account for 58% of
Cameco's conversion revenue.
--- -------- ---

--------- ...... ---I-- ....----

In 2003, depreciation, depletion and
reclamation (DD&R) charges were
unchanged at $1 1 million. In spite of
the higher deliveries, total DD&R was
unchanged compared to 2002 as sales
in 2003 included a higher proportion
of purchased conversion.
Gross profit
In 2003, gross profit from the conversion
business amounted to $40 million
compared to $44 million in 2002. The
gross profit margin for the conversion
business declined to 28% from 32% due
to a lower average realized price.

2004 Outlook fno Conversion
At Port Hope, conversion production
is expected to be about 12,400 tonnes,
a decline of 6% compared to 2003
output due to an anticipated decrease
in sales volume in 2004.
Revenue from the conversion business
is anticipated to be about 5% lower than
in 2003 due primarily to a 4% decline
in sales volume. A modest decrease in
realized price is also anticipated as a
result of the expected continuing decline
in the US dollar. Conversion margins
are projected to decline compared to
2003, as the unit cost of conversion
production is likely to increase as a result
of lower expected output. The unit cost
of purchased conversion is also expected
to rise as lower-cost sources of supply
are diminished.
30

U

i urn

Cameco has a 31.6% interest in the
Bruce Power Limited Partnership. Bruce
Power's business is the generation and
sale of electricity into the Ontario
wholesale market. Bruce Power generates
electricity from the four Bruce B and
two Bruce A nuclear-powered units.
The Bruce B nuclear units and the two
recently restarted Bruce A units have
capacity to supply about 20% of
Ontario's electricity needs.
In addition to the carrying value of its
investment in Bruce Power, Cameco
has provided certain financial assurances
on behalf of the partnership. Canieco's
maximum exposure under these
arrangements is $274 million and
at December 31, 2003, the actual
exposure under these assurances was
$191 million. See note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
Cameco has extended a loan to
the partnership in the amount of
$75 million. The loan is due February
14, 2008 and bears interest at a rate
of 10.5% per annum. At December
31, 2003, the entire amount was
outstanding.
Cameco has entered into fuel supply
agreements with Bruce Power for the
procurement of the fabricated fuel.
Under these agreements, Cameco will
supply uranium and conversion services
and finance the purchase of fabrication
services. Contract terms are at market
rates and on normal trade terms. During
2003, sales of uranium and conversion
services to Bruce Power amounted to
approximately 3% of Cameco's total
revenue. At December 31, 2003,
amounts receivable under these
agreements amounted to $30 million.

Ontario Electricity Market
The Ontario government deregulated
its electricity market in May 2002 to
encourage innovation and investment in
new generation capacity. Seven months

later, the province froze rates for retail
(residential and small business) customers
at 4.3 cents per kilowatt hour (kWh) to
shelter consumers from high prices. The
wholesale market, where Bruce Power
sells all of its electricity, continues to
operate free of price regulation.
Late in 2003, the newly elected Liberal
government in Ontario introduced the
Ontario Energy Board Amendment Act
2003, which will remove the 4.3¢IkWh
price freeze for the retail market. As of
April 1, 2004, an interim-pricing plan
is expected to be implemented. The first
750 kWh of a customer's consumption
will be priced at 4.701<kWi and monthly
consumption above that level will be
priced at 5.5q/kWh. The Ontario
government stated that this structure will
remain in place until the independent
regulator, the Ontario Energy Board,
develops a clear and transparent
mechanism for setting prices, to be
implemented as soon as possible, but no
later than May 1, 2005. The interim
pricing structure does not distinguish
between commercial and residential
users; rather it distinguishes between
consumption patterns.
These regulatory changes have not
had as yet a direct impact on the price
in the wholesale electricity market into
which Bruce Power sells its output.
However, the volume of medium- and
long-term transactions in the wholesale
electricity market has dramatically
decreased and the regulatory changes
have increased uncertainty for generators
like Bruce Power.

Nuclear Electricity Business Key Pevformance Drivers
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Bruce Power Strategies
{ US households }
Electricity generated from
Cameco's uranium powers i1%
of US households.

market prices, which in turn are affected
by supply (temporary generating station
shutdowns) and demand (mainly driven
by weather).
To reduce its exposure to fluctuations
in spot market prices, Bruce Power has
a portfolio of fixed-price sales contracts.
About 65% of Bruce Power's output
was delivered into fixed-price contracts
during 2003 compared to 69% in 2002.
Volume
Output is affected by shutdowns, both
those that are planned (for maintenance)
and those that are unplanned (such as the
August 14, 2003 blackout in Ontario).

* volume, and

Bruce Power attempts to achieve high
output through effective maintenance
programs, as well as various investments
that can help secure and improve output.
Since about 95% of Bruce Power's costs
are fixed, volume improvements are
directly reflected in financial

* costs.

performance.

The major factors that drive Bruce
Power's results are:
* prices,

hour (MWh)) compared to $750 million
($36 per MWh) in 2002, primarily
reflecting increased maintenance costs
for the Bruce B reactors and operating
costs for Bruce A unit 4 in November
and December, after it was brought
back into production. Bruce Power
continually strives to control its costs
through effective management of routine
maintenance programs and investments

Prices

Costs

Bruce Power earnings are significantly
affected by fluctuations in electricity spot

Bruce Power's operating costs in 2003
totalled $853 million ($35 per megawatt
31

Operational
Bruce Power plans to improve the
operating efficiency of the Bruce reactors.
In 2003, the capacity factor achieved was
85%. While it is expected to decline to
approximately 80% in 2004 due to a
number of planned maintenance outages,
the long-term goal is to reach a capacity
factor of 90%.
Because about 95% of Bruce Power's
operating costs are fixed, the more output
produced, the lower the unit costs.
Growth
Bruce Power will examine the feasibility
of restarting Bruce A units I and 2 to
serve Ontario's growing electricity needs.
The study will include a technical
inspection of these reactors and an
assessment of the cost to upgrade them
to current industry operational safety
standards.
Cameco believes that looking at
restarting these two units is a logical first
step in determining if Bruce Power can
play a growing role in securing Ontario's
future energy needs. The study will
determine if an adequate return on
investment can be achieved.
The study will also establish what
improvements are needed to extend the
lives of the four Bruce B reactors and the
two operating Bruce A reactors, which
are scheduled to be taken out of service
over the next 15 years.

Bruce Power will also examine the
feasibility of building one or more
advanced Candu reactors currently
being developed by Atomic Energy
of Canada Limited. Bruce Power has
a well-established infrastructure. The
Bruce site was designed to accommodate
expansion and as such is ideal for
potential new reactors.

($ millions)

2003

1,208
853
355
.............................-.............
............
.... ..................
69
286
24.5
85
48

Revenue
Operating costs
Earnings before interest and taxes
... ......... ....... ....... .... . ............... . .......... ......... ................. ... ..... ..............
Interest
Earnings before taxes
Output (terawatt hours)
Capacity factor, (%/6)
Realized price ($/MWh)

Capabilityto Deliver Results
Bruce Power has an experienced
executive team leading more than 3,500
highly skilled employees. Together they
achieved an 18% increase in output and
a 13% increase in the capacity factor in
2003 while managing the restart of two
long-idled reactors. Bruce Power has
invested, and continues to invest,
substantial amounts to improve reactor
output and reliability.

2002

919
750
169
...............................
.......................................
63
106
20.8
75
43

'Capacitv factor for a given period represents the amount of electricity actually produced for sale as a
percentage of the amount of electricity the plants are capable of producing for sale.

($ millions)

2003

2002

286

106

77

16

Bruce Power's earnings before taxes (iooo%/)
Cameco's share of earnings before adjustments

Adjustments:
Sates contract valuation,
Interest capitalization
Interest income on loan to Bruce Power
Fair value increments on assets1
Earnings from Bruce Power

At the same time, Bruce Power's ongoing
emphasis on safety was reflected in its
accident frequency of only 0.12 lost-time
injuries for every 200,000 hours worked in
2003. That was significantly better than
the company's ambitious target of 0.20.

...... ... . .. ................... ...... .........
. .... ...... ............. ..... ........... ...... - ---

..........

- --.

20
12
7
(8)
108
--

--

2

.. . .. ... _..
............... .. ............. . ..........

(2)
16

: See note 19 to the consolidated financial statements

Bruce Power's cash flows provide a source
of funds to make investments to improve
its operational performance and expand
its capacity.

Bruce B reactors for better long-term
performance.

realized price averaged $48 per MWh
from a mix of contract and spot sales,
a 12% increase over the previous year.

Electricity Prices

Electricity Business Results
Re-venue
Bruce Power's revenue in 2003 totalled
$1,208 million, up 31% compared
to 2002. Bruce Power has contributed
$108 million of pre-tax earnings to
Carmeco's results ($72 million after
tax or $1.29 per share) compared to
pre-tax earnings of $16 million in 2002
($11 million after tax or $0.19 per share).

For 2003, the Ontario electricity spot
price averaged about $54 per MWh.
During this period, Bruce Power's

Costs

The 2003 cost per MWh was lower
compared to 2002 because about 95%

ONTARIO ELECTRICITY SPOT PRICE
(monthly average $/Mwh)

The volume of medium- and tong-term transactions completed in Ontario's
wholesale electricity market during 2003 declined due to uncertainty over the
direction of government policy.
--
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Operation
For 2003, Bruce Power achieved a
total capacity factor of 85% compared
to 75% in 2002. Bruce Power produced
24.5 TWU , an 18% increase over the
same period last year. In 2002, Bruce
Power carried out a series of major
planned outages to prepare the four

80

.....

----. 1---- ----------------- 11- ------_- .................. - ------------ 1- ------

6o

.....

... ........... I........... - 11-- - ........ _ .. - ..... 1.. ...... - -

40

... .......... - - - ........ - ......... - - - - _1..... ....

....... I ... ....... - .........

- ........
......

2o
I

F

M
32

A

IV,

!

I

A

S

0

N

D

of Bruce Power's total operating costs
are fixed and the output was higher yearover-year. Interest cost of $69 million
included interest on the long-term loans
from Bruce Power partners and interest
costs attributable to the capital lease.
Bruce Power has spent about $350
million on the restart of the two Bruce A
units in 2003, bringing the total project
capital cost to $724 million, which
includes $4 million in post-synchronization operational losses that were
capitalized during the commissioning
phase. Bruce Power spent an additional
$159 million on capital expenditures
at Bruce B, the majority of which
was for safety systems and power
uprate programs.

2004 Outlook for Electricity
Output
The targeted capacity factor in 2004
for the six Bruce reactors is about 80%
compared to 85% in 2003, which
reflects planned maintenance outages
for the Bruce A and B reactors during
the year. In addition, the vacuum
building for Bruce B will be tested in the
fall, which will require all four B reactors
to be taken offline for about a month.
This vacuum building test is a regulatory
requirement. Results from Bruce Power
are projected to decline modestly in
2004 compared to 2003 due primarily to
higher costs resulting from the increased
level of planned outages.
Capital expenditures
In 2004, Bruce Power's capital
expenditure program for the two A

to Centerra. The Joint Stock Company
Kyrgyzaltyn (Kyrgyzaltyn). whose
shares are held 100% by the Kyrgy-z
government, will transfer its two-thirds
interest in KGC to the new gold
company. Initially after the transfer
of assets, Cameco subsidiaries will hold
67% and Kyrgy7alryn will hold 33%
of Centerra.

and four B reactors is expected to total
about $280 million, plus an additional
$120 million for sustaining capital and
site service support areas.
Bruce Power capital expenditures are
expected to average about $200 million
for each of 2005 and 2006. This
excludes sustaining capital and
expenditures for site service support
areas, which are expected to average
about $120 million per year.
These capital projects will provide higher
output for the Bruce B units, deliver the
expected operational life for Bruce A unit
4 and increase overall efficiency for the
site. These projects are the fundamental
building blocks for enhancing
operational performance and will allow
Bruce Power to supply more power to
the growing Ontario electricity market.
Funding needs for these projects will
depend on the electricity price and the
operational performance of the Bruce
reactors. Cameco does not expect it will
be required to contribute to the funding
of these projects.

* 100% of Kumtor Operating
Company, operator of the Kumtor
mine,
* 56% of AGR Limited (AGR), 95%
owner of the Boroo gold mine
located in Mongolia,
* 62% interest in the REN joint
venture, an advanced exploration
project located in Nevada, US, and

In early January 2004, Cameco
announced that it had reached an
agreement with the Kyrgyz Republic
to create a new jointly owned Canadian
gold company called Centerra Gold Inc.

* 73% interest in the exploration
licences for the Gatsuurt exploration
property located about 35 kilometres
from Boroo in Mongolia.

Under the agreement, Cameco
subsidiaries will transfer their one-third
interest in the Kumtor Gold Company
(KGC) and additional gold-related assets

In addition, about $130 million (US)
in loans previously advanced by
Cameco subsidiaries to the Kumtor
and Boroo gold mines will be
contributed by Cameco in exchange
for equity in Centerra.

($ millions)

Closing is targeted for the second quarter
of 2004 and is subject to a number of
conditions including:

_160
-25

280
120
400

* consent from a number of third
parties, including certain financial
J
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Initially, Centerra's assets will include the
following:
* 100% of KGC, owner of the Kumtor
gold mine located in the Kyrgyz
Republic,

*_~-

Bruce B turbines/power uprate
Bruce A unit 4 steam generators (progress payment)
Infrastructure projects
Sub-total
Sustaining capital and site service support areas
Total

In conjunction with the transfer of gold
assets, Centerra intends to undertake an
initial public offering (IPO) in Canada
and sell shares to the public. Cameco
expects to retain a majority interest in
Centerra immediately following the IPO.
Kyrgyzaltyn also has the option to acquire
an additional 2% of Centerra from
Cameco for 30 days after Centerra is listed
on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX).

institutions,

* Centerra entering into an underwriting agreement for an IPO of
Centerra shares, and
* the conditional listing of Centerra
shares on the TSX.
Cameco has negotiated a new agreement
with the Kyrgyz government to ensure
that a stable investment regime will be
maintained in the Kyrgyz Republic for
Centerra. The new agreement will take
effect on closing. Centerra will have a
10-year tax stabilization period, during
which the application of Kyrgyz tax
legislation will not increase the tax
burden on the Kumtor operation.
With an agreement to create Centerra,
an offer will be made to dte non-Cameco
shareholders of AGR to exchange their
AGR shares for Centerra shares.

Gold Market Review
Gold prices rose substantially again in
2003, ending the year 20% higher at
$416 (US) per ounce. That followed
a 25% increase in 2002. The average
spot price in 2003 was $363 (US) per
ounce, compared to $310 (US) per
ounce in 2002.
A number of factors continue to support
the strengthening gold price, including
the US dollar weakness, geopolitical
uncertainties and reductions in producer

hedging. While years of lower gold prices
have limited the development of new
mines, higher prices are once again
opening up investment in gold
exploration and production companies.

Key PerformanceDrivers
The major factors that drive Cameco's
gold business are:
* prices,
* volume,
* cost, and
* exploration.
Gold Prices
Realized prices are largely outside the
control of Cameco, except through its

gold hedging strategy, which the
company is actively reducing. At the
end of December 2003, Cameco Gold's
operating companies' hedge positions
totalled 478,300 ounces or about 12%
of proven and probable reserves. These
hedges are expected to yield an average
price of about $326 (US) per ounce.

DAILY GOLD PRICES
Gold prices increased 20% in 2003.
Carneco continued to reduce its hedge
positions to talke advantage of rising
prices.
15°0 ........

......... ..

.. ..........

Volumme/Cost
In 2003, 677,552 ounces of gold
were poured at Kumtor compared
to 528,550 ounces in 2002. Gold
production at Kumtor was 28% higher
than in 2002 due mainly to higher grade
mill feed that averaged 4.5 grams per
tonne (g/t) compared to 3.7 g/t in 2002
and an improved recovery rate of 83%
compared to 78%. The ore grade and
recovery were lower in 2002 due to a
pit wall failure that occurred in July
2002 and forced the company to revise
its mining plan. The total cash cost per
ounce in 2003 was about $199 (US)
calculated in accordance with the
standards of The Gold Institute.
The cash cost per ounce in 2002
was $216 (US).
In 2004, production at Kumrtor is
expected to be about 610,000 ounces
representing an 10% decrease compared
to 2003. This decline is due to the
milling plan which calls for a mix of lowgrade stockpiled ore and higher grade
mine ore. As a result, a lower average
millfeed ore grade of 4.1 g/t is expected,
compared to 4.5 g/t in 2003. The unit
cash cost is projected to increase to
$220 (US) per ounce from $199 per
ounce in 2003. Ore grade is expected
to be lower in future years.
The unit cash costs referenced above
include exploration costs and a
management fee. Due to the
restructuring of the gold business tinder
Centerra, the cash unit operating costs
will be adjusted to exclude exploration
costs and the management fee for a
couple of reasons.
First, the exploration costs have
historically been nominal, with greater
than 50% of the expenditures associated
34
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with mining activities such as further ore
body delineation and grade control, with
the remainder related to extending the
mine life. The Gold Institute Standard
excludes the latter type costs from the
standard unit cost calculation. As
exploration expenditures are anticipated
to increase in the coming years, and the
focus of the exploration program changes
to extending the mine life, it was
determined that the expense should be
identified separately and excluded from
the unit cost calculation. The exploration
expense accounted for about $0, $2 and
$7 per ounce respectively of the $216,
$199 and $220 unit cash costs.
Second, Cameco's wholly owned
subsidiary Kumtor Operating Company
earns a management fee for operating
the Kumtor mine. As Centerra will soon
own 100% of KOC and KGC after the
restructuring, it is appropriate that the
inter-company management fee now
also be identified separately and excluded
from Centerra's reported production
costs. The management fee accounted
for about $9, $8 and $7 per ounce
respectively of the $216, $199 and $220
unit cash costs. Beginning in 2004,
Centerra will report unit cash costs
that exclude exploration costs and the
management fee. See table on the next
page for a breakdown of the costs.
At Boroo in Mongolia, commercial
production was achieved Marchl, 2004.

training of local labour resources can be
challenging as standards, customs and
practices vary widely.
Access to Capital

packaging the gold assets in a single
vehicle for public listing.

The cost of the project was about
$75 million (US). Boroo production is
expected to total about 210,000 ounces
in 2004, at a cash cost of about $170
(US) per ounce.

Cameco's partner in the Kumtor gold
mine, the Kyrgyz government through its
agency Kyrgyzaltyn, had elected to
participate by contributing its interest,
but the rapidly rising gold price in 2003
delayed implementing the strategy. At
the end of 2003, the Kyrgyz government
ratified an agreement. Assuming final
agreements can be reached with all other
critical parties and markets remain
favourable, the newly named Centerra
Gold Inc. plans to list on the Toronto
Stock Exchange in the second quarter
of 2004.

Gold Exploration
In 2003, gold exploration expenditures
decreased to $9 million from $10 million
in the prior year due to the lower
exchange rate. In 2003, approximately
70% of the total exploration
expenditures were incurred in North
America with the remainder relating to
exploration activity in Central Asia.

Gold Strategies
Cameco has been a gold producer since
its inception and, over the years, has
assembled some quality gold properties.
Cameco Gold Inc., a wholly owned
subsidiary of Cameco, manages the
company's gold activities from its head
office in Toronto, Ontario. Cameco
believes these assets are undervalued
inside of Cameco, as they do not benefit
from higher gold company valuations
that apply in today's gold market. For
that reason, Cameco has embarked on
a strategy to unlock this value by

Capability to Deliver Results
Ability to Perform in Remote

Production (ounces)

.

Gold Exploration
Cameco Gold must find new gold
reserves to extend the life of its mines
and increase production. The company's
exploration program is focused in
proximity to its tWo existing producing
properties and at the REN site in
Nevada. As part of Cameco Gold's
strategy to go public, it plans to increase
its exploration efforts in 2004 and
beyond as well as focus on potential
acquisitions.

Environments

Cameco Gold, Centerra's majority
owner, has a proven ability to deliver
results by developing and operating
properties in remote areas of the world.
It has built expertise in managing
relationships with local cultures and
governments in Central Asia and in
sourcing and training local manpower.
Nonetheless, the management and

2002

2003
Revenue ($ millions)
Gross profit ($millions)
Gross profit %/.
Earnings before taxes ($ millions)
Selling price ($US/oz)
Unit cash cost ($US/oz)
Sales volume (ounces)

Cameco Gold needs reasonable access
to funds to undertake projects and
acquisitions that allow for expansion of
its assets and production. Ca-meco Gold,
as a wholly owned subsidiary of Cameco,
has been able to secure funds and
financing for the development of its
Kumtor and Boroo properties and the
acquisition of its interest in AGR. Going
forward, Centerra plans to become a
stand-alone public company that expects
to directly access the debt and equity
markets for required capital.
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In 2003, revenue from the gold business
improved by 31% to $114 million (Cdn)
from $87 million (Cdn) in 2002,
reflecting a 35% increase in sales volume
and an increase in the average realized
selling price. Cameco's realized gold price
increased to $334 (US) per ounce in
2003 compared to $300 (US) in
2002.The average spot market price for
gold during 2003 was $363 (US) per
ounce, up 17% from the average price
of $310 (US) for 2002. KGC and AGR
hedge certain price risk for future gold
sales. At the end of 2003, KGC had in
place forward sales on 278,300 ounces
and AGR had in place forward sales on
200,000 ounces. Combined, these hedge
positions represented about 12% of
proven and probable gold reserves. These

hedges are expected to yield an average
price of about $326 (US) per ounce.
Cameco has agreed to provide various
levels of credit support up to $130 (US)
per ounce to the counterpartics of KGC
and AGR which, based on the ounces
hedged at December 31, 2003, could
amount to $57 million (US) depending
on the spot price of gold. At December
31, 2003, the actual exposure under these
arrangements, reflecting the net mark-tomarket losses, was $46 million (US).
Cost of products and services sold
In 2003, the cost of products and services
sold was $52 million compared to $58
million in 2002, a decrease of $6 million
due to a reduced Canadian/US dollar
exchange rate in 2003. Gold production
at Kumtor was 28% higher than in 2002
due mainly to higher-grade mill feed that
averaged 4.5 g/t compared to 3.7 g/t in
2002 and an improved recovery rate of
83% compared to 78% in 2002. The ore
grade and recovery were lower in 2002
due to the pit wall failure. Kumrtor's cash
cost per ounce was $199 (US) compared
to $216 (US) in 2002. Please see table
on the previous page for unit cost
information.
Depreciation, depletion and
reclamation
In 2003, depreciation, depletion and
reclamation charges were $22 million, an
increase of $2 million compared to $20
million in 2002 due mainly to the 28%
increase in production. The effect of the
higher production was largely offset by
the reduction in the Canadian/US dollar

share) compared to $44 million ($0.78
per share) in 2002. This increase was
attributable to higher earnings from
Bruce Power and higher profits in the
gold segment. These improvements were
offset somewhat by lower earnings in the
uranium segment and higher charges for
interest and administration.

exchange rate. On a unit basis, the
depreciation rate declined to $65 (US)
per ounce from $73 (US) in 2002.
Gross profit
In 2003, gross profit from the gold
business amounted to $40 million
compared to $9 million in 2002. The
gross profit margin for gold was 35%
compared to 10% in 2002.

Excluding the tax adjustment, the
effective rate for income taxes decreased
to 33% in 2003 from 48% the year
before as a higher proportion of earnings
came from the gold operations in the
Kyrgyz Republic which are subject
to lower tax rates. Earnings from
operations were $88 million compared
to $84 million in 2002 and the aggregate
gross profit margin remained at 20%.

2004 Outlook for Gold
Given the increase in planned total
production from the Kumtor and Boroo
mines, greater revenue is expected
compared to 2003, assuming gold prices
remain at current levels. This is
independent of the planned IPO for
Centerra, which is targeted for the
second quarter of 2004.

Cash Resources
Operating Activities
In 2003, Cameco generated cash from
operations of $246 million compared
to $251 million in 2002. This does not
include Cameco's pro rata interest in
Bruce Power's operating cash flow of
$ 117 million in 2003 compared to
$28 million in 2002. Cameco accounts
for this investment using the equity
method and thus Bruce Power's
operating cash flows are not consolidated
with Cameco's. For further information,
refer to note 19(c) of the consolidated
financial statements.

ConsolidatedEarnings
For 2003, net earnings attributable
to common shares were $205 million
($3.65 per share), an increase of
$161 million compared to $44 million
($0.78 per share) in 2002. These results
include the effects of changes in
Canadian federal and Ontario provincial
tax laws. Together, the changes in the tax
legislation allowed Cameco to recognize
a non-recurring, non-cash reduction in
deferred income taxes of $81 million
($1.45 per share) in 2003.

Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities
increased to $448 million in 2003
from $74 million in 2002 due to the

Excluding the tax adjustments, net
earnings attributable to common shares
in 2003 were $123 million ($2.20 per
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additional investment in Bruce Power.
Cameco paid $204 million for its
incremental 16.6% interest and loaned
an additional $75 million to Bruce
Power. Expenditures for property, plant
and equipment rose by $69 million
compared to 2002 due to the
development of the Boroo gold mine
in Mongolia.
During 2003, Cameco received no
principal repayments on its subordinated
loan to KGC, the operator of the
Kumtor open pit gold mine in the
Kyrgyx Republic whereas in 2002,
Cameco received $15 million (US)
from KCC. The payments scheduled
for 2003 were deferred as the result of
a pit wall failure at the mine in 2002.

on the company's balance sheet. See
note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CoiporateExpenses
Administration

f Grams 1 A

A seven-gram pellet of uranium
contains as much energy as 17,000
cubic feet of natural gas, 1,780
pounds of coal or 3.5 barrels of oil.
See note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Financing Activities
During the year, cash used in investing
activities exceeded operating cash flows
by $202 million due to the acquisition
of the additional interest in Bruce Power.
Cameco financed this shortfall by issuing
$230 million in convertible debentures.

Inventories
At the end of 2003, total product
inventories amounted to $316 million,
$24 million or 7% lower than the
previous year-end. There was a reduction
in the quantity of uranium inventory
during the year as record deliveries
exceeded production and purchases.
I

(S miUlions)

Cameco generated cash from
operations of $246 million in 2003,
only 2%short of the record results
achieved mi2002.
-

..

..... ....

251
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2001
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At the end of 2003, total outstanding
debt amounted to $243 million, an
increase of $18 million compared to
$225 million at the end of 2002. The
net debt to capitalization ratio declined
to 7% from 8%. If the preferred
securities and the convertible debentures
were accounted for as debt, the net debt
to capitalization ratio would be 23%.
In December 2003, $20 million (US)
(Cameco's share) of the Kumtor senior
debt was repaid. See note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Conve-tible Debentures

CASH FROM OPERATIONS

28 H0..... ......

Debt

L

2003

The company increased its short-term
commercial paper to help fund the
February 2003 acquisition of a further
16.6% interest in Bruce Power. In
September 2003, Cameco issued
$230 million in convertible debentures.
The net proceeds of approximately
$223 million are being used to repay
commercial paper as it matures. The
company decided to put in place
financing that better matched the longterm nature of the Bruce Power asset.
In accordance with Canadian generally
accepted a'ccounting principles (GAAP),
these debentures are reflected as equity
37

In 2003, administration costs were
$47 million, an increase of $5 million
compared to 2002 due to a number
of items including an expense for
stock-based compensation and costs
incurred for quality and business
process improvements.
Effective January 1, 2003, Cameco
changed its accounting policy for stockbased compensation opting to record a
compensation expense for the fair value
of stock options granted during the year.
The total expense for 2003 amounted
to $2.4 million, of which $1.9 million
has been attributed to administration.
Interest and Other
Interest and other costs increased by
about $7 million due to revaluation of
US dollar denominated assets as a result
of the strengthening Canadian dollar.
In 2003, the company recognized
foreign exchange losses of $4 million
compared to gains of $2 million in
2002. See note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Incomie 'Taxes
In 2003, the federal government
introduced amendments to the Canadian
Income Tax Act which provide for a
7% reduction in the corporate tax rate
on income from resource activities. The
federal tax rate is declining from its
previous level of 28% to 21% over a
five-year period commencing in 2003.
Under Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP), the
cumulative effect of a change in income
tax legislation on future income tax assets
and liabilities is included in a company's
financial statements in the period of
substantial enactment. Accordingly,
Camneco reduced its balance sheet
provision for future income taxes and

recognized a one-rime, non-cash income
tax adjustment of $86 million ($1.54 per
share) in the second quarter.
Also in 2003, dte government of Ontario
amended the provincial income tax laws
to increase the corporate income tax rate
to 14% effective January 1, 2004. Prior
to this amendment, the tax rate was
projected to decline from 11 % in 2004
to 8% in 2007. As a result, Cameco
increased its provision for future income
taxes by $5 million ($0.09 per share).
Excluding these adjustments, income tax
expense was $18 million greater than in
2002 primarily as a result of the
significantly higher earnings from Bruce
Power which are taxed at a rate of 34%.
The effective tax rate on consolidated
earnings was lower at 33% compared to
48% last year due to a higher proportion
of earnings in the gold business.
Income tax expense includes large
corporations taxes which amounted
to $5 million in each of 2003 and
2002. See note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

In 2004 consolidated revenue is expected
to rise by about 4%. This is due to new
gold production from the Boroo mine,
which is anticipated to more than offset
reduced revenues in the uranium and
conversion businesses. Ol a consolidated

basis, the gross profit margin is projected
to increase to 23% from 20% in 2003.
In 2004, the effective rate for income
taxes is expected to be about 30%.
In 2004, total capital expenditures are
expected to increase by $10 million to

Cash provided by operations ($ millions)
Cash provided by operations/net debt' (/o)
Net debt' total capitalization (/o)
iotal

(Cameco's share in $ millions)
2004 Plan

2003 Actual

Sustaining Capital
McArthur Rivet/Key Lake

43

US ISL

16

8

Rabbit Lake
Conversion Services
Boroo

7
22
10

6
6

Kumtor

3

7

Other

38

Total Sustaining

11

104

New Development
Cigar Lake

46

32

Conversion Services

15

Inkai

4

Boroo

10
-

4

81

Total Development
Capitalized interest
Total

51
9
164

$164 million. In 2004, sustaining capital
expenditures are expected to be higher
than in 2003 due to ongoing mine
development work, pumping and water
treatment projects at the McArthur River
mine in northern Saskatchewan, and well
field expansions at the ISL operations in
Nebraska. Capital spending will also
increase at conversion services to improve
production processes and meet
regulatory requirements.
For new development projects, total
expenditures are projected to be
$51 million, a decrease of $48 million
compared to 2003. The decline is
attributable to the completion of
construction at Boroo and partially
offset by increased expenditures at
the proposed Cigar Lake minesite in
northern Saskatchewan and at Cameco's
conversion services facilities.

95
13
154

At Cigar Lake, the construction licence
is now expected in late 2004, following
which Cameco and the partners will
make a decision on development. In
the meantime, activities requiring
considerable advanced planning are
expected to continue. Procurement
is planned for several long-lead-time
items including the #2 hoist and
headframe complex, the freezing
system, freeze hole drilling and the
electrical distribution system.
At the Inkai development project
in Kazakhstan, the feasibility study
is completed and the results are being
reviewed. The feasibility results need to
be approved by the Inkai joint venture
partners. Subject to these approvals, test
mining is planned to continue through
2004 as a detailed mine design is
prepared and an application for a

2003

2002

2001

2000

1999

246

251

116

155

151

36

7

8

15

224
86
13

249
80
14

debt tesscash and cash cquivaleets.
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construction permit is submitted to
the local authorities. Pending receipt
of the permit, construction would follow
in 2005 and the first half of 2006 with
production expected to begin toward
the end of 2006.

Sensitivity Analysis
Uranium Price
With the recent increase in the uranium
spot price, a significant proportion of
the deliveries in 2004 are likely to
be influenced by price ceilings.
Consequently, a $1.00 (US) increase in
the U30 spot price from the year-end
average of$ 14.45 (US) per pound would
improve revenue by about $9 million
(Cdn), net earnings by about $5 million
(Cdn) and cash flow by about $4 million
(Cdn). Conversely, a $1.00 (US) decrease
in the U 3 0 8 spot price from $14.50
(US) would reduce revenue by about
$11 million (Cdn), net earnings by
about $7 million (Cdn) and cash flow
by about $6 million (Cdn).
Gold Price
For 2004, about 70% of forecast gold
sales are unhedged. A $10 (US) per
ounce change in the gold spot price
would change each of revenue, net
earnings and cash flow by about
$3 million (Cdn).
Electricity Price
For 2004, about 55% of forecast
generation is to be sold at spot prices.
A $1.00 (Cdn) per MWh change in
the spot price for electricity in Ontario
would change Cameco's after-tax
earnings from Bruce Power by about
$4 million (Cdn).
Conversion Price
In the short term, Cameco's financial
results are relatively insensitive to
changes in the spot price for conversion
as the majority of conversion sales are
at fixed prices.

Foreign Exchange

upon debt as a source of financing.

Most uranium and conversion US
dollar inflows are hedged through
a combination of forward sales of US
currency and natural hedges. Gold
revenue and expenses are not hedged.
Results from the gold business are
converted into Canadian dollars at the
prevailing exchange rates. For 2004,
every one-cent change in the US to
Canadian dollar exchange rate from
$0.77 would change net earnings by
$3 million (Cdn).

Although debt is a lower cost form of
financing compared to equity, a lower
percentage of debt also represents lower
repayment obligations.

Credit Ratings
As of February 2004, the company has
the following ratings for its senior debt
from third-party rating agencies:
* Dominion Bond Rating Service
Limited
"A (low)" under review with
developing implications following
Cameco's announcement that it has
bid on the South Texas Project.
* Moody's Investors Service

Overview
Financial liquidity represents the
company's ability to fund future

operating activities and investments.
Some important measures of liquidity
are summarized in the table below.
In 2003, Cameco issued $230 million of
5% convertible subordinated debentures
and extended the term of its revolving
credit facility by one year.
IndicatorsDefined
Cash provided by operations reflects the
net cash flow generated by operating
activities after consideration for changes
in working capital.
Cash provided by operations to net debt
indicates the company's ability to meet
debt obligations from internally
generated funds. Cash provided by
operations does not include Cameco's
pro rata interest in Bruce Power's
operating cash flow of $117 million in
2003 compared to $28 million in 2002.
Cameco accounts for this investment
using the equity method and thus Bruce
Power's operating cash flows are not
consolidated with Cameco's. For further
information, refer to note 19(c) of the
consolidated financial statements.
Net debt to total capitalization measures
the company's use of financial leverage.
A lower percentage means less reliance
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"Baal" with a stable outlook.
* Standard & Poor's
"BBB+" with a stable outlook.

Debt
In addition to cash flow from operations,
debt is used to provide liquidity. Cameco
has access to about $700 million in
unsecured lines of credit.
Commercial lenders have provided a
$417.5 million unsecured revolving
credit facility that is available in two
tranches. The first tranche is a three-year,
$196.5 million revolving facility. The
second tranche is a $221 million
revolving facility available for 364 days
with a two-year term-out option. (This
means, as long as the company is not
in default, Cameco has the option to
extend the repayment date on the
balance outstanding at maturity of the
second tranche for an additional two
years.) Up to $ 100 million of this facility
can be used to support letters of credit.
The facility ranks pari passu (or equal
ranking) with all other senior debt of
the company. At December 31, 2003,
there were no amounts outstanding
under these credit facilities.
Cameco also has agreements with various
financial institutions to provide tup to
$294 million in short-term borrowing
and letter of credit facilities. These

($ Cdn millions)
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Standby letters of credit'
Guarantees
KGC senior debt2 4

Gold hede program 3
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Equipment Loan
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Bruce Power investment
Bruce Power guarantees6
Total commercial commitments
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will mature July 6, 2006. Cameco also
has $100 million outstanding in senior
unsecured debentures that bear interest
at a rate of 6.9% per annum and will
mature July 12, 2006.
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arrangements are predominantly used to
fulfill regulatory requirements to provide
financial assurance for future reclamation
of the company's operating sites.
Outstanding letters of credit at
December 31, 2003 amounted to
$202.7 million. See Business Risks Reclamation and Decommissioning
in this MD&A and note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.
The company may also borrow directly
from investors by issuing commercial
paper up to $400 million. To the extent
necessary, Cameco uses the revolving
credit facility to provide liquidity support
for its commercial paper program.

A Cameco subsidiary has $9.2 million
(US) outstanding under an equipment
loan that is repayable in 17 remaining
quarterly installments of $0.4 million
(US) with a final payment of $2.0
million (US) in 2008.

Commercial paper outstanding at
December 31, 2003 amounted to
$65.9 million.
Cameco has operated within the
investment grade segment (high credit
quality) of the market when obtaining
credit. The cost, terms and conditions
under which financing is available vary
over time. While future access to credit
cannot be assured, it was readily available
during 2003.

Debentures
Cameco has $50 million outstanding in
senior unsecured debentures that bear
interest at a rate of 7% per annum and
40

Cameco's issue of preferred securities
($125 million (US)) is redeemable at
par on or after October 14, 2003. At
the present time, the company has not
determined whether the issue will be
redeemed in 2004.

Convertible Debentures
During 2003, Cameco increased its
investment in Bruce Power, paying $204
million for its incremental 16.6% interest
and loaning an additional $75 million
to Bruce Power. This investment was
initially financed mostly with short-term
commercial paper. On September 25,
2003 the company issued $230 million
in convertible debentures bearing interest
at 5% per annum and maturing on
October 1, 2013. The proceeds are being
used to repay commercial paper as it
matures. See note 10 to thc consolidated
financial statements.

Uranhim Prices
($US millions)
Debt
Third party

Initial Funding

Balance at Dec.

31, 2003

265
17
20
Subordinated
20
285
37
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Kumtor Gold Company
To finance the Kumtor gold project,
a consortium of financial institutions
advanced $285 million (US) in senior
and subordinated loans to the project
in 1996. During 2003, KGC repaid
$60 million (US) of these third party
loans. After these repayments, the
outstanding balances were $17 million
(US) in senior debt and $20 million
(US) in subordinated debt. Since
Camneco proportionately consolidates
its interest in KGC, $12 million (US)
($16 million (Cdn)) of the remaining
loans were included in Cameco's longterm debt. See note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.
In addition, Cameco provided a
subordinated loan of $107 million (US)
to the project. The outstanding principal
and accrued interest at the end of 2003
amounted to $61 million (US) and
$3 million (US) respectively compared
to $61 million (US) of outstanding
principal at year-end 2002. Cameco also
invested $45 million (US) as an equity
contribution in 1996. Cameco plans to
contribute the subordinated loan in
exchange for equity in Centerra.
The senior debt is the direct obligation
of KGC, although Cameco has
guaranteed the payment of principal
and interest owing. See note 18 to the

consolidated financial statements. Under
current production plans, the guarantee
is not expected to be called.

Debt Covenants
Cameco is bound by certain covenants
in its general credit facilities and in those
of Kumtor. The financially related
covenants place restrictions on total debt,
including guarantees, and set minimum
levels for net worth. As of December 31,
2003, Cameco met these financial
covenants and does not expect its
operating and investment activities in
2004 to be constrained by them.

)

The company reduces its exposure to
short-term volatility in uranium prices
by maintaining a long-term contract
portfolio that is diversified by price
mechanism, delivery date and customer.
About 60% of Cameco's contract
portfolio has been priced in relation to
the spot market price in effect at or near
the time of delivery. The remaining 40%
has been sold at a fixed price (usually
adjusted for inflation) over the term of
the contract. The company's sensitivity
to changes in the uranium spot price is
noted in the section entitled consolidated
outlook for 2004 in this MD&A.

Limited Numiber of
Customers
Cameco relies on a small number of
customers that purchase a significant
portion of the companys uranium
concentrates and conversion services. For
example, Cameco's five largest customers
are expected to account for 42% of the
company's contracted supply of U308
for 2004 through 2006. This compares
to 39% of the contracted supply of
U308 for 2003 through 2005. The loss
of any of these large customers, or any
significant curtailment of purchases or
lack of timely payments could have a
material adverse effect on Cameco's
financial performance.

Use ofDerivatives
FinancialRisk
Cameco's financial condition is
influenced by operational performance
and by a number of market risks. The
most significant of these risks are
fluctuations in market prices and sales
volumes of uranium, conversion, gold
and electricity, foreign exchange rates
and unit costs of production. Risk
management strategies are employed
to assist in identifying and mitigating
these and other risks.

Cameco uses financial derivatives to
assist in mitigating its exposure to
fluctuations in gold price and foreign
exchange rates. A derivative is entered
into as a hedge against specific economic
and transactional exposures. Cameco
does not enter into derivative contracts
for speculative purposes. However,
derivatives bring with them an exposure
to counterparry default.' As of December
31, 2003, Cameco's exposure is
predominantly with counterparties
that had credit ratings of A+ or higher.

iCounterpartydefanlt tould occtr if the other parry ina derivativecontractisunableto performits obligations at the time of contraa tmaturity, resuing in the intended edgcebeing of no valhe. This concernis addressed
by dealitg sith a varietyof couitterpatties am
idprisarilv onlv those of high credit quality attd limitting the amnotintand duration of the esposure. A measure of defalt risk is the niark-to-market alue of a hedge position.
This salue is the difference berseen iseprice at which a derivative contract ,eas entered intn and its current narket value. A mnrk-to-nakcr gain indicates that iteconpany Ias (liat amont of value at risk slhouddits
couinterparries delmitd.A matk-to-market loss represents tde amousir of value Cameco wouldhive to pay shotld ite hedge positiontneed to be settled imnediately

41

Accordingly, Carneco believes the risks of
default are low and the benefits derived
from using derivatives outweigh the risks.

Gold Prices
KGC and AGR hedge the price risk
for future gold sales. At December 31,
2003, KGC had in place forward sales
on 278,300 ounces and AGR had in
place forward sales on 200,000 ounces.
Combined, these hedge positions
represented about 12% of proven
and probable reserves. These hedges
are expected to yield an average price
of about $326 (US) per ounce. The
mark-co-market loss on these hedge
positions was $46 million (US) at
December 31, 2003.
Cameco's share of these hedging
agreements was 292,800 ounces in
spot-deferred contracts which are
expected to yield an average price of
about $321 (US) per ounce. Based upon
Carneco's consolidated interest in KGC
(33%) and AGR (56%), Cameco's net
mark-to-market loss, after deducting
other partners' interests on these hedge
positions, was $20 million (US) at
December 31, 2003 based on a year-end
spot gold price of $416 (US) per ounce.
Cameco has agreed to provide various
levels of credit support up to $130 (US)
per ounce to the counterparties of KGC
and AGR which, based on the ounces
hedged at December 31, 2003, could
amount to $57 million (US) depending
on the spot price of gold.
Timing differences between the usage
and designation of hedge contracts may
result in deferred revenue or deferred
charges. At the end of 2003, Cameco's
share of deferred charges to be
recognized in future years totalled
$2 million (US). See note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Exchange Risk
The US/Canadian foreign exchange rate
started the year at $1.5796 and averaged
$1.40 during the year. Most of the

company's revenues are in US dollars
with a majority of its costs in Canadian
dollars. To reduce its currency risk, at
December 31, 2003, Carneco had sold
forward $457 million (US). These
hedges are expected to yield an average
exchange rate of $1.4179. The markto-market gain on these positions was
$51 million (Cdn) at December 31,
2003 based on a year-end exchange rate
of $1.2924.
Timing differences between the usage
and designation of hedge contracts may
result in deferred revenue or deferred
charges. At the end of 2003, deferred
revenue to be recognized in future years
totalled $24 million.

PoliticalRisk
The company has diversified its political
risk internationally. The Kumtor gold
mine is located in the Kyrgyz Republic,
a country formerly part of the Soviet
Union. The mine is the largest foreign
investment in the country and
represented about 5% of the country's
gross domestic product, 33% of export
earnings and 34% of total industrial
production in 2002, the latest date for
which information is available. The
importance of Kumtor in relation to the
rest of the Kyrgyz economy has meant
that Kumtor has maintained a very high
profile within the country. This level of
attention is not without risk; however,
it has also been of benefit in ensuring
continued efficient operations.
Cameco also owns a 60% interest in
Joint Venture Inkai (VI), which is
developing a uranium mine in the
Republic of Kazakhstan. Through
KazAtomProm, the Republic of
Kazakhstan owns the remaining 40%
of JVI. Cameco has agreed to provide
funding of up to $40 million (US) to
JVI for project development of which
$19.5 million (US) has been funded to
the end of 2003. Test mining continued
through 2003. Approval of the feasibility
study is planned for 2004. To date, the
Kazakhstan government has supported
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the project, but there is no assurance
that support will continue for the
project's duration.

Cameco also owns a 56% interest in
AGR, which owns 95% of the Boroo
gold project in Mongolia. At Boroo,
commercial production was achieved
on March 1, 2004. AGR's investment
in Boroo may be exposed to adverse
political developments that could affect
the economics of the project. The
Mongolian government has supported
the project to date, but there is no
assurance that support will continue
for the project's duration.
Cameco's investment in these operations
may be exposed to adverse political
developments that could affect the
economics of each operation. The
company has made an assessment of the
political risk associated with each of its
foreign investments and has purchased
political risk insurance to mitigate losses
as deemed appropriate.

Insurance
Cameco purchases insurance to mitigate
losses that may arise from certain liability
and property risks. The cost of this
insurance and the specific protection
provided by the policies vary from
year to year depending on conditions
in the insurance market. In 2003,
market conditions were difficult across
all lines of insurance. This resulted
in significantly increased premiums
along with more restrictive policy terms
and conditions.
Cameco believes that the insurance
program it has in place continues to
prudently address its major liability
and property risk exposures.
Uncertainty in the insurance market
is expected to continue for at least a
few more years. During this time, the
availability of certain types of insurance
coverage that Cameco has purchased in
the past may be significantly reduced
and/or the cost to acquire insurance may
significantly increase.

OperationsRisk
Cameco's business is capital intensive and
subject to a number of risks and hazards,
including environmental pollution,
accidents or spills, industrial and
transportation accidents, labour disputes,
blockades, changes in the regulatory
environment, natural phenomena
(such as inclement weather conditions,
earthquakes, pit wall failures, cave-ins,
adverse mining conditions and
underground flooding) and encountering
unusual or unexpected geological
conditions. The company also contracts
for the transport of its uranium and
uranium products to refining, conversion
and enrichment facilities in North
America and Europe, which exposes the
company to transportation risks. Many
of the foregoing risks and hazards could
result in damage to, or destruction of,
the company's mineral properties or
refining or conversion facilities, personal
injury or death, environmental damage,
delays in or interruption of or cessation
of production from the company's mines
or refining or conversion facilities or in
its exploration or development activities,
delay in or inability to receive regulatory
approvals to transport its uranium and
uranium products, or costs, monetary
losses and potential legal liability and
adverse governmental action. In
addition, due to the radioactive nature
of the materials handled in uranium
mining, refining, conversion and
transport, additional costs and risks are
incurred by the company on a regular
and ongoing basis.

Safety, Health and
Environmental Risk
Cameco is subject not only to the
normal worker health, safety and
environmental risks associated with all
mining and chemical processing, but also
to additional risks uniquely associated
with uranium mining, milling and
conversion operations.
In 2001, to better manage these risks and
to enhance its quality culture, Cameco

embarked upon the design and
implementation of an integrated quality
management system (QMS). Program
development continued in 2003. The
QMS (based upon Cameco's vision,
mission, values, quality policy and
ISO 9001 - 2000 quality management
principles) is to be implemented at
Cameco's Canadian uranium sites
to a degree that meets the CNSC
requirements by the end of 2004 and
with complete QMS implementation
at Canadian uranium operating sites
and related head office requirements
to be finalized by the end of 2005.
Cameco also continues to utilize an
environmental management system at its
operations. The company received ISO
14001 certification at its Blind River
refining facility in 2002 and at the
McArthur River mine and the Key Lake
milling operation in 2003. The Port
Hope conversion facility received this
certification in 2000.

of the current two-year licences for
the McArthur River and Key Lake
operations and renewal of both licences
in 2004.
Cameco continues to face challenges
from the burden of increasing regulatory
demands and costs from the CNSC,
Canadian Environmental Assessment

Agency, and other federal and provincial
regulators. In particular, the lead
regulator, CNSC, has increased its fees
charged to the nuclear industry, and
is increasing the regulatory burden as
a result of the implementation of the
new Canadian Nuclear Safety and
Control Act. In addition the CNSC
and Environment Canada are calling
for more stringent environmental
monitoring and environmental
performance, based on precautionary
principles, of uranium mining and
milling operations.

Operational changes are increasingly
subject to regulatory approval that may
include delays due to longer and more
complex regulatory review and approval
processes. These increasing requirements
are expected to continue to result in
higher administration costs and capital
expenditures for compliance. The
increasing complexity of the regulatory
approval process reduces the flexibility
of the company to make operational
changes in a timely fashion.

Also in conjunction with the QMS
program, Cameco is reviewing its
existing health and safety management
system, based upon principles similar to
those in the ISO series of management
systems and identifying ways to further
implement it and integrate it with QMS.
For the year, on a combined basis,
Camreco, its subsidiaries and long-term
contractors achieved an accident
frequency of 0.61 lost-time accidents
per 200,000 person hours worked, which
was up from last year's best overall record
of 0.24.

Reclamation and
Decommissioning

Regulators must approve the startup,
continued operation and decommissioning of many of Cameco's facilities.
These facilities are subject to numerous
laws and regulations regarding safety
and environmental matters and the
management of hazardous wastes and
materials. Significant economic value is
dependent on the company's ability to
obtain and renew licences necessary to
operate. In 2003, the CNSC renewed
the Rabbit Lake licence for a five-year
term. Given the level of regulatory work,
Carneco will seek an interim extension

The company actively plans for
the closure, reclamation and
decommissioning of its operating
sites. Decommissioning and reclamation
costs may increase over time due to
increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements. At least bi-annually,
Cameco estimates its total
decommissioning and reclamation
costs, based on current operations to
date, for its operating assets. At the end
of 2003, the estimate was $234 million.
The majority of such expenditures are
typically incurred at the end of the useful
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lives of the operations to which they
relate and, therefore, only a very small
percentage of total estimated costs is
expected to be incurred over the next five
years. See note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.
At the end of 2003, Cameco's
accounting provision for future
reclamation costs totalled $141 million.
To provide financial assurances for these
costs, Carneco has provided letters of
credit (LOCs), where required. Cameco's
LOCs totalled $203 million at the end
of 2003, of which $199 million was
related to reclamation and
decommissioning activities.
Since mid-2001, all Cameco's North
American operations have in place letters
of credit providing financial assurance,
which are aligned with preliminary plans
for site-wide decommissioning.
Beginning in 1996, the company has
conducted regulatory-required reviews
of its decommissioning plans for all
Canadian sites. These periodic reviews
are done on a five-year basis, or at the
time of an amendment to an operating
licence, or if at renewal, there has been
a material change to the site.
Reclamation and decommissioning
obligations represent unfunded liabilities
of the company.

Electricity Business Risks
Through its interest in Bruce Power,
Cameco is exposed to various business
risks associated with the generation and
marketing of electricity. The following
discusses some, but not all, risks
associated with this business.
In Ontario, political risk results from
uncertainty over the future direction of
government energy policies. This risk
was amplified in late 2002 when the
Ontario government abandoned the
deregulation of the retail electricity
market. Thus far, the wholesale market
remains unregulated, but there can be
no assurance that this will continue.
Political risk is beyond the control of
Bruce Power.

Of the remaining risks, the most
significant is directly related to the
operating performance of Bruce Power's
generating assets. Bruce Power manages
this risk through preventive maintenance
to improve overall equipment reliability,
by adopting more efficient operational
processes and by improving employee
performance at all levels.
Another category of risk is electricity
price. Bruce Power mitigates this risk
by entering into long-term, fixed-price
supply contracts with reliable customers
for the delivery of a significant portion
of its annual generation. Electricity
generated, but not covered by such
contracts, is sold on the wholesale spot
market and is subject to prices in effect
at the time of delivery.
Most long-term supply agreements
obligate Bruce Power to deliver electricity
at a predetermined contractual price.
Credit risk arises from these contracts.
On the one hand, the counterparry must
have the financial resources to take
delivery and pay for contracted
electricity. On the other hand, if quoted
forward market prices exceed contracted
prices, then the counter-party has the
right, in most cases, to request financial
assurance to mitigate the possibility that
Bruce Power does not deliver the
electricity as contracted. In such
circumstances, Cameco's contingent
obligations may increase if it is called
upon to guarantee its share of Bruce
Power's obligation. To maintain the
economic benefit of the electricity supply
contracts, Cameco and its partners must
have the financial ability to address this
credit risk.
A further risk category relates to the
transmission grid. The ability of Bruce
Power to deliver electricity to its
customers is dependent on the provincial
transmission grid, owned and
maintained by Hydro One, an Ontario
provincial Crown corporation. Bruce
Power's ability to deliver power to
customers is also dependent on the interlinked North American power grid. Any
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adverse conditions such as severe weather
or inadequate maintenance that results in
unreliable performance by the grid could
cause significant financial loss to Bruce
Power. Transmission grid risks are
beyond Bruce Power's control.
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Cameco prepares its consolidated
financial statements in accordance with
Canadian GAAP In doing so,
management is required to make various
estimates and judgments in determining
the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, revenues and expenses for each
year presented, and in the disclosure of
commitments and contingencies.
Management bases its estimates and
judgments on its own experience,
guidelines established by the Canadian
Institute of Mining. Metallurgy and
Petroleum and various other factors
believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Management believes the
following critical accounting policies
reflect its more significant estimates and
judgments used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements.
Depreciation and depletion on property,
plant and equipment is primarily
calculated using the unit of production
method. This method allocates the cost
of an asset to each period based on
current period production as a portion
of total lifetime production or a portion
of estimated recoverable ore reserves.
Estimates of lifetime production and

amounts of recoverable reserves are
subject to judgment and significant
change over time. If actual reserves prove
to be significantly different than the
estimates, there could be a material
impact on the amounts of depreciation
and depletion charged to earnings.
Significant decommissioning and
reclamation activities are often not
undertaken until substantial completion
of the useful lives of the productive

assets. Regulatory requirements and
alternatives with respect to these
activities are subject to change over time.
A significant change to either the
estimated costs or recoverable reserves
may result in a material change in the
amount charged to earnings.
Effective January 1, 2003, Cameco
changed its policy for accounting for

reclamation activities by adopting
CICA Handbook section 3110, Asset
Retirement Obligations. This section
addresses financial accounting and
reporting for obligations associated with
the retirement of tangible long-lived
assets and the associated asset retirement
costs. The standard applies to legal
obligations related to the retirement
of long-lived assets that result from the
acquisition, construction, development
and use of the asset. The new rules
require that the fair value of the
estimated cost of an asset retirement
obligation be recognized as a liability
in the period in which it is incurred.
A corresponding amount is added to the
carrying amount of the associated asset
and depreciated over the asset's useful life
on a unit of production basis. The
liability is accreted over time through
charges to earnings. This differs from
the previous practice that involved
accruing for the estimated reclamation
and closure liability through annual
charges to earnings over the estimated
life of the asset.
If it is determined that carrying values
of assets cannot be recovered, the
unrecoverable amounts are written off
against current earnings. Recoverability
is dependent upon assumptions and
judgments regarding future prices,
costs of production, sustaining capital
requirements and economically
recoverable ore reserves. A material
change in assumptions may significantly
impact the potential impairment of
these assets.

Cameco uses derivative financial and
commodity instruments to reduce
exposure to fluctuations in foreign

currency exchange rates, interest rates
and commodity prices. As long as
these instruments are effective, they
have the effect of offsetting future
changes in these underlying rates and
prices. Future earnings may be adversely
impacted should these instruments
become ineffective.
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Statements contained in this document
which are not historical facts are
forward-looking statements that involve
risks, uncertainties and other factors
that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or
implied by such forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause
such differences, without limiting the
generality of the following, include:
volatility and sensitivity to market prices
for uranium, electricity in Ontario and
gold; the impact of the sales volume of
uranium, conversion services, electricity

generated and gold; competition; the
impact of change in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates;
imprecision in reserve estimates;
environmental and safety risks including
increased regulatory burdens; unexpected
geological or hydrological conditions;
adverse mining conditions; political
risks arising from operating in certain
developing countries; a possible
deterioration in political support for
nuclear energy; changes in government
regulations and policies, including trade
laws and policies; demand for nuclear
power; replacement of production and

failure to obtain necessary permits and
approvals from government authorities;
legislative and regulatory initiatives
regarding deregulation, regulation or
restructuring of the electric utility
industry in Ontario; Ontario electricity
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rate regulations; weather and other
natural phenomena; ability to maintain
and further improve positive labour
relations; operating performance of the
facilities; success of planned development
projects; and other developmncrit and
operating risks.
Although Cameco believes that the
assumptions inherent in the forwardlooking statements are reasonable, undue
reliance should not be placed on these
statements, which only apply as of the
date of this document. Cameco disclaims
any intention or obligation to update or
revise any forward-looking statement,
whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.
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Additional information related to your
company including Cameco's annual
information form is available at
www.sedar.com and www.cameco.com.

Report of Management's

Accountabililty

Auditors' Report

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have
been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles. Management is
responsible for ensuring that these statements, which include
amounts based upon estimates and judgment, are consistent
with other information and operating data contained in the
annual report and reflect the corporation's business transactions
and financial position.

To the Shareholders of Cameco Corporation
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Carneco
Corporation as at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the
consolidated statements of earnings, retained earnings and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the corporation's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

Management is also responsible for the information disclosed in
the management's discussion and analysis including responsibility
for the existence of appropriate information systems, procedures
and controls to ensure that the information used internally by
management and disclosed externally is complete and reliable
in all material respects.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan
and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.

The integrity and reliability of Cameco's reporting systems
are achieved through the use of formal policies and procedures,
the careful selection of employees and appropriate delegation
of authority and division of responsibilities. Internal accounting
controls are monitored by the internal auditor. Cameco's code
of ethics, which is communicated to all levels in the organization,
requires employees to maintain high standards in their conduct
of the corporation's affairs.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
corporation as at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the
three- year period ended December 31, 2003 in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Our shareholders' independent auditors, KPMG LLP, whose
report on their examination follows, have audited the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards.
The board of directors annually appoints an audit committee
comprised of directors who are not employees of the corporation.
This committee meets regularly with management, the internal
auditor and the shareholders' auditors to review significant
accounting, reporting and internal control matters. Both the
internal and shareholders' auditors have unrestricted access to
the audit committee. The audit committee reviews the financial
statements, the report of the shareholders' auditors, and
management's discussion and analysis and submits its report
to the board of directors for formal approval.

Original signed by KPMGLLP
Chartered Accountants
Saskatoon, Canada
January 26, 2004, except as to note 28(b) which is as of
February 27, 2004

Original signed by David M. Petroff
Senior Vice-President, Finance and Administration
and Chief Financial Officer
January 26, 2004, except as to note 28(b) which is as of
February 27, 2004
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
-------- ----- -- ---- --------- - ----- - _------- - -- -- - - --- -- -- -- -- -- -- - - -- -- -- -- - -- -- -- --- -- -- -- -- - -- -- -- -- - -- -- -- -- -

2003

As at, Deceinber

-- -- --

2002

Assets
Current assets

$

Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventories [note 3]
Supplies and prepaid expenses
Current portion of long-term receivables, investments and other [note 5]

Property, plant and equipment [note 4]
Long-term receivables, investments and other [note 5]

Total assets

84,069

$

58,096

181,337
316,435

186,369
339,684

41,571

45,731

54,866

20,163

678,278

650,043

2,072,156

2,060,250

608,977

257,523

$ 3,359,411

$ 2,967,816

$ 156,112

$ 131,932

11,598

6,998

4,331

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equtity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Dividends payable
Current portion of long-term debt [note 6]

1,563

6,318
16,931

24,237

9,198

197,841

171,377

Long-term debt [note 6]

238,707

218,290

Provision for reclamation [note 7]

150,444

159,344

36,196
501,674
1,124,862

9,523
530,625
1,089, 159

Current portion of other liabilities [note 8]
Future income taxes [note 15]

Other liabilities [note 8]
Future income taxes [note 15]

Minority interest

14,690

_

18,078

Shareholders' equity
Preferred securities [note 9]

158,022

Convertible debentures [note 10]

226,444

Share capital [note I1I]

708,345

680,934

Contributed surplus
Retained earnings

474,927
665,377

472,488
494,341

(13,256)
2,219,859

19,053
1,860,579

Cumulative translation account [note 12]

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

$3,359,411

Commitments and contingencies [notes 6,7,18,19,24,25]
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the board of directors
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193,763

$ 2,967,816

_

Consolidated Statements of Earnings
2003

For the. vear ended Decemiber 31

2002

2001

748,334

$ 700.839

Revenue from
Products and services

$

826M96

$

Expenses
Products and services sold

538,823

486,155

Depreciation, depletion and teclamation

124,489

116,958

422,067
129,298

47,011

41,693

36,644

Administration
Exploration
Research and development
Interest and other [note 13]
Gain on property interests [note 23]

21,923
21,532
18,203
..................
................
..................
.................
I........
...........
....
..11.1-1
...............
.....
-11
....I--.....
I....
........
------.............
.....
1,717
2,257
2,097
...............................
. ........
.......
...........
..........
.-.-......
..........
.........
..........
.......
.........
..............
I......
.........
.......
-- .......
(2,366)
(1,957)
4,737
(2,670)

Earnings from operations
Earnings from Bruce Power [note 19]

738,700

663,968

605,943

88,246

84,366

94,896

12,167
107,921
15,769
.........
--....
..................
.........
...............
--------.. .........
...... ........
I....I..........
..........-.........
..........
.......
429
(878)
590
Earnings before income taxes and minotity interest
99,257
196,596
107,653
Income tax expense (recovery) [note 15]
47,265
(15,994)
42,241
Other income (expenses) [note 14]

Minority interest
Net earnings

(3,416)

Preferred securities charges, net of tax [note 9]
Convertible debenture charges, net of tax [note 10]

(87/1)

216,006

52,863

65,412

9,030
2,290

9,340

9,325

Net earnings attributable to common shares

$

204,686

$

43,523

$

56,087

Basic earnings per common share [note 26]
Diluted earnings per common share [note 26]

$
$

3.65
3.58

$
$

0.78
0.78

$
$

1.01
1.01

Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings
2003

For the. voar ericJe Decemiber
Retained earnings at beginning of year,
As previously reported

$ 483,658

Change in accounting policy for reclamation [note 2]
As restated

$

10,683
494,341

2002

2001

$

465,420

$ 437,328

$

13,280
478,700$

13,089
450,417

Net earnings

216,006

52,863

65,412

Dividends on common shares

(33,650)

(27,882)

(27,804)

(9,030)

(9,340)

(9,325)

Preferred securities charges,_net of tax [note 9]
Convertible debenture charges, net of tax [note I0]

....--....I........ . ........IO....
........-.......
I.....
.........
................
..................-..............
... .................
I..
.......
......
....... . ..............
......

Retained earnings at end of year

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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665,377

$

494,341

$ 478,700

_

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
2002

2003

For the vec~r ended Decemern31e'
'

2001

Operating activities

$

Net earnings
Itemns not requiring (providing) cash:
Depreciation, depletion and reclamation

$

124,489

52,863

$

65,412

116,958

129,298

1,375
(15,769)

(10,373)
(12,167)

I....
...
...........
........
........
-1...__ ................. .........
...................
---........
.....
----...............
32,655
(26,213)
36,996

Provision for future taxes [note 151
Deferred charges (revenue) recognized
Earnings from Bruce Power [note 19

216,006

9,331

1

(107,921)

Equity in (earnings) loss from associated companies [note 14]
Minority interest
Gain on property interests [note 23]
Other operating items [note 16]

1,494

1,083

(3,416)

(871)

.
......
...........
....--._..'.._.__....
.......
I-----......
..................
.............
...........
..........
.................
........-....
.........
(2,670)
.
........
--....
........
...........
........
...............
........
.......
........-...
...................
...........
32,123
(88,578)
60,877
250,842

245,893

Cash provided by operations

116,247

Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment
....Increase...
in long...........................-term....
receivables,.investm
....... ..........
ents.and.othe
. ..........
Decrease in long-term receivables, investments and other

(159,570)
(288,259)
242

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Cash used in investing

(42,597)

(58,275)
(94,808)

58,296

21,963

101

403

(90,226)

(447,587)

(74,426)

(130,717)

(25,848)

(130,295)

(25,485)
79,932
409

Financing activities
Decrease in debt
Increase in debt

50,311
342

Restricted cash
Issue of convertible debentures, net of issue costs
Issue of shares
Preferred securities charges
Dividends
Cash provided by (used in) financing

1,379
11,138

223,032
5,208
27,411
10,903
.
.......
.....
....................
..........
...............
........
....I---........ I-----I.....
............. .........
..............
..........
............
(17,268)
(15,306)
(17,238)
.
.
.
-................
...
..
.............
............
....
I.............
............
........
................
..........
--. "....
-_- ..............
...I.......
(27,944)
(32,275)
(27,720)

Increase in cash during the year
Cash at beginning of year

227,667

(152,057)

15,076

25,973
58,096

24,359
33,737

606
33,131

$

84,069

$

58,096

$

33,737

Interest paid

$

20,675

$

16,572

$

22,860

Income taxes paid

$

11,537

$

5,309

$

3,916

Cash at end of year

Supplemental cash flow disclosure

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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'Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
1.

Camneco Corporation
Cameco Corporation is incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act. Cameco Corporation and its subsidiaries
(collectively, "Cameco" or "the company") are primarily engaged in the exploration for and the development, mining, refining
and conversion of uranium for sale as fuel for generating electricity in nuclear power reactors in Canada and other countries.
The company has an interest in the Bruce Power electrical generation plant in Ontario. Cameco is also involved in the
exploration for and the development, mining and sale of gold.

2. Accounting Policies
(a) Significant Accounting Policies
A summary of significant accounting policies follows the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
(b) Changes in Accounting Policies
(i) Stock-Based Compensation (note 21)
Cameco has adopted the fair value method of accounting for employee stock options with retroactive effect to January 1,
2003. Pursuant to new transitional rules related to accounting for stock-based compensation, Cameco chose to record
compensation expense for all employee stock options granted on or after January 1, 2003 with a corresponding increase
to contributed surplus. Compensation expense for options granted during 2003 is determined based on the estimated fair
values at the time of grant, the cost of which is recognized over the vesting periods of the respective options. This change
in accounting policy has increased expenses by $2,439,000 in 2003.
(ii) Asset Retirement Obligations (note 7)
In March 2003, the CICA issued new accounting rules dealing with asset retirement obligations which come into effect
for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2004. Cameco chose to adopt the rules in 2003. This change in accounting
policy was applied retroactively and, accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of prior periods were restated. This
section addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived
assets and the associated asset retirement costs. The standard applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of
long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development and use of the asset. The new rules require
that the estimated cost of an asset retirement obligation be recognized as a liability in the period incurred. A corresponding
amount is added to the carrying amount of the associated asset and depreciated over the asset's useful life. The liability is
accreted over time through charges to earnings. This differs from the current practice which involves accruing for the
estimated reclamation and closure liability through annual charges to earnings over the estimated life of the asset.
The cumulative effect of the change in policy on the balance sheet at December 31, 2002 is to increase property, plant and
equipment by $23 million, future income taxes by $8 million, liabilities by $4 million and opening retained earnings by
$13 million. The effect of the change in policy on the statement of earnings for December 31, 2002 was a $3 million
($0.05 per share) reduction in earnings. For 2001, earnings were virtually unchanged.
(c) New Accounting Pronouncements
Hedging Relationships
Effective January 1, 2004, Cameco will be required to adopt the new Canadian Accounting Guideline, Hedging
Relationships that establishes new criteria for hedging relationships in effect on or after January 1, 2004. To qualify for
hedge accounting, the hedging relationship must be appropriately documented and there must be reasonable assurance,
both at the inception and throughout the term of the hedge, that the hedging relationship will be effective. Effectiveness
requires a high degree of correlation of changes in fair values or cash flows between the hedged item and the hedge.
Cameco does not anticipate that the adoption of this accounting guideline will have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.
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3, Inventories
2002

2003
(Thotim~ids)

Uranium
Concentrate
Broken ore

Conversion

$ 260,2 11
9,680
269,891

$ 284,052
8,586
292,638

44,472

39,097

Gold
Finish ed
Brokei 7i ore

4,189
297
.. .....
...........
........
3,760
1,775
2,072
7,949
$ 316,435
$ 339,684

Total

4. Property, Plant and Equipment

Co st

Accumulated
Depreciation
and Depletion

(Restated)

2003
Net

2002
Net
(Thok'sands)

Uranium
Mining
Development

$ 2,216,216
-

.

Conversion

$

831,526

355,806

-

274,025

147,054

$1,384,690

_
-

.355,806

126,971

$ 1,421,598
-

349,281

130,246

Gold
Mining
Development
Other
Total

164,754

-222,285
--

127,682
34,624
$ 3,230,638

-

15,148
$ 1,158,482

-

57,531
127,682
19,476
$ 2,072,156

-85,832

57,919
15,374
$ 2,060,250

5. Long-Term Receivables, Investments and Other
2002

2003
(Thousands)

Bruce Power L.] P. [note 19]
Interest
in Br
uce......................
Power L.P.
$ .. .456,520
$ 130,218.............._
.. .... ... ...... ... ................ ................... ............... ............
......................
.................... ..... ...... ... ............................. ............
......
......
.... .......... .. ...............
. . ..........1................. ..............
... . . ............
...
Loan reccival:4e
77,028
Kumrtor Gold Ccompany
loan - principal [note 18]
52,590
64,276
Subordinated
.... .............
. ..............
2,261
292
Subordinated loan - interest
Restricted cas h debt reserve
75
489
Investments in associated companies
4,889
4,017
Investment ir Technology Commercialization International, Inc.
Investment
ir
i
UEX
Corporation
3,791
3,455
.....
. ...... .............
Portfolio investi nents
Energy Resou irces of Australia Ltd (market $40,676)
18,208
17,564
General
Hydrogen
Corporation
6,323
6,323
........ ....... .... ...... . ..................
.......... . ................
.. -. ................
............. .... .
......I......... .......
I-.... ...
.................. . .
Deferred charges
5,958
17,808
_. .... ............ .. ....
Investment
in.................
Huron
Wind L.P.
2,725
...... .............
1 --------...... .....................................................----..... .......... .............. ..............I...................._...................
............
.................. .......
............-....
.......
........ ..................
Advances
receivable
22,704
16,693
-........... -.. ... . ......... .... ........... ......
.
.......
.. ...
..... I.. .. ... ... .... ....... .......
... .. . .....
. ....... ......
Accrued pension benefit asset [note 22]
10,630
1,817
Other
6,152
8,723
663,843
277,686
Less current portion
(54,866)
(20,163)
$f 608,977
Net
257,523
$

The security agreement between Kumrtor Gold Company (KGC) and its senior debt lenders requires that in order to make
certain payments to shareholders and subordinated lenders, funds sufficient to meet those senior debt principal and interest
payments scheduled to occur over the ensuing six months to be held in a debt reserve account until paid.

6. Long-Termn Debt
2003

2002
(Thousands)

Debentures
...
~~~~~~~....... ......... ...... - . ... ...... _...._.......
Commercial paper
Kumrtor Gold Company [note 18]
Senior
debt ---. .. .............. .... .. ........ .. ...... ...............
--- -----Subordinated debt
Equipment loan

$ 149,329
65,934

-

Less current portion
Net

7,324
8,616
11,835
_ _ ...... __.-... _.._
_ _.
243,038
(4,331)
$ 238,707

$....... .149,079
... . ..... ...
................

24,455
40,543
10,531
224,608
(6,318)
$ 218,290

Cameco has $50,000,000 outstanding in senior unsecured debentures that bear interest at a rate of 7.0% per annum and will
mature July 6, 2006. Cameco also has $100,000,000 outstanding in senior unsecured debentures that bear interest at a rate
of 6.9% per annum and will mature July 12, 2006.
Cameco has a $196,500,000 three-year unsecured revolving credit facility that is available until December 4, 2006 and a
$221,000,000 364-day unsecured revolving credit facility with a two-year term-out option. Cameco may also borrow directly
from investors by issuing commercial paper. Commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2003 was $61,419,000 (Cdn)
and $3,493,000 (US) (2002 - $15,482,000 (US)) and bears interest at an average rate of 2.6% (2002 - 1.4%). These amounts
are classified as long-term debt.
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Cameco has $11,835,000 ($9,158,000 (US)) outstanding under an equipment loan which is repayable in 17 remaining
quarterly installments of $421,000 (US) with a final payment of $2,000,000 (US) in 2008.
Cameco has $294,100,000 ($168,800,000 (Cdn) and $96,951,000 (US)) in letter of credit facilities. Outstanding letters
of credit at December 31, 2003 amounted to $202,745,000 (2002 - $208,975,000). The majority of the letters of credit
relate to future decommissioning and reclamation liabilities [note 7].
The table below represents currently scheduled maturities of long-term debt over the next five years including Cameco's
one-third share of Kumtor Gold Company principal repayments on debt.
(Thomsarnds)

2004
2005
2006
2007
........... .. .. ..... . ...
2008
Total

4,331
9,502
221,749
4,331
.................. . ............ ... .. .......................... ........... .......... .. ......... ....... ......... - 3,125
$ 243,038

...............
.... .......
... -. .................
.. .......... .................. ..................I............... ..... ...............

..... . ........... ...... . ......-

$

......... ..................
.....................-.-. I....

Cameco has guaranteed the repayment of KGC senior debt [note 18]. Cameco's contingent obligation under this guarantee
exceeds the amount included in the Cameco long-term debt as at December 31, 2003 by $14,647,000 (2002 - $81,086,000).

7. Provision for Reclamation
Cameco's estimates of future asset retirement obligations are based on reclamation standards that meet or exceed regulatory
requirements. Elements of uncertainty in estimating these amounts include potential changes in regulatory requirements,
decommissioning and reclamation alternatives and amounts to be recovered from other parties.
Cameco estimates total future decommissioning and reclamation costs for its operating assets to be $234,000,000. These
estimates are formally reviewed by Cameco technical personnel at least every two years or more frequently as required by
regulatory agencies. In connection with future decommissioning and reclamation costs, Cameco has provided financial
assurances of $198,674,000 in the form of letters of credit to satisfy current regulatory requirements.
Following is a reconciliation of the total liability for asset retirement obligations:
(Restated)

2003

2002
(Thousands)

Balance, beginning of year
Additions
to liabilities
.1... .................... ........... ......... .................... .......... ...............-.............. ........... ...... ....... ........................................ .............. ....................
............ .......... ........................
Liabilities settled
Accretion expense
Remeasurement of non-Canadian liabilities
Balance, end of year

$ 159,344
.................. ............ ......

$ 138,445

19,600
................................. -........

(13,214
8,757
(4,443)
$ 150,444

.

(6.878)
8,077
100
$ 159,344

Following is a summary of the key assumptions on which the carrying amount of the asset retirement obligations is based:
(i) Total undiscounted amount of the estimated cash flows - $234,000,000.
(ii) Expected timing of payment of the cash flows - timing is based on life of mine plans. The majority of expenditures are
expected to occur after 2013.
(iii) Discount rates - 7.5% for operations in North America; 8.5% for operations in Central Asia.
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..

The asset retirement obligations liability is comprised of:
(Restated)

2002

2003
(Thousands)

Uranium
..................................
C
s
Conversion

$

Gold
Total

92,279
... ......
4 ..........
........
_.

$

96,463
........................
47,286

48,706
9,459
$ 150,444

15,595
$ 159,344

2003

2002

8. Other Liabilities
(Thousands)

Deferred
revenue .............. . .................. ....................... - --- --...........1 1............... ... .................-.. .............. . ...................... ................
$ 28,099
$
2,102
I.......................... ................... ................
. ...... . ...I.. .. .... ................................ ... ....... .. - ... .......
3,389
Accrued
post-retirement
benefit
liability
[note
22]
.............
.w- - ....
n........
n
.. ........
. ..........
. . .........
. ... ..............
. . . .....................
. . . . ......
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. ......... . . . .. .. .. .. .. .. ............................. ... .... . ... ... . .. . . .............. ......... 4,092
. ....... . .
I.. -(I;?S

Borrowed~ nmrhduc

... . ...... . ...... . ...... . ....... . ..... . ........ ................. .................. ........... ....... . ............. ... ......... . ...........

.......-... ................... .......... .....- - ......-.................. . . ....

Other
Less current portion
Net

$

6,271
37,759
(1,563)
36,196

.... .. ...........

$

- -

... ' .... ......

.... ..

.

7,308
26,454
(16,931)
9,523

9. Preferred Securities
Cameco issued $125,000,000 (US), 8.75% preferred securities in denominations of $25 (US) each due September 30, 2047
accruing interest from the date of issuance payable quarterly commencing December 31, 1998.
The preferred securities are redeemable, at the option of Cameco, in whole or in part at any time on or after October 14, 2003
at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the preferred securities to be redeemed plus any accrued and
unpaid interest thereon to the date of redemption.
The principal amounts of the preferred securities, net of after-tax issue costs of $4,330,000 (Cdn) have been classified as
equity, and interest payments on an after-tax basis are classified as distributions of equity, as Cameco has the unrestricted
ability to settle its obligations by delivering common shares of Cameco.
The fair value of the preferred securities approximates the carrying value.
10. Convertible Debentures
On September 25, 2003 the company issued unsecured convertible debentures in the amount of $230 million. The debentures
bear interest at 5% per annum, mature on October 1, 2013, and at the holder's option are convertible into common shares
of Cameco. The conversion price is $65 per share, a rate of approximately 15.4 common shares per $1,000 of convertible
debentures. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on April I and October 1. The debentures are redeemable by the
company beginning October 1, 2008 at a redemption price of par plus accrued and unpaid interest.
The convertible debentures are being accounted for in accordance with their substance and the principal amounts, net of aftertax issue costs, have been classified as equity. The interest payments, on an after-tax basis, will be classified as distributions of
equity, as Cameco has the unrestricted ability to settle its obligations by delivering common shares of Cameco.
The fair value of the outstanding convertible debentures is based on the quoted market price of the debentures at December
31, 2003 and was approximately $308,200,000.
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11. Share Capital
Authorized share capital:
Unlimited number of first preferred shares
Unlimited number of second preferred shares
Unlimited number of voting common shares, and
One Class B share
(a) Common Shares

2003

Number Issued

2002
(N-nsber of Sharms)

Beginning of year
Issued:
Stock option plan [note 20]
Issued share capital

55,985,873

55,671,440

783,550
56,769,423

314,433
55,985,873

2003

Amount

2002
(Tbotminds)

Beginning of year
Issued:
Stock option plan [note 20]
Issued share capital
Less loans receivable [note 20]
End of year

$ 685,491

$ 676,404

25,572
711,063
(2,718)
$ 708,345

9,087
685.491
(4,557)
$ 680,934

(b) Class B Share
One Class B share issued during 1988 and assigned $1 of share capital, entitles the shareholder to vote separately as a class
in respect of any proposal to locate the head office of Cameco to a place not in the province of Saskatchewan.
(c) Contributed Surplus
The increase in contributed surplus of $2,439,000 is the result of expensing stock-based compensation (note 21).
12. Cumulative Translation Account
The balance of $(13,256,000) (2002 - $19,053,000) represents the cumulative unrealized net exchange gain (loss)
on Cameco's net investments in foreign operations, and on the foreign currency debt and preferred securities designated
as hedges of the net investments.
13. Interest and Other
200 3

2002

2001

(Thousands)

Interest on long-term debt
$
14,478
$
20,116
$ 19,71 5
--................. ......... . ....... .. ........ . ......... . .. . ............................
............... ......
Other
interest
and
financing
charges
2,22
1
2,039
... ... ............. ............. . ..I.. .. ........... ...
.......... .....
... .. ......
..... - .. ... ........~K .... ... .- .,..
...............
.........
.....................
.. ..............
........................ .......... .........1,616
. ........ .....Interest income
6,77
(6,842)
(10,773)
.....
.....6)
2................
....................
(7?.
Foreign exchange (gains) losses
(1,648)
...3,62
.... 0
..............
....... .........-...... ......................
.................................
..........
.....
.................. (791)
Mark-to-market
loss
1,811
......... ... .......
.
......
.....
..... . ..-.... .............
.....
.......
........
.. ..
... .................
........ ............................I.................
... ........ .. . ....... .......... .....
Capitalized interest
(14,04 3)
(12,534)
(11,795)
7
$
(1,957)
Net
$
(2,366)
$
4,73
As a result of the Kumtor pit wall failure in 2002, certain gold contracts designated as hedges of Kumtor's gold production
were no longer effective. Mark-to-market losses on these contracts were expensed.
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14. Other Income (Expenses)
2002

2003

2001

(T'hotminds)

Dividends on portfolio investments
Equity
companies
...-..
.............
.........
.......... .2.....................
Net. in earnings (loss). of associated

$

,923
(1,494)
4.........

$

Net

$

429

$

205
$
590
(1,083).............
590..............................
..............
.
.................. ........................

(878)

$

590

1.5. Income Taxes
The significant components of future income tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are as follows:
(Rcstated)

2003

2002
(Thousnds)

Assets

Property, plant and equipment
Provision
for reclamation
....... ........I -.......................................
. .-. 1--. ...............................
.........................
........... .....
....... ... .......
Foreign..........exploration
and
development
..
..............
.
.. ..... ..... .......... ... .. ................. ... . .......... - ................. . .....................
Other
Future income tax assets before valuation allowance
Valuation allowance
Future income tax assets, net of valuation allowance

$

38,409
44,129
I...
.....
5 . - --.
37,566
73

$

52,638
44,818
...........
................
.....
.
.
27,771
................... .................

4,634

120,847
(67,499)
53,348

c

.

...

$

129,861
(69,505)
60,356

. .

Liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
$ 531,295
$ 584,321
...................
.-............-......
.......................
...............
...........................
...........
.......
..........
........
..............
............. ............
I...
......
......
Inventories
5,060
..............I.
42.904......
........
... ......
.......... .........9,198
Long-term investments
6,660
Future income tax liabilities
Net future income tax liabilities
Less current portion

600,179
539,823
(9,198)
$ 530,625

$ 579,259
$ 525,911
(24,237)
$ 501,674

$
$

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the combined expected federal and provincial
income tax rate to earnings before income taxes. The reasons for these differences are as follows:
2003

2002

2001

(Thlousands)

Earnings before income taxes and minority interest
$ 196,596
Combined federal and provincial tax rate
44.i%
Computed income tax expense
86,699
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:
Change in tax legislation
(81,300)
Provincial royalties and other taxes
7,380
resource
allowance
(1,506)
Federal
.... ...... ..... ............ ...... ..... ... . .... ..........................
...... ----- -- -- --------- - - ---- - -- ---- . ....
........
....
. .......... ................... ...
. ..........
_ . .......
deduction
(8,443)).........
Manufacturing
and
processing
.....
.
.............
.
.......
................
..
..........
.........
..........
..............
.3...................
....... ............
.......
..........................
.......................
Difference between Canadian rate and rates
(18,968) .........
applicable to subsidiaries in other countries
. ......... ....... - -..... ...... ............................. .............. . ...... . .... ....... . ... ... . .... ..... .......... .. . ...... ...... . . .. ...... ... ..................... ..... ....... . ... ...............
4,988
Large corporations and other taxes
..............
4....I4.........
.....
.........
4)...
...........
...............
......
~ .co rp.. .... . ......................... ................
(4,844)
Other
Income tax expense (recovery)
$ (15,994)
r ........... .......
...... .........
. ................
.......
... ..... .S..........
...........
. . .................

................
. .

...... ...... .. .....

... ...

..

. ...

..... ........
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.............

...........

......... ...... ...

$

$

107,653
45.5%
48,982

8,883
(5,918)
...........
........... ...._.......
...._.....
........
(283) .......... ... ...

10,212
(6,710)
(791)
.......

.............
....... ........

99,257
45.4%
45,063

.......

$

(7,379)
.........
4,5218..
.........................
2,378
47,265

.........

.. .....

. ...

$

(12,895)
4,558
.......
...... ....
5....
)
(1,115)
42,241

...................

In 2003, the federal government introduced amendments to the Canadian Income Tax Act which provide for a reduction
in the corporate tax rate on income from resource activities. The cumulative effect of the change in income tax legislation
on Cameco's future income tax liability was $86,200,000.
In 2003, the Ontario government introduced amendments to the Corporations Tax Act which provide for an increase in the
corporate tax rate on all income. The cumulative effect of the change in income tax legislation on Cameco's future income tax
liability was $4,900,000.
2003

2002

2001

(Ihousanids)

Current income taxes
$

Canada
.................
.........
.... ........ ...........................................
Other

$
Future income taxes (recovery)
Canada
I............... ........I........ . ............... ........... . . ..........-...........
Other

6,984
3,235
10,219

$
$

7,895
2,374
10,269

$
$

7,704
1,882
9,586

(25,337)
.$......
.. .....
. 8.... ........

$ ....37,813
$ ..............
30,945
0.
.......
...............................
(.....
........
7.........
...

(876)
$ (26,213)
$ (15,994)

$
$

Net

(817)
36,996
47,265

$
$

1,710
32,655
42,241

1.6. Other Operating Items
2003

2002

2001

(Thoulsawds)

Changes in non-cash working capital:
Accounts receivable
Interest
receivable
......
.......... _............
..... ..........
...- -..... .................................. ..........

$

10,351
.. ......... ... ...................

..........
................ .. .. .......... .. . . ...... ........................ ................

Inventories

Supplies and prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
..............
............. ....... - ....... .. ... . .. ....... .... .. ............
Other liabilities
... .I ...................
......... ......... .............
..............
I............... ............ . ..........
Hedge
position
settlements
............... ...... ... ... ...
........ ...... .......... . ...... ....
Reclamation
payments
......... .... ................................... .............
. .......... .. .....I................... . ................ ...... ........... ............. ............... ...... ...... ... ..... .. -....... ........_...-........
Other
Total
$
. ... . ........ .... .. ....... ... . ...... .. . ........... ..... ........... ....... ....._

-

(2,022)
(11,590)
4,160
24,180
(2,860)
30,852
(9,903)
(11,045)
32,123

$ (82,094)
27,396_..
.. ............I -.
........
.- ..
205
515
.....
.......
.....
.
..
..........
--.......
...........
............
.........
.........
10,932
7,469
............
...
_
(1,157)
(24)............
............. .......
....... .. _ ._ _
5,992
18,342
.......I...............-.
279
(2,117)
... ...
.. ...... ...
14,794
(11,328)
...... ... ...........
.....
(5,655)
$

.. ....
. ............ ........

.........

.........

......
.......'.................

.. ..............

$

(3,036)
60,877

. .

$

(1,336)
(88,578)

17. Joint Ventures

Cameco conducts a portion of its exploration, development, mining and milling activities through joint ventures. Cameco's
significant uranium joint venture interests are comprised of:
Producing:
McArthur River
Key Lake

69.81%
83.33%

Non-producing:
Cigar Lake
Inkai

50.03%
60.00%
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Uranium joint ventures allocate uranium production to each joint venture participant and the joint venture participant derives
revenue directly from the sale of such product. Mining and milling expenses incurred by the joint venture are included in the
cost of inventory. The majority of the uranium mining and development property, plant and equipment as disclosed in note 4
are held in joint ventures.
Cameco's gold joint venture interests are comprised of a 33.33% participation interest in Kumtor Gold Company. Kumtor
Gold Company obtains revenue directly from the sale of products. Cameco's share of the assets and liabilities, revenue and
expenses, and cash flows relating to the Kumtor joint venture is as follows:
(Restated)

2003

2002
(Thousands)

Current
assets........ ......... ............
-.. ....... .........
Property, plant and equipment

.. I.

..

. .... . .. ....

.. ..

$

27,795
61,771
89,566

$

28,933
91,969
$ 120,902

...... . ..... .................... ....-.. .................................
........ .......
......... . _ ..... ........... .................. ........ ..........- - - ...... ....... . ....... . ........-... .. ............... . ............
. - - - --

$
Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Equity

................................................................... .............................................. .............
. - ......... ..... . ............. .... . . ...............

. ... ............... ...... .. ................... .. .. .. .. .............................

$ .. . ..... 7,458
......... . .
51,305
30,803
$ 89,566

..

2003

.....

$

6,772
86,301
27,829
$ 120,902

....... ........... .. ... ... ..

(Restated)

(Restated)

2002

2001

(Thousawids)

Revenues...... ........ ... . ..... .....
Expenses
Net earnings (loss)

- .. .......... ......... .... . ............... . .......... .. ..... ................ ........

Cash provided by (used in)
Operating
activities
_........... __..._...-_..._
.................
_..._............
. . .--.-.-.- . .

........
_..._.
_ . . ......... _ ..._............ .. .............

....... ........
... .. ......... ....... ......

$ ..........
109,287
_...
(99,863)
$
9,424

$

36,810

................. ... -. ........_.__._..........................
.... ..... _.. _.._...._
.._...._._................
........_....._.. .

Investing activities
Financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash during the year

$

............

$

$

(29,033)
3,665

$ 110,225
(81,180)
$ 29,045

........... ...............I..........._. .......

13,142
(4,716)
(16,013)
(7,587)

$

39,804
.....................
. (2,492)
..........
...-.

. ......._.........__..._.........._.._.....
.._._._......_...._...
.........
_..._.._..._._...._...._._._.....................
.._..............
.

(4,112)
......I.....I........ .. . .......
_ 1. ... .

$

82,361
(92,036)
(9,675)

... .................... . ......... ..............

$

$

(44,517)
(7,205)

18. Kumtor Gold Company (KGC) Joint Venture
On May 26, 1994, Cameco, the Republic of Kyrgyzstan and Kyrgyzaltyni, an instrumentality of the Republic, signed
an amended joint venture master agreement that provided for the exploration, development, operation and arrangement
of financing, of the Kumtor gold project by Cameco. KGC was formed in the Republic of Kyrgy7stan as a joint stock
company to hold the assets of the Kumtor gold project pursuant to a master agreement among the parties. Kyrgyzaltyn
holds a two-thirds interest in KGC and Cameco holds a one-third interest.
Cameco has guaranteed the repayment of KGC senior debt and has purchased political risk insurance to support
the guarantee.
Cameco has proportionately consolidated its one-third interest in KGC.
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KGC's long-term debt at December 31, is as follows:
2002

2003
('Ihoulsaids)

Senior debt (US dollar denominated):
* Commercial banks $17,000,000 (2002 - $77,000,000) (US) repayable
in two remaining installments on December 1, 2004 $5,000,000 (US)
and June 1, 2005 $12,000,000 (US). Interest is based on LIBOR plus
an applicable percentage based on credit rating ranging from 0.8% to 1.55%.

$

21,971

Subordinated debt (US dollar denominated):
* Shareholder loan from Cameco $61,037,000 (2002 - $61,037,000) (US)
with interest based on LIBOR plus 6%, repayable in 12 equal semi-annual
installments of $8,953,000 (US) commencing on December 2, 1999. In
accordance with the terms of the loan agreement, certain installments have
been
deferred
amounting
to .................
$34,178,000
(2002
$16,272,000)
(US)
78,884
...........................
..............
$ 0...........
0.....
0....................
0..I...............
1.0.....I...
.................
-...........
-.- ............
.0.............
...................
.................
...........
* EBRD $10,000,000 (2002 - $10,000,000) (US)
12,924
....... ...........-....
.......................
*IFC
$10,000,000
(2002
$
10,000,000)
(US)
12,924
I..............
. .. ..............
... ........................................................................................................ ........ ............ .............. .. ................... ..........................................................
. .. .............
The IFC and EBRD subordinated debt is repayable in four equal semi-annual
installments commencing on December 2, 2005, extendable at the option of
EBRD or IFC to commence no later than December 2, 2013. The interest rate
applicable to the EBRD and IFC subordinated debt is based on the cash generated
by the project subject to a minimum interest rate. The annualized rate for 2003
was approximately 16.8% (2002 - 4.6%).
Total KGC debt
$ 126,703

$

.......I

121,629

96,414
15,796
..............
_....I....
....I...................
15,796

$ 249,635

Cameco's one-third proportionate share of KGC senior debt is $7,324,000 (2002 - $40,543,000) and of KGC's third party
subordinated debt is $8,616,000 (2002 - $10,531,000) [note 6].

19. Investment in Bruce Power L.P. (Bruce Power)
(a) Investment
On February 14, 2003, Cameco, TransCanada PipeLines Limited (TransCanada) and BPC Generation Infrastructure Trust
(BPC), amongst others, purchased a 79.8% interest in Bruce Power from British Energy plc (British Energy). Upon closing,
Cameco increased its ownership interest in Bruce Power from 15% to 31.6%. TransCanada and BPC each hold, directly or
indirectly, a 31.6% interest in Bruce Power with the Power Workers' Union Trust holding a 4% interest and the Society of
Energy Professionals Trust holding a 1.2% interest. Cameco is using the equity method to account for this investment.
Cameco's purchase price for the additional interest in Bruce Power was approximately $204,466,000 including final closing
adjustments. The purchase price was initially financed with cash and debt. The purchase price of Cameco's incremental
16.6% has been allocated as follows:
(Thcousau.ds)

Net book value of assets acquired
Excess...of
fair value over. . book
value of assets acquired
............I.,......
................ .... ............ .. .-...........
..... ............ ...... ......... . . ......... ............... ............... .... .
Valuation
of
Bruce
Power
sales
...... ..o..................
l
...........
..........
................
.........agreements
..... ....... ..............
..... . ...
Pension liability

149,056
144,545
............................. ....I............-.....
(68,593)
............I... ........ . - . --- -- (20,542)
$ 204,466

.....................
....... ..........................
I.........
....11
.......
--............ ....... ........
..-..................
... .............................
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$

The amount allocated to the investment in Bruce Power includes an excess purchase price of approximately $144,545,000
over Cameco's incremental share of the book value of the underlying net assets. This amount will be amortized to income
based on the expected useful life of the Bruce Power assets which extends to 2018. The valuation of Bruce Power sales
contracts will be amortized to income over the remaining term of the underlying sales contracts, which extend to 2007.
The approximate amount of pre-tax income relating to the amortization of the fair value allocated to these contracts is
as follows:

(Thousands)

2003

$ 20,071

2004

19,341

2005

13,133

2006

15,192

2007

856

Total

$ 68,593

The amount allocated to the pension liability will be amortized to income over the 11-year expected average remaining
service life of Bruce Power employees, resulting in an annual pre-tax amortization to income of$ 1,867,000.
In addition, Cameco, TransCanada and BPC loaned Bruce Power funds to repay $225,000,000, plus accrued interest,
in deferred lease payments to Ontario Power Generation Inc. (OPG). Cameco's share was $75,000,000 plus accrued
interest. This loan is due February 14, 2008 and bears interest at 10.5% per annum.
Bruce Power holds a long-term lease with OPG to operate the Bruce nuclear power facility. The term of the lease, which
expires in 2018 is 18 years with an option to extend the lease for up to an additional 25 years.
Cameco, TransCanada and BPC have assumed the obligations to provide financial guarantees on behalf of the partnership.
Cameco has provided the following financial assurances, with varying terms that range from 2003 to 2018:
(i) Licensing assurances to Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission of $88,000,000.
(ii) Guarantees to customers under power sale agreements of up to $127,171,000. At December 31, 2003, Cameco's actual
exposure under these guarantees was $44,291,000.
(iii) Termination payments to OPG pursuant to the lease agreement of $58,333,000.
Under the lease agreement, OPG, as the owner of the Bruce nuclear plants, is responsible to decommission the Bruce
facility and to provide funding and meet other requirements that the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission (CNSC) may
require of Bruce Power as licensed operator of the Bruce facility. OPG is also responsible to manage radioactive waste
associated with decommissioning of the Bruce nuclear plants.
(b) Fuel Supply Agreements
Cameco has entered into fuel supply agreements with Bruce Power for the procurement of fabricated fuel. Under these
agreements, Cameco will supply uranium and conversion services and finance the purchase of fabrication services. Contract
terms are at market rates and on normal trade terms. During 2003, sales of uranium and conversion services to Bruce Power
amounted to approximately 3% of Cameco's total revenue. At December 31, 2003, amounts receivable under these
agreements totalled $30,193,000 (2002 - $18,349,000).

61

(c) Supplementary Information - Bruce Power L.P (100%)
Balance Sheets
2002

2003
(Mitlions)

Assets
Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
............... .. ................ ................................. . .............................. .........
Long-term receivables, and investments

$
.. ......

.......... ................... -..-..........
............. - -.................................
......................
. ..

Liabilities and Partners' Capital
Current liabilities
Long-term debt

290
2,032
.................... ........ .........
201
$
2,523

$

232
1,623
............ ..............................................................
214
$
2,069

194
1,244
1,438
1,085
2,523

Partners' capital
$

$

$

$

154
1,115
1,269
800
2,069

Statements of Earnings
2003

2002

2001

(Millions)

Revenue
$
1,208
..........I...... .. . ........... ...... . .. .............................
....... ........... .............. .. ............
.. .. .......... . ... H.....
. . ....... . .. ........ .. .... ............ ............................- . _ . . . . . . ......
Operating costs
853
Earnings before
interest
and
taxes
355
....... .......
. .......................... ...........I........................... ........................... - -1...... ........... .......... ......... ..... ............ ..............
........ ................ ...........
Interest
69
Earnings before taxes
286
Cameco's share (i)
Adjustments (ii)
Cameco's share of earnings before taxes

$

77
31
108

$

. .............

919
$ . .. . ..... ... 599
.......
750
471
169
128
........ ................... ......... . . ..... - ............
........ ..
63
41
106
87

. . ... - .................. . .....

$

16
16

$

13
(1)
12

(i) Cameco's interest in Bruce Power earnings prior to February 14, 2003 was 15%. Subsequent to the acquisition
of an additional 16.6% interest on February 14, 2003, Cameco's share is 31.6%.
(ii) In addition to its proportionate share of earnings from Bruce Power, Cameco records certain adjustments to
account for any differences in accounting policy and to amortize fair values assigned to assets and liabilities
at the time of acquisition.
(iii) The comparative data for 2001 is for a 7.5-month period from May 12 to December 31.
Statements of Cash Flows
2003

2002

2001

(Milli-lS)

Cash
provided
by operations
- - - ........
....... ........... ..... ..........-.............. . .....
Cash used in investing
Cash provided by financing

.. ........

$

387
(528)
131

$

185

................__.
... ... ._..
. . ...

220

$

140
(445)
370

.... .............. . ...... ....__._......
. .... ..........

20. Stock Option Plan
Cameco has established a stock option plan under which options to purchase common shares may be granted to directors,
officers and other employees of Cameco. Options granted under the stock option plan have an exercise price of not less than
the closing price quoted on the Toronto Stock Exchange for the common shares of Cameco on the trading day prior to the
date on which the option is granted. The options vest over three years and expire eight years from the date granted. Options
granted prior to 1999 expire 10 years from the date of the grant of the option.
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Prior to 1999, participants were eligible to receive loans from Cameco to assist in the purchase of common shares pursuant
to the exercise of options. The maximum term of the loans was 10 years from the date of the grant of the related option. The
loans bear interest at a rate equivalent to the regular dividends paid on the common shares to which the loans were provided.
Common shares purchased by way of a company loan are held in escrow in the account of the option holder and are pledged
as security for the respective loan until the loan has been repaid in full. Outstanding loans are shown as a reduction of share
capital.
The aggregate number of common shares that may be issued pursuant to the Cameco stock option plan shall not exceed
5,243,403, of which 1,779,279 shares have been issued.
Stock option transactions for the respective years were as follows:
2003

2001

2002
(Nuniber of Shares)

Beginning of year
Options granted
Options exercised [note 11]

..... .............
........ ......................................... ..... --...... ..... . ...........

. ...-.........
.......... . ........
Options
cancelled
End of year
Exercisable
.,...

.....
........................
. ..................
. .....-..... ..................
...........
. . ......... .......

....... ........ I ............ ..... . ................

2,195,783
2,223,750
1,987,883
.1............ - ...,.....I............
....I.......--...... .....................
............
.....I........... ......................I.....
706,350
482,850
489,050
.............
-........... ..................
...........
... .......... ....
. .......... ..... ..........-....
(159,000)
(314,433)
(783,550)

....... .........(106,550)
.................................- .....................
............ ......... ..........
. ..(115,950)
................... ..........
(146,650)

A

2,040,000
954,100

2,223,750
1,331,550

2,195,783
1,362,983

Upon exercise of certain existing options, additional options in respect of 184,550 shares would be granted.
Weighted average exercise prices were as follows:
Beginning of year
Options
granted
... .............I.............
I..................
................. . .........-..........
Options exercised
Options cancelled
End of year
Exercisable

.
.

$

.....
.............
........ ........... ..... ------ -- --.......-- - - .................. ............- ......... .......

$
$

2003
38.98
38.57
..........I....... ....... ..........
32.64
58.06
40.22
43.80

2002
37.34
43.88
.................. .- .. ..........
28.90
52.33
$
38.98
$
41.41
$

$
........

... .. ....... I

$
$

2001
38.72
28.98
....... ......
24.64
43;52
37.34
44.09

Total options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2003 were as follows:

2003

Options Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Option Price
Remaining
Per Share
Number
Life
$ 15.00-35.00
538,400
5
........... . ............. ....... . ...I...... ................. ......... ..... ..................... ....... . .................. .. ......... .... _.
....... ...
35.01-55.00
1,311,000
7
55.01-75.50
190,600
3

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Weighted
Average
Average
Exercisable
Exercisable
Price
Number
Price
$
27.39
387,300
$
26.83
...... ... .............I I .................. ......... ............ ...... .............................................. .........
40.59
377,450
46.04
73.93
189,350
74.04

21. Stock-Based Compensation
CICA Handbook Section 3870 establishes a fair-value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation plans which
Cameco has adopted with retroactive effect to January 1, 2003.
For the year ended December 31, 2003, Cameco has recorded compensation expense of $2,439,000 with an offsetting credit
to contributed surplus to reflect the estimated fair value of stock options granted to employees in 2003.

63

Cameco has applied the pro forma disclosure provisions of the standard to awards granted on or after January 1, 2002 but
prior to January 1, 2003. The pro forma effect of awards granted prior to January 1. 2002 has not been included. The pro
forma net earnings attributable to common shares, basic and diluted carnings per share after givinig effect to thc grant of these
options in 2002 are:

2003
Pro forma net earnings attributable to common shares
ro ........1
P
form. a.basi
....... ... earn
.... ings..per sh
.....are.....
....... .........
.......................... .............. ............ .............
Pro forma daiue earnings per share

$ 203,233
.... ......... 3......
.6 2

$

3.562

2002
$ 41,303
.............
$ ..........
0.74.
... ..
$
0.74

The fair value of the options issued was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions:

2003
2002
Number of options granted
706,350
489,050
Average strike price
$ _38.62
$
43.84
Dividend
$
0.60
$
0.50
Expected volatility
20%
20%
Risk-free interest rate
4.1%
Expected life of option
5
years
5 years
..................
.........
.........
.........
....................................
...............
......
.....................
............
.......
...............
............ I..........
......-.... ...........Expected forfeitures
10%
17%
.. 8. 14.....
Weighted average grant date fair values
.
10.83

22. Pension and Other Post-Retiremient Benefits
Cameco maintains both defined benefit and defined contribution plans providing pension and post-retirement benefits
to stubstantially all of its employees.

Pension Plans
The pension expense for Camneco's defined contribution plans was $5,348,000 (2002 - $4,989,000; 2001 - $4,41 1,000).
The status of defined benefit pensions plans are as follows:
2002

2003
(Thousands)

Accrued Benefit Obligation
Balance at beginning of year
$
14,595
$
13.330
----_
....-...
.........
................-...
....................
...... ................. ........ ................................
................
................
.......
........-...-.-......
Current service cost
806
743
Interest cost
984
835
...........................
..........
.......
....................
................
.........................
........
I...
.....................
......
......
_--.........
......
-_- ......
....................
Actuarial gain
(483)
Benefits paid
(522)
(313)
Balance at end of year
$
15,380
$
14,595
Plan Assets
Fair value at beginning of year

$

Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value at end of year

-

10,684

$

610
(313)

-10,885

(522)

Funded status
Unamortized net actuarial loss

Unamortixed transitional obligation
Accrued pension benefit asset

$

21,758

$

10,684

$

6,378
1,887

$

(3,911)
2,670
3,058

$

1,817

$
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10,915

2,365
10,630

Significant actuarial assumptions used in calculating the net pension expense for Carneco's funded plans were as follows:
Discount rate
Long-term rate of return on assets
Rate of increase in compensation levels
....... ... ............... ... ....... . ..... ...............
......................
...... ..................... ................
....

.......................
.... - ...... ....... ............................._ .. ......................
................................

....... ....... . ... . ....

2003
6.5%
. . . ..... ..
........
7.0%
4.5%

.. _..... ......

2002
6.0%
......... .......... ...... ... ..
8.0%
4.5%

Net pension expense for the defined benefit pension plans has been determined as follows:
2003

2002

2001

-Thousands)

Cost of benefits earned by employees
$ ...........8061........I......... ....$.............. ....743
.......
.....I.....
........
............
........
......_....
.......__...................
.............. .......... ..... ........ .................
..-. ............ .....$........ 743
7 43..............
Interest cost on benefits earned
984
835
998
plan
assets,
net
Expected
return
on
pension
(601)
(443)
(885)
................... 883
8..........
.....
..
.................
I........
. - ............_..........
....................-.....
...................... ....................
.......... ..............
...........
................. .............._....
.........7.............
5......
....I
694
Net amortization
883
.752
$
2,072
$
1,887
$
1,550
Net pension expense
Other Post-Retirement Benefits
Cameco provides post-retirement benefits to substantially all employees. The costs are accrued over the expected service lives
of employees. No funding is provided. The status of the plan is as follows:
2003

2002
(Tlhomsards)

Accrued Benefit Obligation
Balance at beginning of year
Current
service cost
I.. ....... ..... ... . ...... ...... ................ .... ..................... ........ .. ..... ...
Interest
cost
- ... ....... .. ....... . . ....... ............ .............. ........ ...
.......... - -...-Actuarial gain
.. ......................-......... .......-.......-_
...........
...... .. .......... . . ........... ... . ......-... ...................... ..........
...............
Benefits paid
Accrued post-retirement benefit liability

$

$

4,092

129

..........

-. .. .....
I .....
_ 206
6 . ...

3.809
147
. ..... ............I.
-

230

...... .. ............
..... ..........

(952)
......-...
........
(.952?
....1......
..... ..............

$

..

(86)
3,389

(94)
$

4,092

23. Property and Business Acquisitions
(a) AGR Limited
On March 5, 2002, Cameco acquired a 52% interest in AGR Limited (AGR). AGR is an Australia-based exploration
company whose principal asset is a 95% interest in the Boroo gold deposit located in Mongolia. The purchase price was
financed with $12,000,000 (US) in cash and the contribution of a neighboring property. In exchange, AGR issued 240
million shares to Cameco. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method and the results of operations are
included in Cameco's consolidated financial statements from the effective date of the purchase.
The values assigned to the net assets acquired are as follows:
Thou so1ds)

Cash and other working capital
Property, plant and equipment
.. ................. . .. .... .......
.......
Minority interest
Net assets acquired

13,845
27,054
......
.............. ..... ... -......
. ..
(18,981)
$ 21,918

I... .............
...................-.... .................I......
I.......................
I.......
............. ............_- ...................
.........................
......... ............ ....-1 ....... .....---- -------------

Financed by:
Cash
r
t...........
..y...
.....
... c........
.....
v..................a.......l..
.... ....
Property, at carrying value

$

$

19,562
2,356
21.918

...... ........... -.... ......... ...... .........

$

Subsequent to the acquisition, Catneco provided an additional $3,000,000 (US) of further exploration in the area in exchange
for an incremental 4% interest in AGR (43 million shares), increasing its total interest to 56% at December 31, 2002.
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(b) Smith Ranch
On July 22. 2002, Cameco acquired the assets comprising the Smith Ranch in situ leach (ISL) operation and various
other ISL properties from Rio Algom Mining LLC. In exchange for these assets, Cameco assumed the decommissioning
liabilities associated with the Smith Ranch operation. At the acquisition date, the value of the liabilities was estimated
to be $9,157,000 (US). Cameco also secured forward sales commitments for more than 900,000 pounds of uranium
concentrates. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method and the results of operations are included
in Cameco's consolidated financial statements from the effective date of the purchase.
(c) UEX Corporation
On July 18, 2002, Cameco acquired a 35.3% ownership interest in UEX Corporation (UEX); a company traded on the
Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX). The principal assets of UEX consist of several uranium exploration properties located in
the Athabasca region of Northern Saskatchewan. In acquiring this interest, Cameco transferred its Hidden Bay exploration
properties to UEX in exchange for approximately 31 million shares. In addition, Cameco purchased another 2 million
shares at a price of $0.25 per share.
In 2002, Cameco recorded a gain of $2,670,000 on the transfer of its Hidden Bay properties to UEX. The equity method
is being used to account for this investment.

24. Commitmnents and Contingencies
(a) An action against Cameco, Cameco Gold Inc., Kumtor Operating Company and certain other parties commenced in
a Canadian court by certain dependants of nine persons seeking damages, in the amount of $20,700,000 plus interest and
costs, and punitive damages, in connection with the death of the said nine persons in a helicopter accident in Kyrgyzstan
on October 4, 1995, is continuing. This action is being defended by the insurers of Cameco. Management is of the
opinion, after review of the facts with counsel, that the outcome of this action will not have a material financial impact
on Cameco's financial position, results of operations or liquidity.
(b) An action against Cameco was filed by Oren Benton on November 28, 2000 in the State of Colorado, U.S.A.. The action
alleges breach of contract and tortious interference and sets forth a claim for purported damages in excess of $200,000,000
(US). Cameco's motion to dismiss was granted by order filed November 15, 2002 and Mr. Benton's claim was dismissed.
Mr. Benton has appealed this decision. The appeal was heard on November 20, 2003 and judgment was reserved.
Management is of the opinion, after review of the facts with counsel, that the claim is completely without merit and that
the outcome of this action will not have a material financial impact on Cameco's financial position, results of operations
or liquidity.
(c) Commitments
At December 31, 2003, Cameco's purchase commitments, the majority of which are fixed-price uranium and conversion
purchase arrangements, were as follows:
(Millions (US))

2004
$
2005
... . ...........
......
.....
.... ...............................................................................
...........
---------- ...- -----2006
... . ... .. ... .... . . ........... ........................ .. ... .............. .............. . .. ...... ........ ... .
2007
2008

Thereafter
Total

113
128
...- ------ - - -145
144
131
454
$ 1,115
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25. Financial Instruments
The majority of revenues are derived from the sale of uranium products. Cameco's financial results are closely related to the
long- and short-term market price of uranium sales and conversion services. Prices fluctuate and can be affected by demand
for nuclear power, worldwide production and uranium inventory levels, and political and economic conditions in uranium
producing and consuming countries. Revenue from gold operations is largely dependent on the market price of gold, which
can be affected by political and economic factors, industry activity and the policies of central banks with respect to their levels
of gold held as reserves. Financial results are also impacted by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and
other operating risks.
To hedge risks associated with fluctuations in the market price for uranium, Cameco seeks to maintain a portfolio of uranium
sales contracts with a variety of delivery dates and pricing mechanisms that provide a degree of protection from price volatility.
Cameco employs a number of financial instruments to hedge risks associated with gold prices and foreign currency exchange
rates. Put and call options are used to establish a minimum and maximum price range for gold sales and exchange rates for
cash flows denominated in a foreign currency. Cameco also enters into forward sales contracts to establish a price for future
deliveries of gold and US dollars. Net realized gains (losses) on contracts designated as hedges are recorded as deferred revenues
(deferred charges) and recognized in earnings when the related hedged transactions occur.
Cameco also uses instruments such as swaps, puts and calls and forward rate agreements to manage funding costs and reduce
the impact of interest rate volatility.
Financial assets that are subject to credit risks include cash and securities, accounts receivable and commodity and currency
instruments. Cameco mitigates credit risk on these financial assets by holding positions with a variety of large creditworthy
institutions. Sales of uranium, with short payment terms, are made to customers that management believes are creditworthy.
Except as disclosed below, the fair market value of Cameco's financial assets and financial liabilities approximates net book
value as a result of the short-term nature of the instrument or the variable interest rare associated with the instrument.
Currency
At December 31, 2003, Cameco had hedged $457,300,000 (US) at an average spot exchange rate of $1.41 designated to
various dates through 2008 as follows:
(Thsousands)

2004
$
257,300
...
.............. .. .............. ...... ... ...........
.............
.............. .......................... ............. ............... . ..... ........................
........
.....
2005
190,000
2006
-60,000
- ....... .....................
.....................
..............
.....
....... . ......... . .. ..............
....... ......... ................... ............ .....
2007
10,000
...........
. ... - .................
. ............ ................. ................................................... -.. .....
. .. ...... - - - -- - -- - -- - - - - .......... . . .. .
2008
(60,000)
Total
$
457,300
These hedge positions consist entirely of spot-deferred forward contracts. The average exchange rate reflects contract prices
as at December 31, 2003 to their initial maturity date which is earlier than the designation date in many cases. The realized
exchange rate will depend on the forward premium (discount) that is earned (paid) as hedge contracts are extended to their
final designation date.
At December 31, 2003, Cameco's net mark-to-market gain on these foreign currency instruments was $51,060,000 (Cdii).
Timing differences between the usage and designation of hedge contracts may result in deferred revenue or deferred charges.
At December 31, 2003, deferred revenue to be recognized totalled $24,487,000.
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Interest
At December 31, 2003, Cameco had in place $85,000,000 (Cdn) of interest rate swaps whereby Cameco receives fixed interest
rates ranging from 3.0% to 6.1 %. These positions are designated over various dates maturing as follows:

(Thousands)

2005
I .. . .... ,-.........
2006
2007
2008

...................

$

32,500
22,500

........ ...............
............
...... .............
...... ................... .......................................
.................. ..........

30-000

Total

$

85,000

At December 31, 2003, Cameco's net mark-to-market gain on these interest rate swaps was $1,964,000 (Cdn).
Commodity
At December 31, 2003, Cameco's share of gold hedging positions have been designated against deliveries as follows:

2004
- .' .............................
2005
... ... .... .. ..... ..
2006
..
......
2007

Forwards
Average Price
Ounces
(US$/oz)
134,000
$
320
.
.............. ................... ... ...... .......... ............................................. ................. .............. ........ ... _.
.......
............
.........
.......... ............
.. ..................
...
....... .......
. ...................
.... .....
91,000
312 ..
........
.. . ...- - - - - -. .. .......
..... ... .... .......... ... .................
. ....... .. ...........
................................
.. ..........................
.. .... .........
... .........
........- - ........................
.. .........
...... ... ........
. ......;.. .. . . ..........
59,000
311
...........................
..
...... .... .- 1
.. .. . ...
............ . ... ...............
. ..................
..........
.................
. .. I.......................
. .........................
...............................
................... ...............
. .-...........
.........................
9,000
309
293,000
$
315

Average prices reflect contract prices as at December 31, 2003 to their initial maturity date which is earlier than the
designation date in many cases.
Timing differences between the usage and designation of hedge contracts may result in deferred revenue or deferred charges.
At the end of 2003, Cameco's share of deferred charges to be recognized totalled $1,816,000 (US).
From the initial maturity date to the designation date contract prices are expected to accrue contango. The rate of contango
earned will depend on the difference between future US interest rates and gold lease rates.
At December 31, 2003, the net mark-to-market loss on the above instruments was $20,199,000 (US).
Gold Commitment
As of December 31, 2003, Cameco agreed to provide credit support to a maximum of $130 (US) per ounce to the
counterparties of KGC and AGR. At December 31, 2003, Cameco's maximum financial exposure under these arrangements
based on outstanding commitments was $56,613,000 (US) (2002 - $60,724,000 (US)).
At December 31, 2003, Cameco's actual exposure under these arrangements, including its share of the net mark-to-market
losses mentioned above, was $45,938,000 (US) (2002 - $37,838,000).
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26. Per Share Amounts
Per share amounts have been calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
year net of shares held as security for employee loans to purchase such shares. The weighted average number of paid shares
outstanding in 2003 was 56,119,557 (2002 - 55,780,978; 2001 - 55,398,552).
2003

(Remsated)

(Restated)

2002

2001

(Thousands)

Basic earnings per share computation
Earnings available to common shareholders
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic earnings per common share
Diluted earnings per share computation
Earnings available to common shareholders
Dilutive effect of:
Convertible debentures
Earnings available to common shareholders, assuming dilution
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Dilutive effect of:
Convertible debentures
Stock options ................. - -................... ... - ..._ _............. .......-................. .......... .- -....... . ......-.... ........
....... ...... .. . .............................
Other stock-based arrangements
Weighted average common shares outstanding, assuming dilution
Diluted earnings per common share

$ 204,686
56,120
$
3.65

$

43,523
55,781
0.78

$56,087
55,399
$
1.01

$ 204,686

$

43,523

$

56,087

2,290
$ 206,976

$

43,523

$

56,087

56,120
950
649
. .......................34
57,753
$
3.58

55,781

35
24
55,840
0.78

55,399

203

...........-.................

$

.. .. .......... .......

16
55,618

$

1.01

Options whose exercise price was greater than the average market price were excluded from the calculation.

27. Segmented Information
Cameco has four reportable segments: uranium, conversion, gold and power. The uranium segment involves the exploration
for, mining, milling, purchase and sale of uranium concentrate. The conversion segment involves the refining and conversion
of uranium concentrate and the purchase and sale of conversion services. The gold segment involves the exploration for,
mining, milling and sale of gold. The power segment involves the generation and sale of electricity.
Cameco's reportable segments are strategic business units with different products, processes and marketing strategies.
Accounting policies used in each segment are consistent with the policies outlined in the summary of significant
accounting policies.
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(a) Business Segments
Uranium

2003

Conversion

(i)
Power

Gold

Subtotal

(i
Adjustments

Total

(millions)

Revenue

$

Expenses
Products and services sold
Depreciation, depletion
and reclamation
Exploration
Research & development

570.3

142.4

$

394.6
92.1
13.3

I.......I........I

$

$

114.2

$

371.9

1,198.8

228.2

92.0

52.2

10.9

34.6
21.5
...
........
I.....
..............
8.7

767.0
159.1
22.0
1.7

........................

1.7

(A_.
........

1'1)

Earnings from. Bruce Power
Non-segmented expenses
Earnngsbefore income taxes
70.7
Income tax expense (recovery)
Minority interest
Net earnings
Preferred securities charges,
net of tax
Convertible debenture charges,
net of ta
Net earnings attributable to
common shares
Assets
$ 2,294.8
Capital expenditures for the year $
65.2
2002

(rcstarcd)

Uranium

$

(371.9) $

826.9

(228.2)

538.8

(34.6)

124.5

.... .............

22.0

-

1.7

-

AQ

(1

(0 A)

1~

(107.9)
_37.8

31.8

_

107.9

248.2

(107.9)
51.6
196.6
(16.0)
(3.4)
216.0

-

9.0
2.3

$

$
$

$

180.3
6.0

346.1
87.1

$

Conversion

$
$

992.3
156.5

$

(i
Power

Gold

3,813.5 _$_
314.8 $

$

Subtotal

204.7
(454.1) $ 3,359.4
(156.5) $
158.3

(i
Adjustments

Total

(Imillion)

Revenue

$

523.7

$

Expenses
Products and services sold
345.1
Depreciation, depletion
and reclamation
85.6
Exploration
11.8
Research & development
-2.3
Other
(0.2)
Gain on property interests
(2.7)
Earnings from Bruce Power-(15.8)
Non-segmented expenses
Earins before income taxes
84.1
Income tax expense
Minority interest
Net earning
Preferred securities charges.
net of tax
Net earnings attributable to
common shares
Assets
$ 2,309.8 $
Capital expenditures for the year $
55.5 $

~$

137.4
82.7

_

11.1

$

87.2

137.8

$

886.1

$

748.3

58.3

100.7

586.8

(100.7)

486.2

20.2

13.8

130.7

_(13.8)

116.9
21.5

-9.7

-21.5

-

--

7.5

-1.8

_

---

41.3

(137.8) $

(2.8)

_

15.8

2.3
9.1
(2.7)

-2.3

(7.5)

1.6

-(2.7)

138.4

(15.8)
39.2
99.2
47.3
(0.9)
52.8

-

9.3

$
177.6

$

6.9

$

349.2
27.8
70

-

$
$

321.6
64.8

$
$

3,158.2
123.1

$
$

43.5

(190.4) $ 2,967.8
(64.8) $
90.2

2001 (rnstod)

Uranium

Conversion

(i)
Power

Gold

(i)
Adjustments

Subtotal

Total

(mnholljs)

Revenue
Expenses
Products and services sold
Depreciation, depletion
and reclamation
Exploration

Research & development
Other
Earnings from Bruce Power
Non-segmented expenses
Eanigsbefore income taxes
Income tax expense
Net earnings
Preferred securities charges,
net of tax
Net earnings attributable to
common shares
Assets _
.
Capital expenditures frteya

$ 471.4

$

298.0
__87.7

_

10.1

114.4

$

1I 1.0

$

89.9

$

790.7

700.8

52.1

63.9

486.0

(63.9)

422.1

12.8

28.9

7.7

137.1

(7.7)

129.3

-18.2

-2.1

-18.2

2.1
(0.6)

---

--

76.2

$

(89.9)

72.0

-8.1

(0.6)

$

27.5

25.9

6.1

6.1

12.2

141.9

-2.1

.

-(0.6)

(6.1)

(12.2)
34.2
107.6
42.2
65.4

-

9.3

$2,389.2
$
51.1

$
$

171.0
4.8

$
$

326.5
2.4

$
$

262.6
17.0

$
$

3,149.3
75.3

$
$

$
56.1
(180.6) $ 2,968.7
(17.0) $
58.3

(i) Consistent with the presentation of financial information for internal management purposes, Cameco's pro rata share
of Bruce Power's financial results have been presented as a separate scgrnent. In accordance with GAAP, this investment
is accounted for by the equity method of accounting in these consolidated financial statements and die associated revenues
and expenses are eliminated in the adjustments column.
(b) Geographic Segments
2003

(Restared)

(Restated)

2002

2001

(Millions)

Revenue from products and services
Canada - domestic
- export
United States
Central Asia

$

40.2

$

337.5

$
Assets
Canada
United States
Central Asia

$

$

335.0
114.2
826.9
2,833.0
180.3
346.1
3,359.4

62.8
381.6

$

216.7
87.2
748.3

$

$ 2,436.1

$

191.6
340.1
2,967.8

$

$

$

50.1

413.3
122.4
115.0
700.8
2,486.8
182.2
299.7
2,968.7

(c) Major Customers
Cameco relies on a small number of customers to purchase a significant portion of its uranium concentrates and uranium
conversion services. During 2003, revenues from one customer of Cameco's uranium and conversion segments represented
approximately $97,000,000 (14%) of Cameco's total revenues. In 2002, revenues from one customer of Cameco's uranium
and conversion segments represented approximately $92,000,000 (14%) of Cameco's total revenues. In 2001, revenues
from one customer of Camreco's urtanium and conversion segments represented approximately $84,000,000 (12%) of total
revenue. As customers are relatively few in number, accounts receivable from any individual customer may periodically
exceed 10% of accounts receivable depending on delivery schedules.
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28. Subsequent Event
(a) On January 5, 2004 Cameco Corporation and the Kyrgyz government announced an agreement to transfer all of Kumtor
Gold Company (KGC), the owner of the Kumrtor gold mine in the Kyrgyz Republic, to a new jointly owned Canadian
company called Centerra Gold Inc. (Centerra). In conjunction with its acquisition of KGC and Cameco's other gold assets,
Centerra intends to undertake a public offering (IPO) in Canada. Cameco expects to hold a majority interest in Centerra
following the IPO.
(b) On February 27, 2004, Cameco, through one of its wholly owned US subsidiaries, signed an agreement to purchase a
25.2% interest in assets comprising the South Texas Project (STP) from a wholly owned subsidiary of American Electric
Power (AEP) for $333 million (US). STP consists primarily of two 1,250 megawatt (MW) nuclear power plants located
in Texas. These two units were commissioned in 1988 and 1999 and are licensed until 2027 and 2028. The interest which
Cameco intends to purchase is subject to a right of first refusal in favour of the current participants for a period of 90 days.
The transaction is expected to close in the second half of 2004 and, based on current operating performance and market
conditions, would have a positive impact on net earnings and for 2004. Cameco does not expect to finance the acquisition
with debt and is looking at various options, including issuing equity.
29. Comparative Figures
Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current financial statement presentation.
30. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in Canada and tile United States
The consolidated financial statements of Cameco are expressed in Canadian dollars in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles (Canadian GAAP). The following adjustments and disclosures would be required in order to
present these consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (US GAAP).
(a) Reconciliation of earnings in accordance with Canadian GAAP to earnings determined in accordance with US GAAP:
2003

2002

2001

(Thlouzsands)

Net earnings under Canadian GAAP
$ 216,006
$
52,863
$ 65,412
Adjustment to reverse Canadian GAAP restatement (viii)
2,597
(191)
Net earnings applicable to US GAAP
$ 65,221
$
55,460
$ 216,006
Add (deduct) adjustments for:
Interest on preferred securities and convertible debentures (i)
(17,268)
(19,186)
(17,238) ............................
.... ...-......
Capitalized
interest
(ii)
3,768
-..............
...... .. .............................
...............
.. . .. ....................... ........ ..................... . . ............... . .. -----..--. .......... ..
__.
_......
...........
......
.........
...... .
Depreciation
and depletion (iii)
2,579
2,895
2,579
. ..... ...... ...........
.. ................
........... ... . .... . . .... . .... .......................... ...I..... ............. .............. ... ..
....... ........ ... ... .. ._.
Mineral property costs (iv)
(6,806)
(6,047)
(6,188)
.. .......... ............. ...
I.... ..........
Pre-operating
costs (v)
(2,578)
(6,232)
(200)
I............... ............. ............. . . . .........-_.........-. . ........ . . .. .............. .... ............ .. ........... ....... ... ...... ............
.......... ...
........... .
.............. .................
Hedges and derivative instruments (vi)
12,304
1,928
1,810
.... .....
.. .. . ..
1._
..........I.. .... .......
Realization of cumulative translation account (vii)
(1,585)
(3,273)
.............
..-.... ............ ... ....
....... .... ...
............. Earnings
from
Bruce
Power
(v) (vi)
(13,938)
(12,481)
...............
.... .
........... ....
. . .......
.....
............ .........
.......
.................. . ........... .....
..........................
------ - - ------ -Income tax effect of adjustments
10,121
14,116
14,542
Net earnings before cumulative effect of a change in
accounting
principle
50,889
201,640
37,781
I...........----... .. .... ..... ............... ............. ... ............ ....... ............. ......... ... ..
...... ......... ........ ...... . ..........
... .. ......... ... ......... .......
..... ..... ..... .... . ....... .......
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (viii)
10,683
Net
earnings
under US GAAP
212,323
37,781
50,889
..
...... . ....
..___..
..__...
.........
....... ................
_........
. ...
_
........ --- -- -- -.
and
derivative
instruments
(vi)
Hedges
29,508
(6,203)
(22,253)
............ -...
.. . .... ..........
....... .................
........
........................
............. ............ . ....... . . ......... . .........I..... ........... . . ...........I........ ... .......I...... ..... ....... .. ........ ............I............
..........................
..................... ........
Foreign currency translation adjustments
859
1,509
(32,309)
..............
......... - .50
.......... ........ . . ..... . ... ...
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities (ix)
(1,058)
(8,300)
(334)
Comprehensive income under US GAAP
$ 230,932
$ 21,845
$ 32,103
$
0.68
Basic net earnings per share under US GAAP
0.92
$
$
3.78
Diluted earnings per share under US GAAP
$
0.68
$
0.92
$
3.72
.-

........ . .. . .......

....

..

.

. . ..-----

-
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(b) Comparison of balance sheet items determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP to balance sheet items determined in
accordance with US GAAP:
(i) Balance Sheets
2003

Canadian
GAAP

Canadian

us

GAAP

GAAP

us
GAAP

(Thousands)

(Thousands)

$

Current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Mvineral interests and other intanglnles

$ 672,340

2,072,156

~x)

Long-term receivables, investments and other
Total assets
Current liabilities

808,483

,L)~~U I)

593,520

$

$3,300,147

$

197,841

$ 188,983

$_

238,707
150,444
36,196
501,674
1,124,862
14,690

623,173
150,444
22,097
487,388
1,472,085
14,690

_

158,022
226,444-708,345

anns665,377

$

171,377

218,290
159,344
9,523
530,625
1,089,159
18,078

_

:

237,013
$2,882,111
167,258
412,053
155,036
57,999
485,447
1,277,793
18,078

-193,763

708,345
474,927
597,219

-

Accumulated other comprehensive income
- cumulative translation account
- avalabl-for-sale securities (ix)
- hedges and derivative instruments (vi)

750,628

2,060,250
257,523
$2,967,816

Shareholders' equity
Preferred securities
Convertible debentures
Share capital
.o-r.b.edsurlus474,927

$ 644,105

650,043

608,977
3,359,411

Minority interest

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

$_

I ,L6UI-I

-

Long-termi debt
Provision for reclamation
Other liabilities (vi
Deferred income taxes

Reand

678,278

2002

(Restaied)

(13,256)

-

-680,934

7,966

--

-680,934

472,488
494,341

472,488
418,546

19,053

40,275
2,454

-23,864
-1,051

-(28,457)

2,219,859
$ 3,359,411

1,813,372
$3,300,147

1,860,579
$2,967,816

1,586,240
$2,882,111

(ii) Components of accounts payable and accrued liabilities are as follows:
2003

2002

Canadian
GAAP

us
GAAP

Canadian
GAAP

(Thoussands)

Accounts
payable
$
. ..... I.. . .....
.......
..-. ... - ............. ..........
....-.. ...... ... .. ...
..... ..... .. .
Taxes and royalties payable Accrued liabilities
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities
$

120,436
.
29,444
7,650

. ...............
..... .

157,530
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$

us
GAAP
(Thousands)

120,436
29,444
7,650

. . ..... . .. ... ..... . - --- ..

$ 157,530

$

84,906
2 6.........3
4 0-2

....

$

.... . . .......

84,906
2...., 2......
21....

26,402222

20,686

20,686

$ 131,932

$ 127,813

(c) The effects of these adjustments would result in the consolidated statements of cash flows reporting the following under
US GAAP:
2003

2002

2001

(Thoulsinds)

$_ 224,540
$ (441,540)
$ 242,973

Cash provided by operations
Cash used in investing
Cash provided by (used in) financing

$ 231,184
_

$

(72,006)

$ (134,819)

95,568

$

$ (127,306)
$-

32,344

(d) A description of certain significant differences between Canadian GAAP and US GAAP follows:
(i) Preferred Securities and Convertible Debentures
Thesc instruments are classificd as equity under Canadian GAAP and interest payments, on an after-tax basis, arc classified
as distributions of equity. Under US GAAP, they are clas~sified as debt and interest payments are included in interest expense.
(ii) Capitalized Interest
Cameco~s policy under both Canadian GAAP and US GAAP is to capitalize interest on expenditures related to
construction of development projects actively being prepared for their intended use. Under US GAAP, a portion of the
interest on the preferred securities, classified as debt under US GAAP, would be capitalized to development properties.
(iii) Writedown of Mineral Properties
Under both Canadian and US GAAP, property, plant and equipment must be assessed for potential impairment. In 2003
there is no longer any difference in the calculation of an impairment loss between Canadian and US GAAP, However,
as a result of previous differences in the amounts of impairment losses recognized under US and Canadian GAAP. there
is a difference in the amount of depreciation and depletion charged to earnings.
(iv) Mineral Property Costs
Consistent with Canadian GAAP, Camneco defers costs related to mineral properties once the decision to proceed to
development has been made. Under US CAAP, these costs are expensed until such time as a final feasibility study has
confirmed the existence of a commercially mineable deposit.
(v) Pre-Operating Costs
Under Canadian GAAP, pre-operating costs incurred during the commissioning phase of a new project are deferred until
commercial production levels are achieved. After such time, those costs are amortized over the estimated life of the project.
Under US GAAP, such costs are expensed as incurred as required by AICPA Statement of Position 98-5, Reporting on the
Cost of Start-Up Activities. In 2000, these costs related to the production of uranium concentrates at the McArthur River
mine and were charged to product inventory. Portions of this product inventoty were sold in each of the years.
During 2003, $17,917,000 (2002 - $8,628,000) of costs related to the restart of two nuclear reactors at Bruce Power were
considered to be startLip costs required to be expensed under US GAAP.
(vi) Hedges and Derivative Instruments
During 2003, $12,304,000 was excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. For amounts included in the balance
sheet as accumulated other comprehensive income as at December 31, 2003, a gain of $250,000 (after tax) relates to the
hedging of interest rate risk, a loss of $18,971,000 (after tax) relates to the hedging of gold price risk, and a gain of
$38,625,000 (after tax) relates to the hedging of foreign exchange rate risk. Of these amounts, $14,890,000 (after tax)
would be recorded in earnings during 2004 if mark-et conditions remained unchanged. The impact on other comprehensive
income for 2003 is $26,107,000 after consideration of the reversal of the 2002 amounts described below. During 2003,
no net gains or losses from the hedging of net investments were realized.
During 2002, $1,928,000 was excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. For amounts included in other
comprehensive income as at December 31, 2002, a gain of $277,000 (after tax) relates to the hedging of interest rate risk,
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a loss of $18,076,000 (after tax) relates to the hedging of gold price risk, and a loss of $10,658,000 (after tax) relates to the
hedging of foreign exchange rate risk. During 2002, no net gains or losses from the hedging of net investments were realized.
Prior to July, 2003, $3,979,000 of gains related to Bruce Power energy contracts did not qualify for hedge accounting under
US GAAP as the documentation required for hedge accounting was not contemplated at the time of entering into the
contracts. The impact on other comprehensive income for 2003 is $3,401,000.
(vii) Realization of Cumulative Translation Account
Under Canadian GAAP, a proportionate amount of the cumulative translation account is recognized in earnings when
a portion of the net investment in a subsidiary is realized. US GAAP does nor allow for any of the cumulative translation
account to be taken to earnings unless a portion of the investment has been sold or substantially liquidated.
(viii) Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Policy
In 2001, the FASB issued Statement 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, which addresses financial
accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset
retirement costs. The standard applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result from
the acquisition, construction, development and use of the asset. Statement 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for
an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can
be made. The fair value is added to the carrying amount of the associated asset. The liability is accreted at the end of each
period through charges to operating expenses.
For Canadian GAAP. the cumulative effect of the change in policy on the balance sheet at December 31, 2002 is to increase
property, plant and equipment by $23 million, future income taxes by $8 million, liabilities by $4 million and opening
retained earnings by $11 million. Under US GAAP no restatement is required.
(ix) Available-for-Sale Securities
Under Canadian GAAP, portfolio investments are accounted for using the cost method. Under US GAAP, portfolio
investments classified as available-for-sale securities are carried at market values with unrealized gains or losses reflected
as a separate component of shareholders' equity and included in comprehensive income. Cameco's investments in
Energy Resources of Australia Ltd., Batavia Mining Ltd. (formerly Menzies Gold NL) and Tenke Mining Corp. are classified
as available-for-sale. The fair market value of these investments at December 31, 2003 was $41,428,000
(2002 - $20,018,000). The cumulative unrealized gain at December 31, 2003 was $23,864,000.
(x) Mineral Interests and Other Intangible Assets
Under US GAAP, acquisition costs associated with mining interests are classified according to the land tenure position. Costs
associated with owned mineral claims and mining leases where the company does not own the underlying land are classified
as definite life intangible assets and amortized over the period of intended use.
For mineral claims with proven and probable reserves, amortization is taken on a unit of production basis resulting in no
charge during the exploration and development phases.
(e) Stock-Based Compensation
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation establishes financial
accounting and reporting standards for stock-based employee compensation plans. This statement defines a fair-value based
method of accounting for employee stock options. However, it also allows an entity to continue to measure compensation
cost for those plans using the intrinsic value based method of accounting prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, which is
similar to the method applied under Canadian GAAP and followed by Carneco prior to 2003. For periods prior to adoption,
companies that continue to follow the intrinsic value based method must disclose pro-forma earnings and earnings per share
information under the fair-value method.
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Cameco has adopted the fair-value method of accounting for employee stock options with retroactive effect to January 1,
2003. Pursuant to new transitional rules related to accounting for stock-based compensation under Canadian GAAP,
Cameco chosc to record compensation expense for all employee stock options granted on or after January 1, 2003 with
a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. Compensation expense for options granted during 2003 is determined
based on the estimated fair values at the time of grant, the cost of which is recognized over the vesting periods of the
respective options. This change in accounting policy has increased expenses by $2,439,000 in 2003.
Cameco has applied the pro forma disclosure provisions of the standard to awards granted prior to January 1, 2003. The
pro forma net earnings attributable to common shares, basic and diluted earnings per share after giving effect to the grant
of these options are:
2003

2002

2001

(Tfhous-nds)

Net earnings for the year in accordance
with US GAAP as calculated above
Effect of recording compensation
expense under stock options plans
Pro-forma net earnings after application of SFAS 123
Pro-forma basic net earnings per common
share after application of SFAS 123

Pro-forma diluted net earnings per common
share after application of SFAS 123

$ 212,323

$

37,781

$

50,889

(2,027)
$ 210,296

$

(3,991)
33,790

$

(4,168)
46,721

$

3.75

$

0.61

$

0.84

$

3.68

$

0.61

$

0.84

In calculating the foregoing pro-forma amounts, the fair value of each option grant was estimated as of the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:
2002
Dividend
- -.. ....- ........... . .... ..........
.. . ............ ............
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected
life of option
....... .. ..... . . .... . . ..... ... ...... ........... . ......
Expected forfeitures

$

........... .. ............ .........
..............
....... ....................... . ................................................................... ...........................
.. ... ...........

. ................ . ....... ......... ... . ........... . ................................-- ...... ............. .................................... .... ..........

2001

0.50
$
0.50
I- --........................................ .............
20.0%
39.6%
5.0%
5.5%
5
years
8
vears
.................. ..... ................................................
.. .........................
. ......
17.0%
20.0%

(f) New Accounting Pronouncements
In 2002, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation 45 (FIN 45) that requires the recognition of a liability for the fair value of
certain guarantees that require payments contingent on specified types of future events. The measurement standards of FIN
45 are applicable to guarantees entered into after January 1, 2003. For guarantees that existed at December 31, 2003, FIN
45 requires additional disclosures which have been included in these financial statements to the extent applicable to Camcco.
During 2003, the FASB issued Financial Interpretation 46 Revised (FIN 46 Revised) that requires the consolidation of
certain entities that are controlled through financial interests that indicate control (referred to as variable interests). Variable
interests are the rights or obligations that convey economic gains or losses from changes in the values of the entity's assets
and liabilities. The holder of the majority of an entity's variable interests will be required to consolidate the variable interest
entity. This change has not had any impact on these consolidated financial statements.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The consolidated financial statements are prepared by
management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles and, except as described in note 30,
conform in all material respects with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. Management makes
various estimates and assumptions in determining the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses for each
year presented, and in the disclosure of commitments and
contingencies. The most significant estimates are related to
the lives and recoverability of mineral properties, provisions
for decommissioning and reclamation of assets, future income
taxes, financial instruments and mineral reserves. Actual results
could differ from these estimates. This summary of significant
accounting policies is a description of the accounting methods
and practices that have been used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements and is presented to assist the
reader in interpreting the statements contained herein.

less amounts written off to reflect a decline in value that is
other than temporary.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets are carried at cost. Costs of additions and improvements
are capitalized. When assets are retired or sold, the resulting
gains or losses are reflected in current earnings. Maintenance
and repair expenditures are charged to cost of production.
The carrying values of property. plant and equipment are
periodically assessed by management and if management
determines that the carrying values cannot be recovered, the
unrecoverable amounts are written off against current earnings.
Non-Producing Properties
The decision to develop a mine property within a project area
is based on an assessment of the commercial viability of the
property, the availability of financing and the existence of
markers for the product. Once the decision to proceed to
development is made, development and other expenditures
relating to the project area are deferred and carried at cost with
the intention that these will be depleted by charges against
earnings from future mining operations. No depreciation or
depletion is charged against the property until commercial
production commences. After a mine property has been
brought into commercial production, costs of any additional
work on that property are expensed as incurred, except for large
development programs, which will be deferred and depleted
over the remaining life of the related assets.

Consolidation Principles
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of Cameco and its subsidiaries. Interests in joint ventures are
accounted for by the proportionate consolidation method.
Under this method, Cameco includes in its accounts its
proportionate share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
Cash
Cash consists of balances with financial institutions and
investments in money market instruments which have a term

to maturity of three months or less.

The carrying values of non-producing properties are
periodically assessed by management and if management
determines that the carrying values cannot be recovered, the
unrecoverable amounts are written off against current earnings.

Inventories
Inventories of broken ore, uranium concentrates and refined
and converted products are valued at the lower of average cost
and net realizable value.

Property Evaluations
Cameco reviews the carrying values of its properties when
changes in circumstances indicate that those carrying values
may not be recoverable. Estimated future net cash flows are
calculated using estimated recoverable reserves, estimated future
commodity prices and the expected future operating and capital
costs. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value
of an asset held for use exceeds the sum of undiscounted future
net cash flows. An impairment loss is measured as the amount
by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its fair value.

Supplies
Consumable supplies and spares are valued at the lower of cost
or replacement value.
Investments
Investments in associated companies over which Cameco has
the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for
by the equity method. Under this method, Cameco includes
in earnings its share of earnings or losses of the associated
company. Portfolio investments are carried at cost or at cost
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regulatory requirements and cost estimates. Expenditures
relating to ongoing environmental programs are charged against
earnings as incurred or capitalized and depreciated depending
on their relationship to future earnings.

Future Income Taxes
Future income taxes are recognized for the future income tax
consequences attributable to differences between the carrying
values of assets and liabilities and their respective income tax
bases. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted income tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which temporary differences are expected
to be recovered or settled. The effect on future income tax assets
and liabilities of a change in rates is included in earnings in the
period which includes the enactment date. Future income tax
assets are recorded in the financial statements if realization is
considered more likely than not.

Employee Future Benefits
Cameco accrues its obligations under employee benefit plans.
The cost of pensions and other retirement benefits earned by
employees is actuarially determined using the projected benefit
method pro-rated on service and management's best estimate
of expected plan investment performance, salary escalation,
retirement ages of employees and expected health-care costs.
For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan
assets, those assets are measured at fair value. Past service costs
arising from plan amendments and net actuarial gains and
losses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected
average remaining service life of the plan participants.

Capitalization of Interest
Interest is capitalized on expenditures related to construction
or development projects actively being prepared for their
intended use. Capitalization is discontinued when the asset
enters commercial operation or development ceases.

Stock-Based Compensation

Depreciation and Depletion

Cameco has a stock option plan that is described in note 20.
Options granted under the plan on or after January 1, 2003
are accounted for using the fair-value method. Under this
method, the compensation cost of options granted is measured
at estimated fair value at the grant date and recognized over the
vesting period.

Conversion services assets, mine buildings, equipment and
mineral properties are depreciated or depleted according to the
unit-of-production method. This method allocates the costs of
these assets to each accounting period. For conversion services,
the amount of depreciation is measured by the portion of the
facilities' total estimated lifetime production that is produced in
that period. For mining, the amount of depreciation or
depletion is measured by the portion of the mines' economically
recoverable proven and probable ore reserves which are
recovered during the period.

For options granted under the stock option plan prior to
January 1, 2003, no compensation expense was recognized
when the stock options were granted. Any consideration paid
on exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.
Cameco accounts for other stock-based compensation
arrangements in accordance with the fair-value method
of accounting.

Other assets are depreciated according to the straight-line
method based on estimated useful lives, which generally range
from three to 10 years.

Revenue Recognition
Research and Development and Exploration Costs

Cameco supplies uranium concentrates and uranium conversion
services to utility customers. Third party fabricators process
Cameco's products into fuel for use in nuclear reactors.

Expenditures for applied research and technology related
to the products and processes of Cameco and expenditures
for geological exploration programs are charged against earnings
as incurred.

Cameco records revenue on the sale of its nuclear products
to utility customers when title to the product transfers and
delivery is effected through book transfer. Since nuclear
products must be stored at licensed storage facilities, Cameco
may hold customer-owned product at its premises prior to
shipment of the product to third parties for further processing.

Environmental Protection and Reclamation Costs
The fair value of the liability for an asset retirement obligation
is recognized in the period incurred. The fair value is added to
the carrying amount of the associated asset and depreciated over
the asset's useful life. The liability is accreted over time through
periodic charges to earnings and it is reduced by actual costs of
decommissioning and reclamation. Cameco's estimates of
reclamation costs could change as a result of changes in

Cameco records revenue on the sale of gold when title passes
and delivery is effected.
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effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows
of hedged items. Gains and losses related to hedging items
are deferred and recognized in the same period as the
corresponding hedged items. If derivative financial instruments
are closed before planned delivery, gains or losses are recorded
as deferred revenue or deferred charges and recognized on the
planned delivery date. In the event a hedged item is sold,
extinguished or matures prior to the termination of the related
hedging instrument, any realized or unrealized gain or loss on
such derivative instrument is recognized in earnings.

Amortization of Financing Costs
Debt discounts and issue expenses associated with long-term
financing are deferred and amortized over the term of the issues
to which they relate.
Foreign Currency Translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at year-end rates
of exchange. Revenue and expense transactions denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at
rates in effect at the time of the transactions. The applicable
exchange gains and losses arising on these transactions are
reflected in earnings.

Per Share Amounts
Per share amounts are calculated using the weighted average
number of paid common shares outstanding.

Foreign currency gains or losses arising on translation of longterm monetary items with a fixed or ascertainable life beyond
the end of the following fiscal year are deferred and amortized
to earnings over the remaining life of the item.
The United States dollar is considered the functional currency
of most of Cameco's uranium and gold operations outside
of Canada. The financial statements of these operations are
translated into Canadian dollars using the current-rate method
whereby all assets and liabilities are translated at the year-end
rate of exchange and all revenue and expense items are
translated at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the
year. Exchange gains and losses arising from this translation,
representing the net unrealized foreign currency translation gain
(loss) on Cameco's net investment in these foreign operations,
are recorded in the cumulative translation account component
of shareholders' equity. Exchange gains or losses arising from
the translation of foreign debt and preferred securities
designated as hedges of a net investment in foreign operations
are also recorded in the cumulative translation account
component of shareholders' equity. These adjustments are not
included in earnings until realized through a reduction in
Cameco's net investment in such operations.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Transactions
Cameco uses derivative financial and commodity instruments
to reduce exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates, interest rates and commodity prices. Cameco formally
documents all relationships between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This
process includes linking all derivatives to specific assets and
liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific firm commitments
or forecasted transactions. Cameco also formally assesses, both
at the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
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MINERAL RESERVES
(Property Total)
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2003)
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The amount---of
-..re......
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.
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identif.ed
-s
as reserves.-

Canmeco reports reserves and resources separately. The amount of reported resources does not include those amnounts identified as reserves.

Uranium Reserves (ioo%

basis)
PROVEN
Grade

Tonnes

Content

PROBABLE
Tonnes
Grade

Content

Tonnes

thousands

R
U308

million lbs
U3 08

thousands

TOTAL RESERVES
Grade
Content

Cameco's
Share

PROPERTY

thousands

%
U308

million Ibs
U308

Cigar Lake

497.0

20.67

226.3

54.0

4.41

5.2

551.0

19.06

231.5

Crow Butte

876.0

0.23

4.5

338.0

0.27

2.0

1,214.0

0.24

6.5

6.5

1,677.0

0.17

6.4

1,000.0

0.18

4.0

2,677.0

0.18

10.4

10.4

1,060.0

0.12

2.8

1,628.0

0.14

5.1

2,688.0

0.13

7.9

8.0

22,700.0

0.06

28.3

63,700.0

0.05

63.2

86,400.0

0.05

91.5

54.9

61.9

0.52

0.7

0.6

204.5

19.14

86.3

801.0

24.72

436.5

304.7

2,666.0

0.13

7.5

2,666.0

0.13

7.5

7.5

418.0

0.22

2.1

1,027.0

0.20

4.5

4.5

440.0

1.29

12.5

12.5

1,013.0

0.06

1.4

2,439.0

0.08

4.3

4.3

519.0

0.11

1.2

519.0

0.11

1.2

1.2

6,789.0

0.09

13.6

9,733.0

0.09

19.4

19.4

78,329.5

0.11

191.6

111,217.9

0.34

834.4

550.3

Gas Hills
Highland
Inkai
Key Lake

61.9

0.52

0.7

596.5

26.63

350.2

609.0

0.18

2.4

Rabbit Lake

440.0

1.29

12.5

Ruby Ranch

1,426.0

0.09

2.9

McArthur River
North Butte/Brown Ranch
Peach

Ruth
Smith Ranch

2,944.0

0.09

5.8

32,887.4

0.89

642.8

million lbs U308

115.8

1-

4

I-

Total

%
U308

Gold Reserves (0oo%basis)
PROVEN
Grade

Tonnes
PROPERTY
Boroo

thousands

gt Au

Content
thousands02 Au

PROBABLE
Tonnes
Grade
thousands

8 t Au

Content

Tonnes

thousandso2 Au

thousands

TOTAL RESERVES
Grade
Content
g,'t Au

Cameco's
Share

thousands
02 Au

10,175

3.52

1,153

10,175

3.52

1,153

617

Kumtor Gold

18,539

3.41

2,032

6,765

3.50

761

25,304

3.43

2,793

931

Total

18,539

3.41

2,032

16,940

3.51

1,914

35,479

3.46

3,946

1,548

.

.

-._

f1

MINERAL RESOURCES
(Property Total)
}os

of December 31,

2003)

Cameco reports reserves and resources separately. The amount of reported resources does not include those amounts identified as reserves.

Uranium Resources (ioo% basis)
lMEASURED
Tonnes
Grade Content
PROPERTY
Cigar Lake

thousands

U308

317.0

16.92

118.2

59.1

1,824.0

0.20

8.0

8.0

-

U308

mnilion
ts

-

-

U308

-

-

-

1,184.0

0.26

6.8

1,184.0

0.26

6.8

6.8

-

347.0

1.69

12.9

347.0

1.69

12.9

7.4

1,183.0

0.09

2.4

3,029.0

0.09

6.1

6.0

1,149.0

i

million lbs U308

1
-

-

-

-

0.09

2.2

1,239.0

0.12

3.1

2,388.0

0.10

5.3

5.4

588.0

0.15

2.0

2.0

-

-

-

3,600.0

0.04

2,9

3,600.0

0.04

2.9

1.7

253,918.0

0.05

268.0

160.8

43.5

10.28

9.9

9.43 112.9

586.8

9.49

122.8

85.7

-

-

2,681.0

0.12

6.8

2,681.0

0.12

6.8

6.8

686.0

0.09

1.4

1.4

.

1,859.0

0.06

2.4

1,859.0

0.06

2.4

2.4

997.0

0.05

1.1

1.1

444.0

0.10

1.0

148.0

0.17

0.5

592.0

0.11

1.5

1.5

1,311.0

0.09

0.06

7.4

7.4

North Butte/
Brown Ranch
.

Rabbit Lake

Ruby Ranch

thousands

-

Highland

Reynolds Ranch

U308

-

3.7

Peach

millionlbs

.

0.09

Northwest Unit

%
U308

INFERRED RESOURCES
Tonnes Grade Content Cameco's
Share
%

-

1,846.0

McArthur River

thousands

MEASURED + INDICATED
Tonnes
Grade Content Camecos
%
Share i

-

Gas Hills
Inkai

INDICATED
Tonnes
Grade Content

-

Crow Butte
Dawn Lake

million abs
Uo3

l%
0308

thousands

|

-

483.0

Ruth

543.3

310.0

0.58

4.0

310.0

0.58

4.0

4.0

2.7

4,597.0

0.08

7.8

5,908.0

0.08

10.5

10.4

0.9

389.0

0.07

0.6

872.0

0.08

1.5

1.4

481.0

0.07

0.8

481.0

0.07

0.8

0.8

-

0.08
-

-

-

-

-

5,575.0

-

-

-

Shirley Basin

89.0

0.15

0.3

1,637.0

0.11

4.1

1,726.0

0.12

4.4

4.4

490.0

0.10

1.1

1.1

Smith Ranch

559.0

0.10

1.3

69.0

0.09

0.1

628.0

0.10

1.4

1.4

2,358.0

0.08

4.3

4.3

,924.5

0.17

22.0

20,267.3

0.38 168.1

26,191.8

0.33

190.1

146.1

266,753.0

0.07

411.5

245.2

Total

t

Gold Resources (ioo% basis)
MEASURED
|
Tonnes
Grade Content
PROPERTY

thousands

getAu

thousands
o Au

INDICATED
Tonnes Grade Content
thousands

et AU

thousands
oz Au

MEASURED + INDICATED
Tonnes
Grade Content Cameco's
Share

INFERRED RESOURCES
Tonnes
Grade Content Cameco's
Share

thousands

thousands

gt

Au

thousandsoo Au

g1tAu

thousandson Au

-

3,387

2.09

228

3,387

2.09

228

122

-

Kumtor Gold

5,394

3.59

622

6,829

4.75 1,043

12,223

4.24

1,665

555

5,773

3.90

723

241

Total

5,394

3.59

622

10,216

3.87

15,610

3.77

1,893

677

5,773

3.90

723

241

Boroo

-

-

1,271

-

-

-

2

RECONCILIATION OF CAMECO'S
SHARE OF URANIUM RESERVES

RECONCILIATION OF CAMECO'S
SHARE OF URANIUM RESOURCES

(in thousands of pounds U320)
December 3,, 203)

Ointhousands of pounds U308)
(as of December 31, 2003)

---------------- ---- ----- ---------,of

-------

-----------------

Cameco reports reserves and resources separately. The amount of reported resources does not include those amounts identified as reserves.

Resources - Measured

Reserves - Proven
PROPERTY
Cigar Lake
Crow Butte
Gas Hills
Highland
Inkai
Key Lake
McArthur River
Peach
Rabbit Lake
Ruby Ranch
Smith Ranch
Total Proven Reserves

Dec 31
2002

2003
Throughputl

113,222

0

5,345
8,318
2,970

(817)
0
(266)

0

0
0

590

2

Addition
(Deletion)

310,331
3,170

(10,516)

17,580
2,896
6,681

(5,845)

471,103

(18,393)

0

(1,957)
127
16,969
(55,353p
(746)
755

0
(949)

110
(40,095)

Dec 31

PROPERTY

2003

113,222
4,528
6,361
2,831
16,969
590
244,462
2,424
12,490
2,896
5,842

2,625

0

-

2,625

1,771
5,244

0
0

227
(1,234)

1,998
4,010

Highland

5,059

0

Inkai
McArthur River
North Butte/Brown
Peach
Ruby Ranch
Ruth

0
8,442
9,659
3,792
1,424
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

37,930
51,7803
(2,207)
(1,732)
1,249

37,930
60,222
7,452
2,060
1,424
1,249

Smith Ranch

13,711

0

(110)

13,601

Total Probable Reserves

51,727

0

85,987

137,714

45,892

550,329

Total Reserves

522,830

(18,393)

84

Dec 31
2003

-

3,665
2,212

3,665
2,212

0
0

Inkai
McArthur River

8,245
1,114

0
0

Peach
Reynolds Ranch

997
2,654

0
0

-

Ruby Ranch
Shirley Basin
Smith Ranch

862
304
1,264

0
0
0

-

21,317

0

(2,480)

18,837

8,500
7,436
2,364

0
0
0

(1,651)
-

6,849
7,436
2,364

2,972
48,866
76,691

0
0
0

176
(47,126)
2,120

3,148
1,740
78,811

North Butte/Brown
Northwest Unit

5,611
2,361

0
0

1,218
-

6,829
2,361

Peach
Rabbit Lake
Reynolds Ranch
Ruby Ranch
Ruth
Shirley Basin
Smith Ranch

1,623
1,998
7,791
581
2,065
4,085
133

0
0

(1,076)
1,960
-

547
3,958

0
0
0
0

Total Indicated Resources

173,077

Total Measured & Indicated

Crow Butte
Dawn Lake
Gas Hills
Highland
Inkai
McArthur River

5,143

Corresponds to millteed. The discrepancy between the 2003 millfeed
and Cameco's share of 2003 pounds U308 produced is due to mill recovery,
mill inventory and the processing of low-grade material.
2

Addition
(Deletion)

(8,245)
5,765
-

-

0
6,879
997
2,654
862
304
1,264

Resources - Indicated

Reserves - ProbabLe
Crow Butte
Gas Hills

2

2003
Throughput'

Gas Hills
Highland

Total Measured Resources

412,615

Cigar Lake

Dec 31
2002

0

-

7,791

-

581
761
4,085
133

0

(45,683)

127,394

194,394

0

(48,163)

146,231

59,105

0
0
0

(1,304)
-

Resources - Inferred

Changes in reserves or resources, as applicable, include reassessment
of geological data, results of information provided by mining and milling,
and subsequent re-classification of reserves or resources, as applicable.

Cigar Lake
Crow Butte
Highland

3 In January 2003 Cameco initiated a formal review of the mining plan and

proposed rmining methods and a review of the reserves classification at
McArthur River as a result of uncertainty associated with the productivity of
the jetboring and boxhole boring mining methods at McArthur River and not
as a result of the water inflow event. The jetboritg and boxhole boring
mining methods may be utilized for parts of the orebody where the
raiseboring method may be inappropriate. The completion of the review
reflecting this uncertainty resulted in the reclassification of 5X.8 million lbs
U3 08 of proven reserves to probable reserves at McArthur River.

Inkai
North Butte/Brown
Northwest Unit
Reynolds Ranch
Shirley Basin
1-ith D---I

.IIIILIf ROILII

Total Inferred Resources

82

7,333
1,977
170,520
1,367
1,093
7,442
1,132
1. -n
'4,zYJ)
254,264

0
0

(9,727)

59,105
8,042
1,977
160,793

0

-

1,367
1,093

0
0

-

1,132

l

-

'4,LY)

0

709

7,442

(9,018)

/. -o

245,246

(introy ounces)

RECONCILIATION OF CAMECO'S
SHARE OF GOLD RESOURCES
(introy ounces)

Ias of December 31, 2003)

(as of December 31, 200@3)

RECONCILIATION OF CAMECO'S

|SHARE OF GOLD RESERVES

Cameco reports reserves and resources separately. The amount of reported resources does not include those amounts identified as reserves.

Resources - Measured

Reserves - Proven
2

Dec 31

2003

Throughput'

Addition
(Deletion)

Dec31

2002

Kumtor Gold

1,127,000

(270,000)

(180,000)

677,000

Kumtor Gold
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iCorresponds to milifeed. The discrepency between the 2003 millfeed

Resources

-

Inferred

and Cameco s share of 2003 pounds U3 08 produced is due to mill recovery,
mill inventory and the processing of low-grade material.
2 Changes in reserves or resources, as applicable, include reassessment

of geological data, results of information provided by mining and milling,
and subsequent re-classification of reserves or resources, as applicable.
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Qualified Persons - Uranium

Qualified Persons - Gold

Reserve and resource estimates for Cameco's uranium properties were
prepared by or under the supervision of the following qualified persons:

Reserve and resource estimates for Cameco s gold properties were prepared
by or under the supervision of the following qualified persons:

Alain Gaston Mainville, geologist and
professional geoscientist, who is manager,
mining resources and methods at Cameco

McArthur River, Rabbit Lake,
Key Lake and Dawn Lake

Raymond jean-Francois Chauvet, geological
engineer and professional geoscientist,
who was director, mining resources and
methods at Cameco

Cigar Lake and Inkai

Steve Lunsford, registered professional

Crow Butte, Gas Hills,
Highland, North Butte/ Brown
Ranch, North West Unit,
Peach, Reynolds Ranch, Ruby
Ranch, Ruth, Shirley Basin
and Smith Ranch

geologist Wyoming, who is senior project
geologist at Power Resources, Inc.

Cameco's reserve and resource estimates are obtained from internally
generated data or audited reports.

Alain Gaston Mainville, geologist and
professional geoscientist, who is manager,
mining resources and methods at Cameco
Rob Chapman, geologist and professional
geoscientist, who is vice-president,
exploration at Cameco Gold Inc.

Kumtor

Boroo

Cameco's reserve and resource estimates are obtained from internally
generated data or audit reports. Carmeco s gold reserves and resources are
located in the Kyrgys, Republic and Motngoiia.

Baseload
The minimum amount of electric power
delivered or required over a given period
of time at a steady rate.
Candu
Canada, Deuterium, Uranium. Canadian
designed and built pressure-tube nuclear
reactor which uses natural uranium as fuel
and heavy water (deuterium oxide) as the
moderator.

Contango
The positive difference between the
spot market gold price and the forward
market gold price. It is normally expressed
as a per-annum interest rate and is the
difference between London Inter Bank
Offer Rates (LIBOR) and the lease rate
charged by institutions that lend gold.
Conversion Factors
Weights and measures arc indicated in the
unit most commonly used in specific areas
of the industry. These are noted with *
and conversion factors are provided below.
Take This: Do This
*cm
. 2.54
- 1.60
*km
*oz
x 31.10
x 1.10
t
x 0.90
*T
*oz/T
x 34.28
*lb U308 . 2599.8
tU
x 2599.8
*% U 3 0 8
. 1.18

To Obtain This
= inch
= mile
=g
=T
=t
= glt
= tU
= lb U308
=%U

Gigawatt (GW): gigawatt-hour(GWh)
A gigawatt equals 1000 MW. One
gigawatt-hour represents one hour of
electricity consumed at a constant rate
of IGW.
Terawatt (TW): terawatt-hour (TDXh)
One rerawatt equals 1000 CW One
terawatr-hour represents one hour of
electricity consumption at a constant
rate of ITW
Enriched Uranium
Uranium in which the content of the
isotope uranium-235 has been increased
above its natural value of 0.7% by weight.
Typical low-enriched uranium for
commercial power reactors is enriched in
uranium-235 to the range of 3% to 5%.

In highly enriched uranium, the uranium235 has been increased to 20% or more.
In Situ Leaching
A process involving pumping a solution
down an injection well where it flows
through the deposit, dissolving uranium.
The uranium-bearing solution is pumped
to surface where the uranium is recovered
from the solution.
Light Water Reactor
A thermal reactor using ordinary water
both as a moderator and as a coolant with
enriched uranium as fuel.
Ounce (oz)
All ounces in this report are troy ounces.

Electricity Measurements
1kW x 1000= 1MW x 1000=
IGWx 1000 lTW

Radiation
Radiation occurs naturally. It is a type of
energy that travels through space in the
form of waves, or particles, which give up
all or part of their energy on contact with
matter. Radiation can take the form of
alpha or beta particles, X-rays or gamma
rays, or neutrons.

Kilowatt (kW): kilowatt-hour (kW)
A kilowatt is a unit of power representing
the rate at which energy is used or
produced. One kilowatt-hour is a unit
of energy, and represents one hour of
electricity consumption at a constant rate
of 1kW.

Radiation Types
Alpha particles do not penetrate matter
deeply. They can be stopped by a sheet
of paper or a few millimetres of air.
The potential hazard from alpha particles
is internal from possible inhalation
or ingestion.

Megawatt (MW): megawatt-hour (MWh')
A megawatt equals 1000 kW. One
megawatt-hour represents one hour of
electricity consumption at a constant rate
of 1MW.

Beta particles penetrate further than alpha
particles but can be stopped by aluminum
foil or a few centimetres of wood.

Dose
Term used to quantify the amount of
energy absorbed from ionizing radiation
per unit mass.
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Gamma rays penetrate most deeply
and substances which emit gamma
radiation can be hazardous inside and
outside the body. Protection from gamma
rays includes shielding by concrete, water
and lead.
Neutrons are particles which also
penetrate matter deeply. They come from
outer space and also occur inside nuclear
reactors. Water and concrete are used
effectively as shielding in nuclear plants.
Radon
Radon is a naturally occurring, radioactive
gas that is produced from the radioactive
decay of radium-226, one of the decay
products of uranium-238. The primary
hazard from radon is its decay products,
which are referred to as radon progeny.
Radon progeny are short-lived radioactive
decay products of radon gas.
Spot Market Price
Price for product sold or purchased in
the spot market rather than under a
long-term contract.
for electricity
The buying and selling of electricity for
immediate delivery.
for U 3 0 8 and UF6 conversion services
The buying and selling of uranium
products for delivery within one year.
t

Tonne (metric ton)
T
Ton (short ton)
U0 2

Uranium dioxide. Converted from
U03 at Cameco's Port Hope plant,
then compressed to pellets and sintered
by fuel fabricators to make fuel for
Candu reactors.
U0 3
Uranium trioxide. An intermediate
product produced at Cameco's Blind
River refinery and used as feed to produce
U02 and U1 6 at Can-meco's Port Hope
conversion plants.

LJU0

8

Triuranium octoxide. At Cameco
operations, it is in the form of
concentrate, often called yellowcake.

UF 6

Uranium hexafluoride. Converted from

U0 3 at Cameco's Port Hope plant.
Following enrichment, UF6 is converted
to enriched U0 2 suitable for fabrication
into fuel for light-water reactors.
Western World Uranium Market
Western world includes Argentina,
Australia, Belgium, Brazil, Canada,
Czech Republic, Finland, France, Gabon,
Germany, India, Indonesia, Japan,
Mexico, Namibia, Netherlands, Niger,
Pakistan, Philippines, Portugal, Romania,
Slovenia, South Africa, South Korea,
Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan,
Thailand, Turkey, United Kingdom
and the United States.

Reserves andResources
Mineral Resource
A mineral resource is a concentration
or occurrence of natural, solid, inorganic
or fossilized organic material in or on the
Earth's crust in such form and quantity
and of such a grade or quality that it has
reasonable prospects for economic
extraction. The location, quantity, grade,
geological characteristics and continuity
of a mineral resource are known,
estimated or interpreted from specific
geological evidence and knowledge.
Inferred Mineral Resource
An inferred mineral resource is that part
of a mineral resource for which quantity
and grade or quality can be estimated
on the basis of geological evidence and
limited sampling and reasonably assumed,
but not verified, geological and grade
continuity. The estimate is based on
limited information and sampling
gathered through appropriate techniques
from locations such as outcrops, trenches,
pits, workings and drill holes.
Indicated Mineral Resource
An indicated mineral resource is that part
of a mineral resource for which quantity,
grade or quality, density, shape and
physical characteristics, can be estimated
with a level of confidence sufficient to
allow the appropriate application of
technical and economic parameters, to
support mine planning and evaluation
of the economic viability of the deposit.

The estimate is based on detailed and
reliable exploration and testing
information gathered through appropriate
techniques from locations such as
outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill
holes that are spaced closely enough for
geological and grade continuity to be
reasonably assumed.
Measured Mineral Resource
A measured mineral resource is that part
of a mineral resource for which quantity,
grade or quality, density, shape and
physical characteristics are so well
established that they can be estimated
with confidence sufficient to allow the
appropriate application of technical
and economic parameters, to support
production planning and evaluation
of the economic viability of the deposit.
The estimate is based on detailed and
reliable exploration, sampling and testing
information gathered through appropriate
techniques from locations such as
outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and
drill holes that are spaced closely enough
to confirm both geological and grade
continuity.

Mineral Reserve
A mineral reserve is the economically
mineable part of a measured or indicated
mineral resource demonstrated by at least
a preliminary feasibility study. This study
must include adequate information on
mining, processing, metallurgical,
economic and other relevant factors that
demonstrate, at the time of reporting,
that economic extraction can be justified.
A mineral reserve includes diluting
materials and allowances for losses that
may occur when the material is mined.
Probable Mineral Reserve
A probable mineral reserve is the
economically mineable part of an
indicated, and in some circumstances a
measured mineral resource demonstrated
by at least a preliminary feasibility study.
This study must include adequate
information on mining, processing,
metallurgical, economic, and other
relevant factors that demonstrate, at
the time of reporting, that economic
extraction can be justified.
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Proven Mineral Reserve
A proven mineral reserve is the
economically mineable part of a measured
mineral resource demonstrated by at least
a preliminary feasibility study. This study
must include adequate information on
mining, processing, metallurgical,
economic, and other relevant factors that
demonstrate, at the time of reporting, that
economic extraction is justified.

NOTES
In this mineral reserves and resources
statement Cameco uses a definition of classes
of mineralization taking into account a

maximum number of parameters of various
natures.
These parameters are:
* the precision of the estinate;
* the economic feasibility of the project,
which relates not only to grades but to
the volume of the reserves, the location,

the chemistry of the expected ore, the
price of the product, etc.:
* the legal status of the project and its
possible evolution in the very near future.
Cameco's mineral reserves include allowances
for dilution and mining or in situ leaching
recovery, except for the McArthur River
reserves where the high-grade ore requires
deliberate dilution to comply with licence
conditions. No allowances have been applied
to mineral resources. Stated mineral reserves
and resources have been calculated based
on estimated quantities of mineralized
material recoverable by established mining
methods. This includes only deposits with
mineral values in excess of cut-off grades
used in normal mining operations. Cameco's
mineral reserves include material in place
and on stockpiles. Only mineral reserves have
demonstrated economic viability.
There are numerous uncertainties inherent
in estimating mineral reserves and resources.
The accuracy of any reserve and resource
estimation is the function of the quality
of available data and of engineering and
geological interpretation and judgment.
Results from drilling, testing and production,
as well as material changes in uranium
or gold prices, subsequent to the date
of the estimate. may justify revision of
such estimates.
Cameco's classification of mineral reserves
and resources and the subcategories of
each, conforms to the definitions adopted
by CIM Council on August 20, 2000, which

are incorporated by reference into the

National Instrument 3i3loi dated November
17, 2o0o, issued by the Canadian Securities

Administrators. Cameco reports reserves and
resources separately, the amount of reported
resources does not include those amounts
identified as reserves. Mineral resources
which are not mineral reserves do not have
demonstrated economic viability.

Directors
John S. Auston

Victor J.
Zaleschuk

1, 2,4,5,6

Calgary, Alberta
Chair
President and CEO
of Nexen, a large

Calgary-based oil and gas
company, from 1997

to 2001.

2.3,4

West Vancouver,
British Columbia
President and CEO of
Ashton Mining of
Canada from 1996 to
2000 and President and
CEO of Granges,
another mining firm,
from 1993 to 1995.

Harry D. Cook 6
La Ronge,
Saskatchewan

James R. Curtiss 5 6

Chief of the Lac La
Ronge Indian Band
in Saskatchewan since
1987 and President
of the Kirsaki
Management Limited

Partner in the
Washington, D.C.
law firm of Winston

Parmership.

Brookeville,
Maryland, USA

Joe F. Colvin 2, 3, 5
Kiawah Island,
South Carolina, USA
President and CEO
of the Nuclear Energy
Institute in Washington,
D.C. since 1996.

George S.
DeInbroski 2,3,4
Toronto, Ontario
Vice-Chairman

& Strawn and a
Commissioner on the
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory
Commission from 1988
to 1993.

and a director of RBC
Dominion Securities,
an investment dealer,
from 1981 to 1998.

Gerald W Grande. 2

1
Nancy E. Hopkinls 2

5
Orvind Hushovd 1"

Saskatoon,
Saskatchewan

Saskatoon,

Oakville, Ontario

Saskatchewan

President and CEO
of Cameco.

Partner in the
Saskatchewan law firm
of McDougall Gauley

Chairman and CEO
of Gabriel Resources,
Chairman and CEO
of Falconbridge Limited
from 1996-2002.

since 1984.

Dr. J.W George

Neil McMillan 1,2,3

Ivany 1, 4. 5

Saskatoon,
Saskatchewan

Kelowna,
British Columbia
President and
Vice-Chancellor

of the University
of Saskatchewan from
1989 to 1999.

6

President of Claude
Resources, a mining firm
based in Saskatchewan,
since 1996.

Robert W.
Peterson 1. 5, 6

Regina, Saskatchewan
President and COO
of Denro Holdings,
a Saskatchewan-based
property development
and financial
management company,
since 1994.

Committees: IAudit 2 Strategic Planning 3 StrategicPlanningReserve Subcommittee
4Nominating, CorporateGovernance and Risk 5Human Resources and Compensation 6Safety, Health and Environment
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6

Officers

Cameco welcomes a new director

k'

f

In January 2004, Cameco announced the appointment of Oyvind

Hushovd to the board of directors. Oyvind has an impressive history

as a senior executive in the Canadian mining industry combined
.T; Xwith
experience that spans the globe.
He currently serves as chairman and CEO of Gabriel Resources
Ltd., a mineral exploration company based in Canada. Previously he
spent 28 years with Falconbridge Limited, the third-largest producer
of refined nickel in the world, including the last five years as CEO.

Oyvind has held numerous board positions and currently serves on the boards of Gabriel
Resources, Inmet Mining and Lion Ore Mining International. He holds a masters degree
in economics and business administration from the Norwegian School of Business and a
Master of Laws from the University of Oslo.
Oyvind fills the board vacancy created by the retirement of former chair Bernard Michel.
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Five-Year Financial. Summarvy
(Dollars are expressed in $ Canadian millions except prices and per share amounts)

Spot Market Prices (annual average)
Uranium ($US/lb UPO
8)
Conversion ($US/kcU)
Electricity ($megawatt hour)
Gold ($US/oz)

363.64

$

_

EBY
.......... . . ......
Cash provided by operations
Capital expenditures
Financial Position
Total assets
Tot al deebt
Sh~areholfde-rs' equity

-

TSX Market -[.
.. .. .hig'h
- low
- close
- annual volume (millions)
Shar~e-s outstanding (mlio s
Weighted average
-.
Ye-a-r
end
Production (Cameco's Sh-are)
Uranium production (million lbs U,0 8)
Uran~i-u~m ,c-o,-nversion (UF6 and U0 2 ) (million kgU)
Electricity generation (treawatt hours)
Gold production (thousand ox)

$

3.4:1
11 %
7%
155%
$

_

$

748.3
84.4
43.5
43.5

$

0.78
0.78
0.50

$

700.8
94.9
56.1

$

10.~23

$

3.29
278.88

$
-

741.6
79.3
42.3
71.2

~

(87.2)

213.6
224.3

116.2
838.
2,968.7 $
3355-_"4.01,836.2

-.-......

4.3:1
3%
15%
36%
1.01
1.01
0.50

688.9

(45.7)
44.5

.2.34.6

$

8.21
2.56

1999

279.08

56.1

2,967.8 $
2 2 4. 6 - ,1,860.6

$

8.77
4.81

2000

270.94

3.8:1
3%
8%
151%

3.65
3.65

77.00
29.00
74.75
53.1

9.86
5.09
55.92
309.80

214.3
250.8

3,359.4
2 4 3. 0
2,219.9

Financial Ratios
Current ratio (current assets/current liabilities)
Reurn on common shareholders' equity
Net debt to capitalization
Cash from operations/total net debt

1

$

245.9
1969.
_

Employees (including subsidiaries)

826.9
88.2
204.7
32_

..

Common Share Data ($ per share)
Net earnings before special items
Basic net earnings (loss)
Divideds_0.60

$

$ 11.54
5.07

Operations
Revenue
Earn~ings (loss)' from operations
Net earnings'I before special items
Ne
erins-(os)204.7

2001

2002

2003

252.0
249.4
0.

2,800.5 $ 2,964.1
_22--9-4,
4..33 . ....... ---3"53599-,-.2-6
1,780.5
1,922.3
3.6:1
(3%)
13%
86%

$

0.81
(1.57)
0.50

3.3:1
4%
14%
80%
$

0.72
1.24
0 50

48.65
25.15
37.48
48.0

43.00
23 75
39.25
45.7

28.25
14.50
26.25
35.3

40.50
20.75
21.95
30.5

56.1
56.8

55.8
56.0

55.4
55.7

55.5
55.5

57.4
57.2

18.5
13.3

18.8
11.0
2.3'
250.9

16.6
9.3

225.9

15.9
12.4
3.1
176.2

223.3

203.5

3,716

3,253

2,948

2,924

2,843

7.7

_
_

Arrributable to common shares.

2 Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortizarion, writedowns, gains on aaset sales and other itsconte.
3For tiseperiod May 12, 2001 soDecember 31. 2001.~
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_

16.8
11.2

Nuclear power plants fuelled by our uranium
produce no emissions that contribute to pollution,
global warming or acid rain.

Cameco
NUCLEAR. The Clean Air Energy.

Application
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REPORTING CURRENCY AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
All amounts in this Annual Information Form are expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated.
References to $(US) are to United States ("US") dollars.
Financial information is presented in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
Differences between generally accepted accounting principles in Canada and the United States, as applicable to
Cameco Corporation, are explained in the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2003 and attached as Appendix "A".

NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this Annual Information Form and the information incorporated herein are forward-looking
statements. Discussions containing forward-looking statements may be found in the material set forth in the
"General Development of Business", "The Nuclear Business", "The Gold Business", "Common Risk FactorsUranium and Gold" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis" sections. In addition, when used in this Annual
Information Form, the words "believes", "intends", "anticipates", "expects", "estimates" and words of similar
import may indicate forward-looking statements. Statements which are not historical facts are forward-looking
statements that involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause such differences, without
limiting the generality of the following, include: volatility and sensitivity to market prices for uranium, conversion
services, electricity in Ontario and gold; the impact of the change in volume of uranium and conversion services
sold, electricity generated and gold produced; competition; the impact of change in foreign currency exchange rates
and interest rates; imprecision in reserve estimates; environmental and safety risks including increased regulatory
burdens and long term hazardous waste disposal; unexpected geological or hydrological conditions; adverse mining
conditions; political risks arising from operating in certain developing countries; a possible deterioration in political
support for nuclear energy; changes in government regulations and policies, including trade laws and policies;
demand for nuclear power; replacement of production and failure to obtain necessary permits and approvals from
government authorities; legislative and regulatory initiatives regarding deregulation, regulation, re-regulation or
restructuring of the electric utility industry in Ontario; Ontario electricity rate regulations; weather and other natural
phenomena; ability to maintain and improve positive labour relations; operating performance of the facilities;
success of planned development projects; and other development and operating risks. Although Cameco Corporation
believes the assumptions inherent in forward-looking statements are reasonable, undue reliance should not be placed
on these statements, which only apply as of the date of this Annual Information Form. Cameco Corporation
disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future developments or otherwise, except as otherwise required by applicable law.

INCORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Incorporation
Cameco Corporation ("Cameco" or the "Company") was incorporated under the CanadaBusiness CorporationsAct
("CBCA") on June 19, 1987 to combine the uranium mining and milling operations of Saskatchewan Mining
Development Corporation ("SMDC") with the uranium mining, refining and conversion operations of Eldorado
Nuclear Limited ("ENL"), since renamed Canada Eldor Inc. ("CEI") (the "Reorganization"). The Reorganization
of SMDC and ENL was accomplished by the Eldorado Nuclear Limited Reorganization and Divestiture Act
(Canada) (the "ENL Reorganization Act") and The Saskatchewan Mining Development CorporationReorganization
Act (Saskatchewan). Pursuant to this legislation, in October 1988 CEI and SMDC transferred substantially all of
their assets to Cameco in exchange for Cameco assuming substantially all of their current and certain other liabilities
and issuing common shares, one Class B Share and promissory notes of the Company.
On June 18, 2001, legislation to amend the ENL Reorganization Act was passed by the federal government. The
legislative amendment allowed Cameco to proceed with an amendment to Cameco's articles to increase the
individual non-resident share ownership from 5% to 15% and to increase the limit on aggregate non-resident
ownership voting rights from 20% to 25%. This amendment was approved by special resolution of Cameco's
shareholders at the 2002 annual shareholders meeting.
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At its formation, Cameco's share capital was owned 61.5% and 38.5%, respectively, by the province of
Saskatchewan and the Government of Canada. The Company became a publicly traded company in Canada after the
initial public offering of its common shares in 1991. The province of Saskatchewan and the Government of Canada
have sold all of their common shares in Cameco. The province of Saskatchewan retains one Class B share in
Cameco.
The province of Saskatchewan, as the holder of the Class B share (the "Class B Share"), is entitled to receive notice
of and to attend all meetings of shareholders including meetings of any class or series thereof but does not have the
right to vote at any such meeting other than a meeting of the holder of the Class B Share as a class. The holder of
the Class B Share does not have the right to vote separately as a class except on any proposal to (i) amend Part I of
Schedule B of Cameco's articles, (ii) amalgamate that would effect an amendment to Part I of Schedule B of
Cameco's articles, or (iii) amend the articles so as to alter the rights attached to the Class B Share. Part I of
Schedule B of Cameco's articles currently provides that (A) the registered office and head office operations of
Cameco must be located in the province of Saskatchewan, (B) all of the executive officers (vice-chairman of the
board, chief executive officer, chief operating officer, chief financial officer and president) of the Company, except
for the chairman of the board, and substantially all of the senior officers (vice presidents) of the Company must be
ordinarily resident in the province of Saskatchewan, and (C) all annual meetings of shareholders of the Company
must be held at a place in the province of Saskatchewan.
On May 8, 2003, at the 2003 annual and special shareholders meeting, shareholders approved two amendments to
Cameco's articles. The first was to permit the board to appoint one or more directors between meetings of
shareholders as permitted by the CBCA, subject to certain limitations, the second was to remove the requirement
that the chairman of the board must be ordinarily resident in the province of Saskatchewan.
Cameco's head office and principal place of business is located at 2121 - I 1th Street West, Saskatoon,
Saskatchewan, Canada, S7M IJ3, telephone (306) 956-6200.
Subsidiaries
Cameco owns a one-half interest in UEM Inc. ("UEM"), a Canadian company.
The Company owns a one-third interest in Kumtor Gold Company ("KGC"), a Kyrgyz company, through its wholly
owned Canadian subsidiary Cameco Gold Inc.
Cameco owns a 31.6% limited partnership interest in Bruce Power Limited Partnership ("Bruce Power"), an Ontario
limited partnership, through its wholly owned Canadian subsidiaries Cameco Bruce Holdings Inc. and Cameco
Bruce Holdings II Inc.
No other subsidiaries are individually or collectively material.

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS
Cameco is the world's largest uranium producer. The Company's competitive position is based upon its large, highgrade reserves and low-cost operations, significant market position and access to other supplies of uranium.
Cameco is also one of the four commercial converters of uranium concentrates ("U 3 0 8 ") to UF6 (uranium
hexafluoride) in the western world and the principal supplier of services to convert uranium concentrates to UO2
(uranium dioxide). Cameco, through subsidiaries, has a 31.6% limited partnership interest in Bruce Power, which
operates North America's largest nuclear electricity generating facility. Bruce Power has six nuclear reactors at the
facility in service. While Cameco continues its principal focus on the nuclear business, it is also in the gold
business. A Cameco subsidiary has a one-third interest in and operates the large Kumtor gold mine in the Kyrgyz
Republic in Central Asia. A Cameco majority-owned subsidiary is developing the Boroo gold mine in Mongolia.
The Company continues to explore for uranium and gold in a number of countries.
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Three-Year Highlights
Major developments in Cameco's business in each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2001 to December 31,
2003 were as follows:

2001
Highlights from 2001 included:
*

In April, Bruce Power decided to proceed with the restart of two Bruce "A" nuclear reactors whose
operation was previously suspended by Ontario Hydro (predecessor to Ontario Power Generation
("OPG")), subject to regulatory approval.

*

In May, Bruce Power became the operator of the Bruce "A" and Bruce "B" nuclear power plants, having
received operating licenses from the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission ("CNSC") and finalized and
closed its long-term lease with OPG of these nuclear power plants and related facilities. At that time a
Cameco subsidiary acquired a 15% interest in Bruce Power and Cameco became the exclusive supplier of
non-enriched nuclear fuel to the Bruce nuclear plants.

*

In June, the joint venture owners approved the Cigar Lake feasibility study.

*

In November, an amendment to the Russian highly enriched uranium commercial agreement ("HEU
Commercial Agreement") was signed. By year-end, a Cameco subsidiary had exercised options to
purchase 63 million pounds U308 under the amended HEU Commercial Agreement.

*

In December, the government of Saskatchewan announced a new uranium royalty regime, which took
effect January 1, 2002.

2002
Highlights from 2002 included:
*

In February, the province of Saskatchewan sold its remaining common shares (10%) of Cameco.

*

In March, a Cameco subsidiary acquired a 52% interest in AGR Limited ("AGR"), which interest increased
to 56% in December. AGR, through subsidiaries, has a 95% interest in the Boroo gold mine in Mongolia.

*

In June, a Cameco subsidiary purchased the Smith Ranch uranium in situ leach mine located in Wyoming,
nearby the subsidiary's Highland mine, making Cameco, through subsidiaries, the sole primary producer of
uranium in the United States.

*

In July, Cameco signed a memorandum of agreement as an initial step toward entering into a partnership to
construct a 31.1 billion (US) enrichment facility in the United States, however, in March 2003 Cameco
announced that it would not enter the partnership.

*

In July, a pit wall failure occurred at the Kumtor mine, reducing 2002 gold production from a forecast
700,000 ounces to 528,550 ounces (Cameco's share is one-third).

*

In December, Cameco announced an increase in its annual common share dividend from $0.50 to $0.60 per
share. The dividend increase took effect for shareholders of record at the end of the first quarter 2003.

*

In December, Cameco signed an agreement, along with others, to collectively purchase 79.82% of Bruce
Power from British Energy plc ("BE").

2003
Highlights from 2003 included:
*

In February 2003, the purchase of 79.8% of Bruce Power from BE by Cameco, along with others, closed
and Cameco's limited partnership interest in Bruce Power, held through subsidiaries, increased from 15%
to 31.6%.

*

In February 2003, through its subsidiary Cameco Gold Inc. ("CGI"), Cameco reached an agreement in
principle with the Kyrgyzaltyn JSC to restructure the ownership of the Kumtor gold mine located in the
Kyrgyz Republic. Discussions with the Kyrgyz government were centred on their equity participation in
the consolidation of Cameco's gold assets into a new entity that would be publicly listed.
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*

Production at Cameco's McArthur River mine was temporarily suspended on April 6, 2003, as increased
water inflow from an area of collapsed rock in a new development area began to flood portions of the mine.
Remedial work to return the mine to a safe operating condition was carried out during the second quarter of
2003 and was sufficiently advanced in early July 2003 for mine production to resume. The McArthur
River mine produced 15.2 million pounds U308 in 2003 (Cameco's share was 10.6 million pounds). In
total, Cameco's production from all operations reached 18.5 million pounds U308 in 2003 (excluding
nominal test mining uranium production from Inkai) compared to its original target of 20.9 million pounds
U308. While mining at the McArthur River mine was suspended, the Company met all sales commitments
with existing inventory and its other supply sources.

*

In 2003, the federal government enacted amendments to the Income Tax Act (Canada) ("ITA") that reduced
the corporate tax rate on income from resource activities from the present level of 28% to 21%, over a fiveyear period commencing in 2003. Under Canadian accounting rules, the cumulative effect of a change in
income tax legislation on future income tax assets and liabilities is included in a company's financial
statements in the period of substantial enactment. Accordingly, Cameco reduced its balance sheet
provision for future income taxes and recognized a one-time, non-cash income tax adjustment of $86.2
million in the second quarter.

*

In October 2003, the remediation work on the Kumtor pit wall, which collapsed in July 2002, was
completed. For the second half of 2003, the average mill feed grade rose to about 5.6 g/t. Production at
Kumtor during 2003 was 677,552 ounces at an average feed grade of 4.5 g/t (Cameco's share was 225,851
ounces).

*

In September 2003, Cameco completed an offering of 5% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due
October 1, 2013 for aggregate gross proceeds of $230 million. The Debentures trade on the Toronto Stock
Exchange under the symbol "CCO.DB" and can be converted at the option of the holders into Cameco
common shares at any time on or prior to maturity based on a conversion price of $65.00 per share (subject
to adjustment in certain circumstances).

*

In connection with Bruce Power's plans to restart two of the four laid-up units of the Bruce "A" station,
Unit 4 was connected to the Ontario electricity grid in October 2003. Unit 4 was declared in commercial
production as of November 1, 2003.

2004 Expected Material Developments in the Business
The following are the significant trends, events and commitments known to Cameco that could have a material
impact in 2004 on Cameco's business, financial condition or results of operations:
*

In January 2004, Cameco announced that Joint Stock Company Kyrgyzaltyn ("Kyrgyzaltyn JSC"), agreed
to transfer all of KGC, the owner of the Kumtor gold mine in the Kyrgyz Republic, to a new jointly owned
Canadian company called Centerra Gold Inc. ("Centerra"). In conjunction with its acquisition of KGC and
Cameco's other gold assets, Centerra intends to undertake an initial public offering in Canada and listing of
its shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Cameco expects to hold a majority interest in Centerra
immediately following the initial public offering. Closing of the acquisition is targeted for the second
quarter of 2004 and is subject to satisfaction of a number of conditions.

*

Unit 3, the second of the two units of the Bruce "A" station to be restarted, was reconnected to the power
grid in January 2004. With the restart of the two Bruce "A" nuclear power units, Bruce Power's net
generating capacity increased from 3,160 megawatts to 4,660 megawatts.

*

In March 2004, Cameco announced that one of its wholly owned US subsidiaries signed an agreement to
purchase a 25.2% interest in assets comprising the South Texas Project ("STP") from a wholly owned
subsidiary of American Electric Power ("AEP") for $333 million (US). Included in the purchase price is
$54 million (US) for fuel and non-fuel inventory. STP consists of two 1,250 megawatts nuclear units
located in Texas. The net generating capacity from the 25.2% interest in STP is 630 megawatts. Each
owner takes in kind and markets its pro-rata share of electricity generated by STP. The balance of STP is
held by Texas Genco (30.8%), the City Public Service Board of San Antonio (28%) and the City of Austin
(16%). The interest being purchased by Cameco is subject to a right of first refusal in favour of these
owners. The agreement is subject to regulatory approval and other closing conditions, and the final
purchase price is subject to closing adjustments. The transaction is expected to close in the second half of
2004.
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THE NUCLEAR BUSINESS
Overview
The only significant commercial use for uranium is to fuel nuclear power plants for the generation of electricity. In
recent years, nuclear plants generated approximately 16% of the world's electricity. According to the World
Nuclear Association, nuclear plant electric generating capacity is expected to grow modestly between now and the
year 2013, primarily as a result of new reactor construction outside the US and improved reactor operation. The rate
of growth is expected to be somewhat below that of the total market for electricity.
The major stages in the production of nuclear fuel are uranium exploration, mining and milling, refining and
conversion, enrichment and fuel fabrication. Once a uranium deposit is discovered and reserves delineated, uranium
ore is mined and upgraded at a mill to produce uranium concentrates. Mining companies that do not operate
conversion service facilities usually sell uranium concentrates to electrical generating companies ("utilities") around
the world on the basis of the U3 08 contained in the uranium concentrates. Utilities then contract with converters,
enrichers and fuel fabricators to produce the required reactor fuel.
Cameco's involvement in the nuclear business consists principally of (a) exploring for, developing, mining and
milling uranium ore to produce uranium concentrates; (b) supplying uranium refining and conversion services to
produce U0 2 and UF6 ; (c) selling produced and acquired uranium to utilities; and (d) its subsidiaries collectively
being a 31.6% limited partner in Bruce Power, which operates North America's largest nuclear electricity generating
facility.

Uranium Concentrates Business
Market Background
Demand
The demand for U308 is directly linked to the level of electricity generated by nuclear power plants. Western world
annual uranium fuel consumption has increased from approximately 56 million pounds U308 in 1980 to about 155
million pounds in 2003. Cameco estimates that annual uranium fuel consumption in the western world will reach
172 million pounds in 2013, reflecting an annual growth rate of 1.0% per year over the period. Demand could be
increased slightly by the current trend toward improving plant operating performance or reduced by the premature
closing of some nuclear power plants. Demand in the former Soviet Union, Eastern Europe and China was about 25
million pounds in 2003 and is expected to increase to about 33 million pounds in 2013.
Supply

The international uranium supply industry is highly competitive. Uranium supply sources include primary mine
production and secondary sources such as excess inventories, uranium made available from the decommissioning of
nuclear weapons, re-enriched depleted uranium tails, and used reactor fuel that has been reprocessed. Russia
supplies most of the requirements of the former Soviet Union and Eastern Europe from inventories, reprocessing of
used reactor fuel, and primary mine production.
PrimaryProduction
The uranium production industry is international in scope with a small number of companies operating in relatively
few countries. In 2002 (the latest year for which figures are available), approximately 80% of the estimated world
production of 94 million pounds U308 was provided by eight producers: Cameco, Cogema, Energy Resources of
Australia Ltd., Rossing Uranium Limited and WMC Resources Ltd. in the western world, and Kazatomprom in
Kazakhstan, NAVOI Mining Metallurgical Kombinat in Uzbekistan and Priargunsky Industrial Mining and
Chemical Enterprise in Russia. Approximately 92% of estimated world production was sourced from nine countries
(in order of production, from greatest to least): Canada, Australia, Niger, Russia, Kazakhstan, Namibia, Uzbekistan,
the US and South Africa.

Note: Western world includes Argentina, Australia, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Czech Republic, Finland, France, Germany, India, Japan, Mexico,
Namibia, Netherlands, Niger, Pakistan, Portugal, Romania, Slovenia, South Africa, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan, United
Kingdom and United States.
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The Canadian uranium industry has, in recent years, been the leading supplier with production of approximately 30
million pounds U308 in 2002, or about 32% of world production. Production from Cameco operated mines in
Canada and the US in 2003 was approximately 23 million pounds. Cameco's share of this production was
approximately 18.5 million pounds.
Subject to the constraints described below, all primary production is available to meet the demand of the nuclear
power industry in the western world.
Secondary Sources
Each year since 1985, western world uranium production has been less than western world utility uranium
consumption. The resulting shortfall has been covered by a number of secondary sources. Excess inventories held
by utilities, producers, other fuel cycle participants and governments (including Russian government inventories)
have been and continue to be a significant source of supply. Utilities in Europe also use reprocessed uranium and
plutonium derived from used reactor fuel as a source of supply. In addition, in recent years, another source of
supply has been the use of excess Russian enrichment capacity to re-enrich depleted uranium tails held by European
enrichers. Cameco estimates these two recycling sources will meet about 6% of western world demand to 2013.
Finally, uranium derived from the dismantling of Russian nuclear weapons has become a significant source of
supply and could meet about 13% of western world demand to 2013. A limited amount of uranium from the US
weapons program has been introduced into the market but this is not expected to become a significant supply source.
Uraniumfrom Nuclear Disarmament
In February 1993, the United States and Russia signed an agreement (the "Russian HEU Agreement") to manage the
sale of highly enriched uranium ("HEU"). Under this agreement, over a term of 20 years, 500 tonnes of HEU,
derived from dismantling nuclear weapons, are to be diluted in Russia and delivered to the United States as low
enriched uranium ("Disarmament LEU"), suitable for use in nuclear power plants. Disarmament LEU scheduled for
delivery during the 20-year period represents approximately 400 million pounds of natural uranium as U308
("Disarmament Uranium").
The USEC Privatization Act, which became law in 1996, regulates the introduction of Disarmament Uranium into
the US market. Under the USEC Privatization Act, Disarmament Uranium delivered after 1996 may be sold into the
US market beginning in 1998 subject to an annual quota. The quota for 2003 was 12 million pounds U308, and will
increase by 2 million pounds per year to 2005, and thereafter by I million pounds per- year to a maximum of 20
million pounds per year beyond 2008. This material may also be used in the US for matched sales with newly
mined US origin U3 08 under the Russian suspension agreement.
Disarmament Uranium delivered in 1995 and 1996, totaling 14 million pounds U308 equivalent, was purchased by
Department of Energy ("DOE"). Under the USEC Privatization Act, 5 million pounds U30 8 equivalent was
subsequently repurchased by Russia for matched sales into the US market. The remaining 9 million pounds U3 08
equivalent of this material was to be sold by DOE prior to the end of 2003 in quantities not exceeding 3 million
pounds per year. As of the end of 2003, DOE had not sold any of this material.
In 1999, DOE purchased 28 million pounds U308 equivalent contained in the Disarmament LEU delivered by
Russia in 1997 and 1998. DOE purchased this material pursuant to the bilateral agreement related to the HEU
Commercial Agreement. This material, along with an additional 30 million pounds of DOE inventory, is included in
a US stockpile to be withheld from the market until March 2009.
In 2003 and each year thereafter, Russia plans to deliver LEU from 30 tonnes of HEU, about 24 million pounds
U308 equivalent, until the Disarmament LEU derived from the entire 500 tonnes included under the Russian HEU
Agreement has been delivered to the United States. To the end of 2003, about 159 million pounds U3 08 equivalent
had been delivered.
HEU CommercialAgreement
On March 24 1999, Cameco Europe S.A., a wholly owned subsidiary of Cameco, along with Compagnie Generale
des Matieres Nucleaires, RWE Nukem Inc. of the United States and its affiliate RWE Nuklear GmbH of Germany
(collectively the "Companies"), signed an agreement, subsequently amended, the ("HEU Commercial Agreement")
with AO Techsnabexport ("Tenex"), the commercial arm of the Russian Ministry for Atomic Energy. Under the
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HEU Commercial Agreement, the Companies were granted options to purchase a majority of the Disarmament
Uranium.
On November 16, 2001, Tenex and the Companies signed an amendment to the HEU Commercial Agreement.
Under the terms of the amendment, the Companies committed to exercise their options to purchase a quantity of
uranium (about 124 million pounds U308 ) equal to their share of the annual quota under the USEC Privatization Act
for the period 2002 to 2013. Cameco Europe S.A.'s share is 53 million pounds. Tenex retained about 82 million
pounds to sell under its share of the quota. The Companies have exclusive options to purchase the balance of the
Disarmament Uranium. Subsequently in 2001, Cameco Europe S.A. exercised options for an additional 10 million
pounds. In late 2002, Cameco Europe Ltd., a Swiss company, assumed the obligations and rights of Cameco Europe
S.A., a Luxembourg company, under HEU Commercial Agreement, as amended. In 2003, Cameco Europe Ltd.
exercised options for an additional eight million pounds.
A series of related agreements between the US and Russian governments (collectively, the "Bilateral Agreement"),
which are integral to the HEU Commercial Agreement, require Tenex to return to Russia the Disarmament Uranium
not purchased by the parties to the HEU Commercial Agreement or sold by Tenex, and allows Russia to use about 7
million pounds U3 08 equivalent annually for blending down HEU to Disarmament LEU. Pursuant to Bilateral
Agreement, the balance of the returned uranium is to be placed in a monitored stockpile. In the event the monitored
stockpile exceeds 58 million pounds U308 equivalent, Russia is permitted to sell the excess into supply contracts in
place on March 24, 1999, mainly with utilities in Eastern Europe.
Tenex has been selling its share of the US Quota through a contract with Globe Nuclear Services and Supply GNSS,
Limited ("GNSS"). In November, 2003 Tenex terminated its contract with GNSS effective January 2004, stating
that "the terms of the contract with GNSS are contrary to the interests of the Russian Federation." Tenex has
indicated an intention to meet all of the GNSS delivery commitments, reportedly amounting to about 31 million
pounds U3 08 equivalent over the next 5 years. It is expected that most of the remainder of Disarmament Uranium
will be returned to Russia to facilitate blending HEU under the HEU Commercial Agreement.
On February 12, 2004, Tenex and the Companies agreed in principle to further amend the HEU Commercial
Agreement. This agreement in principle provides, amongst other things, that the HEU Commercial Agreement be
amended to allow Tenex to return additional Disarmament Uranium to Russia to secure the supply of natural
uranium required to facilitate the blend down of HEU to Disarmament LEU, and to give Tenex a priority right to
remove Disarmament Uranium from the monitored stockpile for such blending purposes. These amendments will
reduce the remaining quantity of Disarmament Uranium that the Companies could have elected to purchase over the
remaining term of the HEU Commercial Agreement.
Trade Restraints and Policies
The US government and the European Union ("EU") have limited the access of Commonwealth of Independent
States ("CIS") suppliers to their respective markets. In the US, an ad hoc committee of uranium producers and other
companies filed an anti-dumping suit against the former Soviet Union in 1991. The resulting settlement was
effected in suspension agreements signed in October 1992 by the US Department of Commerce with Russia,
Uzbekistan, Kazakhstan and Kyrgyz Republic. The suspension agreements with Uzbekistan, Kazakhstan and
Kyrgyz Republic have since terminated.
In 2000, the US International Trade Commission ruled that the suspension agreement with Russia would remain in
force until March 2004. The Russian suspension agreement allows approximately 4 million pounds of Russian U308
per year to be imported into the US, but only to the extent it is matched in sales with an equal volume of new US
production.
The Euratom Supply Agency in Europe, which must approve all uranium-related contracts entered into by members
of the EU, has an informal policy limiting the use of Russian uranium to about 20% of annual individual utility
requirements.
The US and EU restrictions have no effect on the sales of Russian uranium to other countries. About one-quarter of
western world uranium requirements arise from utilities in countries unaffected by the US and EU restrictions. In
2003, approximately 23% of Cameco's sales volume was to countries not subject to US or EU restrictions. Utilities
in some of these countries adopt policies which effectively limit the amount of Russian uranium they will purchase.
Such policies often relate to security of supply concerns or their country's bilateral relations with Russia.
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Prices

Utilities secure a substantial percentage of their uranium requirements by entering into medium and long-term
contracts with uranium producers. These contracts usually provide for deliveries to begin one to three years after
signing and continue for several years thereafter. In awarding medium and long-term contracts, Cameco believes
utilities consider the commercial terms offered, including price, as well as the producer's record of performance and
uranium reserves.
Prices are established by a number of methods including base prices adjusted by inflation indices, reference prices
(generally spot price indicators but also long term reference prices) and annual price negotiations. Many contracts
also contain floor prices, ceiling prices and other negotiated provisions which affect the price ultimately paid. For
example, the ceiling prices will limit the upside potential of price movement, while conversely the floor price
establishes a minimum price that will ultimately be paid. Prices under uranium supply contracts are usually
confidential.
Utilities also acquire uranium through spot and near-term purchases from producers and traders. Spot market
purchases are those which call for delivery within one year. Traders generally source their uranium from
organizations holding excess inventory including utilities, producers and governments. Demand in the spot market
in 2003 increased from 20 million pounds U308 in 2002 to about 22 million pounds U308.
As reported by TradeTech, the spot market price for U308 increased by approximately 41% in 2003 ending the year
at $14.40 (US) per pound compared to $10.20 (US) per pound at the end of 2002. In addition, due to trade
restrictions and policies, a two-tier market previously existed such that there has been a discount for uranium of
Russian origin. The two prices have largely converged and there is no longer a published price that specifically
applies to Russian origin uranium.
Marketing
Cameco markets uranium to utilities in direct competition with supplies available from various sources worldwide.
Cameco's marketing strategy is to commit its uranium production under medium-term (three to five years) and longterm (greater than five years) contracts with a diversified mix of pricing mechanisms. Uranium concentrates sold
under medium-and-long term contracts may be governed by one of a variety of price determination mechanisms.
For concentrates delivered by Cameco in 2003, the following pricing mechanisms applied: negotiated (6%), firmprice (29%) and market-related (65%).
Sales contracts typically contain some quantity flexibility that enables the purchaser to reduce or increase the
amount of uranium to be delivered from year to year within a specified range. In general, utilities purchase from
multiple suppliers in order to diversify their sources. Cameco sells uranium concentrates to utilities in Argentina,
Belgium, Canada, Finland, France, Germany, Japan, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Taiwan, United Kingdom, and
the US.
In 2003, approximately 39% of Cameco's U3 08 sales were to five customers. For the period 2004 forward, Cameco
has commitments in excess of 100 million pounds U3 08 under 66 medium-term and long-term contracts with about
40 customers worldwide. Cameco's five largest customers account for approximately 50% of these commitments.
Over this period, 60% of Cameco's committed sales volume is to purchasers in the Americas (US, Canada and Latin
America), 17% in the Far East and 23% in Europe.
Cameco generally does not sell into the spot uranium market. Cameco, however, has taken advantage of low spot
and long-term market prices to purchase uranium under spot and long-term contracts. Cameco intends to deliver
this purchased material into certain long-term contracts and may make additional purchases of this type in the future.
At December 31, 2003, Cameco had firm commitments to purchase approximately 88 million pounds U 3 0 8 over the
2004-2013 period, of which 64 million pounds is the result of Cameco Europe S.A.'s exercise of certain options
under the HEU Commercial Agreement.
Mining Properties
The Company's uranium production is from two sources in Saskatchewan and two sources in the US. The
Saskatchewan sources are the Rabbit Lake mine and mill and the combined McArthur River mine - Key Lake mill.
The US sources are Crow Butte and Smith Ranch-Highland in situ leach ("ISL") operations. Cameco has two
material uranium properties, McArthur River, which is being mined, and Cigar Lake, which is being developed.
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The Key Lake mill processes McArthur River ore and stockpiled ore from the depleted Key Lake mine. Mining at
Key Lake ended in 1997. At Rabbit Lake, mining ceased in April 1999 and milling ceased in May 2001and both
activities resumed in 2002.
The following table shows Cameco's share of uranium production for the past three years from its uranium
properties (all in pounds U308):

McArthur River(2)
Rabbit Lake
Smith Ranch-Highland
Crow Butte
Key Lake

Total

(3)

2001
12,048,000
4,563,000
695,000
815,000

2002
12,905,000
1,143,000
887,000
768,000

648.000

2003(1)
10,579,000
5,928,000
1,201,000
823,000

190_000_

18.769.000

15.893.000

_

18,531.000

Notes:
(I) This does not include nominal test mining uranium production from Inkai.
(2) Milled at Key Lake.
(3) A Cameco subsidiary acquired Smith Ranch in June 2002. Smith Ranch-Highland 2002 production figure includes the subsidiary's share of
Smith Ranch production after closing of the acquisition. Smith Ranch-Highland 2001 production figures do not include Smith Ranch
production.

McArthur River
McArthur River is an underground uranium mine, in which Cameco has a direct and indirect interest of 69.805%. It
contains the world's largest known high-grade uranium deposit. McArthur River is owned by joint venture partners
Cameco (55.844%), Cogema (16.234%) and UEM (27.922%), a company equally owned by Cameco and Cogema.
Cameco is the operator. At December 31, 2003, the Company's share of proven and probable reserves were
559,000 tonnes of ore containing 304.7 million pounds U30 8 with an average grade of 24.7% U3 08 and its share of
measured and indicated resources are 409,600 tonnes of material containing 85.7 million pounds with an average
grade of 9.5% U308 .
At an assumed annual production rate of 18 million pounds, Cameco estimates that McArthur River will have a
mine life of at least 25 years and a payback period of capital invested of approximately 4 years after 2003.
Property Description and Environment
This property is located near Toby Lake in northern Saskatchewan, approximately 620 kilometres north of
Saskatoon. The McArthur River mine site is compact, occupying approximately an area of one kilometre in the
north/south direction and half a kilometre in the east/west direction. The site consists of an underground mine, one
full service shaft and two ventilation shafts along with numerous surface facilities, including inert waste rock
stockpiles, a large capacity mine water treatment plant, a pump house, ponds, standby diesel generators as well as
maintenance and warehousing facilities.
Other major facilities include the orebody freezing plant, the
administration/shop complex, the ore slurry handling and truck load-out facility.
The surface facilities and mine shafts for the McArthur River operation are located on lands owned by the province
of Saskatchewan. Cameco acquired the right to use and occupy the lands under a surface lease agreement with the
province of Saskatchewan. The most recent surface lease agreement was signed in April 1999 and is valid for 33
years. Obligations attached to the surface lease relate primarily to annual reporting regarding the status of the
environment, land development and progress on northern employment and business development. The lease is
renewable if necessary until full property decommissioning has been achieved. The McArthur River surface lease
presently covers about 651 hectares.
The mineral property consists of 21 mineral claims and one mineral lease totaling 84,818 hectares.
The McArthur River uranium deposit is located in the area subject to mineral lease ML5516. Under this mineral
lease Cameco acquired the right to mine this deposit. The current mineral lease expires in March 2004 with the right
to renew for successive subsequent 10 year terms absent a default by Cameco. An application to renew the current
mineral lease has been submitted.
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Surrounding the McArthur River uranium deposit are 21 mineral claims. A mineral claim grants the holder the right
to explore for minerals within the claim lands and the right to apply for a mineral lease. Title to the 21 mineral
claims is secured until 2017.
All resources and reserves on the property are part of the McArthur River orebody.
For additional information on mineral leases, mineral claims and surface leases, see "Land Tenure-Saskatchewan
Operations".
Uranium produced from this property is subject to Saskatchewan royalties as described in "Government RegulationCanadian Royalties and Certain Taxes". Also UEM, with respect to its participating interest in the McArthur River
joint venture, is required to pay 5% of net profits, up to a maximum of S 1.9 million, to a third party.
The property is subject to decommissioning liabilities. In accordance with regulatory requirements, Cameco has
filed with the provincial government a conceptual decommissioning and reclamation plan and has provided a $6.0
million letter of credit as security for decommissioning the property.
Two permits must be maintained to operate the mine. Cameco holds a "Uranium Mine Facility Operating Licence"
from the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission ("CNSC") and an "Approval to Operate Pollutant Control Facilities"
from Saskatchewan Environment ("SE"). Both permits are current. The "Uranium Mine Operating License" from
the CNSC, which was to expire on February 28, 2004, has been extended for eight months in order to accommodate
the work needed to support licence renewal later in 2004. The "Approval to Operate Pollutant Control Facilities"
from SE expires on October 31, 2004. Cameco expects regulators will renew these permits.
Site accessibility, infrastructureandphysiography
The means of access to the property is by an all-weather road and by air. Supplies are transported by truck and can
easily be shipped from anywhere in North America through Cameco's transit warehouse in Saskatoon. McArthur
River ore is transported to the Key Lake mill for processing some 80 kilometres to the southwest along a gravel
highway. Site operations are carried out all year despite cold winter conditions. The fresh air necessary to ventilate
the underground workings is heated during the winter months using propane-fired burners. There is easy access to
and sufficient water from nearby Toby Lake to satisfy all industrial and residential water requirements. To
minimize fresh water use, most industrial water demands are met by recycling water. The site is connected to the
provincial power grid. There are standby generators in case of grid power interruption. Personnel are recruited from
the northern area communities and major Saskatchewan population centers such as Saskatoon. Underground
development work is tendered to a mining contractor. Cameco personnel conduct all production functions.
McArthur River is a developed producing property, with surface right holdings that cover all of its mining operation
needs as well as requirements for residences, access to water, airport, site roads and other necessary buildings and
infrastructures. No tailings management facilities are required as McArthur River ore is milled at the Key Lake mill.
The topography and the environment is typical of the taiga that is common to the Athabasca basin area of northern
Saskatchewan. The surface facilities are approximately 550 metres above sea level.
History

There have been numerous changes in ownership of participating interests in the joint venture that governs the
McArthur River property. The joint venture was formed in 1976 and the joint venture partners at that time were
Canadian Kelvin Resources, Asamera Oil Corporation Ltd., and SMDC, a predecessor company to Cameco.
Recently, the two most significant changes in ownership have been:
*

In 1998, Cameco bought all of the shares of Uranerz Exploration and Mining Ltd. (and changed Uranerz's
name to UEM), thereby increasing its direct and indirect participating interest in the McArthur River joint
venture to 83.766%.

*

In 1999, Cogema acquired one-half of the shares of UEM, thereby reducing Cameco's direct and indirect
participating interest in the McArthur River joint venture to 69.805%. Cogema's direct and indirect
participating interest in the McArthur River joint venture is 30.195%.
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Cameco, through its predecessor company SMDC, became operator of the McArthur River project in 1980. Surface
exploration programs, ranging from small line cutting crews to large helicopter supported drilling and prospecting
camps, were active from 1980 through to 1992. Surface drilling programs delineated an ore zone over 1,700 metres
in length, occurring at depths ranging between 530 to 640 metres below surface. Significant mineralizations of
potentially economic uranium grades were first discovered as a result of surface drilling in the 1988 and 1989
exploration seasons.
In 1992, an underground exploration program was proposed to gain more accurate information regarding the
discovery in order to complete an assessment of the means and feasibility of ore extraction. Upon review by the
joint Federal/Provincial Panel, and upon receiving the Panel's positive recommendation, exploration camp
construction began in February 1993 and underground exploration proceeded with shaft sinking, level development
and definition underground drilling until 1997.
The environment impact statement for the full McArthur River development was submitted to the joint
Federal/Provincial Panel in 1995. Public hearings took place and were completed in 1996. A positive
recommendation was made by the panel in early 1997. Subsequently, approvals were received from the
governments of Canada and Saskatchewan for the project to proceed to licensing for construction. The Atomic
Energy Control Board ("AECB") issued construction licences for McArthur River in August 1997 and May 1998.
In October 1999, Cameco received an operating licence from federal authorities and operating approval from
provincial authorities.
Mine Development
Construction and development of the McArthur River mine was completed on schedule and mining commenced in
December 1999. During the mine startup, also known as mine commissioning, the operation of processing and
mining equipment was evaluated and modified as required. Upon completion of mine commissioning, commercial
production was achieved on November 1, 2000.
At present, the site includes three shafts. The first shaft is used to move workers, material and waste rock. The
second shaft is used for mine exhaust air ventilation and as an emergency exit. The third shaft was completed in
November 2000 and is equipped as a third means of egress. This shaft is also used for fresh air ventilation.
Geology and Mineralization
The McArthur River deposit is located in the southeastern portion of the Athabasca Basin, within the southwest part
of the Churchill structural province of the Canadian Shield. The crystalline basement rocks underlying the deposit
are members of the Aphebian aged Wollaston Domain, metasedimentary sequence. These rocks are overlain by flat
lying, unmetamorphosed sandstones and conglomerates of the Helikian Athabasca Group. These sediments are over
500 metres thick in the deposit area.
The mineralization is situated alongside a northeast trending graphitic fault, close to the unconformity between the
basement rock and the overlying Athabasca sandstone.
Exploration,Drillingand Estimates
The original McArthur River resource estimates were derived from surface diamond drilling. The drill hole data
consists of assay results from 42 drill holes compiled with all relevant geological and technical data. The very high
grade encountered in these drill holes justified the development of an underground exploration project.
From 1994 to present, several drilling campaigns from underground levels at 530 metres and 640 metres depth were
completed. Diamond drilling was followed by systematic radiometric probing of the holes using a high flux probe
adapted to the very high radioactivity encountered. Drill holes intersected mineralized zones on a grid spacing of 10
x 10 metres or less. Radiometric probing was at 0.10 metre spacing in the radioactive zones. Where core recovery
allows it, sampling and assaying of the cores as well as density measurements are performed to confirm correlations.
To date, assays have produced results slightly (8-10%) above the calculated ore grades that were derived from the
radiometric probing data.
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The data from more than 500 underground exploration holes drilled to the end of 2003 have been interpreted and
estimates of reserves have been made in four mineralized zones. In addition to this drilling, more than 150 freeze
holes and raisebore pilot holes have provided data confirming the interpretation.
Cameco has developed and implemented procedures for quality control, data verification and security of sampling
that it believes will assure the integrity of information resulting from drilling activities at McArthur River.
Mine Operations
Production at Cameco's McArthur River mine was temporarily suspended on April 6, 2003, as increased water
inflow from an area of collapsed rock in a new development area, located just above the 530-metre level, began to
flood portions of the mine. Remedial work to return the mine to safe operating condition was carried out during the
second quarter of 2003 and was sufficiently advanced in early July, 2003 for mine production to resume.
At McArthur River, the approach to sealing off the water inflow continues to be cautious and thorough in grouting,
freezing and testing the area of the collapse. From a high of about 1,000 cubic metres per hour (m3/hr), the total
mine inflow has been reduced to approximately 500 m3 /hr at the end of 2003. It is expected that normal water
inflow into the mine will stabilize at about 300 m3/hr once this work is completed, now expected in the second
quarter of 2004. Prior to the flooding incident, normal water inflow was about 225 m3/hr.
In addition, permanent water treatment capacity has been expanded to about 750 m3/hr at the end of 2003, up from
450 m3 /hr. During the water inflow incident, additional temporary capacity was put in place to treat the water flows.
For 2004, plans are in place to increase the permanent and contingency water treatment capacity to about 1,500
m3/hr.
The McArthur River mine produced 15.2 million pounds U3 08 in 2003 (Cameco's share is 10.6 million). During the
period July 2003 to December 2003 the McArthur River mine's production was equivalent to an annual production
rate of about 21.8 million pounds U 3 0 8 .
The sandstones which overlay the basement rocks contain significant water, which is at hydrostatic pressure. Water
flow into the mine area is prevented primarily by ground freezing. Ore extraction is performed by the raise boring
method with broken ore falling into a line-of-sight remote controlled loader. The loader transports the ore to one of
two grizzlies. One grizzly routes ore to one of two ore storage bins while the other grizzly reports directly to the
grinding circuit. This circuit grinds the ore to a size that is acceptable for the Key Lake leaching circuit. From the
grinding circuit, ore is thickened in two underground thickeners that operate in parallel. Thickened ore is pumped
680 metres up to four surface ore slurry holding tanks. Ore is drawn out of the four surface ore slurry holding tanks
into a mixing tank. More water is removed in another thickener. Ore slurry is then pumped into containers on a
transport truck for shipment to the Key Lake mill over an 80 kilometre all-weather road. Once a raise has bored
through the ore zone, it is backfilled with concrete. The next raise is then bored at a suitable distance away to allow
cure time for the concrete fill. After all the rows of raises are complete in a chamber, equipment is removed from the
area and the chamber is backfilled with concrete. A new chamber is excavated to allow for the next area to be
mined and the cycle is repeated.
The mining method for some portions of the ore body will not be the raise boring method, with the alternate mining
method or methods not yet confirmed.
Milling
The McArthur River joint venture has entered into a toll milling agreement with the Key Lake joint venture to
process all the ore from the McArthur River mine. The terms of the agreement include a provision for processing at
cost plus a fixed toll milling fee. The Key Lake joint venture is operated by Cameco and is owned by Cameco (66
2/3%) and UEM (33 1/3%). UEM is owned equally by Cameco and Cogema.
At the Key Lake mill, McArthur River ore is blended with low grade mineralized waste rock down to approximately
4% U3 08 . The uranium is then dissolved in a single stage leaching circuit. Uranium solution is then separated from
the remaining ore solids in a counter current decantation circuit. The uranium solution is purified in a solvent
extraction circuit. The purified uranium is precipitated out of solution by the addition of ammonia. The ammonium
diuranate is thickened and centrifuged before being transferred to a calciner. The calciner dries and calcines the
uranium oxide concentrate before it is packed into 200 litre drums. The final product is about 99 % U308.
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Two permits must be maintained to operate the mill. Cameco holds a "Uranium Mill Operating Licence" from the
CNSC and an "Approval to Operate Pollutant Control Facilities" from SE. Both permits are current. The "Uranium
Mill Operating License" from the CNSC, which was to expire on February 28, 2004, has been extended for eight
months in order to accommodate the work needed to support licence renewal later in 2004. The "Approval to
Operate Pollutant Control Facilities" from SE expires on November 30, 2004. Cameco expects regulators will
renew these permits.
The Key Lake property is subject to decommissioning liabilities. In accordance with regulatory requirements,
Cameco has filed with the provincial government a conceptual decommissioning and reclamation plan and has
provided a $38 million letter of credit as security for decommissioning the property.
There are two tailings management facilities at the Key Lake site. One is an above-ground impoundment with
tailings stored within compacted till embankments. This facility was constructed in 1983, has not received tailings
since 1998 and is now almost full. Cameco is reviewing several decommissioning options regarding this facility.
The other tailings management facility ("TMF") is the Deilmann pit. The east-end of the Deilmann pit was mined
out in April 1995 and then converted to a TMF that has been in operation since the beginning of 1996. The westend of the Deilmann pit was mined out in 1997 and then converted to a TMF. The Deilmann TMF uses a staged
subaerial/subaqueous tailings deposition mode *with an initial pervious sand envelope constructed around the
perimeter of the pit. The sand envelope allows excess water to drain to a drainage blanket underlying the tailings at
the bottom of the pit and then to dewatering pumps in a raise well connected by a drift to the drainage blanket. At
the end of 1998, approval was received from the CNSC and Saskatchewan Environment Resource Management to
cease construction of the sand envelope and convert the mode of tailings deposition from subaerial to subaqueous.
This is in accordance with the environmental impact statement prepared and approved for the tailings facility.
Conversion started immediately. Flooding commenced in June 1999. Based upon current reserve estimates, the
Deilmann TMF has adequate capacity to hold the tailings from milling all of the McArthur River ore.
There are five large rock stockpiles at the Key Lake site. Three of the stockpiles contain non-mineralized waste
rock and two contain low grade mineralized waste rock. The latter is currently used to lower the grade of McArthur
River ore to approximately 4% U3 08 before entering the milling circuit, both to process the low grade material and
control radiation exposures in the mill. Remaining waste rock stockpiles will require decommissioning upon site
closure.
Safety andRadiation Control
At McArthur River, a key source of radiation exposure during mining results from radon gas that emanates from ore
and groundwater. Radon exposure is minimized by effective use of ventilation. Water inflows are collected
underground and pumped to the surface for treatment before being released to the environment. Exposure to
radiation from the high-grade ore is minimized by containment, shielding and remote handling of the ore during the
processing and handling stages.
The radiation levels that workers at McArthur River and Key Lake receive are closely monitored. This includes the
use of both personal and area monitoring to measure and control exposures.
Under the CNSC's Nuclear Safety and Control Act, radiation exposure limits incorporate a formula that combine the
doses of gamma radiation, radon and dust intake which an individual receives in a year. Since mine start up and
milling of McArthur River ore at Key Lake, radiation exposure levels have been well below applicable standards.
McArthur River Resource and Reserve Estimates
The mineral reserve and resource estimates for McArthur River are found at "Uranium Concentrates BusinessReserves and Resources". The key assumptions, parameters and methods used in making these estimates are:
1.

Key Assumptions
(a)

the reserves reported are in situ reserves without provision for dilution or mining recovery for the
following reasons:
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(b)
2.

3.

(i)

the grade of ore zones is so high that some waste or subgrade material that is produced by
mining must be blended with ore in order to control radiation exposure, in accordance
with the terms of the CNSC operating licence;

(ii)

mining recovery is expected to be almost total in this high-grade ore by means of current
and planned mining methods; and

(iii)

mining recoveries since early 2000 to the end of 2003 have exceeded expectations.

Uranium prices remaining above their historic lows.

Key Parameters
(a)

grades were obtained from radiometric probing of underground drill holes and converted to
percentage U308 on the basis of a correlation between radiometric counts and assay values;

(b)

densities were determined from regression formulas based on 374 density measurements of drill
core and chemical assay grades;

(c)

limits and continuity of the mineralization are structurally controlled; and

(d)

reserves at McArthur River are based on estimated quantities of mineralized material recoverable
by established mining methods.

Key Methods
(a)

three-dimensional wireframe models were created from digitized mineralization boundaries
interpreted on 10 metre spacing vertical cross-sections and planviews. Estimates of the grade and
density of blocks of I metre x 5 metre x I metre were obtained from ordinary kriging; and

(b)

reserves are defined as the economically mineable part of the indicated and measured resources.
Only reserves have demonstrated economic viability. The amount of reported resources does not
include amounts identified as reserves.

Although Cameco believes that McArthur River reserve and resource estimates will not be materially affected by
external factors, such as metallurgical, safety and environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation and political issues,
there can be no assurance that they will not be. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral
reserves and resources. The accuracy of any reserve and resource estimation is the function of the quality of
available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. Results from drillings, testing and
production, as well as a material change in the uranium price, subsequent to the date of the estimate, may justify
revision of such estimates.
In January 2003 Cameco initiated a formal review of the mining plan and proposed mining methods and a review of
the reserves classification at McArthur River as a result of uncertainty associated with the productivity of the
jetboring and boxhole boring mining methods at McArthur River and not as a result of the water inflow event. The
jetboring and boxhole boring mining methods may be utilized for parts of the ore body where the raise boring
method may be inappropriate.
The completion of the review reflecting this uncertainty resulted in the
reclassification of 5 1.8 million lbs U 3 0 8 of proven reserves to probable reserves at McArthur River.
Other McArthur River Information
For information pertaining to:
(a)

markets and contracts for sale of uranium produced from McArthur River, see "Uranium
Concentrates Business-Marketing"; and

(b)

taxes and royalties on McArthur River uranium production, see "Government RegulationCanadian Royalties and Certain Taxes" and "Government Regulation-Canadian Income Taxes".

There are some exploration or development activities planned for the McArthur River operation in 2004 but these
are not considered to be material.
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Rabbit Lake
Rabbit Lake is a uranium mining and milling complex that has been in operation since 1975 and is wholly owned by
Cameco. The Eagle Point mine, located on the Rabbit Lake lease, was reopened in 2002, ending a care and
maintenance period of three years. Following resumption of Eagle Point ore production, the Rabbit Lake mill also
resumed operation in 2002, ending a one-year care and maintenance period. Based upon the current mine plan,
Rabbit Lake reserves are forecast to be depleted in early 2006. The mineral reserve and resource estimates for
Rabbit Lake are found at "Uranium Concentrates Business-Reserves and Resources".
Cameco is conducting exploration from surface and underground to determine if there is sufficient reserves to
extend the Eagle Point mine life. Pending the results of this exploration it is possible that the mine life will be
extended.
There are two permits that must be maintained to conduct mining and milling activities at Rabbit Lake. Cameco
holds a "Uranium Mine Operating Licence" from the CNSC and an "Approval to Operate Pollutant Control
Facilities" from SE. Both permits are current and will expire on October 31, 2008.
The property is subject to decommissioning liabilities. In accordance with regulatory requirements, Cameco has
filed with the provincial government a conceptual decommissioning and reclamation plan and has provided a $36
million letter of credit as security for decommissioning the property.
Subject to regulatory approval and mutually satisfactory business arrangements among the Cigar Lake owners, it is
expected that the Rabbit Lake mill will process approximately one-half of the Cigar Lake uranium for a period of
some 9 years. Deliveries of Cigar Lake uranium to the Rabbit Lake mill may commence in 2009. An
environmental impact statement for the processing of uranium from the Cigar Lake mine at Rabbit Lake is expected
to be filed with regulators by mid-2005.
Crow Butte
Crow Butte, which has been in production since 1991, is an ISL uranium operation located near Crawford,
Nebraska, USA. Cameco holds a 100% interest in Crow Butte through its wholly owned subsidiary, Crow Butte
Resources Inc. The mineral reserve and resource estimates for Crow Butte are found at "Uranium Concentrates
Business-Reserves and Resources".
Crow Butte is subject to decommissioning liabilities. In accordance with regulatory requirements, the operator of the
property has provided a $14.9 million (US) letter of credit to the State of Nebraska as security for decommissioning
the property.
Smith Ranch - Highland
Smith Ranch - Highland is an ISL uranium operation located near the towns of Glenrock and Douglas, Wyoming,
USA. It is owned 100% by Cameco through its wholly owned subsidiary, Power Resources, Inc. ("PRI").
In July 2002, PRI purchased the Smith Ranch ISL uranium operation. It is located in Wyoming, adjacent to PRI's
Highland operation. As part of the purchase, PRI assumed decommissioning liabilities, estimated at $9.2 million
(US), associated with Smith Ranch and purchased about $6 million (US) in uranium inventory. Cameco guaranteed
PRI's assumption of these decommissioning liabilities. In connection with the acquisition, PRI secured forward
sales contracts of more than 900,000 pounds of Smith Ranch production at prices substantially above the long-term
market indicators at that time.
The Smith Ranch mill processes all Smith Ranch and Highland ISL mined uranium. As a result, the Highland mill is
being maintained on a care and maintenance basis.
Smith Ranch - Highland is subject to decommissioning liabilities. In accordance with regulatory requirements, PRI
has provided letters of credit totaling $37.2 million (US) to the State of Wyoming as security for decommissioning
these properties.
The mineral reserve and resource estimates for Smith Ranch - Highland are found at "Uranium Concentrates
Business-Reserves and Resources".
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Development Projects
Cameco has one material uranium development project - Cigar Lake in Saskatchewan. Cameco expects production
to begin at Cigar Lake no earlier than 2007. Cameco also has a uranium development project in Kazakhstan called
Inkai. Inkai received all necessary government approvals to build and operate a test ISL mine. Construction of the
test mine began in November 2000 and testing commenced in early 2002 and continues.
Continued development and start up of production at these two projects is subject to market conditions and to the
timely receipt of all necessary approvals, permits and licences.
CigarLake
Cigar Lake is the world's second largest known high-grade uranium deposit. Cigar Lake is owned by joint venture
partners Cameco (50.025%), Cogema (37.1%), Idemitsu Uranium Exploration Canada Ltd. (7.875%) and TEPCO
Resources Inc. (5.0%). Cameco is the operator. At December 31, 2003, Cameco's share of proven and probable
reserves were 276,000 tonnes of ore containing 115.8 million pounds U 3 O8 with an average grade of 19% U308 and
inferred resources of 159,000 tonnes of material containing 59.1 million pounds with an average grade of 16.9%
U 3 08 .

From the commencement of production and at an assumed annual production of 18 million pounds, Cameco
estimates the first phase of Cigar Lake will have a mine life of approximately 13 years and a payback period of
capital invested of approximately 7 years.
PropertyDescription andEnvironment
The Cigar Lake minesite is located near Waterbury Lake, approximately 660 kilometres north of Saskatoon. The
Cigar Lake minesite was developed for the activities of test mining. At present, the site consists of an underground
development, complete with two main levels and a 500-metre mine shaft and head frame, water treatment ponds,
standby generators, freeze plant, office, shop, warehouse, construction residences and support installations.
The surface facilities and mine shaft for the Cigar Lake project are located on lands owned by the province of
Saskatchewan. Cameco acquired the right to use and occupy the lands under a surface lease agreement with the
province of Saskatchewan. The surface lease was signed in 1987 and is valid for 33 years. Obligations attached to
the surface lease agreement primarily relate to annual reporting regarding the status of the environment, the land
development and progress made on northern employment and business development. The lease is renewable if
necessary until full property decommissioning has been achieved. The Cigar Lake surface lease covers a total of
974 hectares.
The mineral property consists of one mineral lease, totaling 308 hectares, and 25 mineral claims, totaling 92,740
hectares. The mineral lease and mineral claims are contiguous. The Cigar Lake deposit is located in the area subject
to mineral lease ML5521. The right to mine this uranium deposit was acquired under this mineral lease, as renewed,
effective December 1, 2001. The mineral lease is for a term of 10 years with the right to renew for successive
subsequent 10 year terms absent a default by Cameco.
Surrounding the Cigar Lake deposit are 25 mineral claims. A mineral claim grants the holder the right to explore for
minerals within the claim lands and the right to apply for a mineral lease. Title to the mineral claims is secured until

2023.
All reserves and resources on the property are part of the Cigar Lake orebody.
For additional information on mineral leases, mineral claims and surface leases, see "Land Tenure-Saskatchewan
Operations".
Uranium produced from this property will be subject to Saskatchewan royalties as described in "Government
Regulation-Canadian Royalties and Certain Taxes".
The property is subject to decommissioning liabilities. In accordance with regulatory requirements Cameco, as
project operator has filed with the regulatory agencies a conceptual decommissioning and reclamation plan for the
test mining infrastructure and surface disturbance. Financial assurances have been provided by each of the owners
for a total amount of $4.2 million to cover their respective portion of the decommissioning work.
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The Cigar Lake site has been operated under various permits, licences and leases granted for the purpose of the test
mine, all of which are currently in good standing. The "Uranium Mine Site Preparation License" from the CNSC
will expire on July 31, 2004, but it will likely be extended to coincide with the anticipated issuance of the
construction license. The current "Approval to Operate Pollutant Control Facilities" from SE will expire May 31,
2004. Cameco expects regulators will renew these permits. Cameco applied for a construction licence in 2002.
Cameco expects to receive the licence in late 2004, subject to confirmation by the regulators of their licensing
process.
Site accessibility, infrastructureandphysiography
Access to the property is by road and by air. Supplies are transported by truck on an all-weather road and can be
easily shipped from anywhere in North America through Cameco's transit warehouse in Saskatoon. Site activities
are carried out all year despite the cold weather during the winter months. The fresh air is heated with propane-fired
burners before being introduced underground when the air temperature is below freezing. The water for the
industrial activities and the camp come from nearby Waterbury Lake. The site is connected to the provincial
electricity grid. There are standby generators in case of grid power failures. Personnel are recruited from the
northern communities and major population centers such as Saskatoon. The underground work is tendered to a
mining contractor.
The surface lease grants sufficient rights, subject to regulatory approvals, for mining operations and the lands
subject to the surface lease are sufficient for personal accommodation, access to water, airport, site roads and other
necessary buildings and infrastructure. Cameco expects that tailings management facilities will not be required at
Cigar Lake, as ore will not be milled at Cigar Lake.
The topography and the environment is typical of the taiga forested lands common to the Athabasca basin area of
northern Saskatchewan. The area is covered with thick overburden. The site is approximately 490 metres above sea
level.
History
The first uranium mineralization discovery at Cigar Lake was in May 1981. Since that time, the deposit has been
defined by approximately 200 holes and 92,000 metres of core drilling from surface. Cigar Lake Mining
Corporation ("CLMC") has been operator of the project since 1985. Effective January 1, 2002, Cameco replaced
CLMC as operator.
In 1993, a preliminary feasibility study was delivered to the joint venture partners. An environment impact
statement was filed with the relevant regulatory agencies in 1995. Technical challenges involving groundwater,
rock properties and radiation protection were evaluated and addressed during the test mining phase.
Public hearings on the project environment impact statement were concluded in 1997 and the joint federal-provincial
panel recommended to the governments of Canada and Saskatchewan that the project be allowed to proceed, subject
to resolution, on terms acceptable to regulatory authorities, of issues with respect to a tailings management facility
and waste rock disposal. In April 1998, both levels of government accepted the joint panel recommendations and
-authorized the project to proceed to the regulatory licensing stage.
In early 2003, the CNSC informed Cameco that a new screening level environmental assessment would need to be
carried out prior to the issuance of construction and operating licences. Terms of the environmental assessment were
approved by the CNSC mid-year, and by February 2004 the supporting environmental assessment study
documentation had been filed. Acceptance of the new environmental assessment is anticipated in mid-2004,
allowing the project to proceed to construction licensing.
Geology and Mineralization
The Cigar Lake deposit is located approximately 40 kilometres inside the margin of the eastern part of the
Athabasca Basin. It occurs at the unconformity contact between rock of the Athabasca Group and underlying lower
Proterozoic Wollaston Group metasedimentary rocks, an analogous setting to the Key Lake, the McClean Lake and
Collins Bay deposits. It shares many similarities with these deposits, including general structural setting,
mineralogy, geochemistry, host rock association and the age of the mineralization. The Cigar Lake deposit is
distinguished from other similar deposits by its size, its very high grade, and the high degree of associated
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hydrothermal clay alteration. The deposit is flat lying, approximately 1950 metres long, 20 to 100 metres wide, and
ranges up to 16 metres thick. It occurs at depths ranging between 410 to 450 metres below the surface.
Explorationand Estimates
The exploration of the Cigar Lake deposit was performed by Cogema. A data bank was created from all assay
measurement of the various elements. Algorithms were established for the density detennination based on the
nature of the mineralization and of the surrounding ground.
Cogema produced for CLMC various reserve and resource estimates. These estimates were reviewed in 2000 by a
task force from Cogema, CLMC and Cameco. New test reserve and resource estimates were completed both by
Cogema and Cameco and the results were compared.
A new definition of the reserves based on the latest technical tests and economics has been implemented. The new
definition is based on a minimum uranium content and a minimum grade for each estimated block.
Cameco believes that Cogema developed and implemented acceptable procedures for quality control, data
verification and security of information resulting from exploration drilling activities at Cigar Lake.
Test Mining
A test mining program was approved in late 1987. Shaft sinking began in 1988, reaching a final depth of 501 metres
in early 1990. Horizontal development was advanced on two levels and test mining in frozen ground, using box
hole boring and high pressure water jet boring, was successfully carried out in 1991 and 1992.
During 1998, CLMC successfully tested a mechanical mine development system suitable to local underground
conditions and at year-end commissioned a freeze hole drilling system. Also, throughout 1998, CLMC produced a
number of engineering studies that examined project development and milling options.
In 1999 and 2000, further jet boring tests were completed with improved systems. Information acquired from these
tests were used to update the feasibility study, which was later approved by the joint venture partners in June 2001.
Subject to regulatory approval, the jet boring mining method will consist of four metre diameter holes bored with a
high pressure water jet in the previously frozen high grade orebody. The ore will be ground and slurried
underground, pumped to surface and loaded into specialized containers. All the ore slurry will be shipped to
Cogema's McClean Lake mill for processing. Approximately one-half of the resulting pregnant acqueous solution
will then be processed at the McClean Lake mill with the other half being transported to the Rabbit Lake mill for
further processing. See "Rabbit Lake".
Cigar Lake Resource and Reserve Estimates
The mineral reserve and resource estimates for Cigar Lake are found at "Uranium Concentrates Business-Reserves
and Resources". The key assumptions, parameters and methods used in making these estimates are:
1.

2.

Key Assumptions
(a)

the reserves reported include allowances for dilution and mining recovery;

(b)

no such allowances are applied to mineral resources;

(c)

the minimum grade for proven reserves is 5.9% U308 and for probable reserves is 1.2% U3 08; and

(d)

uranium prices remaining above their historic lows.

Key Parameters
(a)

grades (percentage U308 ) were obtained from assaying of drill core and checked against
radiometric results. In areas of lost core or poor recovery, reliance was placed on radiometric
grade determined from the gamma probing;
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3.

(b)

where density was not directly measured for each sample, a correlation between uranium grade
and density was applied; and

(c)

reserves at Cigar Lake are based on estimated quantities of mineralized material recoverable by
established mining methods.

Key Methods
(a)

the geological interpretation of the orebody outline was done on planviews, a two-dimension
horizontal block model delineates the deposit with block of size 15 metres x 6 metres;

(b)

ordinary kriging served to estimate the grade, thickness and density of the blocks; and

(c)

reserves are defined as the economically mineable part of the indicated and measured resources.
Only reserves have demonstrated economic viability. The amount of reported resources does not
include amounts identified as reserves.

Although Cameco believes Cigar Lake reserve and resource estimates are unlikely to be materially affected by
external factors, such as metallurgical, safety and environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation and political issues,
there can be no assurance that they will not be. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral
reserves and resources. The accuracy of any reserve and resource estimation is the function of the quality of
available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. Results from drillings, testing and
production, as well as a material change in the uranium price, subsequent to the date of the estimate, may justify
revision of such estimates.
Other CigarLake Information
For information pertaining to:
(a)

markets and contracts for sale of uranium produced from Cigar Lake, see "Uranium Concentrates BusinessMarketing"; and

(b)

taxes and royalties on Cigar Lake uranium production, see "Government Regulation-Canadian Royalties
and Certain Taxes" and "Government Regulation-Canadian Income Taxes".

Material development activities are currently planned for the Cigar Lake project. In June 2001, the joint venture
partners approved the feasibility study and the detailed engineering design was initiated and is continuing. A
preliminary estimate of the project development costs is $350 million on a 100% basis. Subject to regulatory
approvals and market trends, production at the Cigar Lake mine could begin no earlier than 2007.
The construction license is now expected in late 2004. In advance of this, activities requiring considerable advanced
planning are expected to continue. Procurement is planned for several long-lead time items including the second
hoist and head frame complex, the freezing system, freeze hole drilling and the electrical distribution system.
Inkai
Inkai is an ISL project located in the Republic of Kazakhstan and consists of three contiguous license blocks
(leases). The project is owned and operated by Joint Venture Inkai, which is owned by Cameco (60%) and
Kazatomprom (40%). The latter is a company owned by the Republic of Kazakhstan. Cameco's share of proven and
probable reserves is 51.8 million tonnes at an average grade of 0.05% U308 for 54.9 million pounds. Cameco's
share of measured and indicated resources is 2.2 million tonnes at 0.04% U3 08 for 1.7 million pounds U308 and of
inferred resources is 152.4 million tonnes at 0.05% U3 08 for 160.8 million pounds.
In April 1999, Inkai received from the government of Kazakhstan a mining (extraction) licence for Block No. I and
an exploration licence for Blocks No. 2 & 3. The associated subsoil use contract, covering both licences, was signed
by the government and Joint Venture Inkai in July 2000. Subsequent to signing of the contract, Joint Venture Inkai
obtained the permits and authorizations needed to start construction of the test mine at Block No. 2. Construction of
the test mine facilities was substantially completed in December 2001. Test mining operations commenced in April,
2002 following the federal government's formal inspection and acceptance of the newly constructed facilities and
continued throughout 2003. A Feasibility Study has now been completed on the planned construction and operation
of a commercial facility at Block 1. During 2004, an Environmental Assessment and Design Plan for construction
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of the commercial facility will be prepared and submitted to Kazakh authorities for approval in accordance with the
requirements of local law.
An environmental impact assessment regarding Block I of the planned commercial mine is expected to be
completed in 2004.
The Inkai ISL project is subject to decommissioning liabilities. Subsequent to commencement of commercial
production, Joint Venture Inkai is required to establish a separate bank account and make contributions to the
account as security for decommissioning the property. Contributions to such bank account are capped at $500,000
(US).
Cameco has agreed to provide funding to Joint Venture Inkai of up to $40 million (US) for project development. To
December 31, 2003, Cameco, through subsidiaries, had advanced $19.5 million (US) (S25.1 million (Cdn)).
Exploration
Cameco carries out mineral exploration for new uranium resources on substantial landholdings, principally located
in two areas: the Athabasca basin of northern Saskatchewan and the Arnhem Land region in Northern Territory,
Australia. The subdivision of lands (properties in which Cameco holds interests greater than 10%) and uranium
exploration expenditures is as follows:
Area
Saskatchewan

hectares at Dec. 31 2003
615,000

Northwest Territories
Australia
Other

31,000
2,055,000
21,000

Totals

2200

2003 actual expenditures (000's)
7,200
100
4,400
1,500

The majority of Cameco's exploration lands are explored as joint ventures with other mining companies, with
Cogema the most common joint venture partner. At year-end 2003, Cameco operated approximately three-quarters
of its exploration projects, including joint ventures. The majority of Cameco's exploration projects are early to
middle stage, on which indications of economic grades or quantities of uranium have not yet been identified.
Cameco periodically acquires new exploration land holdings in both Canada and Australia, where the Company
perceives the discovery potential to be worth the cost of acquiring and holding the land. At the same time, the
Company may decide to reduce its interest in certain projects through farm-out agreements or other arrangements.
Cameco owned a 29% interest in UEX Corporation at December 31, 2003, a junior exploration company formed in
2002 from a combination of exploration assets previously held by Cameco and Pioneer Metals Corporation, and has
certain rights related to financing, milling, and marketing future uranium deposits produced by UEX.
Since many areas of the world are known to host numerous types of uranium mineralization, Cameco actively
investigates the uranium exploration potential of areas other than those described above. No major projects are
currently being undertaken in areas outside Canada and Australia.
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Reserves and Resources

Reserve and resource estimates for Cameco's uranium properties as presented in this Annual Information Forrn were
prepared by or under the supervision of the following qualified persons:
Qualified Persons

Properties

Alain Gaston Mainville, Geologist and Professional
Geoscientist, who is Manager, Mining Resources and
Methods at Cameco

McArthur River, Rabbit Lake, Key Lake and Dawn
Lake

Raymond Jean-Francois Chauvet, Geological Engineer
and Professional Geoscientist, who was Director,
Mining Resources and Methods at Cameco.

Cigar Lake and Inkai

Steve Lunsford, Registered Professional Geologist
Wyoming, who is Senior Project Geologist at Power
Resources, Inc.

Crow Butte, Gas Hills, Highland, North Butte/Brown
Ranch, NorthWest Unit, Peach, Reynolds Ranch,
Ruby Ranch, Ruth, Shirley Basin and Smith Ranch.

Cameco's reserve and resource estimates are obtained from internally generated data or audited reports.
Uranium Reserves (I
The following table shows the estimated uranium reserves as at December 31, 2003 on a property basis and
Cameco's share. The amount of reported resources does not include amounts identified as reserves.

PROVEN
(100% basis)

Tonnes
PROPERTY
Cigar Lake
Crow Butte
Gas Hills
Highland
Inkai
Key Lake
McArthur River
North Butte/
Brown Ranch
Peach
Rabbit Lake
Ruby Ranch
Ruth
Smith Ranch
Total

PROBABLE
(100% basis)

TOTAL RESERVES
(100% basis)

Grade% Content
Grade Content
U 3 08 (lbs U3 0 8 ) Tonnes %U3 08
(U3 08)
(tonnes and lbs in thousands)

497.0
876.0
1,677.0
1,060.0
22,700.0

20.67
0.23
0.17
0.12
0.06

61.9
596.8

0.52
26.63

609.0

0.18

440.0
1,426.0

1.29
0.09

2,944.0

0.09

32.887.4

0289

226,331.0
4,528.5
6,361.0
2,831.0
28,281.0
708.0
350,208.0

2,424.0
12,490.0
2,896.0
5.842.0
642.900.5

54.0
338.0
1,000.0
1,628.0
63,700.0

4.41
0.27
0.18
0.14
0.05

204.5

19.14

5,248.0
1,998.5
4,010.0
5,143.0
63,216.0
86,271.0

2,666.0
418.0

0.13
0.22

7,452.0
2,060.0

1,013.0
519.0

0.06
0.11

6.789.0
78.329.5

0.09
0.11

1,424.0
1,249.0
13.601.0
191,672.5

Content
Cameco's
Content
Share
Mining
(lbs U3 0 8 ) (lbs U3 0 8) Method(2)

Tonnes

Grade
%U 3 0 8

551.0
1,214.0
2,677.0
2,688.0
86,400.0
61.9
801.3

19.07
0.24
0.18
0.13
0.05
0.52
24.71

231,579.0
6,527.0
10,371.0
7,974.0
91,497.0
708.0
436,479.0

115,847.0
6,527.0
10,371.0
7,974.0
54,898.0
590.0
304,684.0

UG
ISL
ISL
ISL
ISL
OP
UG

2,666.0
1,027.0
440.0
2,439.0
519.0
9,733.0
111.216.9

0.13
0.20
1.29
0.08
0.11
0.09
0.34

7,452.0
4,484.0
12,490.0
4,320.0
1,249.0
19.443.0
834.573.0

7,452.0
4,484.0
12,490.0
4,320.0
1,249.0
19.443.0
550.329.0

ISL
ISL
UG
ISL
ISL
ISL

Notes:
(1) Canadian Securities Administrators' National Instrument 43-101 requires mining companies to disclose reserves and resources using the
subcategories of proven reserves, probable reserves, measured resources, indicated resources and inferred resources. Cameco reports
reserves and resources separately.
(2) Mining Method: OP - Open Pit; UG - Underground; ISL - In situ leaching.
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Uranium Resources (J)

The following table shows the estimated uranium resources as at December 31, 2003 on a property basis and
Cameco's share. The amount of reported resources does not include amounts identified as reserves.

INDICATED
(100% basis)

MEASURED
(100% basis)

Tonnes

Grade
Content
% U3 0 8 (lbs U30 8 )

PROPERTY
Cigar Lake
Crow Butte
Dawn Lake
Gas Hills
Highland
Inkai
McArthur River
North Butte/
Brown Ranch
Northwest Unit
Peach
Rabbit Lake
Reynolds Ranch
Ruby Ranch
Ruth
Shirley Basin
Smith Ranch
Total

-

1,846.0
1,149.0
-

43.5
-

444.0
1,311.0
483.0
-

89.0
559.0
5.924.5

-

3,665.0
2,212.0

-

-

10.28

0.10
0.09
0.08
-

0.15
0.10
0.17

Tonnes

Grade
% U3 0 8

9,854.0
-

997.0
2,654.0
862.0

Content
(lbs U308)

-

-

0.09
0.09

-

Grade
Content
% U 3 08
(U3 08 )
Tonnes
(tonnes and lbs in thousands)

MEASURED AND
INDICATED
(100% basis)

1,184.0
347.0
1,183.0
1,239.0
3,600.0
543.3

0.26
1.69
0.09
0.12
0.04
9.43

6,849.0
12,940.0
2,364.0
3,148.0
2,900.0
112,902.0

1,184.0
347.0
3,029.0
2,388.0
3,600.0
586.8

0.26
1.69
0.09
0.10
0.04
9.49

6,849.0
12,940.0
6,029.0
5,360.0
2,900.0
122,756.0

2,681.0

0.12
0.06
0.17
0.58
0.08
0.07
0.07
0.11
0.09
0.38

6,829.0
2,361.0
547.0
3,958.0
7,791.0
581.0
761.0
4,085.0
133.0
168 149.0

2,681.0
1,859.0
592.0
310.0
5,908.0
872.0
481.0
1,726.0
628.0
26.191.8

0.12
0.06
0.12
0.58
0.08
0.08
0.07
0.12
0.10
0.33

6,829.0
2,361.0
1,544.0
3,958.0
10,445.0
1,443.0
761.0
4,389.0
1.397.0
189.961.0

1,859.0

148.0
310.0
4,597.0
389.0
481.0
304.0
1,637.0
1.264.0
69.0
21.812.0 20.267.300

Content
Cameco's
Share
(IbsU 3 08 )

Mining
Method(2)

UG
6,849.0
ISL
7,436.0 OP&UG
6,029.0
ISL
5,360.0
ISL
1,740.0
ISL
85,690.0
UG

6,829.0
2,361.0
1,544.0
3,958.0
10,445.0
1,443.0
761.0
4,389.0
1.397.0
146.231.0

ISL
ISL
ISL
UG
ISL
ISL
ISL
ISL
ISL

Notes:
(1) Canadian Securities Administrators' National Instrument 43-101 requires mining companies to disclose reserves and resources using the
subcategories of proven reserves, probable reserves, measured resources, indicated resources and inferred resources. Cameco reports reserves and
resources separately.
(2) Mining Method: OP - Open Pit; UG - Underground; ISL - In situ leaching.
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Uranium InferredResources (I)
The following table shows the estimated uranium inferred resources as at December 31, 2003 on a property basis
and Cameco's share. The amount of reported resources does not include amounts identified as reserves.
INFERRED RESOURCES
(100% basis)

PROPERTY
Cigar Lake
Crow Butte
Dawn Lake
Gas Hills
Highland
Inkai
McArthur River
North Butte/Brown
Ranch
Northwest Unit
Peach
Rabbit Lake
Reynolds Ranch
Ruby Ranch
Ruth
Shirley Basin
Smith Ranch
Total:

Content
Cameco's
Grade
Content
Share
Tonnes
% U3 0 8 (Ibs U3 08 )
(lbs U3 08 )
(tonnes and lbs in thousands)
317.0
1,824.0

16.92
0.20

118,151.0
8,042.0

59,105.0
8,042.0

588.0
253,918.0

0.15
0.05

1,977.0
267,989.0

1,977.0
160,793.0

686.0
997.0

0.09
0.05

1,367.0
1,093.0

1,367.0
1,093.0

5,575.0

0.06

7,442.0

7,442.0

490.0
2,358.0
266 753.0

0.10
0.08
0.07

1,132.0
4.295.0
411,488.0

1,132.0
4,295.0
245L246.0

Mining
Method (2)

UG
ISL
OP&UG
ISL
ISL
ISL
UG
ISL
ISL
ISL
UG
ISL
ISL
ISL
ISL
ISL

Notes:
(I) Canadian Securities Administrators' National Instrument 43-101 requires mining
companies to disclose reserves and resources using the subcategories of proven
reserves, probable reserves, measured resources, indicated resources and inferred
resources. Cameco reports reserves and resources separately.
(2) Mining Method: OP - Open Pit; UG - Underground; ISL - In situ leaching.
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Uranium Reserve Reconciliation
The following reconciliation of Cameco's share of uranium reserves reflects the changes in reserves during 2003.
The 2003 additions and deletions result from additional information provided by mining and milling, analysis of
drilling results, and reclassification.

Reconciliation of Cameco's Share of Uranium Reserves
(in thousands of pounds U308 )
December 31 2002
Reserves Proven
Cigar Lake
Crow Butte
Gas Hills
Highland
Inkai
Key Lake
McArthur River
Peach
Rabbit Lake
Ruby Ranch
Smith Ranch
Total Proven
Reserves

2003
Throughput (1)

113,222
5,345
8,318
2,970
0

0
(817)

590

0

(266)
0

2003 Addition (Deletion)

December 31, 2003

113,222
4,528
(1,957)
127

(2)

6,361

(2)

19,969

(2)

2,831
16,969

3,170

0
(10,516)
0

17,580

(5,845)

2,896

0

6.681

(949)

4 09)10

5842

471,103

(18,393)

(40.095)

412.615

310,331

--

(55,353)
(746)

755

(2)(3)
(2)
(2)

590
244,462
2,424

12,490
2,896

--

Reserves - Probable
Cigar Lake
Crow Butte

2,625
1,771

0
0

--

227

(2)

Gas Hills
Highland

5,244
5,059

0
0

(1,234)
84

(2)

Inkai
McArthur River

0
8,442

0
0

37.930
51,780

(2)

North Butte!
Brown Ranch
Peach

9,659

0

(2,207)

(2)

5,143
37,930
60,222
7,452

3,792

0

(1,732)

(2)

2,060

Ruby Ranch
Ruth

1,424
0

0
0

--

1,249

2)

1,424
1,249

13.711
51.727

0
0

(110)
85.987

Smith Ranch
Total Probable
Reserves
Total Reserves

522.830

45 892

2,625

(2)

('"('

(2)

1,998
4,010

13.601
137.714
550.329

Notes:
(1) Corresponds to millfeed. The discrepancy between the 2003 millfeed and Cameco's share of 2003 pounds U3 08 produced is due to
mill recovery, mill inventory and the processing of low grade material.
(2) Changes in reserves or resources, as applicable, include reassessment of geological data, results of information provided by mining
and milling, and subsequent re-classification of reserves or resources, as applicable.
(3) In January 2003 Cameco initiated a formal review of the mining plan and proposed mining methods and a review of the reserves
classification at McArthur River as a result of uncertainty associated with the productivity of the jetboring and boxhole boring
mining methods at McArthur River and not as a result of the water inflow event. The jetboring and boxhole boring mining methods
may be utilized for parts of the ore body where the raise boring method may be inappropriate. The completion of the review
reflecting this uncertainty resulted in the reclassification of 51.8 million lbs U308 of proven reserves to probable reserves at
McArthur River.
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UraniumResources Reconciliation
The following reconciliation of Cameco's share of uranium resources reflects the changes in resources during 2003.
The 2003 additions and deletions result from additional information provided by mining and milling, analysis of
drilling results, and reclassification.
Reconciliation of Cameco's Share of Uranium Resources
(in thousands of pounds U 3 0 8 )
December 31 2002

2003
Throughput (1)

2003 Addition (Deletion)

Resources - Measured
Gas Hills
Highland
Inkai

3,665
2,212
8,245

0
0
0

(8,245)

(

M1ArthurRiver

1,114

0

5,765

(2)

Peach
Reynolds Ranch
Ruby Ranch

997
2,654
862

--

--

Shirley Basin

304

Smith Ranch

1,264

Total Measured Resources

21,317

0

(2,480)

Resources - Indicated
Crow Butte
Dawn Lake
Gas Hills
Highland
Inkai
McArthur River
North Butte/Brown Ranch
Northwest Unit
Peach
Rabbit Lake
Reynolds Ranch
Ruby Ranch
Ruth
Shirley Basin
Smith Ranch
Total Indicated Resources

8,550
7,436
2,364
2,972
48,866
76,691
5,611
2,361
1,623
1,998
7,791
581
2,065
4,085
133
173.077

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(1,651)

Total Measured & Indicated

194.394

0

59,105
7,333

0

--

0
0
0
0
0

709

Resources Inferred
Cigar Lake
Crow Butte

0

6,879

--

997
2,654
862

--

1,264

--

304
18,837

(2)

6,849

7,436

(2

2,364
3,148
1,740
78,811
6,829
2,361
547

(2)

3,958

--

176
(47,126)
2,120
1,218

(2)
(2)

(2)
(2)

--

(1,076)
1,960

(2.

7,791
(1,304)
--

(2)

581
761

4,085
133
127,394

(45.683)

(48.163!146.231

Highland
Inkai
North Butte/Brown Ranch
Northwest Unit
Reynolds Ranch
Shirley Basin
Smith Ranch

1,977
170,520
1,367
7,442
1,132
4.295

0

--

0
0

--

Total Inferred Resources

254.264

0

1,093

3,665
2,212

--

0
0
0
0
0

December 31, 2003

(2)

--

(9,727)
---

--

(9.018!

)

59,105
8,042
1,977
160,793
1,367
1,093
7,442
1,132
295

245,246

Notes:
Corresponds to millfeed. The discrepancy between the 2003 millfeed and Cameco's share of 2003 lbs U3 08 produced is due to mill
(1)
recovery, mill inventory and the processing of low grade material.
Changes in reserves or resources, as applicable, include reassessment of geological data, results of information provided by mining
(2)
and milling, and subsequent re-classification of reserves or resources, as applicable.
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Uranium Fuel Conversion Services
Market Background
Demand
The demand for UF6 conversion services is directly linked to the level of electricity generated by light water
moderated nuclear power plants. The demand for U0 2 conversion services is linked to the level of electricity
generated by heavy water moderated nuclear power plants such as CANDU reactors. Western world demand for
UF6 and natural U0 2 conversion services in 2003 was estimated to be approximately 58,200 tonnes of uranium. It is
estimated that this demand will increase to approximately 65,700 tonnes of uranium by 2013. Demand in the former
Soviet Union, Eastern Europe and China in 2003 was about 9,400 tonnes of uranium and is expected to increase to
about 12,400 tonnes of uranium by 2013.
Most utility companies operating nuclear reactors purchase their uranium requirements in the form of concentrates
directly from mining and milling operators. The uranium contained in the concentrates is refined and converted to
fuel grade natural U0 2, or to UF6 for enrichment. The enriched UF6 is then converted to enriched UO2 . The natural
UO2 and enriched U0 2 is fabricated into fuel bundles for eventual use in nuclear reactors.
Supply
The western world UF6 conversion industry consists of Cameco and three other commercial producers with an
annual conversion capacity of about 45,000 tonnes of uranium. Cameco's annual UF6 conversion capacity
constitutes approximately 28% of the western world capacity. Cameco is the only commercial supplier of
conversion for natural UO2 customers in the western world. Russia supplies most of the requirements of the former
Soviet Union and Eastern Europe in the form of low enriched uranium.
On February 9, 2001, British Nuclear Fuels Limited ("BNFL"), with annual conversion capacity of about 6,000
tonnes, announced that it will halt production of UF6 in 2006. With the announcement, BNFL ceased the marketing
of UF6 conversion services and sold its uncommitted UF6 production to Cameco.
In addition, supplies of UF6 are available from secondary sources including excess western inventories, Russian
inventory sales in the form of low enriched uranium, Russian re-enriched depleted tails in the form of UF6 and
Russian and US uranium derived from dismantling nuclear weapons. These sources are discussed in more detail in
the "Uranium Concentrates Business" section.
Prices
Cameco competes on the basis of price, location and service with two other full-scale commercial suppliers of
conversion services in the western world and with the secondary supplies mentioned above.
Similar to their procurement of uranium requirements, utilities secure a substantial percentage of their conversion
service requirement by entering into medium and long-term contracts with primary conversion service providers.
Prices are established by a number of methods, including base prices adjusted by inflation indices, reference prices
(generally spot price indicators) and annual price negotiations. Contracts can also contain floor prices, ceiling prices
and other negotiated provisions which affect the price ultimately paid. For UF6 conversion deliveries by Cameco in
2003, the following pricing mechanisms applied: negotiated (5%), firm-price (66%) and market-related (29%).
Marketing of Conversion Services
UF6

Cameco's marketing strategy for UF6 conversion services is similar to that for uranium concentrates.
Cameco sells its services directly to utilities located in many different geographic regions of the world primarily
through medium- and long-term contracts.
For the period 2004 forward, Cameco has UF6 conversion services commitments in excess of 50,000 tonnes
uranium under 63 long-term contracts. Cameco's five largest customers account for approximately 39% of these
commitments. Over this period, 36% of Cameco's committed UF6 conversion services volume is to purchasers in
the Americas, 32% in the Far East and 32% in Europe.
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UO0
Cameco is the only commercial supplier of ceramic grade UO
2 for CANDU heavy water moderated nuclear reactors
operated in Canada by Bruce Power, OPG, New Brunswick Power Corporation and Hydro Quebec. Cameco also
exports UO2 to South Korea for its CANDU reactors and to Japan for use as blanket fuel in boiling water reactors.
Volumes of Canadian UO
2 sales may increase slightly later in the decade if three shut-in reactors operated by OPG
are put back into service.
Operations
Cameco owns and operates Canada's only uranium refinery and conversion facilities. Cameco has a uranium
refining facility within close proximity to Lake Huron and approximately eight kilometres west of Blind River,
Ontario (approximately 600 kilometres northwest of Toronto, Ontario). Blind River, has a population of about
4,000. Cameco also has two conversion plants within the Municipality of Port Hope, Ontario, approximately 100
kilometres east of Toronto. The Municipality of Port Hope, with a population of about 15,000, is located on the
shore of Lake Ontario.
The Blind River facility, commissioned in 1983,.has an annual licensed capacity of 18,000 tonnes of uranium. It
includes a uranium refinery, a large storage area for uranium concentrates, and weighing and sampling facilities.
The Blind River facility refines the concentrates delivered by suppliers from throughout the world into nuclear grade
U0 3 , nearly all of which is shipped to Port Hope for conversion into either UF 6 or UO2 . A small quantity of U0 3 is
supplied to others for blending with enriched uranium to produce suitable reactor fuel.
The Port Hope conversion plants produce natural UO2 and natural UF6. The UO2 plant is licensed for 2,800 tonnes
of uranium per year and produces ceramic UO2 used as fuel in Canadian and other CANDU heavy water nuclear
reactors, as well as blanket fuel for light water nuclear reactors. The UF 6 plant, licensed for 12,500 tonnes of
uranium per year, converts U0 3 to UF6 using hydrogen, hydrogen fluoride and fluorine in a series of process steps.
The UF6 is then shipped to enrichment plants in the United States, Europe and Japan for further processing to low
enriched UF 6 prior to conversion to enriched UO 2, which is used as reactor fuel for light water nuclear reactors.
In January 2003, Cameco applied to the CNSC for regulatory approval to begin the commercial production at Port
Hope of slightly enriched uranium dioxide powder ("SEU"), the primary uranium component of a new type of fuel
that is proposed for use in some CANDU reactors. Initially the SEU will be produced for use in the Bruce "B" units
as part of a power uprate project which is expected to add about 400 megawatts to the capacity of the units. (See
"Bruce Power - The Generating Facilities.") SEU is also expected to be the basis of the fuel used by the next
(advanced) generation of CANDU reactors (ACR reactor) designed by Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd. Cameco's
Port Hope facility processed enriched uranium between 1966 and 1987. This activity was discontinued when there
was no longer a commercial demand for the enriched products provided by the Port Hope facility.
CNSC approval would allow installation and operation at Port Hope of equipment for blending natural UO2 powder
and low-enriched U0 2 powder to produce SEU. The low-enriched UO2 powder would be acquired from any of the
several suppliers around the world. This approval would not lead to an increase in the total volume of UO2
produced, as the SEU would essentially replace some of the natural UO2 currently produced.
In January 2004, the CNSC approved the Environmental Assessment Guidelines (Scope of Project and Assessment)
that will be used to direct a screening environmental assessment ("SEA") of the SEU project at Port Hope. This
screening report will include results of technical studies and public consultations to be completed by Cameco, and
will be presented to the CNSC at a public hearing expected in 2004.
In 2004, important project milestones include completing and submitting the SEA, completing the engineering
design and preparing the Port Hope site for the construction of the SEU blending facility. The necessary regulatory
approval to allow the production of about 550 kg. of SEU powder for the manufacturing of about 26 demonstration
fuel bundles that are to be placed in the Bruce "B" reactors some time in 2004 has been obtained for the Port Hope
facility. Also, all the necessary facilities and procedures to make this limited quantity of SEU are in place.
Commercial production of SEU will use sufficient volume of low enriched UO 2 powder such that criticality could
potentially be achieved. Due to extensive safeguards that will be put in place, which will be subject to regulatory
approval, to prevent this from happening, it is extremely unlikely that a criticality will occur. Criticality is a nuclear
fission reaction. The products of criticality are heat and radiation. If a criticality did occur at Port Hope, it is
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expected there would be little or no impact on the health and safety of the public as the SEU production area will be
designed and engineered to contain the incident. Low enriched fuel is used to power more than 400 nuclear reactors
around the world.
Cameco's refining and conversion facilities are subject to decommissioning liabilities. In accordance with
regulatory requirements, Cameco has provided $48.4 million in letters of credit as security for decommissioning
these facilities.
Research and Development
The activities of all operations are supported by Cameco's technology development group which is actively engaged
in supporting new business initiatives as well as developing new processes to maintain and enhance Cameco's
position as a competitive and leading producer of uranium concentrates, refining and conversion services. For 2003,
expenditures related to these activities were approximately $1.7 million.
Environmental
For environmental protection, the Blind River refinery operates a monitoring lagoon system for liquid effluents in
order to ensure adherence to regulatory standards. Gaseous emissions are filtered, scrubbed and monitored for
uranium particulate and certain other deleterious substances. Cooling water is used in a closed loop system with
very limited discharge to the environment. Extensive chemical recovery steps are also used to reduce environmental
release. In Port Hope, provisions for environmental protection include scrubbing and filtration systems for gaseous
emissions and evaporator systems for liquid process effluents. Resulting condensates released to the environment
are monitored to ensure compliance with regulatory standards. Extensive chemical recovery steps are also used to
reduce environmental release and reduce waste accumulation.
In 1998, Cameco reached an agreement with International Uranium Corporation of Denver, Colorado for the
processing of certain uranium-bearing by-products from Blind River and Port Hope at the White Mesa mill in
Blanding, Utah. The agreement received regulatory approval in both Canada and US. Shipments to Utah for
recycling of all of the by-product inventory was completed in 2000, including by-products accumulated by a
predecessor company prior to 1988 that was stored at Blind River and Port Hope. Shipments of newly produced byproducts has continued. While this program has addressed the accumulated inventory of by-products and is
addressing current recycling requirements for these by-products, other outlets are being considered. In 2001, a mill
scale pilot test program of recycling these by-products at Cameco's Key Lake mill was completed. This test was
conducted to develop the information that would be necessary to support an application for regulatory approval to
recycle by-products at the Key Lake mill. In 2002, Cameco submitted a proposal to federal and provincial
regulatory authorities for approval to recycle these by-products at the Key Lake mill. Provincial regulatory approval
was received on February 21, 2003. Federal regulatory approval is still pending, but currently anticipated in 2004.
Both Blind River and Port Hope facilities were re-licensed by the CNSC for a five-year period commencing on
February 28, 2002.
Legal Proceedings
A complaint was filed in federal court in Denver, Colorado, USA on November 28, 2000 by Mr. Oren Benton
claiming damages in excess of $200 million from the Company with respect to his claims of breach of contract and
tortious interference with contractual relations and business expectations. Cameco's motion to dismiss Mr. Benton's
claims was granted and Mr. Benton's claims were dismissed in 2002. Mr. Benton has appealed this decision. The
appeal was heard on November 20, 2003 and judgement was reserved. Cameco believes, after consultation with
legal counsel, this action is completely without merit.
Environmental Matters
Cameco's operations are subject to numerous laws and regulations regarding environmental matters and the
management of hazardous wastes and materials. Changes in environmental laws and regulations or more stringent
application of existing standards could cause additional expense, capital expenditures, restrictions or delays in the
exploration, development, operation or decommissioning of the Company's properties.
Cameco estimates total future decommissioning and reclamation costs for its operating assets to be $234 million. In
connection with future decommissioning and reclamation costs, Cameco has provided financial assurances of
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approximately $199 million in the form of letters of credit to satisfy current regulatory requirements. See Note 7 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.
Cameco Initiatives
Cameco's environmental and safety efforts are both corporate and site-based.
Corporate and site-based
environmental and safety departments have been created to manage and coordinate the Company's environmental
assessment and regulatory compliance and reporting functions. Cameco conducts regular environmental and safety
audits of its sites. Annual expenditures of over $16 million have been dedicated to environmental monitoring,
protection, assessment and health and safety programs.
Like other large industrial organizations, Cameco utilizes chemicals in its operations that could be hazardous to
health and the environment if handled incorrectly. Employees are trained in the proper use of hazardous substances
and in emergency response techniques.
Cameco has had a formal environmental and safety policy in place since 1991. In 1999, Cameco revised this
environmental policy in support of an initiative to generate a new environmental management system at its operating
sites. This system reinforces the Company's commitment to ongoing management of environmental risks and is
structured to be compatible with the requirements of the relevant international standard, referred to as ISO 14001.
In 2000, the Port Hope operation became the first Cameco managed site to become certified under the new standard.
In 2002, the Blind River, Key Lake and McArthur River operations were also ISO 14001 certified.
In May 2001, Cameco received a request from the CNSC to develop a corporate quality assurance program in
support of re-licensing its Canadian operations. Cameco elected to embark on developing a broader quality
management system. This system is to include operational activities at its Canadian operating licensed sites as well
as corporate oversight and audit responsibilities for these sites. A plan and implementation schedule for this new
management system was filed with the CNSC and accepted in early 2002. A draft corporate quality management
system manual, covering Canadian uranium operations, has been filed with the CNSC, in accordance with the
accepted implementation schedule. This schedule calls for site implementation to be completed in 2004.
The Company has an environmental and safety committee of the board of directors, which regularly reviews
environmental and safety aspects of the Company's operations.
To promote better communication with
communities in northern Saskatchewan on environmental and other matters, the Company organized the Northern
Community Liaison Committee in 1990 and the Athabasca Working Group in 1993 (with CLMC and Cogema).
The Company also co-operates with the northern community environmental quality committees organized more
recently by the province of Saskatchewan. Cameco also conducts regular environment-focused community liaison
activities at its fuel services sites in Ontario.
Canada
Environmental matters related to Cameco's operations in Canada are the subject of ongoing public scrutiny and
regulatory review by the CNSC, Environment Canada, the federal Department of Fisheries and Oceans, SE and the
Ontario Ministry of the Environment ("MOE").
Decommissioningand Reclamation
Once reserves of a particular deposit in Canada have been exhausted or after processing activities have been
permanently suspended, Cameco and its partners are required by law to decommission operating sites, including
waste rock and tailings management facilities, and reclaim those areas affected by their activities, to the satisfaction
of provincial and federal regulatory authorities. Cameco annually accrues amounts for future reclamation costs
based on the estimated life of the facility, units of production and estimates of future decommissioning and
reclamation costs. Cameco's estimation of these future costs is based upon the application of reclamation techniques
which are believed to be capable of generating reasonable environmental and radiological performance. The annual
accrual and total provision is regularly reviewed by the Company, as well as for license renewal applications as
required by regulatory agencies. If required, the future accrual rate is then adjusted. The regulatory agencies accept
the decommissioning plans in concept, not upon detailed performance forecasts, which have not yet been generated.
As Cameco properties approach or go into decommissioning, further regulatory review of the decommissioning
plans may result in additional decommissioning requirements, associated costs and the requirement to provide
additional financial assurances. As of December 31, 2003, Cameco had accrued a total accounting provision of
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approximately $ 141 million related to nuclear activities. See Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.
Both the CNSC and SE have regulations requiring financial assurances for decommissioning and reclamation of
minesites. Financial assurances in the form of letters of credit were first supplied for Rabbit Lake and McArthur
River in 1996 and for Key Lake in 1997. Letters of credit for the Port Hope and Blind River facilities were supplied
in early 2002 for the first time, in conjunction with general CNSC site relicensing.
Pursuant to the Reorganization of SMDC and ENL (now Canada Eldor Inc.), Cameco assumed the ownership and
primary responsibility for the management of wastes existing at the time of the Reorganization ("Historical Waste")
at the Port Hope Conversion Facility, the Blind River Refinery, the Port Granby Waste Site and the Welcome Waste
Site ("Historical Facilities"), all located in Ontario. The Company assumed liability for the first $2 million of all
costs in respect of any claim arising out of or related to the Historical Waste and all decommissioning and
reclamation costs at the Historical Facilities and 23/98ths of the next $98 million of such costs. Canada Eldor Inc.
retained liability for the balance of the costs up to $100 million and for all the costs in excess of $100 million,
effectively capping Cameco's liability at $25 million.
On October 6, 2000, the government of Canada and certain Port Hope area communities announced the signing of a
"Principles of Understanding", establishing the framework for development of a legal agreement for the clean up,
storage and long-term management of certain of the Historical Wastes. On June 19, 2001, the government of Canada
announced that the legal agreement had been signed and that it would invest about $260 million over 10 years to
carry out the work. In July 2002, the government of Canada released the scope document for the environmental
assessment of the project to manage low level radioactive waste for the long term in the Port Hope area. The project
remains in the environmental assessment process.
Regulatory Compliance
Potentially significant regulatory issues relate to the establishment of new criteria for levels of uranium in ambient
air in the vicinity of the Company's Ontario operations and new criteria for heavy metals in effluent from Cameco's
Saskatchewan mine and mill sites, establishment of new enhanced environmental monitoring programs in the
vicinity of all Canadian operations and decisions arising from the current evaluation of radionuclide releases
(including uranium) from nuclear facilities being carried out under the Canadian Environmental Protection Act.
Changes to these regulations may require additional response by Cameco in the near term in order to remain in
compliance with the relevant regulations and regulatory guidelines.
These new regulatory initiatives and future initiatives have and likely will continue to generate additional
environmental studies in the vicinity of these operations. This is particularly evident in the area of pre-licensing
environmental assessment. It is unclear if these additional studies will ultimately translate into further regulatory
requirements on the Company.
Cameco continues to face challenges from the burden of increasing regulatory demands and costs from the CNSC,
Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency and other federal and provincial regulators. In addition to the issues
noted above, the lead regulator, the CNSC, has increased its fees charged to the nuclear industry. The CNSC is
increasing the regulatory burden as a result of the implementation of the new Nuclear Safety and Control Act
("NSCA") and in its interpretation of responsibilities under the NSCA, the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act
and the Canadian Environmental Protection Act. For instance, Cameco has been directed to implement a formal
quality assurance program to manage its Canadian nuclear operations and the scope of assessment needed for
regulatory approval of changes to licence conditions has expanded. Lower tier operational changes are increasingly
subject to regulatory review which may include delays due to longer regulatory approval processes. These
increasing requirements are expected to result in gradually increasing administration costs and some additional
capital expenditures for compliance. As well, the complex regulatory approval process reduces Cameco's flexibility
to make operational changes in a timely fashion.
In recent years, when auditing Cameco, the CNSC has put a priority on auditing specific environmental and safety
related programs. These have included such aspects as radiation protection programs, environmental monitoring,
fire protection, operational quality assurance, organization and management evaluation, transportation systems,
geotechnical monitoring and ventilation systems. These program-specific audits and regular site inspections by
regulatory project officers have generated, and are intended to continue to generate, actions to improve
environmental and safety performance and ensure that these risks remain well managed. Resulting program
modifications are typically procedural and do not incur large capital costs.
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In 2001, Cameco successfully renewed its CNSC operating licences for Rabbit Lake, Key Lake and McArthur River
for two-year terms. Cameco also received a licence to become the operator of the Cigar Lake project. In 2002, the
Port Hope and Blind River CNSC operating licenses were renewed for five-year terms, and in 2003, the Rabbit Lake
licence was renewed for five years. In 2004, Cameco will seek re-licensing of the Key Lake and McArthur River
operations, as well as a construction license for the Cigar Lake project. Cameco is also seeking approval to increase
the production rate at the McArthur River/Key Lake operation.
US Environmental Regulation
Cameco subsidiaries' ISL operations in the US are subject to numerous federal, state and local regulations
governing, among other things, air emissions, water discharges, hazardous materials handling and disposal and site
reclamation. In 2000, at the Highland operation, PRI self reported to the Wyoming Department of Environmental
Quality ("WDEQ") injection well casing leaks, resulting in releases into unauthorized zones. As a result of PRI's
report, the Wyoming agency issued a notice of violation ("NOV"). PRI took the position that there was minimal
environmental impact, given the quality of the released water and the geotechnical characteristics of the release
zones. Nevertheless, the issue required additional investigation as a potential future decommissioning issue, and
necessitated procedural and physical modifications in well construction to better assure injection well integrity. The
well casing leaks are not expected to materially increase site decommissioning costs. There was no fine associated
with the NOV, largely because of the self-reporting of the issue and its low potential for environmental impact.
Arising from the NOV was an Administrative Order on Consent, which specified a compliance schedule and a
revision of the regulatory permit to address the casing leak issue. The Order on Consent essentially forms a contract
for resolving the issues arising out of the NOV. Changes in well construction have reduced the frequency of well
casing leaks. The changes have been implemented at PRI's combined Smith Ranch Highland operation.
After mining has been completed, an ISL wellfield must be restored in accordance with regulatory requirements.
Generally this involves restoring the groundwater to its pre-mining use using reverse osmosis (ultra filtration
technology) and restoration. Restoration of Crow Butte wellfields is regulated by the Nebraska Department of
Environmental Quality ("NDEQ") and the Nuclear Regulatory Commission ("NRC") and restoration of Smith
Ranch-Highland weilfields is regulated by the WDEQ and NRC.
Crow Butte has three wellfields under restoration. In 2000 Crow Butte Resources Inc., after the NDEQ confirmed
that wellfield I was restored to its regulatory standards, requested the NRC accept that wellfield I was restored to its
regulatory standards. The NRC approved the restoration on February 12, 2003.
Smith Ranch-Highland has three wellfields under restoration. In 1999 PRI requested the WDEQ accept that one
wellfield was restored to its regulatory standards. The WDEQ approved the restoration of the A wellfield, subject to
some long term monitoring requirements in November 2003. The NRC has indicated that it is willing to enter into
discussions with the WDEQ and the United States Environmental Protection Agency over wellfield jurisdiction.
Discussions continue with regulators to establish clear jurisdiction and criteria for wellfield restoration. Despite
encouraging signs to the contrary, the delays by regulators to accept restoration of the remaining wellfields is a
significant issue for Cameco subsidiaries' US ISL operations, since it remains uncertain when, and at what cost, its
US subsidiaries' ISL operations will be able to complete restoration of mined out ISL wellfields to the satisfaction
of regulators.
Government Regulation
Cameco's business is subject to various levels of extensive governmental controls and regulations which are
amended from time to time. The Company is unable to predict what additional legislation or amendments may be
proposed that might affect its business or when any proposals, if enacted, might become effective.
Outlined below are some of the more significant government controls and regulations which materially affect the
Company's uranium business.
Canadian Uranium Industry Regulation
The Canadian federal government has recognized that the uranium industry has special importance in relation to the
national interest and therefore regulates the industry through regulations and policy announcements. The regulations
and policy announcements apply to any uranium property or plant in Canada which the CNSC may determine to be,
or to have the capability of, producing or processing uranium for nuclear fuel application. The regulations require
that the property or plant be owned legally and beneficially by a company incorporated in Canada.
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Mine Ownership Restriction
The latest expression of Canadian government policy on non-resident ownership of uranium mining properties is
contained in a letter dated December 23, 1987 from the Minister of State (Forestry and Mines) to the Canadian
uranium industry. The basic limit for non-resident ownership of uranium properties at the stage of first production is
49%. Resident ownership levels of less than 51% will be permitted if the property is in fact Canadian-controlled.
Exceptions to the policy may be granted subject to Cabinet approval and will be provided only in cases where it is
demonstrated that Canadian partners cannot be found.
Cameco Ownership Restriction
As part of the Canadian government regulation of the Canadian uranium mining industry, the ENL Reorganization
Act imposes constraints on the issue, transfer and ownership, including joint ownership, of Cameco shares so as to
prevent both residents and non-residents of Canada from owning or controlling more than a specified percentage of
shares. The following is a summary of the constraints currently contained in Cameco's articles:
(a)

No resident alone or together with associates, may hold, beneficially own or control, directly or indirectly,
other than by way of security only, shares to which are attached more than 25% of the votes that may
ordinarily be cast to elect directors of Cameco.

(b)

No non-resident of Canada, alone or together with associates, may hold, beneficially own or control,
directly or indirectly, other than by way of security only, shares to which are attached more than 15% of the
votes that may ordinarily be cast to elect directors of Cameco.

(c)

The votes attaching to shares held, beneficially owned or controlled, directly or indirectly by all nonresidents together, and cast at any meeting of shareholders, will be counted or prorated so as to limit the
counting of those votes to not more than 25% of the total number of votes cast by shareholders at that
meeting.

(d)

To give effect to such constraints, Cameco's articles contain provisions for the enforcement of the
restrictions relating to ownership and voting by residents of Canada and non-residents of Canada described
above, including provisions for suspension of voting rights, forfeiture of dividends, prohibitions against the
issue and transfer of shares and suspension of all remaining shareholders' rights.

The provisions of the ENL Reorganization Act allow the board to require the holders or other subscribers for shares
and certain other persons to furnish declarations as to residence, ownership of shares and certain other matters
relative to the enforcement of the restrictions. Cameco is precluded from issuing or registering a transfer of any
shares where contravention of the resident or non-resident ownership restrictions would result. Cameco requires
that, prior to each transfer of shares, other than a transfer to a depository, the transferee give a declaration providing
information relating to compliance with these ownership restrictions.
Cameco's board is entitled to determine whether contraventions of the ENL Reorganization Act or the articles have
occurred. Cameco's board may make such determination whether or not it, or Cameco's transfer agent and registrar,
has received such declarations, if the board has reason to believe that contravention of the ownership restrictions has
occurred.
If Cameco's board determines that shares are held by a shareholder in contravention of the ownership restrictions,
Cameco has the power to suspend all rights of the shareholder in respect of all shares held, other than the right to
transfer them, not earlier than 30 days after first sending notice to the shareholder, unless the shares so held have
been disposed of by the shareholder and Cameco has been so advised.
CanadianNuclear Safety and Control Act
In Canada, control of the mining, extraction, use and export of uranium was formerly governed by the Atomic
Energy Control Act (the "AECA"), a federal statute. The AECA was administered by the AECB. On March 20,
1997, the Nuclear Safety and Control Act (the "NSCA") received royal assent. In the following years, related
regulations and key regulatory guidelines were prepared and finalized. On May 31, 2000, the new act and
regulations came into force replacing the AECA. The NSCA expands the jurisdiction of the CNSC, which has
replaced the AECB, notably expanding its role in environmental regulation.

32

2003 Cameco Annual Information Form

The NSCA authorizes the CNSC to make regulations governing all aspects of the development and application of
nuclear energy, including uranium mining, milling, conversion and transportation. The most significant powers
given to the CNSC are in the licensing area. The NSCA grants the CNSC licensing authority for all nuclear activities
in Canada, including the issuance of new licences to new operators, the renewal of existing licences, and
amendments to existing licences. A person may only possess or dispose of nuclear substances and construct, operate
and decommission its nuclear facilities in accordance with the terms of a CNSC licence. The licence specifies
conditions that licensees must satisfy in order to maintain the right to operate nuclear facilities.
A fundamental principle in nuclear regulation is that the licensee bears the responsibility for safety, with the CNSC
setting safety objectives and auditing licensee's performance against the objectives. The regulations made under
NSCA include provisions dealing with facilities licence requirements, radiation protection, physical security for all
nuclear facilities and the transport of radioactive materials. The CNSC has also issued guidance documents to assist
licensees in complying with regulatory requirements such as decommissioning, emergency planning, and
optimization of radiation protection measures.
The NSCA is the product of a recent update of regulatory requirements by the Federal government in relation to the
effective regulation of nuclear energy in Canada. The NSCA grants to the CNSC the power to act as a court of
record, the right to require financial guarantees for nuclear waste management and decommissioning as a condition
of granting a licence, order-making powers which are more flexible than those allowed under the predecessor
legislation, the AECA, and the right to impose higher monetary penalties than was allowed under such predecessor
legislation. The NSCA also grants the CNSC power to require nuclear power plant operator re-certification and to
set requirements for nuclear facility security measures. The NSCA also provides for increased emphasis on
environmental matters, including a requirement that licensing applicants make adequate provision for the protection
of the environment. Additional regulatory priority is evident in the areas of quality assurance and human factor
engineering and assessment.
All of the Canadian operations of the Company are governed primarily by licences granted by the CNSC and are
subject to all applicable federal statutes and regulations and to all laws of general application in the province where
the operation is located, except to the extent that such laws conflict with the terms and conditions of the licence or
applicable federal laws. Failure to comply with licence conditions or applicable statutes and regulations may result
in orders being issued which may cause operations to cease or be curtailed or may require installation of additional
equipment, other remedial action or the incurring of additional capital or other expenditures to remain compliant.
The Company may also be subject to prosecution if it fails to comply with such applicable statutes and regulations.
Environmental regulation of the uranium mining industry in Saskatchewan and the uranium processing industry in
Ontario are also regulated under both provincial and other federal legislation. Progress continued to be made to
better harmonize provincial and federal regulatory regimes in Saskatchewan. In February 2003, the federal and
provincial governments signed an agreement that is expected to lead to greater administrative efficiency in
regulation of the Saskatchewan uranium industry over the next few years.
In 2003, the CNSC implemented new cost recovery regulations. A fee for service arrangement is now in force, based
on a fully absorbed rate of $200 per hour. This change is expected to significantly increase licencing costs. Based on
current estimates for the CNSC's 2004/05 fiscal year, an increase of about 66% or $ 1. IM is anticipated relative to
the last year of fixed fees (FY 2002/3) for the operating Canadian uranium sites (Key Lake, McArthur River, Rabbit
Lake, Port Hope and Blind River).
New projects must follow the NSCA procedures. Certain properties are deemed to have complied by transition rules
from AECA to NSCA. In September 2002, a court held that Cogema's McClean uranium mill in Saskatchewan was
not properly licensed under these transition rules. The decision is being appealed. Due to this decision, the licensing
process that Cameco is subject to may be longer and more complex.
UraniumExport Regulation
The export of uranium is regulated by the Canadian federal government which establishes nuclear energy policy.
Cameco's uranium exports are required to have export licences and export permits granted by the CNSC and the
Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade, respectively, and such licences and permits are obtained by
Cameco for all such exports.
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US Uranium Industry Regulation
Uranium recovery in the US is primarily regulated by the NRC pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as
amended. Its primary function is to ensure the protection of employees, the public and the environment from
radioactive materials and it also regulates most aspects of the uranium recovery process. The NRC regulations
pertaining to uranium recovery facilities are codified in Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations ("10 CFR").
The NRC issues Domestic Source Material Licenses pursuant to 10 CFR Part 40.
The review of a license application is governed by the National Environmental Policy Act ("NEPA") which is
implemented through 10 CFR Part 51. Although the NRC voted to support new regulations for uranium recovery
operations, which would apply to the Company's US ISL operations, in 2002 the NRC withdrew their support for
these regulations.
The NRC has approved an alternative process whereby a state government can regulate groundwater issues through
a memorandum of understanding entered into with the NRC. When implemented, this will apply to all groundwater
issues, including restoration, and eliminating one area of regulatory duplication pertaining to ISL well fields. The
US Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") and certain states have formally indicated that they too are in favour
of the proposed process. The NRC is expected to decide later in 2004 whether to proceed with this change in the
regulatory process.
The uranium recovery industry in Wyoming is also regulated by the WDEQ, Land Quality Division ("LQD")
pursuant to the Wyoming Environmental Quality Act ("WEQA") and the LQD Non-Coal Rules and Regulations
arising from the WEQA. Pursuant to WEQA, the WDEQ issues a permit to mine which is administered by the
LQD. In addition, the state administers a number of EPA programs under the Clean Air Act and the Clean Water
Act, some of which are incorporated into the LQD Non-Coal Rules and Regulations (for example the Underground
Injection Control regulations under the Clean Water Act). Currently wellfield decommissioning is required to the
background water standard in Wyoming. In November 2003, the Wyoming Environmental Quality Council
approved the wellfield groundwater restoration for Highland wellfield A subject to some long-term monitoring
conditions.
Similarly, the uranium recovery industry in Nebraska is regulated by the NRC and the NDEQ pursuant to the
Nebraska Environmental Protection Act. Pursuant to this act and the regulations made thereunder, the NDEQ issues
a permit to mine. In Nebraska wellfield groundwater restoration is required to the class of use water standard. The
NDEQ and NRC have approved the restoration of wellfield I at Crow Butte.
In all cases, failure to comply with NRC license and/or state permit-to-mine conditions, or a failure to comply with
other applicable rules and regulations, can bring enforcement action. For the state, this starts with non-cited
violations for minor, easily correctable violations (generally through "conference and conciliation"), through notices
of violation ("NOV's") which can include: fines; supplemental environmental projects; remedial action, additional
monitoring and permit changes; and, ultimately, could include orders to cease operations. NRC enforcement policy
describes a progression of enforcement starting with an NOV and working through a pre-enforcement conference,
fines, imprisonment and the barring of workers or contractors from working in the nuclear industry. Under state and
federal law, criminal charges are possible if violations are deemed to be the result of criminal intent or action.
Following a determination by the federal Mine Safety and Health Administration ("MSHA") that it had no
jurisdiction over the Smith Ranch-Highland operation, safety at the operation is regulated by the Wyoming State
Mine Inspector's Office. In January 2003, MSHA advised that it would no longer regulate Crow Butte's operations.
Unless this decision is changed, safety at Crow Butte will be regulated under Nebraska's Occupational Health and
Safety Act.
Other agencies are involved in the regulation of the uranium recovery industry, either directly or indirectly,
including the EPA, the Department of Transportation, the Bureau of Land Management, Department of Energy, the
Department of Defense, the Army Corps of Engineers, and the US Fish and Wildlife Service.
The export of uranium from the US and the movement of nuclear materials within the US are also regulated by the
NRC. "NRC 741 form" reporting is the primary mechanism for tracking physical movements of US or any other
origin uranium to foreign and domestic buyers. US government export policies are established and enforced through
bilateral agreements for nuclear co-operation and trade with specific countries (or political blocs such as the EU),
with the general goal of supporting the peaceful uses of nuclear energy while upholding specific US foreign policy
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and non-proliferation objectives. While specific sales contracts are not reviewed or approved, export licenses for
shipment of uranium outside the US are granted by the NRC.
Land Tenure
Saskatchewan Operations
Most of the Company's uranium reserves and resources are located in Saskatchewan. The right to mine minerals is
acquired by the Company as a lessee under a mineral lease from the province of Saskatchewan (a "Crown Lease").
A Crown Lease is for a term of 10 years, with a right to renew for successive 10 year terms in the absence of default
by the lessee. The lessee is required to expend certain amounts for work during each year of a Crown Lease. A
Crown Lease cannot be terminated except in the event of default and for certain environmental concerns as
prescribed in The Crown Minerals Act (Saskatchewan). However, Crown Leases may be amended unilaterally by
the lessor by an amendment to The Crown Minerals Act (Saskatchewan) or The Mineral Disposition Regulations,
1986 (Saskatchewan).
The right to explore for minerals is acquired by the Company in Saskatchewan under a mineral claim from the
province of Saskatchewan (a "Mineral Claim"). The term of a Mineral Claim is two years, with the right to renew
for successive one year periods. To maintain a Mineral Claim in good standing, generally, the holder of a Mineral
Claim must expend a prescribed amount on exploration. Excess expenditures can be applied to satisfy expenditure
requirements for future claim years. Except for exploration purposes, a Mineral Claim does not grant the holder the
right to mine minerals. A holder of a Mineral Claim in good standing has the right to convert a Mineral Claim into a
Mineral Lease. Surface exploration work of a Mineral Claim requires additional governmental approvals.
The surface facilities and mine shafts are located on lands owned by the province of Saskatchewan. The right to use
and occupy the lands is acquired under a surface lease (a "Surface Lease") from the province of Saskatchewan. A
Surface Lease is for a period of time, up to a maximum of 33 years, as is necessary to allow the lessee to operate its
mine and plant and thereafter to carry out the reclamation of the lands involved. Surface Leases are also used by
the province of Saskatchewan as a mechanism to achieve certain environmental protection, radiation protection and
socioeconomic objectives and as a result contain certain undertakings in this regard.
The Company's uranium mining and exploration properties in Saskatchewan are located on traditional lands of first
nations. Pursuant to historical treaties first nation bands ceded title to most traditional lands in northern
Saskatchewan in exchange for treaty lands but generally retained their right to hunt, fish and trap on these traditional
lands. Cameco understands that the federal and Saskatchewan government have a duty to consult first nations
before they take actions that will affect the ability of first nations' people to exercise these rights. A 2002 decision
of the British Columbia Court of Appeal, involving the Haida First Nation and lands not ceded to the government of
British Columbia pursuant to a treaty, imposed a duty on a resource company to consult the Haida First Nation with
respect to the transfer and renewal of a timber harvesting licence granted by the province, since the resource
company knew or ought to have known that the government failed to consult with the Haida First Nation. This
decision is presently under appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada.
In February 2004, Cameco received correspondence from the English River First Nation asserting a right to be
consulted with respect to the use of its traditional lands, which encompass the McArthur River mine, Key Lake mill
and certain exploration areas. While not having a legal duty to consult, Cameco has a practice of engaging in
extensive dialogue with first nations and other stakeholders in northern Saskatchewan and believes it has good
relations. Cameco also employs a significant number of first nations people at its operations and has substantial
business relationships with first nations in northern Saskatchewan and provides other social and educational support
to first nations in northern Saskatchewan. Cameco intends to discuss this matter with the English River First Nation.
US Operations
The Company's uranium reserves and resources in the US are held by subsidiaries and are located in Wyoming and
Nebraska. The right to mine or develop minerals is acquired either by leases from the fee simple owners (private
parties) or mining claims located on property owned by the US Federal Government. In addition, the Company's
subsidiaries acquire surface leases which allow wellfield installation and operation to permit the mining of the
uranium reserves by ISL operations.
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CanadianRoyalties and Certain Taxes
Cameco pays royalties to the province of Saskatchewan on the sale of uranium extracted from ore bodies within the
province under the terms of Part III of the Crown Mineral Royalty Schedule, 1986 (Saskatchewan) (the "Schedule"),
as amended. Royalties include both a basic royalty and a tiered royalty. The basic royalty is equal to 5% of gross
sales of uranium and is reduced by the Saskatchewan resource credit equal to I% of the gross sales of uranium.
The tiered royalty is an additional levy on the gross sales of uranium which applies only when the sales price of
uranium exceeds levels prescribed by the Schedule. Uranium sales subject to the tiered royalty are first reduced by
capital allowances as permitted by the Schedule for new mine or mill construction and certain mill expansion.
When these capital allowances are reduced to zero, tiered royalties become payable. Both the prices and the capital
allowances as defined in the Schedule are adjusted annually to reflect changes in the Canadian gross domestic
product.
The tiered royalty is calculated on the positive difference between the sales price per pound of U3 08 and the
prescribed prices according to the following:

Plus
Plus

Royalty Rate
6%
4%
5%

Canadian Dollar
Sales Price in Excess of:
$14.69
$22.03
$29.38

The above prices are applicable to 2003 and are in Canadian dollars.
For example, if the sales price realized by Cameco was $25 per pound in Canadian dollars, tiered royalties would be
calculated as follows (assuming all capital allowances have been reduced to zero):
[6% x ($25.00- $14.69) x pounds sold] + [4% x ($25.00 - $22.03) x pounds sold]
Cameco did not pay tiered royalties in 2003. Cameco does not expect to pay tiered royalties in 2004 due to the
availability of capital allowances.
Cameco is subject to capital taxes on paid-up capital (as defined for capital tax purposes in the relevant provincial
legislation) in respect of its operations in Saskatchewan and in Ontario. In Saskatchewan, it pays at a rate of 0.6%
on paid-up capital in excess of $10 million (note that this exemption amount can be as high as $15 million,
depending on the percentage of salaries and wages paid in Saskatchewan). In addition, a resource corporation in
Saskatchewan pays a corporate resource surcharge of 3.6% of the value of resource sales. This surcharge is only
payable to the extent that it exceeds the regular capital tax. In Ontario, the Company pays a tax of 0.3% on paid-up
capital allocated to Ontario.
Canadian Income Taxes
Cameco, certain wholly owned subsidiaries, and UEM are subject to federal and provincial income tax in Canada.
Current income tax expense for 2003 was $7.0 million.
In 2003, the federal government enacted amendments to the ITA that provides for a reduction in the corporate tax
rate on income from resource activities from the present level of 28% to 21%, over a five-year period commencing
in 2003. Under Canadian accounting rules, the cumulative effect of a change in income tax legislation on future
income tax assets and liabilities is included in a company's financial statements in the period of substantial
enactment. Accordingly, Cameco reduced its balance sheet provision for future income taxes and recognized a onetime, non-cash income tax adjustment of $86.2 million in the second quarter.
In December 2003, the Ontario government passed amendments which increased the general corporate tax rate from
11% to 14% effective January 1, 2004. In addition, previously scheduled tax rate decreases for 2004 to 2006 were
repealed. Under Canadian accounting rules, the cumulative effect of a change in income tax legislation on future
income tax assets and liabilities is included in a company's financial statements in the period of substantial
enactment. Accordingly, Cameco increased its balance sheet provision for future income taxes and recognized a
one-time, non-cash income tax adjustment of $4.9 million in the fourth quarter.
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For income tax purposes, 10% of royalties are deductible in 2003 increasing to 100% in 2007. However, Cameco is
eligible for the resource allowance (except at Bruce Power) which is a deduction from income for tax purposes. The
resource allowance is equal to 25% of adjusted resource profits, as defined in the ITA. The resource allowance is
90% deductible in 2003, decreasing thereafter until it is eliminated in 2007. Bruce Power is eligible for the
manufacturing tax credit and processing tax credit.
Cameco, certain wholly owned subsidiaries and UEM are also subject to federal large corporations tax, which is
levied on a corporation's taxable capital employed in Canada. This tax is calculated at a rate of 0.225% on taxable
capital in excess of$10 million. Total large corporations tax paid in 2003 was $5.0 million.
US Taxes
The Company, through its US subsidiaries, pays a severance tax to the state of Nebraska in respect of uranium
produced at the Crow Butte mine and pays an ad valorem tax to the county and a severance tax to the state of
Wyoming in respect of the Smith Ranch-Highland operation. Total severance and ad valorem taxes paid in 2003
were $628,000(US).
The Company, also through its US subsidiaries, is subject to US federal and state income tax. The income of
Cameco's US subsidiaries is currently not subject to US regular income tax due to certain income tax deductions
that are available. The Company's US subsidiaries may also be subject to Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) at a
rate of 20%. AMT paid in prior years may be carried forward indefinitely to be applied as a credit against future
regular income taxes.
Employees
At December 31, 2003, Cameco had 1,538 employees. Of the total, 567 employees are represented by three separate
locals of the United Steelworkers of America trade union with collective agreements for each of the two bargaining
units at the Port Hope conversion facility (expiring June 30, 2004) and one for the bargaining unit employees at the
McArthur River and Key Lake operations. In December 2003 Cameco signed a new collective agreement for
bargaining unit employees at the McArthur River and Key Lake operations which expires December 31, 2005.
Risk Factors
The following information pertains to the outlook and conditions currently known to the Company which could have
a material impact on the financial condition of the Company. This information, by its nature, is not all inclusive. It
is not a guarantee that other factors will not affect the Company in the future. This discussion should be read in
conjunction with material in other sections of this Annual Information Form, including Management's Discussion
and Analysis (Appendix "B"). There are also additional risk factors identified under "Common Risk Factors Uranium and Gold". As the context requires, the reference to Company or Cameco also includes Cameco's direct
and indirect subsidiaries.
Volatility and Sensitivity to Prices and Costs
Because the majority of the Company's revenues are derived from the sale of uranium and uranium products, the
Company's net earnings and operating cash flow are closely related and sensitive to fluctuations in the long and
short term market price of U308 and for uranium conversion services. Historically, these prices have fluctuated and
have been and will continue to be affected by numerous factors beyond the Company's control. Such factors
include, among others: demand for nuclear power; political and economic conditions in uranium producing and
consuming countries, such as Canada, the US and Russia and other republics of the CIS; reprocessing of used
reactor fuel and the re-enrichment of depleted uranium tails; sales of excess civilian and military inventories
(including from the dismantling of nuclear weapons) by governments and industry participants; and production
levels and costs of production in countries such as Russia and other republics of the CIS, Africa and Australia.
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The fluctuation of the prices of uranium and UF6 conversion services is illustrated by the following tables, which set
forth, for the periods indicated, the highs and lows of the spot price for non-CIS origin U3 08 and the UF6 conversion
services:

Spot Uranium Prices (1)
(US $/lb of U 3 08 )
Spot
High ......
Low ......
(I)

1994

1995

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

9.60
9.05

12.20
9.65

16.50
13.00

14.30
10.20

11.80
8.75

10.90
9.60

9.40
7.10

9.50
7.20

10.20
9.70

14.40
10.10

Source: The Nuexco Exchange Value, formerly published by Nuexco. Since January 1995, it has been published by TradcTech. Since late
1992 the spot prices reflect the spot price for all uranium other than of CIS origin.

Range of Nuexco UF6 Conversion Values (1)
For Spot and Near-Term Transactions
(US$/kg U)
Spot
High ......
Low ......
(I)

1994

1995

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

5.40
5.35

5.85
5.50

6.15
5.85

6.10
5.10

5.10
3.50

3.85
2.55

3.25
2.35

5.25
3.65

5.25
5.05

6.50
4.90

Source: The Nuexco Conversion Value, formerly published monthly by Nuexco. Since January 1995, it has been published by TradeTech.
The conversion value over this period of time is for the provision of conversion services delivered in North America.

Although the Company employs various pricing mechanisms within its sales contracts to manage its exposure to
price fluctuations, there can be no assurance that such a program will be successful.
Competitionfrom Other Energy Sources and Public Acceptance of Nuclear Energy
Nuclear energy competes with other sources of energy, including oil, natural gas, coal and hydroelectricity. These
other energy sources are to some extent interchangeable with nuclear energy, particularly over the longer term.
Sustained lower prices of oil, natural gas, coal and hydroelectricity may result in lower demand for uranium
concentrates and uranium conversion services. Furthermore, growth of the uranium and nuclear power industry will
depend upon continued and increased acceptance of nuclear technology as a means of generating electricity.
Because of unique political, technological and environmental factors that affect the nuclear industry, the industry is
subject to public opinion risks which could have an adverse impact on the demand for nuclear power and increase
the regulation of the nuclear power industry.
Uranium Industry Competition andInternationalTrade Restrictions
The international uranium industry, including the supply of uranium concentrates and the provision of uranium
conversion services, is highly competitive. The Company markets uranium to utilities in direct competition with
supplies available from a relatively small number of western world uranium mining and enrichment companies,
from certain republics of the CIS and the People's Republic of China, from excess inventories, including inventories
made available from decommissioning of nuclear weapons, from reprocessed uranium and plutonium from used
reactor fuel, and from the use of excess Russian enrichment capacity to re-enrich depleted uranium tails held by
European enrichers in the form of UF6 . The supply of uranium from Russia is, to some extent, impeded by a
number of international trade agreements and policies. These agreements and any similar future agreements,
governmental policies or trade restrictions are beyond the control of Cameco and may affect the supply of uranium
available in the US and Europe, which are the largest markets for uranium in the world.
With respect to UF6 conversion, the Company competes on the basis of price, location and service with two other
full scale commercial suppliers in the western world and with additional supplies available from excess inventories,
including inventories made available from decommissioning of nuclear weapons, and the use of excess Russian
enrichment capacity to re-enrich depleted uranium tails held by European enrichers in the form of UF6.
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Deregulation of the ElectricalUtility Industry
The Company's future prospects are tied directly to the electrical utility industry worldwide. Deregulation of the
utility industry, particularly in the US and Europe, is expected to impact the market for nuclear and other fuels for
years to come, and may result in the premature shutdown of nuclear reactors. Experience to date with deregulation
indicates that utilities are improving the performance of their reactors, achieving record capacity factors. There can
be no assurance that this trend will continue.
Replacement of Reserves
The McArthur River and Rabbit Lake mines are currently the Company's principal sources of uranium concentrates.
Unless the Cigar Lake deposit is placed into production or other reserves are discovered or extensions to existing
orebodies are found, the Company's sources of mined uranium concentrates will decrease over time as reserves at
these two mines are depleted. The Rabbit Lake mine is expected to be depleted in early 2006. Although in the past
the Company (or its predecessors) has successfully replenished its reserves through ongoing exploration,
development and acquisition programs, there can be no assurance that Cameco's future exploration, development
and acquisition efforts will be successful. In addition, while Cameco believes that the Cigar Lake deposit will be put
into production, there can be no assurance that it will be.
Due to the unique nature of the deposits at McArthur River and Cigar Lake, technical challenges exist involving
groundwater, rock properties, radiation protection and ore-handling and transport. Failure to resolve technical
challenges at McArthur River or Cigar Lake may have a material adverse effect on the Company.
Decommissioning and Reclamation
Environmental regulators are increasingly requiring financial assurances to assure that the cost of decommissioning
and reclaiming sites are borne by the parties involved, and not by government. Cameco has filed decommissioning
plans for certain of its properties with regulators. These regulators have accepted the decommissioning plans in
concept, not upon a detailed performance forecast, which has not yet been generated. As Cameco properties
approach or go into decommissioning, further regulatory review of the decommissioning plans may result in
additional decommissioning requirements, associated costs and the requirement to provide additional financial
assurances. It is not possible to predict what level of decommissioning and reclamation (and financial assurances
relating thereto) may be required in the future by regulators.
Dependence on Limited Number of Customers
The Company's principal business relates to the production and sale of uranium concentrates and the provision of
uranium conversion services. The Company relies heavily on a small number of customers to purchase a significant
portion of its production of uranium concentrates and its uranium conversion services. For instance, for the period
2004 through 2006, Cameco's five largest customers are anticipated to account for approximately 42% of the
Company's contracted supply of U308. For the period 2004 through 2006, Cameco's five largest UF6 conversion
customers are anticipated to account for approximately 36% of the Company's contracted supply of UF6 conversion
services. Cameco is currently the only commercial supplier of UO2 for use in Canadian CANDU heavy water
reactors with sales to its largest customer, OPG, accounting for approximately 40% of the Company's UO2 sales in
2003. The loss of any of the Company's largest customers or curtailment of purchases by such customers could
have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition and results of operations.
Technical Obsolescence
Requirements for the Company's products and services may be affected by technological changes in nuclear
reactors, enrichment and used fuel processing.
Bruce Power LP - Nuclear Electrical Generation
Overview
Business
Bruce Power's business is the generation and sale of electricity into the Ontario wholesale market. Bruce Power
generates electricity using the four Bruce "B" and two Bruce "A" nuclear powered units. The Bruce "B" nuclear
units and the two restarted Bruce "A" units have capacity to supply about 20% of Ontario's electricity needs. Bruce
Power has about 3,300 employees.
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2001 Acquisition
On May 12, 2001, Cameco, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Cameco Bruce Holdings Inc., acquired a 15%
limited partnership interest in Bruce Power, an Ontario limited partnership, and directly acquired a 15% interest in
Bruce Power Inc., the general partner of Bruce Power. On the same date, Bruce Power signed and closed
agreements with OPG and certain of its subsidiaries to lease and operate the Bruce "A" and "B" nuclear powered
units and related facilities located in southwestern Ontario.
To obtain its interest in Bruce Power, Cameco committed to invest up to $100 million in Bruce Power and to
provide up to approximately $102 million in financial assurances on behalf of Bruce Power. As of December 31,
2002, Cameco had invested approximately $93 million in Bruce Power and had provided about $84 million in
financial assurances. In addition, Cameco purchased finished nuclear fuel from OPG for approximately $74 million
for resale to Bruce Power, which resale has been completed.
Concurrent with Cameco's acquisition, The Power Workers' Union acquired a 2.0% interest in Bruce Power and
The Society of Energy Professionals acquired a 0.6% interest in Bruce Power. They are the two main unions
representing workers at Bruce Power. BE indirectly held the balance, being an 82.4% interest in Bruce Power.
2003 Acquisition
In early September of 2002, after announcing a weakened financial position, BE received financial support from the
British government. As a condition of the agreement to provide its financial support, the British government
required and received guarantees from certain BE subsidiaries and related companies, including Bruce Power. BE's
weakened financial position resulted in its agreement, in late 2002, to sell 79.8% of Bruce Power to a consortium of
Cameco, TransCanada PipeLines Limited ("TransCanada"), and BPC Generation Infrastructure Trust ("BPC"), a
trust established by Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System. The Power Worker's Union and The Society
of Energy Professionals agreed to acquire BE's remaining 2.6% interest in Bruce Power.
On February 14, 2003 the agreement closed, with a Cameco wholly owned subsidiary, Cameco Bruce Holdings II
Inc., acquiring a 16.6% interest in Bruce Power, bringing Cameco's total indirect interest in Bruce Power to 31.6%.
Cameco concurrently increased its interest in Bruce Power Inc. from 15% to 33.3%. Cameco acquired these interests
from an affiliate of BE and paid approximately $204 million.
Concurrently, TransCanada, through a subsidiary, and BPC each acquired a 31.6% interest in Bruce Power and a 33
1/3% interest in Bruce Power Inc. from the same BE affiliate. The Power Worker's Union and The Society of
Energy Professionals increased their collective interest in Bruce Power from 2.6% to 5.2% as part of the same
transaction.
As part of the closing of this transaction, a Cameco subsidiary, a TransCanada subsidiary and BPC each advanced
$75 million to Bruce Power. Bruce Power used these funds to pay $225 million in deferred rent that it owed to OPG
(see "Overview-Bruce Power-OPGLease").
The Bruce Power limited partnership agreement and certain other related documents were amended to give effect to
the new ownership of Bruce Power following closing. Under these new arrangements, among other things, Cameco
will continue as Bruce Power's fuel manager (see "Cameco Fuel Management").
As part of the acquisition of BE's interest in Bruce Power, the consortium acquired a BE affiliate's 50% interest in
Huron Wind L.P. (Cameco subsidiary's share is 1/3 of the 50% interest). Located adjacent to the Bruce site, the
nine-megawatt Huron Wind L.P. wind farm officially opened on November 29, 2002. OPG owns the other 50% of
Huron Wind L.P.
Upon closing, Bruce Power's guarantees in support of the financial support to BE provided by the British
government were released.
The acquisition and its share of the OPG deferred rent payments were funded by Cameco with existing cash reserves
and short-term debt.
Cameco's total commitment for financial assurances given on behalf of Bruce Power is estimated to be $ 191 million
at December 31, 2003. These financial assurances include financial assurances given to the CNSC in support of
Bruce Power's operating licence, guarantees in favour of OPG under the lease between Bruce Power and OPG for
the Bruce site, and guarantees in support of Bruce Power's power purchase agreements with customers. This last
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commitment is subject to adjustment as the actual amounts of financial assurances in support of power purchase
agreements will fluctuate in response to wholesale electricity market changes.
Bruce Power-OPG Lease
In May 2001, Bruce Power signed and closed agreements to lease and operate the Bruce "A" and "B" nuclear
powered units and related facilities in southwestern Ontario with OPG and certain of its subsidiaries. The initial
lease period expires in 2018. Bruce Power has the right to extend the lease and certain related agreements for up to
an additional 25 years. The lease was amended in January 2002, and again in 2003 as part of the 2003 Acquisition
described above.
Bruce Power paid OPG an initial rental payment of about $552 million, comprised of about $327 million in cash and
a $225 million note receivable as deferred rent. As part of the 2003 Acquisition, a Cameco subsidiary, a
TransCanada subsidiary and BPC each advanced $75 million to Bruce Power. Bruce Power used these funds to pay
the $225 million OPG note receivable.
Bruce Power is the tenant under a lease with OPG on the Bruce nuclear power facility. The initial term of the lease
expires in 2018 with an option on the part of Bruce Power to extend the lease by up to 25 years. The Bruce nuclear
power facility continues to be managed and operated by the management and staff of Bruce Power. Spent fuel and
decommissioning liabilities remain the responsibility of OPG and, as determined at the inception of the lease, are
covered by the existing lease payments. The lease agreement with OPG provides for limited adjustments to the base
rent every five years during the initial term of the lease. These limited adjustments are based on a maximum of 50%
of the discounted value of the expected increase to the decommissioning costs for the Bruce Power facility,
determined using predetermined principles and assumptions. For each year in the period 2004 to 2008, the
aggregate of these rents, subject to limited exceptions, cannot be less than $190 million. In 2003, the aggregate of
these rent payments was approximately $177 million. There are no similar adjustments to the existing lease
payments with respect to spent fuel liabilities. Commencing in 2006, Bruce Power also has the right to terminate the
lease if the continuing operation of the facility is no longer economically viable, subject to a lease termination fee,
certain ongoing operational requirements during handover and certain shut-down conditions prior to handover.
Cameco has severally guaranteed Bruce Power's performance of these obligations.
OPG is responsible for nuclear waste and decommissioning liabilities at the Bruce site. OPG is responsible for the
plant decommissioning after the reactors have been defuelled and the heavy water drained (see "Nuclear Waste
Management and Decommissioning").
The Generating Facilities
The Bruce nuclear generating stations are located approximately 250 kilometres northwest of Toronto on Lake
Huron. The Bruce nuclear generating stations consist of eight CANDU reactors. The four Bruce "B" reactors, with a
combined net generating capacity of 3,160 megawatts, were commissioned between 1984 and 1987. The four Bruce
"A" reactors, with a combined generating capacity of 3,087 megawatts, were commissioned between 1977 and 1979
and removed from service by OPG between 1995 and 1998. Bruce Power has returned two of the Bruce "A"
reactors to service, with a combined net generating capacity of 1,500 megawatts. Bruce Power is currently
undertaking a review of the feasibility of returning the other two Bruce "A" reactors to service. The four Bruce "B"
reactors and two Bruce "A" reactors give Bruce Power a net generating capacity of 4,660 megawatts. An average
capacity factor of 80% is forecast for the Bruce "A" and "B" stations during 2004 compared to 85% in 2003, which
reflects planned maintenance outages on the Bruce "A" and "B" reactors during the year, and a planned outage of
all four Bruce "B" units in the fall of 2004, to do an inspection of the vacuum building. This latter planned outage
requires all four units to be shut down simultaneously for approximately one month. This inspection is required by
applicable regulatory requirements once every ten years.
The estimated operating life of a nuclear generating station ends when substantial capital expenditures are required
to replace life-limiting components, such as steam generators and fuel channel pressure tubes, and such capital
expenditures are not economically justified. Bruce Power estimates that the operating life of the four Bruce "B"
nuclear units will end about mid-2018 (based upon 201,000 effective fuel power hours for fuel channels) and the
operating life of the two Bruce "A" units will end about 2009 for Unit 3 and 2017 for Unit 4 (assuming steam
generator replacement for Unit 4 in 2007). An investment by Bruce Power to replace steam generators, fuel channel
pressure tubes and other life-limiting components at the end of their useful life will depend, among other things, on
prevailing economic, financial and market conditions. If replacement of life-limiting components is not justified,
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Cameco expects that Bruce Power will continue to operate these units until their shutdown is dictated by safety or
economic considerations.
In 2003, Bruce Power's capital expenditure program, excluding the Bruce "A" restart program, was about $159
million. In 2004, Bruce Power's capital expenditure program for the two A and four B reactors is expected to total
about $280 million, plus an additional $120 million for sustaining capital and site service support areas. The capital
expenditure program consists of:
Bruce B turbines/power uprate
Bruce A unit 4 steam generators (progress payment)
Infrastructure projects

$160 million
$ 25 million
$ 95 million

Bruce Power capital expenditures are expected to average about $200 million for each of 2005 and 2006. This
excludes sustaining capital and expenditures for site service support areas, which are expected to average about $ 120
million per year.
As part of its Bruce "B" power uprate project, Bruce Power plans to refuel the Bruce "B" units with modified fuel
containing SEU beginning in 2007. The Bruce "B" units are currently operating at 90% of maximum power based
upon an operating limitation imposed by the CNSC. This limitation was placed on the reactors when studies
revealed that emergency shutdown systems may not provide sufficient safety margins for certain low probability
accidents. The derating to 90% of full power ensures that the necessary safety margin is maintained. The use of the
modified fuel is intended to improve the safety margins of the reactors and allow them to operate at their design
capacity and with the necessary safety margin. Approval is required from the CNSC to operate the Bruce "B" units
with the modified fuel. (see "Uranium Fuel Conversion Services" and "Cameco Fuel Management").
Bruce "A" Restart
One of Bruce Power's key initiatives was the restart of two of the four laid-up units of the Bruce "A" station (Units
3 and 4). The first Bruce "A" unit (Unit 4) was connected to the Ontario electricity grid in October, 2003, and
declared in commercial production as of November 1 5', 2003, with the second (Unit 3) connected to the grid in
January, 2004, but not yet declared in commercial production. These two Bruce "A" units have a combined net
generating capacity of about 1,500 megawatts. The project costs to restart Units 3 and 4 of the Bruce "A" station are
estimated at $724 million, with about $351 million incurred in 2003 and $25 million in early 2004. These costs are
materially above the first forecast costs due to increased scope arising as a result of security concerns and regulatory
requirements. There was also some unanticipated work required to assure safe startup and operation.
All relicensing hearings and approvals have been completed with the CNSC for the restart of Units 3 and 4. Units 3
and 4 are now under CNSC operational oversight.
Ontario Deregulation
The electricity market in the province of Ontario opened ("Market Opening") to full competition on May 1, 2002.
In order to create a competitive market after Market Opening, the Ontario government approved a framework,
known as the "market power mitigation" framework, to ensure an orderly and gradual transition to an industry
structure in which OPG's share of generating capacity available to the Ontario market is substantially reduced.
OPG's decontrol targets are specified in terms of Tier I and Tier 2 capacity. Tier I capacity is defined as all nuclear
and hydroelectric generation in Ontario. Tier 2 capacity is defined as that portion of Ontario's generation capacity,
including fossil generation, inter-tie capacity and demand-side bidding, that is not part of Tier 1 capacity. Within 42
months after May 1, 2002, OPG is required to reduce its share of in-service Tier 2 generating capacity through
transfer of effective control of a minimum of 4,000 megawatts of in-service Tier 2 capacity. At OPG's discretion, it
may substitute the transfer of effective control of up to 1,000 megawatts of hydroelectric power in place of an
equivalent amount of Tier 2 capacity. Within 10 years after May 1, 2002, OPG must reduce its effective control of
total Tier I and Tier 2 capacity to 35% or less of the supply options in the Ontario market. Forty-two months
following May 1, 2002, the Ontario Energy Board ("OEB") will review and publicly report on OPG's success in
attaining its decontrol target respecting Tier 2 capacity, as well as its plans for meeting its 10 year decontrol target.
In keeping with its decontrol obligations, in May 2001 OPG leased the Bruce nuclear generating stations to Bruce
Power.
In the Ontario market, generators, wholesalers and suppliers, both inside and outside Ontario, compete to sell
electricity into the real time energy market or spot market administered by an agency established by the Ontario
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government called the Independent Electricity Market Operator ("IMO"). Both wholesale market participants and
retail customers have access to the electricity supplier of their choice. Bruce Power earns revenue through mediumand long-term contracts and spot market sales. Bruce Power uses risk management activities, such as hedging in
order to mitigate Bruce Power's exposure to volatile electricity prices.
In November 2002, the Government of Ontario introduced Bill 210 Electricity Pricing, Conservation and Supply
Act, 2002, reversing, in part, its decision to deregulate the electricity market. The Bill became law on December 9,
2002. The new legislation and related regulations include the following key features:
*

Effective December 1, 2002 (but retroactive to Market Opening) and at least until April 30, 2006, the price
of electricity paid by "low volume consumers" (consumers using less than 150,000 kWh annually, although
this was subsequently increased to 250,000 kWh, as described below) and other "designated consumers" is
fixed at 4.30/kWh;

*

The rates of transmission and distribution and the fees for the operation of the IMO are capped at current
levels.

*

IMO market uplift charges to distributors and low volume and designated consumers are capped at
0.620/kWh.

*

The Minister of Energy has been given increased power including the ability to review market rules made
by the IMO to ensure that the new rules do not unduly and adversely affect the interests of consumers, with
respect to prices or the reliability or quality of electricity service. This Minister has also been given power
to control rates approved by the OEB and to require certain orders to be amended.

*

Tax incentives are provided to promote conservation, use of alternate fuels and support for clean energy
production through a variety of mechanisms.

On March 21, 2003, the Province announced a business protection plan for large electricity consumers in Ontario.
Under this plan, consumers using up to 250,000 kWh per year were included in the fixed price rate of 4.30/kWh
retroactive to May 1, 2002. Except for certain designated customers, all consumers using above 250,000 kWh per
year remained in the competitive wholesale and retail markets and receive rebates under the terms of the existing
market power mitigation agreement arrangements for the 12 months ending April 30, 2003. Effective May 1, 2003,
rebates to these customers were fixed at 50% of the amount by which the average spot price in the IMOadministered market exceeds 3.80/kWh, with rebates paid on a quarterly basis.
On November 25, 2003, the newly elected Liberal Ontario Provincial Government introduced Bill 4, the Ontario
Energy Board Amendment Act, 2003, which will remove the 4.30/kWh price freeze. As of April 1, 2004, an interim
pricing plan is expected to be implemented. The first 750 kWh (kilowatt hours) will be priced at 4.70/kWh and
monthly consumption above that level will be priced at 5.50/kWh. The Ontario government stated that the interim
pricing structure will remain in place until the independent regulator, the Ontario Energy Board, develops a clear
and transparent mechanism for setting prices, to be implemented as soon as possible, but not later than May 1, 2005.
The interim pricing structure does not distinguish between commercial and residential users; it only distinguishes
between consumption patterns.
The new Ontario Provincial Government policy is to halt the decontrol of the OPG assets. Energy policy and the
decontrol of OPG are under review by the Ontario government. There is uncertainty as to what actions will be
taken.
These regulatory changes have not had a direct impact on the price to date in the wholesale electricity market into
which Bruce Power sells its output. However, the volume of medium- and long-term transactions in the wholesale
electricity market has dramatically decreased and the regulatory changes have increased uncertainty for generators
like Bruce Power.
Cameco Fuel Management
Cameco has overall responsibility to procure nuclear fuel for Bruce Power. This includes the supply by Cameco of
all uranium concentrates and UO2 conversion services required for the Bruce nuclear generating stations, making
Bruce Power a significant customer for Cameco's core products. The six Bruce units are expected to use at least 1.5
million pounds of U3 08 and 600 tonnes of natural U0 2 conversion services each year.
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In late 2001, on behalf of Bruce Power, Cameco negotiated a fuel manufacturing services agreement with Zircatec
Precision Industries Inc. ("ZPI") covering all of Bruce Power's fuel manufacturing requirements through the initial
lease period. Under the arrangement, ZPI will manufacture UO2 provided by Cameco into finished nuclear fuel
bundles for Bruce Power.
Bruce Power is also pursuing the use of SEU as part of its power uprate project for the four Bruce "B" units.
Cameco is working with Bruce Power, ZPI and others in the development of SEU. Cameco expects Bruce Power's
use of SEU will increase the volume of U308 sold to Bruce Power and will not significantly reduce natural UO2
conversion services sold to Bruce Power (see "Uranium Fuel Conversion Services"). Cameco has initiated a project
at its Port Hope facilities to modify and add to the facilities to manufacture SEU power for the Bruce Power fuel.
An environmental assessment is currently being prepared in accordance with regulatory requirements.
OPG Services to Bruce Power
As part of the OPG-Bruce Power transaction, OPG agreed to provide certain services to Bruce Power. Some of these
services are required in order for Bruce Power to comply with terms of its CNSC operating licences. The material
short-term OPG services include: nuclear operating support services and steam generator and fuel channel
inspection and maintenance services. These services may be terminated upon 12 months prior notice by either Bruce
Power or OPG. The material long-term OPG services include services relating to the supply, delivery and
processing of heavy water for use in the Bruce nuclear units, low level and intermediate waste storage and disposal
services, and collection and storage of used fuel bundles generated from the operation of the Bruce nuclear units as
further described in "Nuclear Waste Management and Decommissioning."
Nuclear Waste Management and Decommissioning
As they operate, the Bruce nuclear units generate:
*

used nuclear fuel bundles ("high-level radioactive waste");

*

other material that has come in close contact with reactors but is less radioactive than used nuclear fuel
bundles, such as ion exchange resins and other structural material and reactor equipment, including
pressure tubes ("intermediate-level radioactive waste"); and

*

material used in connection with station operation that is not highly radioactive ("low-level radioactive
waste").

Used nuclear fuel bundles from the Bruce reactors are temporarily stored in water-filled pools ("wet bays") at the
Bruce nuclear stations for a cooling off period of at least ten years during which their radioactivity substantially
decreases. OPG has constructed a dry storage facility at its radioactive waste operations site that is located on a part
of the Bruce site not leased to Bruce Power. After the cooling off period, used nuclear fuel bundles will be
transferred to above ground concrete canisters at OPG's dry storage facility. In-station modifications to the Bruce
"B" wet bays to support the loading of used nuclear fuel bundles into dry storage containers were completed by
Bruce Power in 2002. When originally constructed, the wet bays at Bruce "A" and "B" had sufficient capacity to
store used nuclear fuel bundles for up to 15 to 20 years of operation. The Bruce "B" wet bays are at or near full
capacity, but in 2003, OPG started transferring the used fuel bundles to its dry storage facility.
Bruce Power pays OPG a fee for OPG to assume title to the used nuclear fuel bundles discharged from the Bruce
reactors during the lease period. OPG retains title to all used fuel bundles stored in the wet bays before May 11,
2001. No later than April 2003, OPG was required to commence collection of used nuclear fuel bundles stored in the
wet bays for transport to and storage at its dry storage facility at the Bruce site. These shipments have now
commenced. While the used nuclear fuel bundles are contained in wet bays, Bruce Power is responsible for their
management.
During the term of the lease, OPG has also agreed to take title to, store and dispose of all of Bruce Power's low and
intermediate-level radioactive waste at OPG's radioactive waste management facility at the Bruce site. OPG retains
title to all low and intermediate-level radioactive waste generated before May II, 2001.
Under the lease agreement, OPG, as the owner of the Bruce nuclear plants, is responsible for decommissioning of
the eight Bruce nuclear units and for funding and meeting other requirements relating thereto that the CNSC may
require of Bruce Power as licensed operator of the Bruce nuclear plants. OPG is also responsible to manage
radioactive waste associated with decommissioning of the Bruce nuclear plants.
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There is no facility in Canada for the permanent disposal of used nuclear fuel. Bill C-27, the Nuclear Fuel Waste
Act, implementing the federal government's nuclear fuel waste management strategy, received Royal Assent on June
13, 2002. Under this legislation, owners of used nuclear fuel in Canada established an organization, as a separate
legal entity, with a mandate to manage and co-ordinate the full range of activities relating to the long-term
management of used nuclear fuel. The organization is to report regularly to the federal government and to make
recommendations on long-term management of used nuclear fuel. The legislation also required the owners of used
nuclear fuel, including OPG, to establish a trust fund with a Canadian financial institution and make specified
deposits. As OPG is the owner of the used nuclear fuel bundles discharged from the Bruce units, it, not Bruce
Power, is subject to the financial contribution requirements of this legislation.
Regulatory Affairs
The federal government under the Nuclear Safety and Control Act (Canada) regulates Bruce Power's nuclear
operations. (see "Government Regulation-Canadian Uranium Industry Regulation"). In addition, Bruce Power is
subject to the NuclearLiability Act ("NLA").
All of the construction, equipment, safety systems and operating limits for the Bruce nuclear generation stations are
subject to regulation by the CNSC under the Canadian Nuclear Safety and Control Act. Bruce Power is required to
regularly report to the CNSC, which monitors the safety performance of the Bruce nuclear generating stations. On
May 9, 2001, Bruce Power received a licence to operate the Bruce "B" nuclear units and a license to operate the
Bruce "A" nuclear units, which licences took effect on May II, 2001.
On September 24, 2003, a CNSC hearing was held to consider the renewal of the power reactor operating licenses
for the Bruce "A" and "B" reactors. The hearing was adjourned to February 5, 2004 to give further consideration to
the form and amount of financial assurances to be given to the CNSC by Bruce Power and its owners. Currently,
Bruce Power has an interim license to operate the "A" and "B" reactors until March 2004.
The NLA requires operators of nuclear generating facilities to purchase nuclear liability insurance from the Nuclear
Liability Association of Canada in amounts specified in the NLA. Currently, the NLA requires the operator of
nuclear stations to maintain, for each of its nuclear stations, insurance up to a limit of $75 million for liability
imposed under the NLA. Under Part I of the NLA, an operator is strictly liable for any damage to property of, or
personal injury to, the public arising from a nuclear incident (as defined in the NLA), other than damage resulting
from sabotage or acts of war. If in the opinion of the Governor in Council, an operator's liability could exceed $75
million in respect of a nuclear incident, or it would be in the public interest to do so, the Governor in Council would
proclaim Part II of the NLA in effect. Under Part II of the NLA, an operator's liability would effectively be limited
to the amount of such insurance and the Governor in Council may authorize funds to be paid by the federal
government for claims in excess of that amount. The NLA is currently under review and this review could require an
increase in insurance coverage that Bruce Power must obtain.
Nuclear Generation - Risk Factors
The following information, known to the Company, pertaining to the outlook and conditions applicable to Bruce
Power, could have a material impact on its contribution to Cameco's financial results. This information, by its
nature, is not all-inclusive. It is not a guarantee that other factors will not affect Bruce Power and, as a consequence,
Cameco. This discussion should be read in conjunction with material in other sections of this Annual Information
Form, including Management's Discussion and Analysis. (Appendix "B")
Restructuringof Ontario's ElectricityIndustry
The government of Ontario retains the overall power to regulate and further restructure Ontario's electricity
industry. Ontario's electricity market opened to competition May 1, 2002 with the introduction of competition in
both the wholesale and retail markets in Ontario. However, the Ontario government in November 2002, March 2003
and November 2003, as described in "Ontario Deregulation", announced regulatory changes reversing, in part, its
decision to deregulate the electricity market. The regulatory authorities responsible for the structuring, development
and operation of the new Ontario electricity market, the IMO and OEB, and many of the incumbent participants in
the Ontario market, including Bruce Power, have little or no operating experience in a competitive electricity
marketplace. Accordingly, it is possible that further changes in the structure of electricity industry may be
necessitated based on the experience of regulatory authorities and market participants in the new competitive
environment. These changes may be accomplished either through fundamental changes by the government of
Ontario to the structure of the Ontario electricity industry, or through changes made by the IMO to the market rules.
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In addition, it is difficult to predict the effect of these changing market and regulatory conditions on Bruce Power's
business, results of operations, financial position or prospects.
In certain jurisdictions where the energy marketplace has been opened to competition, factors such as energy price
volatility and episodes of supply shortages have prompted a re-examination of the market framework by
governments, regulatory authorities and consumer groups. An example is the November 2002 announcement by the
Ontario government of the price cap of 4.3 cents per kilowatt-hour for certain participants in the retail electricity
market and the subsequent announcement in November 2003 to change this price cap to 4.7 cents per kilowatt-hour
and 5.5 cents per kilowatt-hour, depending on consumption. Political, regulatory and consumer responses to the
competitive wholesale and retail electricity markets in Ontario and the possible development of a trend toward reregulation in the North American electricity industry, could have a material adverse effect on Bruce Power's
business, results of operations, financial position or prospects.
Government Regulation
Bruce Power's operations are subject to extensive government regulation that may change from time to time.
Matters that are subject to regulation include nuclear operations (including regulation pursuant to Nuclear Safety and
Control Act (Canada), the NLA and the Emergency Plans Act (Ontario)), nuclear waste management and
decommissioning and environmental matters including air emissions. Operations that are not currently regulated
may become subject to regulation. Because legal requirements are frequently changed and are subject to
interpretation, Bruce Power is unable to predict the ultimate cost of compliance with these requirements or their
effect on operations. Some of Bruce Power's operations are regulated by government agencies that exercise
discretionary powers conferred by statute. Because the scope of such authority is uncertain and may be
inconsistently applied, Bruce Power is unable to predict the ultimate cost of compliance with these requirements or
their effect on operations. Due to, among other things, inadequate safety margins, the CNSC has the power to limit
the output from or order the shutdown of one or more of the Bruce "A" and "B" units and to impose additional
onerous licence conditions on Bruce Power.
Nuclear Operations
Bruce Power is subject to extensive federal regulation with respect to its nuclear operations. Bruce Power's failure
to comply with such regulation could have a material adverse effect on Bruce Power.
Risks of substantial liability, as well as the potential for significant increased costs of operations, arise from the
management and operation of nuclear generating stations, including, among other things, from structural problems,
increasing security requirements to cover factors such as physical security threats, equipment malfunctions, and the
storage, handling and disposal of radioactive materials. Bruce Power has implemented risk management strategies,
but there can be no assurance that such risks can be minimized or eliminated. An accident at a nuclear installation
anywhere in the world or other reasons could cause the CNSC to limit the operation or licensing of the Bruce
nuclear generation stations.
OPG undertook a testing and inspection program to ascertain the physical condition of its nuclear generating
stations. Under the OPG-Bruce Power lease arrangement, Bruce Power has continued that program for the Bruce
nuclear generating stations by contracting with OPG for the supply of steam generation, fuel channel and other
inspection services. As a result of this program, OPG identified equipment life cycle issues, such as steam generator
tube corrosion, feeder pipe wall thinning and pressure tube/calandria tube contact. Cameco understands these
conditions were anticipated in the design but that experience has shown that the rate of degradation is higher than
anticipated. In addition, no nuclear generating station utilizing CANDU technology has yet completed a full life
cycle. There can be no assurance that Bruce Power will not have to incur significant capital expenditures for repairs
or replacements in addition to those currently contemplated. To address these issues, Bruce Power may need to
increase preventative maintenance programs and allow for more outage time (a period when a nuclear reactor is not
operating) than currently planned. Such additional repairs, replacements and longer outage times could have a
material adverse effect on Bruce Power.
The occurrence of any of these events could adversely effect Bruce Power's expected contribution to Cameco's
financial results.
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Reliance Upon Single Contractors
Bruce Power is dependent upon OPG for certain nuclear support services, Cameco for U308 supply and UO2
conversion services, and ZPI for fuel manufacturing services. Reliance by Bruce Power on a single contractor for
each of these services is a supply security risk. Failure of any of these suppliers to provide services of adequate
quality or in a timely manner, or, in the case of OPG, to agree to extend the term of short-term material service
agreements, could have a material adverse effect on Bruce Power and, as a result, Bruce Power's expected
contribution to Cameco's financial results.
Nuclear Waste Management andDecommissioning
Bruce Power is subject to extensive federal regulation with respect to nuclear waste management. Failure to comply
with such regulation could lead to prosecution and could subject Bruce Power to fines and other penalties, including
the revocation of operating licences for its nuclear generation facilities. Any release of radioactive material beyond
prescribed limits from property leased or occupied by Bruce Power could lead to governmental orders requiring
investigation, control and/or remediation of such release and could also lead to claims from third parties for harm
caused by such release. Bruce Power incurs substantial costs for nuclear waste management and changes in federal
regulation could result in additional costs that could have a material adverse effect on Bruce Power.
The wet bays at Bruce "A" and "B" have limited capacity to store used nuclear fuel. As required by contract with
Bruce Power, OPG has commenced the collection of used fuel bundles stored in the wet bays for transport to and
storage at OPG's dry storage facility at the Bruce site. OPG has title to all used nuclear fuel bundles in the wet bays.
Failure of OPG to continue to provide collection services of adequate quality or in a timely manner or problems
associated with the instation modifications to the Bruce "B" wet bays to support the loading of used nuclear fuel
bundles into dry storage containers, could have a material adverse effect on Bruce Power.
The occurrence of any of these events could adversely effect Bruce Power's expected contribution to Cameco's
financial results.
Competition
Since Market Opening and the subsequent regulation of the retail electricity market, wholesale prices have been
volatile. Increased competition from the restart of other wholesale generation at the Pickering nuclear station and
from new construction may result in lower wholesale electricity prices. Cameco believes Bruce Power's ability to
compete depends upon many factors within and outside its control. There can be no assurance that Bruce Power will
be able to compete successfully or that competitive pressure will not have a material adverse effect on Bruce Power
and, as result, Bruce Power's expected contribution to Cameco's financial results.
Reliance Upon TransmissionSystems
Bruce Power's ability to sell electricity depends on the capacity and reliability of the Ontario electricity transmission
system operated by Hydro One under the direction of the IMO and regulated by the OEB and the other North
American electricity transmission systems that are connected to the Ontario electricity transmission system.
Accordingly, the success of Bruce Power's business is dependent upon the functioning of interconnected electrical
transmission systems in North America, Hydro One's operating performance and financial stability, as well as the
provincial regulation of Ontario's electricity transmission system. The lack of adequate and reliable electricity
transmission capacity would have a material adverse effect on Bruce Power and, as a result, Bruce Power's expected
contribution to Cameco's financial results.
Effects of Weather
By the nature of its business, Bruce Power's earnings are sensitive to weather variations from time to time.
Variations in winter weather affect the demand for electrical heating requirements. Variations in summer weather
affect the demand for electrical cooling requirements.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of non-performance by contractual counterparties with respect to payment for services
provided. A significant portion of Bruce Power's revenues are derived from sales through the IMO-administered
spot market. Participants in the IMO spot market must meet IMO-mandated standards for creditworthiness with the
result that Bruce Power's risk for these sales should be effectively managed. To the extent that the credit support
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provided by purchasers of power to the IMO is inadequate, all market participants are responsible for any shortfall in
proportion to their market activity.
A significant portion of Bruce Power's revenues are derived from the sale of electricity under medium-term and
long-term power purchase agreements. As a result, Bruce Power is exposed to credit risk. The purchasers and Bruce
Power under such agreements must meet certain standards for creditworthiness and, in certain circumstances, must
supply financial assurances as security for non-performance. The requirement of purchasers to provide financial
assurances should result in Bruce Power's credit risk for these sales being effectively managed. To the extent that
financial assurances provided by such purchasers is inadequate, Bruce Power is subject to credit risk, the occurrence
of which could have a material adverse impact on Bruce Power's expected contribution to Cameco's financial
results. Bruce Power is likewise obligated, in certain circumstances, to provide financial assurances to such
purchasers. Depending on the circumstances, this may burden the credit capacity of Bruce Power and Cameco.
Cameco has committed to provide a certain amount of financial assurances to Bruce Power. (see "Overview - 2003
Acquisition").
Spot Market Electricity Prices
A significant portion of Bruce Power's revenue is tied, either directly or indirectly, to the spot market price for
electricity in Ontario. The price of wholesale electricity may vary depending on, among other variables: the
availability of generation and transmission systems, economic growth, economic slowdown, seasonal and weatherbased variations in electricity demand, the plans and activities of other market participants, the evolution of newly
deregulated electricity markets, regulatory decisions in Ontario and neighbouring jurisdictions (including
deregulation), the exchange rate for the Canadian dollar and wholesale market trading rules, mechanisms for
maintaining adequate generation reserves and the level of competition. Although Bruce Power engages in risk
management activities, including trading of electricity and related contracts, to mitigate these risks, there can be no
assurance that these activities will be successful. Electricity prices have proven to be extremely volatile at certain
times in certain markets.

THE GOLD BUSINESS
Overview
Cameco's gold business consists of mining operations and exploration, which is managed by Cameco Gold Inc.
("CGI"). CGI, with its head office in Toronto, Ontario, was established in 1996 as a wholly owned subsidiary of
Cameco.
Cameco's gold producing property is the Kumtor mine in the Kyrgyz Republic. CGI subsidiaries have a one-third
(1/3) interest in and operate the Kumtor mine. In October 2003, remediation work was complete and mining of
higher-grade ore resumed following the pit wall failure in July 2002. The Kumtor mine produced 677,552 ounces,
compared to forecast production of 673,357ounces.
Cameco's principal gold development property is the Boroo mine in Mongolia. Boroo Gold Company LLC
("BGC"), a 54% CGI indirect owned subsidiary, has developed the Boroo mine. In 2002, CGI indirectly acquired
its interest in BGC when it acquired majority control of AGR. The construction of the mine and mill at Boroo was
completed on October 31, 2003 and commercial production is expected in the first quarter of 2004, once the
commissioning process is complete. All necessary government approvals have been obtained. The capital cost of
the project is $75 million (US) including capitalized costs during the pre-production phase. The sustaining capital
expenditure budget for 2004 is $7.5 million (US). Production in 2004 is forecast at 210,000 ounces and annual
production thereafter is expected to be about 175,000 ounces.
In February 2003, Cameco and Kyrgyzaltyn JSC agreed in principle to restructure the Kumtor mine ownership. The
proposed restructuring envisioned that a Cameco subsidiary would hold all of the common shares of KGC, the
owner of the Kumtor mine. The restructuring is contingent upon a number of factors including further negotiations
leading to final agreements acceptable to Cameco and Kyrgyzaltyn JSC, approvals by third party institutions and a
fairness opinion requested by Kyrgyzaltyn JSC.
Notwithstanding the earlier agreements, in January 2004 Cameco announced that Kyrgyzaltyn JSC agreed to
transfer all of KGC, the owner of Kumtor gold mine in the Kyrgyz Republic, to a new jointly owned Canadian
company called Centerra. In conjunction with its acquisition of KGC and Cameco's other gold assets, Centerra
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intends to undertake an initial public offering in Canada. Cameco expects to hold a majority interest in Centerra
immediately following the initial public offering.
Cameco subsidiaries will initially hold 67% of Centerra after transferring its one-third interest in KGC together with
its other gold-related assets. Kyrgyzaltyn JSC, whose shares are held 100% by the Kyrgyz government, will initially
hold 33% of Centerra after transferring its two-thirds interest in KGC. Kyrgyzaltyn JSC has the option to acquire an
additional 2% of Centerra from Cameco at a value based on the initial ownership allocation, which may not reflect
Centerra's full market value. This option can be exercised for 30 days after Centerra is listed on the Toronto Stock
Exchange. If this option is exercised, Cameco's investment will decline to 65% on an undiluted basis.
Initially, Centerra's assets will include the following:
*

100% of KGC, which owns Kumtor gold mine located in Kyrgyz Republic. KGC will relinquish
its rights to develop the underground potential if it has not notified the government of its intention
to proceed with development two years prior to the end of open pit mining, which is currently
scheduled to be completed around 2008;

*

100% of Kumtor Operating Company which operates the Kumtor mine;

*

56% of AGR which owns 95% of the Boroo gold mine that is expected to begin commercial
production in the first quarter of 2004 located in Mongolia;

*

62% interest in the REN joint venture, an advanced exploration project located in Nevada, US;
and

*

73% interest in the exploration licences for the Gatsuurt exploration property located about 35
kilometers from Boroo in Mongolia.

In addition, about S130 million (US) in loans previously advanced by Cameco subsidiaries to the Kumtor and Boroo
gold mines will be contributed by Cameco in exchange for equity in Centerra.
In 2004, production at the Kumtor mine is expected to produce about 610,000 ounces of gold at an average cash cost
of approximately $220 (US) per ounce. This unit cash cost includes exploration costs and a management fee. Due
to the restructuring of the gold business under Centerra, beginning in 2004 the cash unit operating costs will be
adjusted to exclude exploration costs and the management fee. In 2004, production at the Boroo mine is expected to
be about 210,000 ounces at an average cash cost of approximately $170 (US) per ounce, excluding exploration
costs. There is no management fee associated with the Boroo mine.
Centerra's share of production will be 100% from the Kumtor mine and about 54% from the Boroo mine.
In order to establish Centerra, Cameco and the Kyrgyz government have entered into a series of agreements. The
Kyrgyz government has authorized this transaction to proceed by issuing a government decree. Closing is targeted
for the second quarter of 2004 and is subject to satisfaction of a number of conditions including:
*

consent from a number of third parties, including certain financial institutions;

*

Centerra entering into a underwriting agreement for an IPO of Centerra; and

*

the conditional listing of Centerra shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Cameco has negotiated a new agreement with the Kyrgyz government to ensure that a stable investment regime will
be maintained in Kyrgyz Republic for Centerra. The new agreement will take effect on closing. Centerra will have
a 10-year tax stabilization period, during which the application of Kyrgyz tax legislation is not to increase the tax
burden on the Kumtor operation. The tax indemnity currently enjoyed by Cameco will not be transferred to
Centerra.
Cameco subsidiaries will vote their Centerra shares to support one Kyrgyzaltyn JSC representative provided that
Kyrgyzaltyn JSC maintains at least that number of Centerra common shares representing 5.0% of the outstanding
common shares of Centerra at the time of closing. For a period of five years following the date of closing of the
Kumtor restructuring, for so long as Kyrgyzaltyn JSC is controlled by the government of the Kyrgyz Republic,
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Krygyzaltyn JSC has agreed to maintain legal and beneficial ownership of at least that number of Centerra common
shares representing 5.0% of the outstanding common shares of Centerra at the time of closing.
Cameco's existing guarantees in support of the gold hedging activities at both mines and KGC's senior debt
continue while Centerra establishes itself. At December 31, 2003, KGC's senior debt balance was $ 17 million (US).
On that same date, Cameco had provided credit support for KGC and Boroo gold hedges of approximately 480,000
ounces. The mark-to-market exposure under these hedges was about S46 million (US).
With an agreement to create Centerra, an offer is planned to be made to AGR minority shareholders to exchange
their AGR shares for Centerra shares.
The price of gold maintained its strength in 2003. As of December 31, 2003, approximately 12% of Cameco's
production from existing gold reserves is hedged, including about 30% of 2004 estimated production. The estimated
production is hedged at an expected price of $326 (US) per ounce. Carneco intends to reduce its hedge position.
As of December 31, 2003, KGC had in place forward and sales options on 278,300 ounces and AGR had in place
forward sales on 200,000 ounces. Cameco's share of these hedge arrangements was 292,800 ounces. During 2003,
KGC actively decreased its hedging activity to take advantage of higher spot market prices. As of December 31,
2003, approximately 26% of KGC's 2004 estimated gold production is hedged at an expected price of
approximately $337 (US) per ounce. Cameco will participate in price movements to the extent that its share of
production is unhedged. For example, if the price of gold declines significantly, Cameco, through its indirect onethird share of ownership of KGC, is exposed to a decline in earnings and a potential loss in its gold business.
Increasing gold prices have the effect of increasing the credit support required under hedge agreement obligations.
Carneco has agreed to provide credit support to gold hedge agreement counterparties to mitigate the potential of
default. At December 31, 2003, Cameco's maximum financial exposure under these support arrangements was $57
million (US). Cameco's net mark-to-market loss after deducting other partners' interest on these hedge positions
amounted to $20 million (US) at December 31, 2003, based upon a spot gold price of $416 (US).
CGI also explores for gold. During 2003, exploration was carried out in the western US, Mongolia and Kyrgyz
Republic. In 2004, CGI expects to focus its gold exploration activities in Nevada, Mongolia and Central Asia.
Kumtor - Gold Producing Property
The Kumtor gold deposit is located in the Kyrgyz Republic. In 1992, Cameco and the Government of the Kyrgyz
Republic entered into an agreement to evaluate and develop the Kumtor gold deposit. Cameco, through its wholly
owned subsidiaries CGI and Kumtor Mountain Company ("KMC"), holds a 33 1/3% interest in the operation
through its interest in the Kyrgyz joint venture company, KGC. Cameco acquired its interest from the Kyrgyz
Republic which, through Kyrgyzaltyn JSC (formerly the State Concern Kyrgyzalytn), holds the other 66 2/3%
interest in KGC. Kumtor Operating Company ("KOC"), a wholly owned subsidiary of CGI, acts as operator of the
joint venture for which it receives a management fee. The mineral reserve and resource estimates for Kumtor are
found at "The Gold Business-Reserves and Resources".
Based upon December 31, 2003 reserve estimates for Kumtor (100% basis), Cameco expects that the Kumtor
deposit will be depleted no earlier than 2008. In 2002, Cameco received payback of its capital invested.
PropertyDescriptionand Environment
KGC has a mining licence over an area of approximately 800 hectares of land centered on the Kumtor deposit. In
addition, the joint venture has secured a mining lease over an area of approximately 10,000 hectares in the vicinity
of the Kumtor deposit. This is referred to as the Mining Lease Territory and provides the joint venture with
sufficient surface area for the plant, tailings disposal area and all other facilities supporting the mining operation, ore
processing and waste rock disposal. The term of KGC's mineral and surface rights for the Kumtor deposit extend
beyond 2008, the year when mining is expected to be completed. KGC has all necessary material permits to conduct
mining and milling operations at Kumtor. All mineral resources and reserves are part of the Kumtor gold deposit
that has been mined by open pit since 1997.
KGC has committed to operate the Kumtor mine in accordance with Canadian, Saskatchewan and applicable
Kyrgyz laws and regulations and the Environment Action Plan ("EMAP") for the mine as well as sound
international mining practices.
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KGC estimates its future decommissioning and reclamation costs for the Kumtor mine to be $20.4 million (US) in
current dollars. These estimates were last reviewed by KGC technical personnel in 1999 and are intended to be
updated in 2004. In 1998, a reclamation trust fund (the "fund") was established to cover the future costs of
reclamation, net of expected salvage value which was estimated, in 1999, at $14.9 million (US). In order to fund the
remaining $5.5 million (US), contributions are made to the fund over the life of the mine on a unit of production
method. At December 31, 2003, the balance in the fund was $3.7 million (US), with the remaining $1.8 million (US)
to be contributed over the life of the mine.
The site consists of an open pit mine situated at approximately 4,000 metres above sea level along the northwestern
slopes of the Akshirak Ridge in the interior of the Tien-Shan Mountains. The mine includes waste and ore stockpile
areas as well as an area to dispose of the ice stripped from the top of the deposit. There is a crusher and a mill.
Other major facilities include a fresh water system, a camp/residence for the employees on site, a warehouse, shops,
offices, a batch plant, several standby diesel generators, and a tailing management facility ("TMF"). An airstrip is 6
kilometres northwest of the open pit.
The TMF is located in the Kumtor river valley. Tails are deposited in this facility via a seven-kilometre pipeline
from the mill. In 2001, an additional pipeline was added, twinning the existing one. The tailings dam was designed
and constructed to address the permafrost conditions at the minesite. Stored behind the tailings dam are 18.9 million
cubic metres of tailings sands and process water. A series of diversion ditches prevent runoff and natural
watercourses from entering the tailings basin. The toe of the tailing dam is built on permafrost and a 500 metre
section of the 2 kilometre dam has shown movement along an ice rich silt layer. This layer was removed in early
2003 and a shear key was constructed. The analysis carried out by an independent consultant showed that the shear
key would eventually stop the movement of the dam. The analysis carried out by the Kyrgyz Institute of Rock
Mechanics indicated that the shear key would bring the dam into compliance with Kyrgyz regulations regarding
seismic loading.
The TMF and the effluent treatment plant ("ETP") were commissioned in 1999, with government approval for the
ETP obtained in June and for the TMF in December 1999. The treatment plant has been effectively controlling the
amount of free water accumulated in the tailings pond. Addition of a second tailings line between the mill and
tailings pond has reduced the frequency of minor tailings line releases into secondary containment by providing
better line maintenance planning and reduced mill downtime during tailings line maintenance and repair.
Site accessibility, infrastructureandphysiography
The site is located near the headwaters of the Kumtor River. It is accessible by an all-weather road constructed in
the Ara-Bel-Su valley. Employees are bussed to the mine site from Bishkek and the Issyk-Kul region. Supplies are
transported by rail up to Balykchy at the west end of Issyk-Kul Lake and then trucked to the minesite. The
industrial and potable fresh water is pumped from Petrov Lake, approximately five kilometres northeast of the mill
site. The glacial lake has sufficient water available year around to supply all the anticipated need of the operations.
The site is connected to the power grid of the Kyrgyz Republic. Most employees are native to Kyrgyz Republic.
The terrain is alpine glaciated with broad flat valleys and moraine mounds along the valley walls. The climate is
continental in a zone of permafrost and active glaciers. Vegetation is predominant on the valley floors and sparse on
the elevated benches and mountain slopes. Despite cold winter conditions, Kumtor is a 365 day-per-year operation.
History andFinancing
Although the Kumtor area has a history of intermittent exploration dating to the late 1920's, the actual discovery of
the deposit was made in the summer of 1978 in the course of a general survey. Intensive exploration, adit sampling,
drilling and geological interpretation work took place between 1979 and 1989. In 1992, Cameco and the
government of the Kyrgyz Republic entered into an agreement to evaluate and develop the deposit. KOC retained
Kilbom Western Inc., presently SNC Lavalin, to prepare a feasibility study which was submitted in November 1993.
Construction and development began in 1994 and was completed in early 1997 at a cost of approximately $450
million (US). Commercial production commenced on May 1, 1997 and more than 502,000 ounces were produced
during that year.
As an equity investment, Cameco provided the first $45 million (US) of development costs for the project.
Additionally, Cameco provided a $107 million (US) subordinated loan to KGC, $61 million (US) of which was
outstanding at December 31, 2003.
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A consortium of financial institutions advanced $285 million (US) in senior and subordinated loans to the project
("the third party loans"). The third party loans consisted of a senior debt component of $265 million (US) and a third
party subordinated debt component of $20 million (US). As of December 31, 2003, payments of S248 million (US)
on the senior debt had been made and $17 million (US) of senior debt (US) and S20 million (US) of subordinated
third party debt was outstanding.
In April 2002, KGC's senior loan was restructured and resulted in the extension of the term of repayment to June 1,
2006 and the replacement of non-commercial lenders as senior lenders. In November 2002, the senior lenders agreed
to defer December 2002 and June 2003 semi-annual principal payments until the period December 2004 to June
2006. An offshore debt reserve account and the shares of KGC secure the senior debt. Pursuant to the revised
lending agreements, a principal payment of $60 million (US) was made in December 2003.
The third party loans are a direct obligation of KGC. However, under the terms of the financing agreements,
Cameco has agreed to guarantee the payment of all amounts of principal and interest that become due in respect of
the senior debt. Cameco has purchased political risk insurance that entitles it to seek full reimbursement from the
insurers if Cameco is required to pay on the guarantee due to a political risk event in the Kyrgyz Republic. Cameco
has also purchased political risk insurance that covers 90% of the carrying value of its subordinated loan to KGC
and 90% of the carrying value of its equity contribution to the project.
Geology and Mineralization
Two major fault zones delineate the local structural setting of the Kumtor area. The first structure is the Nikolaev
Lineament which marks the boundary between the rocks affected by the Caledonian orogen to the west and by the
Hercynian orogen. The Kumtor Fault zone, which is parallel to and east of the lineament with a traced strike length
of more than 50 kilometres and variable widths up to 400 metres, is the second major structural setting.
The Kumtor deposit is in the zone of sheared, brecciated and hydrothermally altered Precambrian metasediments
just south and sub parallel to the Kumtor Fault zone. The southeast dipping zone of alteration and mineralization
has a strike length of 1,250 metres, near surface widths up to 400 metres and depths up to 1,000 metres.
Exploration, Sampling and Analysis
The exploration work, performed by predecessors of KGC, resulted in the collection of 69,775 samples of which
37,075 were channel samples. The trenches provided 7,250 samples and adits one, two and four provided 14,300,
10,665 and 4,860 samples respectively. The drill core samples totaled 32,700. A total of 22,100 channel samples
and 16,900 core samples were used in the evaluation of the reserves by the Soviets.
The results of the investigative work were compiled in a geological report titled "Results of Detailed Exploration of
the Kumtor Gold Deposit" issued in 1989. This report included the evaluation of the reserves. It was prepared by
the Ministry of Geology of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (USSR) and approved by the General Director of
Kyrgyz Geology and the Deputy General Director, Chief Geologist of Kyrgyz Geology in his capacity as head of the
Uchkoshkon Geological Expedition.
Late in 1992, Kilborn Western Inc. was commissioned to prepare a feasibility study to evaluate and develop the
Kumtor deposit. An integral part of the evaluation process was data validation comprising assaying of the original
sample rejects, recalculation of the reserves and resources, underground geological and geotechnical remapping and
resampling of parts of the higher mineralization grade zones and process testwork of original and fresh metallurgical
samples. The recalculation of the reserves and the resources were carried out by Geostat Systems International
based on geostatistical methods employing three-dimensional block modelling and kriging to the 3,668 metres
elevation in the deposit.
In 1998-2001, additional drilling was carried out by KOC in the planned open pit area as well as at depth to evaluate
certain areas of the orebody. Some 121 holes were drilled, assayed with additional check sampling and incorporated
into the original data bank.
Cameco's mining resources department and KOC personnel conducted a reinterpretation of the orebody and a new
reserve model was created, providing the base for a new life-of-mine plan. This reserve model is regularly
compared to the actual mine production. After seven years of mining, the number of mined ounces is consistent
with expectations based upon the new model.
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In 2002-2003, additional drilling was carried out by KOC in the planned open pit area to further evaluate the
orebody. Drilling was also performed in the Southwest Zone and Sarytor exploration areas. In the present open pit
area 60 holes were drilled totaling 16,468 metres, assayed with additional check sampling and incorporated into the
original databank. A new reserve/resource model, taking into account the additional drilling and mining results, is
currently in preparation. In the satellite Southwest Zone and Sarytor exploration areas, a total of 80 holes were
drilled, totaling 13,189 metres, assayed with additional check sampling and incorporated into the original
exploration databank.
KOC has developed and implemented procedures for quality control, data verification and sampling which it
believes will assure the integrity of information resulting from its drilling activities at Kumtor.
Mining
Total mine production in 2003 was 27.5 million bench cubic metres, a 39.6% increase over the previous year. Ore
was delivered to the mill at an average rate of 15,428 tonnes per day. The average strip ratio was 12.8, requiring an
average mining rate of 212,900 tonnes per day. The mill feed grade in 2003 was approximately 4.54 grams per
tonne, 22.2% higher than the 3.71 grams per tonne delivered to the mill in 2002. (see "2002 Pit Wall Failure").
The Kumtor deposit is developed using conventional open pit mining methods. Initially, part of the orebody was
overlaid by a glacial icecap 10-30 metres thick. This icecap was removed during the first three years of operation.
Now mining is focused on ore extraction and removal of the surrounding waste rock. Operations began at the 4,300
metre elevation in 1996. Presently, mining is conducted between the 4,100 and 3,950 metre elevations.
Mining benches are 8 metres in height with 3 to 4 benches under development at any given time. Drilling is
performed by six rotary-percussion blasthole drill rigs. Holes are drilled on a nominal 5.5 metre x 5.5 metre pattern.
400-500 holes are shot daily using bulk ANFO and emulsion explosives.
Six hydraulic shovels and four front-end loaders load a fleet of thirty-one haul trucks. The location of the ore and
waste rock is determined by assaying drillhole cuttings. Boundaries between material-types are surveyed in and
digging is supervised by KGC engineering staff to ensure that ore and waste rock are separated correctly. All mine
equipment is monitored by a computer-controlled dispatch system.
Milling
The Kumtor mill consists of a nominal 15,500 tonne per day conventional plant, using pyrite flotation and carbon inleach (CIL) in the process where both the reground pyrite concentrate and the flotation tails are leached in separate
circuits. The grinding circuit consists of a semiautogenous mill, a pebble crusher, a ball mill and a regrind mill.
High rate thickeners reclaim as much water as possible from the flotation concentrate, flotation tails feed, reground
flotation concentrate CIL feed and final tails. In 2003, gold recoveries increased to 82.63% from 78.13% in 2002
due to the processing of less refractory ore.
In 2003, 677,552 ounces of gold were poured compared to 528,550 ounces in 2002. Gold production is expected to
decrease to about 610,000 ounces in 2004. Approximately 4,386,771 ounces of gold have been poured from startup
in 1997 until December 31, 2003. All economic ore is forecast to be milled by 2008.
The cash cost per ounce in 2003 was approximately $199 (US) calculated in accordance with the standards of The
Gold Institute. The cash cost per ounce in 2002 was $216 (US).
2002 Pit Wall Failure
On July 8, 2002, a pit wall failure occurred at the Kumtor mine, resulting in the temporary suspension of operations.
Mine production resumed on July 15, 2002 in an area away from the pit wall failure. A Kyrgyz national employee
of KOC died as a result of a rockslide. The rockslide involved approximately 7.5 million tonnes of rock. Cameco's
2002 net earnings were reduced by approximately $27 million as a result of the pit wall failure. No allowance was
made in 2003 for possible proceeds from insurance.
Technical experts were assembled to assess pit wall stability in the rockslide area as well as options for accessing
this ore zone. The information gathered was used to analyze and assess the revised pit wall slope configurations and
develop a revised mining plan. The revised mining plan provides for greater stability and better access to high-grade
ore. A geo-technical drilling program was designed and initiated to provide further information on the July 2002,
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rockslide. This information was also used to finalize the design of the pit slopes for the revised mining plan. In
addition, revisions were made to the monitoring system and equipment to provide a good degree of "real time"
warning should there be further movement. However, the technical experts were unable to come to a conclusive
determination as to the reasons for the pit wall failure.
The pit wall failure resulted in a significant revision to the mining plan, including the postponement of mining
higher-grade ore. KGC has been milling lower grade ore and achieving lower recovery rates as a consequence. As a
result, gold production at Kumtor in 2002 was 528,550 ounces. Prior to the pit wall failure, Kumtor was forecast to
produce 700,000 ounces. For the second half of 2003, the average mill feed grade rose to about 5.6 g/t. Production
at Kumtor during 2003 was 677,552 ounces at an average feed grade of 4.5 g/t.
Kumtor Resource and Reserve Estimates
The mineral reserve and resource estimates for Kumtor are found at "The Gold Business-Reserves and Resources".
The key assumptions, parameters and methods used in making these estimates are:
1.

Key Assumptions
*

2.

3.

the reserves reported include allowances for dilution and mining recovery.

Key Parameters
*

gold values were obtained from assaying of surface trenches and underground working samples as
well as from drill hole cores;

*

cutting of high grade samples was established at 60 grams gold per tonne;

*

density was measured on 200 samples and ranged from 2.51 to 3.23 tonnes per cubic metre. An
average density of 2.85 tonnes per cubic metre is used for waste and mineralized rocks;

*

design of current ultimate pit is based on $300 (US) per ounce of gold;

*

reserves at Kumtor are not only based on grades but also on the volume and location; and

*

reserves within the current ultimate pit design were calculated with a cutoff grade based on a gold
price of $350 (US) per ounce.

Key Methods
*

the geological interpretation of the orebody outlines was done on vertical sections 40 metres apart
and on planviews at 24 metre spacing;

*

a three-dimensional block model delineates the reserves and resources;

*

estimates of the grade of blocks 10 metres x 10 metres x 8 metres were obtained by ordinary
kriging; and

*

reserves are defined as the economically mineable part of the indicated and measured resources.
Only reserves have demonstrated economic viability. The amount of reported resources does not
include amounts identified as reserves.

Although Cameco believes Kumtor reserve and resource estimates are unlikely to be materially affected by external
factors, such as metallurgical, safety and environmental, permitting, legal, title, taxation and political issues, there
can be no assurance that they will not be. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating mineral reserves
and resources. The accuracy of any reserve and resource estimation is the function of the quality of available data
and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. Results from drillings, testing and production, as
well as a material change in the gold price, subsequent to the date of the estimate, may justify revisions of such
estimates.
Other Kumtor Information
All gold produced by the Kumtor mine is purchased by Kyrgyzaltyn JSC, the owner of 66 2/3% of KGC, for
reprocessing at its refinery in the Kyrgyz Republic. KGC uses derivative financial instruments to mitigate the price
risk on a portion of future gold production. See "Gold Business-Risk Factors-Volatility and Sensitivity to Prices."
The Kyrgyz tax regime applicable to the Kumtor operation is governed by an agreement between Cameco,
Kyrgyzaltyn JSC and the Kyrgyz government.
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There are currently no material development activities planned for the Kumtor operation.
Boroo - Gold Development Property
BGC, about a 54% CGI indirect owned subsidiary, has developed the Boroo mine in Mongolia. The Boroo mine
achieved commercial production effective March 1, 2004, with expected production of about 210,000 ounces in
2004.
On March 5, 2002, CGI acquired a 52% interest in AGR, a British Virgin Islands company, for $12 million (US)
cash and issuance of a $4.8 million (US) promissory note. AGR indirectly owns 95% of BGC, a Mongolian entity.
A Mongolian entity indirectly owns the remaining 5% of BGC. BGC has the rights to the Boroo gold deposit located
in Mongolia.
Subsequent to the acquisition, CGI increased its interest in AGR to 56% by financing $3 million (US) of further
exploration on Boroo and Gatsuurt. The promissory note was satisfied by CGI transferring to AGR 61% of a
subsidiary that owns 100% of Cameco Gold Mongolia LLC, which has rights to the Gatsuurt exploration property in
Mongolia.
The Boroo open pit mine and mill construction was completed on October 31, 2003 and achieved commercial
production effective March 1, 2004. The project budget to reach commercial production remains at $75 million
(US), an increase of $35 million (US) from the original estimate of $40 million (US). About half the increase relates
to change in the operating plan from a contractor-supplied and operated mine equipment and shop facilities fleet to
one in which BGC purchases the fleet and carries out maintenance. The remainder of the capital cost increase is due
to improvements in the processing facilities. About 97% of the capital budget was spent to the end of December
2003. A CGI subsidiary is funding the construction of the Boroo open pit mine and mill through a loan which bears
interest at LIBOR plus 4% and reduces to LIBOR plus 3.5% after commercial production is declared.
The 2004 BGC budget includes sustaining capital of $7.5 million (US).
At December 31, 2003, AGR's hedge position was 200,000 ounces, which is expected to yield an average price of
approximately $315 (US) per ounce.
CGI estimates that the future decommissioning and reclamation costs for the Boroo mine to be approximately $3
million (US) in current dollars. Periodic contributions to an escrow account are planned to cover this future liability.
A stability agreement has been entered into with Mongolian government. It expires in 2013. Among other things, the
stability agreement provides for:
*

Mongolian tax laws in effect in 1998 when the agreement was signed will govern, unless laws more
favorable take effect;

*

a three-year income tax exemption from the commencement of production, a 20% income tax rate for the
following three years and a 40% income tax rate thereafter; the income tax law has been revised effective
January 1, 2004 whereby the rate following the initial 3 year tax free period will now be 15% for the
following three years and 30% thereafter;

*

gold may be freely exported, without the application of value added tax or export charges;

*

the payment of a 2.5% net smelter royalty to the Mongolian government;

*

any value added tax obligations may be offset against any income tax (both personal and corporate)
withholding tax and the royalty payable;

*

all proceeds resulting from gold sales may be deposited in an offshore account, provided sufficient funds
are deposited in a commercial bank in Mongolia to cover fiscal obligations to the Mongolian government;
and

*

the Mongolian government may not expropriate BGC assets.

BGC signed a dore gold refining contract with Johnson Mathey plc (JM) dated as of December 1, 2003. Under that
contract, BGC agrees to deliver to JM, for processing at its facility in the United Kingdom, 100% of the production
from the Boroo mine. The contract expires on December 31, 2005. BGC made its first delivery under the contract
in January 2004.
AGR intends to pursue political risk insurance for its investment in Boroo.
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Reserves and Resources (I)

Reserve and resource estimates for Cameco's gold properties as presented in this Annual Information Form were
prepared by or under the supervision of the following qualified persons:
Properties
Kumtor

Qualified Persons
Alain Gaston Mainville, Geologist and Professional
Geoscientist, who is Manager, Mining Resources and
Methods at Cameco
Rob Chapman, Geologist and Professional Geoscientist,
who is Vice-President, Exploration at Cameco Gold Inc.

Boroo

Cameco's reserve and resource estimates are obtained from internally generated data or audit reports. Cameco's
gold reserves and resources are located in the Kyrgyz Republic and Mongolia.
The following table shows the estimated gold reserves and resources as at December 31, 2003 on a property basis
and Cameco's share. The amount of reported resources does not include those amounts identified as reserves.
PROVEN
(100% interest)

Grade
g/t Au

Tonnes
PROPERTY
Kumtor Gold
Boroo
Total

18,539.0

PROBABLE
(100% interest)

Content
Ounces Au

3.41

2,032.0

3 41

2,032.0

-17-

18.539.

MEASURED
(100% interest)

Tonnes
PROPERTY
Kumtor Gold
Boroo
Total

5,394.0
5.394A0

Gr,ade
g/t Au
3.59
359

TOTAL RESERVES
(100% interest)

Grade
Content
Tonnes
g/t Au
Ounces Au
(tonnes and ounces in thousands)
6,765.0
3.50
761.0
.15.0
3.52
1,153.0
16.940.
B15,1
la914

Tonnes
25,304.0
10,175.0
35-4 MD{

622.0

Grade
Content
Tonnes
g/t Au
Ounces Au
(tonnes and ounces in thousands)
6,829.0
4.75
1,043.0

--

3,387.0

2.09

622.0

10.216.0

3187

Content
Ounces
Au

3.43
3.52
3A46

2,793.0
1.153.0
3 946.0

Cameco's
Share
Mining
Ounces Au Method(2)
931.0
617.0
L540

228.0
_2_"

Tonnes
12,223.0
3.387.0
15.60.

Grade
g/t Au
4.24
2.09
3217

Content
Ounces
Au
1,665.0
228.0
L93

Cameco's
Share
Mining
Ounces Au Method (2)
555.0
122.0
677.0

INFERRED RESOURCES
(100% interest)

PROPERTY
Kumtor Gold
Boroo

Content
Cameco's
Grade
Ounces
Share
Mining
Tonnes
g/t Au
Au
Ounces Au Method(2)
(tonnes and ounces in thousands)
5,773.0
3.90
723.0
241.0 OP & UG
----OP
5.773.0
390
723.0
2410

Total
Notes:
(I) Cameco reports reserves and resources separately.
(2) Mining Method: OP - Open Pit; UG - Undergound.
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Au
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g/t Au
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Gold Reserve and Resource Reconciliation
The following reconciliation of Cameco's share of gold reserves and resources reflects the changes in gold reserves
and resources during 2003. The 2003 additions and deletions at Kumtor and Boroo result from mining and milling
and additional information provided by mining experience, drilling results analysis and reclassifications.
Reconciliation of Cameco's Share of Gold Reserves and Resources
(in thousands of ounces Au)
2003 Addition (Deletion)
2003 Throughput (1)
December 31 2002

December 31, 2003

Reserves - Proven

Kumtor Gold
Total Proven Reserves

1L127.0
1.127.0

(270.0)
(270.0)

(180.0)
(180.0)

(2)

677.0
677.0

606.0
24.0
630.0
1.757.0

(6.0)

(2)
(2)

(Q26g

17.0
23.0
247.0
6.0

617.0
254.0
871.0
1548.0

0
0

0
0

207.0
207.0

(2)

207.0
207.0

236.0
0
236.0

--

(114.0)
348.0
234.0

(2)
(2)

122.0
348.0
470.0

Reserves - Probable

Boroo
Kumtor Gold
Total Proven Reserves
Total Reserves
Resources - Measured
Kumtor Gold
Total Measured Resources
Resources - Indicated
Boroo
Kumtor Gold
Total Indicated Resources
Total Measured and Indicated
Resources

--

(6.0)

---

236

6..i70

441-0

.0

Resources - Inferred
Boroo

Kumtor Gold
Total Inferred Resources

326.0

--

606.0
.LOW=A

(326.0)

(2)

(365.0)

(2)

0
241.0
.241L0 _0

Notes:
(I) Corresponds to millfeed. The discrepancy between the 2003 millfeed and Cameco's share of 2003 ounces produced is due to mill
recovery and the processing of low grade material.
(2) Change in reserves or resources, as applicable, include reassessment of geological data, results of information provided by mining
and milling, and subsequent re-classification of reserves or resources, as applicable.

Legal Proceedings
An action was commenced during 1997 in a Canadian court by certain dependants of nine persons against the
Company, CGI, KOC and certain other parties seeking damages, in the amount of $20,700,000 including punitive
damages, plus interest and costs in connection with the death of the said nine persons in a helicopter accident in
Kyrgyz Republic on October 4, 1995. This action is being defended by the insurers of the Company.
Regulatory Compliance
Pursuant to the financing agreements related to the Kumtor gold project, the project participants agreed that all
construction, development and, once in operation, production activities related to the project must be conducted in
accordance with Canadian, Saskatchewan, and applicable Kyrgyz laws and regulations and the accepted
Environmental Management Action Plan for the project as well as sound international mining practices.
Modifications to the original, pre-operational Environmental Management Action Plan have been approved by
appropriate external parties.
The Boroo Gold Project has been built to meet Australian, Mongolian and World Bank environmental standards in
respect to construction and development and once in operation will be managed to comply with Mongolian and
World Bank environmental standards. In respect to construction, the Boroo Plant and Facilities have been reviewed
and accepted by the Republic of Mongolia and an Act of Final Acceptance by the State Acceptance committee has
been issued to provide BGC with the right to start exploration of the deposit. The 2004 Environmental Protection
Plan, Environmental Management Plan and Mining Plan have been approved by the appropriate Mongolian
authorities.
Employees
KOC had approximately 92 expatriate and 1,504 national employees at December 31, 2003.
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BGC has approximately 36 expatriate and 324 national employees at December 31, 2003.
Risk Factors
The following information pertains to the outlook and conditions currently known to the Company which could have
a material impact on the financial condition of the Company. This information, by its nature, is not all inclusive. It
is not a guarantee that other factors will not affect the Company in the future. This discussion should be read in
conjunction with material in other sections of this Annual Information Form, including Management's Discussion
and Analysis (Appendix "B"). As the context requires for the following information, the reference to Company or
Cameco also includes Cameco's direct and indirect subsidiaries.
Volatility and Sensitivity to Gold Prices
The Company's share of revenue from its gold business is largely dependent on the world market price of gold. The
gold price is subject to volatile price movements over time and is affected by numerous factors beyond the
Company's control. Such factors include, among others: global supply and demand; central bank lending, sales and
purchases; expectations for the future rate of inflation; the level of interest rates; the strength of, and confidence in,
the US dollar; market speculative activities; and global or regional political and economic events.
Fluctuation in gold prices is illustrated by the following table which sets forth for the periods indicated the average
closing gold prices in United States dollars per ounce.
Average London PM Fix
(US$)

US$ Average

1994

1995

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

384

384

388

331

294

279

279

271

310

363

On March 1, 2004 the closing price of gold on the London market (PM Fix) was $400 (US) per ounce.
If the market price for gold falls and remains below variable production costs of a Cameco subsidiary's mining
operations for a sustained period, losses may be sustained and, under certain circumstances, there may be a
curtailment or suspension of some or all of mining activities. The Company would also have to assess the economic
impact of any sustained lower gold prices on recoverability and, therefore, the cut off grade and level of its gold
reserves and resources. The Company would have to assess the impact of such an environment on any outstanding
guarantees related to its gold activities.
AGR and KGC hedge the price risk for future gold sales. AGR and KGC use derivative financial instruments such
as forward sales contracts and collars (matched puts and calls) to mitigate the price risk on a portion of future gold
production. AGR and KGC uses these instruments for hedging purposes and do not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes. The mix of instruments and the amounts change from time to time with
changes in pricing, market conditions and hedging strategies.
Cameco has agreed to provide credit support to KGC's and AGR's counterparties, subject to stipulated per ounce
limits, in order to mitigate the potential of default by these companies. At year-end 2003, based upon the number of
ounces hedged and the stipulated per ounce limits, Cameco had a maximum financial exposure under its support
arrangements of $57 million (US). Cameco's net mark-to-market loss after deducting other partners' interests on
these hedge positions amounted to $20 million (US) at December 31, 2003, based upon a spot gold price of $416
(US). As the gold price rises, Cameco may need to increase the stipulated per ounce limits. For a summary of the
Company's share of future gold sale and delivery commitments, see Note 25 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.
The extent of future gold price hedging by AGR and KGC will depend upon its assessment of gold market factors
and other conditions. Although AGR and KGC utilize hedging programs to mitigate the price risk on a portion of
future gold production, there can be no assurance that such programs will be successful.
Replacement of Reserves
In 2003, the Kumtor mine was the Company's sole source of gold production, albeit indirectly through its indirect
1/3 equity ownership of KGC. The Boroo mine achieved commercial production effective March 1, 2004. Unless
other reserves are discovered or extension to the existing orebodies are found, the Company's total gold reserves
will decrease as reserves at Kumtor and Boroo are depleted.

58

2003 Cameco Annual Infonnation Form

Decommissioning and Reclamation
KGC's decommissioning and reclamation plan for the Kumtor mine was last updated in 1999. KGC estimates
future decommissioning and reclamation costs to be approximately $20 million (US). To cover this future liability,
a reclamation trust fund was established in 1998 to which contributions are made annually. BGC's decommissioning
and reclamation plan for the Boroo mine estimates future decommissioning and reclamation costs to be
approximately $3 million (US). Periodic contributions to an escrow account are planned to cover this future liability.
It is not possible to predict what level of decommissioning and reclamation (and financial assurances relating
thereto) may be required in the future by regulators.

COMMON RISK FACTORS - URANIUM AND GOLD
In addition to the risk factors referred to under "Nuclear Business-Risk Factors" and "Gold Business-Risk Factors",
there are certain risks which are generally applicable to both the uranium and gold mining industries, as outlined in
the following. The risks discussed here are not all inclusive. No guarantee is provided that other factors will not
affect the Company in the future. This discussion should be read in conjunction with material in other sections of
this Annual Information Form, including Management's Discussion and Analysis (Appendix "B"). As the context
requires for the following information, reference to the Company or Cameco also includes Cameco's direct and
indirect subsidiaries.
Imprecision ofReserve and Resource Estimates
Reserve and resource figures included for uranium and gold are estimates and no assurances can be given that the
indicated levels of uranium and gold will be produced or that Cameco will receive the gold price and uranium price
assumed in determining its reserves. Such estimates are expressions of judgment based on knowledge, mining
experience, analysis of drilling results and industry practices. Valid estimates made at a given time may
significantly change when new information becomes available. While the Company believes that the reserve and
resource estimates included are well established and reflects management's best estimates, by their nature reserve
and resource estimates are imprecise and depend, to a certain extent, upon statistical inferences which may
ultimately prove unreliable. Furthermore, market price fluctuations in uranium and gold, as well as increased capital
or production costs or reduced recovery rates, may render ore reserves containing lower grades of mineralization
uneconomic and may ultimately result in a restatement of reserves. The extent to which resources may ultimately be
reclassified as proven or probable reserves is dependent upon the demonstration of their profitable recovery. The
evaluation of reserves or resources is always influenced by economic and technological factors, which may change
over time.
Resources figures included herein have not been adjusted in consideration of these risks and, therefore, no
assurances can be given that any resource estimate will ultimately be reclassified as proven or probable reserves.
ProductionEstimates
Cameco prepares estimates of future production for particular operations. No assurance can be given that production
estimates will be achieved. Failure to achieve production estimates could have an adverse impact on Cameco's
future cash flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition. These production estimates are based on,
among other things, the following factors: the accuracy of reserve estimates; the accuracy of assumptions regarding
ground conditions and physical characteristics of ores, such as hardness and presence or absence of particular
metallurgical characteristics; and the accuracy of estimated rates and costs of mining and processing.
Cameco's actual production may vary from estimates for a variety of reasons, including, among others: actual ore
mined varying from estimates of grade, tonnage, dilution and metallurgical and other characteristics; short-term
operating factors relating to the ore reserves, such as the need for sequential development of orebodies and the
processing of new or different ore grades; risk and hazards associated with mining; natural phenomena, such as
inclement weather conditions, underground floods, earthquakes, pit wall failures and cave-ins; and unexpected
labour shortages or strikes.
Mining, Refining and Conversion Risks and Insurance
Cameco's business is capital intensive and subject to a number of risks and hazards, including environmental
pollution, accidents or spills, industrial and transportation accidents, labour disputes, blockades, changes in the
regulatory environment, natural phenomena (such as inclement weather conditions earthquakes, pit wall failures,
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cave-ins, adverse mining conditions and underground flooding) and encountering unusual or unexpected geological
conditions. The Company also contracts for the transport of its uranium and uranium products to refining,
conversion and enrichment facilities in North America and Europe, which exposes the Company to transportation
risks. Many of the foregoing risks and hazards could result in damage to, or destruction of, the Company's mineral
properties or refining or conversion facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in or
interruption of or cessation of production from the Company's mines or refining or conversion facilities or in its
exploration or development activities, delay in or inability to receive regulatory approvals to transport its uranium
and uranium products, or costs, monetary losses and potential legal liability and adverse governmental action. In
addition, due to the radioactive nature of the materials handled in uranium mining, refining, conversion and
transport, additional costs and risks are incurred by the Company on a regular and ongoing basis.
Although the Company maintains insurance to cover some of these risks and hazards in amounts it believes to be
reasonable, such insurance may not provide adequate coverage in the event of certain circumstances. No assurance
can be given that such insurance will continue to be available or it will be available at economically feasible
premiums or that it will provide sufficient coverage for losses related to these or other risks and hazards.
The Company may be subject to liability or sustain loss for certain risks and hazards against which it cannot insure
or which it may elect not to insure because of the cost. This lack of insurance coverage could result in material
economic harm to Cameco.
Nature of Exploration and Development
Exploration for and development of mineral properties involve significant financial risks which even a combination
of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. While the discovery of an ore body may result
in substantial rewards, few properties which are explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. Major
expenses may be required to establish reserves by drilling, constructing mining and processing facilities at a site,
developing metallurgical processes and extracting uranium and gold from ore. It is impossible to ensure that the
current exploration and development programs of the Company will result in profitable commercial mining
operations or replacement of current production at existing mining operations with new reserves.
Cameco's ability to sustain or increase its present levels of uranium and gold production is dependent in part on the
successful development of new orebodies and/or expansion of existing mining operations. The economic feasibility
of development projects is based upon many factors, including, among others: the accuracy of reserve estimates;
metallurgical recoveries; capital and operating costs of such projects; government regulations relating to prices,
taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and exporting, and environmental protection; and uranium and gold
prices, which are highly cyclical. Development projects are also subject to the successful completion of feasibility
studies, issuance of necessary governmental permits and availability of adequate financing.
Development projects have no operating history upon which to base estimates of future cash flow. Cameco's
estimates of proven and probable reserves and cash operating costs are, to a large extent, based upon detailed
geological and engineering analysis. Cameco also conducts feasibility studies which derive estimates of capital and
operating costs based upon many factors, including, among others: anticipated tonnage and grades of ore to be
mined and processed; the configuration of the orebody; ground and mining conditions; expected recovery rates of
the gold and uranium from the ore; and anticipated environmental and regulatory compliance costs.
It is possible that actual costs and economic returns of current and new mining operations may differ materially from
Cameco's best estimates. It is not unusual in the mining industry for new mining operations to experience
unexpected problems during the start-up phase and to require more capital than anticipated.
Governmental Regulation and Policy Risks
Mining and refining operations and exploration activities, particularly uranium mining, refining, conversion and
transport in Canada and the United States, are subject to extensive laws and regulations. Such regulations relate to
production, development, exploration, exports, imports, taxes and royalties, labour standards, occupational health,
waste disposal, protection and remediation of the environment, mines decommissioning and reclamation, mine
safety, toxic substances, transportation safety and emergency response, and other matters. Compliance with such
laws and regulations has increased the costs of exploring, drilling, developing, constructing, operating and closing
the Company's mines and refining and other facilities. It is possible that, in the future, the costs, delays and other
effects associated with such laws and regulations may impact the Company's decision as to whether to operate
existing mines, ore refining and other facilities or, with respect to exploration and development properties, whether
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to proceed with exploration or development. The Company expends significant financial and managerial resources
to comply with such laws and regulations. Cameco anticipates it will have to continue to do so as the historic trend
toward stricter government regulation will likely continue. Because legal requirements are frequently changing and
subject to interpretation, Cameco is unable to predict the ultimate cost of compliance with these requirements or
their effect on operations. Furthermore, future changes in governments, regulations and policies, such as those
affecting the Company's mining operations, uranium refining and conversion operations, and uranium transport,
could materially and adversely affect the Company's results of operations and financial condition in a particular
period or its long term business prospects.
Worldwide demand for uranium is directly tied to the demand for electricity produced by the nuclear power
industry, which is also subject to extensive government regulation and policies. The development of mines and
related facilities is contingent upon governmental approvals, licences and permits which are complex and time
consuming to obtain and which, depending upon the location of the project, involve multiple governmental agencies.
The receipt, duration and renewal of such approvals, licences and permits are subject to many variables outside the
Company's control, including potential legal challenges from various stakeholders such as environmental groups,
non-government organizations or first nations claiming certain rights with respect to traditional lands. Any
significant delays in obtaining or renewing such approvals, licences or permits could have a material adverse effect
on the Company.
EnvironmentalRisks
The Company has expended significant financial and managerial resources to comply with environmental protection
laws, regulations and permitting requirements, and anticipates that it will be required to continue to do so in the
future as the historical trend toward stricter environmental regulation will likely continue. The uranium industry is
subject to not only the worker health, safety and environmental risks associated with all mining businesses,
including potential liabilities to third parties for environmental damage, but also to additional risks uniquely
associated with uranium mining and processing. The possibility of more stringent regulations exists in the areas of
worker health and safety, the disposition of wastes, the decommissioning and reclamation of mining, milling,
refining and conversion sites, and other environmental matters each of which could have a material adverse effect on
the costs or the viability of a particular project.
The Company's domestic and foreign facilities operate under various operating and environmental permits, licences
and approvals that contain conditions that must be met and the Company's right to continue operating its facilities is,
in a number of instances, dependent upon compliance with such conditions. Failure to meet any such condition
could have a material adverse affect on the Company's financial condition or results of operations.
Counterparty/CreditRisk
AGR and KGC engage in transactions to mitigate the price risk on a portion of future gold production (see "Gold
Business-Risk Factors-Volatility and Sensitivity to Gold Prices") and Cameco enters into transactions to reduce the
impact of fluctuations in currency exchange rates. These transactions expose the Company to the risk of default by
the counterparties to such contracts. The Company manages this risk of default, or credit risk, by dealing only with
financial institutions that meet its credit rating standards and by limiting exposures with individual counterparties.
In addition, Cameco's sales of uranium product and conversion services expose the Company to the risk of nonpayment. The Company manages this risk by monitoring the credit worthiness of its customers and seeking prepayment or other forms of payment security from customers with an unacceptable level of credit risk. As of
December 31, 2003, 3% of Cameco forecast revenue under contract, for the period 2004 to 2006, is with customers
whose creditworthiness does not meet Cameco's standards for unsecured payment terms.
Although the Company seeks to manage its credit risk exposure, there can be no assurance that the Company will be
successful.
Currency Fluctuations
The Company's earnings and operating cash flow may also be affected by changes in the US/Canadian dollar
exchange rate since most of its revenues are denominated in US dollars and many of its costs are denominated in
Canadian dollars. Although the Company utilizes a hedging program to manage its exchange rate exposure, there
can be no assurance that such a program will be successful.
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PoliticalRisk
See the Company's Management's Discussion and Analysis attached as Appendix "B".

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OPERATING INFORMATION
The selected consolidated financial and operating information presented below should be read in conjunction with
Management's Discussion and Analysis and the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended
December 31, 2003, notes thereto and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Information
Form.
Year Ended December 31,
(in millions except per common share amounts)

2003

Total Revenue
Earnings from operations
Net earnings (loss)
- per common share (basic)
Cash provided by operations
Total Assets
Long term debt not maturing within one year
Cash dividends declared per common share

$826.95
$88.25
$204.69
$3.65
$245.89
$3,359.41
$238.71
$0.60

2002
(restated)
$748.33
$84.37
$43.52
$0.78
$250.84
$2,967.82
$218.30
$0.50

2001
(restated)
$700.84
$94.90
$56.09
$1.01
$116.25
$2,968.70
$327.77
$0.50

2003 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Company's 2003 Consolidated Financial Statements are attached as Appendix "A".

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
The Company's Management's Discussion and Analysis is attached as Appendix "B".

MARKET FOR SECURITIES
The Company's common shares are listed and traded on The Toronto Stock Exchange (CCO) and the New York
Stock Exchange (CCJ).
Also listed and traded on The Toronto Stock Exchange are the Company's 5% Convertible Subordinated Debentures
due October 1, 2013 (CCO.DB).
Also listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange are the Company's 8.75% Preferred Securities (CCJPR), a
series ofjunior subordinated debentures which are due in 2047.
The registrar and transfer agent for the Company' common shares and 5% Convertible Subordinated Debentures is
CIBC Mellon Trust Company through its offices at 320 Bay Street, P.O. Box 1, Toronto, Ontario M5H 4A6.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
Principal Occupation or Employment

Director Since (1)

Geologist; Corporate Director, 2000 to
present; prior: President, Director and
Chief Executive Officer, Ashton Mining
of Canada Inc. 1996-2000.

1999

JOE F. COLVIN (2,4,.6)
Kiawah Island, South Carolina U.S.A.

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Nuclear Energy Institute 1996 to present;
prior: Executive Vice-President and Chief
Operating Officer, Nuclear Energy
Institute Inc. 1994 to 1996.

1999

HARRY D. COOK ...................
La Ronge, Saskatchewan

Chief, Lac La Ronge Indian Band, 1987
to present; President, Kitsaski
Management Limited Partnership, Prince
Albert Grand Council Executive Board
Member, Federation of Saskatchewan
Indian Nations Taxation Commission
Board Member and Indian Government
Commission member.

1992

JAMES R. CURTISS (45)..........
Brookeville, Maryland, U.S.A.

Lawyer, Partner, Winston & Strawn,
1993 to present; prior: Commissioner US
Nuclear Regulatory Commission 19881993.

1994

GEORGE S. DEMBROSKI
Toronto, Ontario

Corporate Director, 1998 to present;
prior: Vice-Chairman and Director, RBC
Dominion Securities Limited (investment
dealer) 1981-1998.

1996

GERALD W. GRANDEY (2)........
President and Chief Executive Officer
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

Assumed current position 2003; prior:
President 2000-2002; Executive VicePresident 1997-2000.

2000

NANCY E. HOPKINS (2,3)............
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

Lawyer, Partner, McDougall Gauley,
1984 to present. Effective January 2001
Gauley & Company merged with
McDougall Ready to form McDougall
Gauley.

1992

OYVIND HUSHOVD
Toronto, Ontario

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Gabriel Resources Ltd., May 2003 to
present; prior: President and Chief
Executive Officer of Falconbridge Ltd.
1996 to 2002.

2003

J.W. GEORGE IVANY (3,5,6).......
Kelowna, British Columbia

Corporate Director, 1999 to present;
prior: President and Vice-Chancellor,
University of Saskatchewan 1989-1999.

1999

A. NEIL McMILLAN (2.3.........
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

President, Claude Resources Inc. 1996 to
present.

2001

Directors
Name, Office held in
Corporation and Municipality of
Residence
JOHN S. AUSTON (2.............
West Vancouver, British Columbia

(2.56).

............
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Principal Occupation or Employment

Directors
Name, Office held in
Corporation and Municipality of
Residence
ROBERT W. PETERSON
Regina, Saskatchewan

VIC :TOR J. ZALESCHUK
Call gary, Alberta

(345)..

(

...

3- - 6- 7).

Director Since (1)

President and Chief Operating Officer
Denro Holdings Ltd. 1994 to present.

1994

Corporate Director, November 2001 to
present; prior: President and Chief
Executive Officer, Nexen Inc. (formerly
Canadian Occidental Petroleum Ltd.)
from June 1, 1997 to June 1, 2001.

2001

Each director will hold office until the next annual meeting unless such director's office is earlier vacated in accordance with the corporate
law requirements applicable to the Company from time to time.
(2) Member of the strategic planning committee.
(3) Member of the audit committee.
(4) Member of the environmental safety, health and environment committee.
(5) Member of the human resources and compensation committee.
(6) Member of the nominating, corporate governance and risk committee.
(7) Appointed audit committee financial expert.
(1)

Principal Occupation or Employment for Past Five
Years

Officers
Name, Office held in
Corporation and Municipality of Residence
VICTOR J. ZALESCHUK .................................
Chair
Calgary, Alberta

Corporate Director, November 2001 to present; prior:
President and Chief Executive Officer, Nexen Inc.
(formerly Canadian Occidental Petroleum Ltd.) from June
1997 to June 2001.

GERALD W. GRANDEY ..................................
President and Chief Executive Officer
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

Assumed current position 2003; prior: President, 20002002; Executive Vice-President 1997-2000.

TERRY ROGERS ...........................................
Senior Vice-President and Chief Operating Officer
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

Assumed current position February 2003; prior: President
Kumtor Operating Company, Kyrgyz Republic 1999 2003.

GEORGE B. ASSIE .........................................
Senior Vice-President, Marketing and Business
Development
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

Assumed current position January 2003; prior: President
Cameco Inc., Eden Prairie, Minnesota 1999 - 2002.

DAVID M. PETROFF .......................................
Senior Vice-President, Finance and Administration
and Chief Financial Officer
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

Assumed current position April 1997.

RITA M. MIRWALD ........................................
Senior Vice-President, Human Resources and
Corporate Relations
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

Assumed current position April 1997.

GARY M.S. CHAD ..........................................
Senior Vice-President, Law,
Regulatory Affairs and Corporate Secretary
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

Assumed current position January 2000; prior: Senior
General Counsel and Secretary 1990-1999.

The directors and officers of Cameco as a group, beneficially own, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of the issued
and outstanding common shares of Cameco.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
The Company will provide to any person, upon request to the Secretary of the Company:
1.

2.

When the securities of the Company are in the course of a distribution pursuant to a short form prospectus
or a preliminary short form prospectus has been filed in respect of a distribution of its securities,
(a)

one copy of the Annual Information Form of the Company, together with one copy of any
document, or the pertinent pages of any document, incorporated by reference in the Annual
Information Form;

(b)

one copy of the comparative financial statements of the Company for its most recently completed
financial year together with the accompanying report of the auditor and one copy of any interim
financial statement of the Company subsequent to the financial statements for its most recently
completed financial year;

(c)

one copy of the management proxy circular of the Company in respect of its most recent annual
meeting of shareholders; and

(d)

one copy of any other documents that are incorporated by reference into the preliminary short
form prospectus or the short form prospectus and are not required to be provided under (a) to (c)
above; or

Any other time, one copy of any document referred to in (I)(a), (b) and (c) above, provided the Company
may require the payment of a reasonable charge if the request is made by a person who is not a security
holder of the Company.

Additional information, including directors' and officers' remuneration and indebtedness to the Company, principal
holders of the Company's securities and options to purchase securities is contained in the Management Proxy
Circular dated April 13, 2004 and additional information is provided in the Company's Consolidated Financial
Statement for the fiscal year-ended December 31, 2003. Copies of the Management Proxy Circular are available
upon request from the Secretary of the Company at 2121-1 11h Street West, Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, S7M lJ3,
telephone: (306) 956-6200.
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